Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions

From Diagnosis to Therapy Antonio Facciorusso Nicola Muscatiello *Editors*



Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions

Antonio Facciorusso • Nicola Muscatiello Editors

Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions

From Diagnosis to Therapy



Editors Antonio Facciorusso Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences University of Foggia Foggia Italy

Nicola Muscatiello Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences University of Foggia Foggia Italy

ISBN 978-3-030-71936-4 ISBN 978-3-030-71937-1 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71937-1

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Foreword

Once upon a time, in the land of *Radiology*, there was a girl called *Ultrasound*. *Ultrasound* had free access to the liver, but no chance to explore the pancreas. One day, *Ultrasound* met a prince, called *Endoscopy*, and fell in love. The wedding was celebrated by Dimagno et al. who published in *Gastroenterology*, in 1982, a preliminary experience with endoscopic ultrasonography in 32 patients. Then, in less than 40 years, "Cinderella" *Ultrasound*, together with "prince" *Endoscopy*, became a powerful queen in the field of Pancreatology. That queen is now called Endoscopic Ultrasound (EUS) and is currently included in all guidelines of solid and cystic pancreatic lesions.

EUS has dramatically changed over time. A breakthrough that paved the road of interventional EUS was the first EUS-guided fine-needle aspiration performed with a needle prototype and published in 1992 by Peter Vilmann et al. To date, according to NCCN, ESMO, and ESGE guidelines EUS is the procedure of choice for tissue sampling of solid pancreatic lesions. Similarly, new tools like microforceps and confocal laser endomicroscopy are emerging with significant improvement of diagnostic accuracy in defining pancreatic cystic lesions, as compared with traditional cyst fluid cytology. However, the most relevant metamorphosis of EUS is happening right at the very moment: EUS is moving from a diagnostic to a therapeutic procedure. Besides the already well-defined role in peripancreatic fluid collection drainage, EUS serves as guidance for radiofrequency or laser ablation of pancreatic solid and cystic neoplasms and for drainage of bile and pancreatic ducts when ERCP fails or is not feasible.

As a powerful vehicle, EUS needs an expert pilot. Endoscopists performing pancreatic EUS must first be familiar with pancreatic diseases; second, they need to be skilled both in ultrasound and endoscopy. This book, titled *Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions—From Diagnosis to Therapy*, edited by Antonio Facciorusso and Nicola Muscatiello, is organized into twenty chapters covering the entire spectrum of applications of EUS for the management of pancreatic neoplasms and will drive the reader along a path that originates from pancreatic diseases and continues on to the field of diagnostic and therapeutic EUS.

04 February 2021

Stefano Francesco Crinò Department of Medicine Gastroenterology and Digestive Endoscopy Unit University of Verona, The Pancreas Institute Verona, Italy

Contents

1	Overview of Pancreatic Masses and Cystic Lesions Raffaele Pezzilli	1
2	Overview on Inflammatory Pancreatic Fluid Collection Filippo Antonini and Giampiero Macarri	19
3	Contrast-Enhanced Endoscopic Ultrasound and Endoscopic Ultrasound Elastography Anna Cominardi and Pietro Fusaroli	29
4	Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided Tissue Acquisition of Solid Pancreatic Lesions. Laurent Monino and Pierre H. Deprez	45
5	Evidence-Based Assessment of Diagnostic Performanceof Currently Available Needles and Techniques forEUS-Guided Tissue Acquisition.Antonio Facciorusso and Nicola Muscatiello	63
6	Role of EUS Sampling in Pancreatic Cystic Lesions Luca Barresi, Michele Amata, Matteo Tacelli, and Ilaria Tarantino	83
7	Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided Drainage of Pancreatic Fluid Collections	95
8	EUS-Guided Pancreatic Duct Drainage Daryl Ramai, Andrew Ofosu, and Douglas G. Adler	115
9	Lumen-Apposing Metal Stents: Innovation in theManagement of Pancreatic Fluid Collections.Juan E. Corral, Victor Ciofoaia, and Michael B. Wallace	125
10	Endoscopic Pancreatic Necrosectomy Carlo Fabbri, Cecilia Binda, and Chiara Coluccio	139

|--|

11	Role of Endoscopic Ultrasound in Pancreatic Cancer Screening 149 Renato Cannizzaro, Raffaella Magris, Stefania Maiero, Giovanni Guarnieri, Mara Fornasarig, and Vincenzo Canzonieri
12	Endoscopic Ultrasound in Pancreatic Cancer Staging
13	Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided Fiducial Marker Placement for Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy (SBRT) of Pancreatic Cancer 165 Jeevinesh Naidu, Vinh-An Phan, and Nam Q. Nguyen
14	Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided Therapies for Solid Pancreatic Tumors
15	Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided Pancreatic Cysts Ablation
16	Celiac Plexus Blockade/Neurolysis
17	Interventional Endoscopic Ultrasound in Patients onAntithrombotic Therapy211Valentina Del Prete, Giovanni Luca Rizzo, Viviana Neve, and Paolo Tonti
18	Sedation for Endoscopic Ultrasound
19	Quality Measures in Endoscopic Ultrasound
20	Conclusive Remarks and New Perspectives



1

Overview of Pancreatic Masses and Cystic Lesions

Raffaele Pezzilli

1.1 Introduction

A wide spectrum of benign and malignant diseases can produce a mass in the pancreas; these diseases can be solid benign (such as mass-forming chronic pancreatitis) or, more frequently, malignant (ductal adenocarcinoma, endocrine tumors), or cystic (cystic neoplasms, true cysts, or pseudocysts). The most important question is whether or not it is a malignant or a benign tumor; whenever possible, in the majority of the cases that are fit for treatment, histological confirmation of the diagnosis of malignancy is necessary. Of course, the major interest in routine clinical practice is in diagnosing and treating benign and malignant tumors; a systematic classification of pancreatic solid and cystic masses has been recently reported by the World Health Organization (Table 1.1) [1, 2]. Pancreatic neoplasms originate from epithelial cells, neuroendocrine cells, and mesenchymal tumors, and they can be benign, premalignant, or malignant; the pancreas can also be involved in lymphomas and solid tumors of distant organs. The aim of this review was to describe the clinical signs of solid and cystic lesions as well as the imaging aspect in order to reach an appropriate diagnosis, and the respective treatment and follow-up.

1.2 Epidemiological Aspects

The incidental finding of a solid pancreatic mass is quite rare while the occasional finding of a pancreatic cystic nodule is rather common [3]. There is no doubt that the majority of the symptomatic pancreatic masses are pancreatic cancer which is an intractable malignancy and is the seventh leading cause of global cancer deaths in industrialized countries [4]. Based on GLOBOCAN 2018 estimates, pancreatic

R. Pezzilli (🖂)

San Carlo Hospital, Potenza, Italy

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. Facciorusso, N. Muscatiello (eds.), *Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71937-1_1

Table 1.1 World Health	Epithelial tumors
Organization (WHO) 2010	Benign
classification of solid and	Acinar cell cystadenoma
creas [1 2]	Serous cystadenoma
	Premalignant lesions
	Pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia, grade 3 (PanIN-3)
	Intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm (IPMN) with
	low- or intermediate-grade dysplasia
	Intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm (IPMN) with
	high-grade dysplasia
	Intraductal tubulopapillary neoplasm (ITPN)
	Mucinous cystic neoplasm (MCN) with low- or intermediate-
	grade dysplasia
	Mucinous cystic neoplasm (MCN) with high-grade dysplasia
	Malignant lesions
	Ductal adenocarcinoma
	Adenosquamous carcinoma
	Mucinous adenocarcinoma
	Hepatoid carcinoma
	Medullary carcinoma
	Signet ring cell carcinoma
	Undifferentiated carcinoma
	Undifferentiated carcinoma with osteoclast-like cells
	Acinar cell carcinoma
	Actuar cen cystadenocarcinoma
	associated invasive carcinoma
	Mixed acinar ductal carcinoma
	Mixed acinar neuroendocrine carcinoma
	Mixed acinar neuroendocrine ductal carcinoma
	Mixed ductal neuroendocrine carcinoma
	Mucinous cystic neoplasm (MCN) with an associated
	invasive carcinoma
	Pancreatoblastoma
	Serous cystadenocarcinoma
	Solid pseudopapillary neoplasm
	Neoplasms of the neuroendocrine pancreas
	Nonfunctioning (nonsyndromic) neuroendocrine tumors
	Pancreatic neuroendocrine microadenoma
	Nonfunctioning pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor
	Insulinoma
	Glucagonoma
	Somatostatinoma
	Gastrinoma
	VIPoma
	Serotonin-producing tumors with and without carcinoid
	syndrome

Table 1.1	(continued)	Serotonin-producing tumor	
		ACT-producing tumor with Cushing syndrome	
		ACTH-producing tumor with Cushing syndrome	
		Pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinoma (poorly differentiated	
		neuroendocrine neoplasm)	
		Neuroendocrine carcinoma (poorly differentiated	
		neuroendocrine neoplasm)	
		Small-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma	
		Large-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma	
		Mixed neuroendocrine non-neuroendocrine neoplasms	
		Mixed ductal neuroendocrine carcinoma	
		Mixed acinar neuroendocrine carcinoma	
		Mature teratoma	
		Mesenchymal tumors	
		Lymphangioma	
		Lipoma	
		Solitary fibrous tumor	
		Perivascular epithelioid cell neoplasm (PEComa)	
		Ewing sarcoma	
		Desmoplastic small round cell tumor	
		Lymphomas	
		Diffuse large B cell lymphoma (DLBCL)	
		Follicular lymphoma	
		Lymphoma of mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT	
		lymphoma)	
		T cell lymphomas	
		Secondary tumors	

cancer has been ranked as the 11th most common cancer in the world counting 458,918 new cases and causing 432,242 deaths (4.5% of all deaths caused by cancer) in 2018 [4]. The worldwide incidence of and mortality from pancreatic cancer correlate with increasing age and are slightly more common in men than in women [4]. Its incidence is estimated to increase and will include 355,317 new cases by 2040. A slight difference in pancreatic cancer incidence among genders as well as a significantly different geographic distribution has been observed [4]; it is more common in men (5.5 per 100,000; 243,033 cases) than in women (4.0 per 100,000; 215,885 cases). Finally, the incidence rate for both genders increases with age [4]. The mortality rate is also high; in 2018, the highest mortality rates were recorded in Western Europe (7.6 per 100,000 people), Central and Eastern Europe (7.3 per 100,000 people), and followed by Northern Europe and North America (equally 6.5 per 100,000 people) [4]; a trend towards an increase in pancreatic cancer incidence (+77.7% with 356,358 new cases) and mortality (+79.9%, 345,181 deaths) has been predicted from 2018 to 2040 [4]. Even if the mortality/incidence ratio from 2014 to 2018 was 94%, the five-year survival rate for pancreatic cancer increased from 6% to 9% which shows that some progress has been made [4].

The prevalence of incidentally discovered pancreatic cysts detected by computed tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is approximately 3% [5, 6], increasing up to 9% when using high-resolution MRI [7]; this rate can be as high as 20-40% when considering only elderly people. The most represented incidentalomas are intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasia (IPMNs) and serous cystadenomas, although very small cystic lesions are difficult to characterize and small cysts may also disappear [8]. For a cystic mass or in the case of a cystic component, the most informative imaging technique is MRI; whereas, for a solid pancreatic mass, the in-depth imaging technique is CT. The prevalence of a solid pancreatic mass occasionally found at CT scan is quite low, ranging from 0.5 [9, 10] to 6% [11]. Correct diagnostic management is important for the diagnosis of a pancreatic solid nodule to assure the appropriate treatment of the patient in order to avoid over- and undertreatment. Therefore, the physician plays a pivotal role in coordinating the different specialists involved in the diagnostic process, such as endoscopists, pathologists, and radiologists. The differential diagnosis of a pancreatic solid nodule includes two different pathogenic etiologies: neoplastic or inflammatory/autoimmune. Neoplastic pancreatic nodules present great histological variability, and the likelihood of a diagnosis depends, for the most part, on the presence of symptoms rather than an incidental diagnosis. A diagnosis of malignancy is more probable in symptomatic rather than in asymptomatic cases [3]. The finding of a pancreatic mass associated with symptoms such as jaundice, weight loss, and back pain suggests a diagnosis of malignancy, with an incidence of pancreatic cancer in up to 80% of cases [12]. Conversely, in the case of the incidental diagnosis of a solid pancreatic nodule, the most common diagnoses are pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (NENs), followed by pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma, solid pseudopapillary tumors, and focal chronic pancreatitis (0–11%) [13].

1.3 Clinical Presentation

The size and anatomic location of the mass are crucial when determining the presence of clinical symptoms. A mass located in the head of the pancreas typically results in the obstruction of the biliary duct, leading to jaundice or pancreatic duct obstruction, with consequent pain and impairment in exocrine function; a mass in the body and tail of the pancreas is more often asymptomatic [14, 15]. If the pancreatic mass is a pancreatic NEN, in particular if it is functional, the symptoms are related to the hormone released (more often insulinomas and gastrinomas), making them usually easily recognizable [16]. An uncommon presentation of pancreatic nodules includes acute pancreatitis due to obstruction of the pancreatic duct, new onset or worsening diabetes in healthy adults, and incidental finding on abdominal imaging for unrelated diseases [17, 18]. On the contrary, the majority of cystic pancreatic neoplasms are usually asymptomatic [19, 20], and the appearance of symptoms similar to those of a solid mass may indicate malignant transformation [21].

1.3.1 Pain

Present in the majority of patients, pain is often the symptom which prompts the patient to seek medical attention. Typically, it arises as pain in the upper abdomen which radiates to the back or vague discomfort similar to indigestion which, however, does not respond to common drugs [22, 23]. Abdominal pain is present even if the mass is small (<2 cm), regardless of its location, although it has been reported by more patients having a mass in the body and/or tail of the pancreas (90%) as compared with those having cancer in the head of the pancreas (70%) [24]. The origin of the pain can be multifactorial; stretching of the pancreatic capsule and/or ductal stenosis or obstruction may contribute to its onset [25] as does liver capsule pain from metastatic liver disease. If the mass is a cancer, perineural invasion is the main cause of pain [26]. Interestingly, pain helps to predict a poor outcome in pancreatic adenocarcinoma while, in all other pancreatic malignancies in which neural invasion of cancer cells is not a key pathomorphological phenomenon, no association of pain and survival has been reported [27, 28].

1.3.2 Jaundice

Jaundice is caused by the extrinsic obstruction of the bile duct with excessively increased levels of conjugated bilirubin and alkaline phosphatase in the blood. The absence of urobilinogen and stercobilinogen determines the pale stools and dark urine. Approximately 82% of patients with a mass in the head of the pancreas have so-called "painless jaundice" as a marked feature, and rising bilirubin levels can cause pruritus. When the tumor is in the head of the pancreas, it occurs in 80% to 90% of patients, while when the lesion arises in the body and tail, it is observed in approximately 6% of patients.

1.3.3 Weight Loss

The association of a pancreatic mass and weight loss is typical of pancreatic adenocarcinoma, and it may occur in the absence of jaundice or distant localization of the disease [29]. Among the numerous factors affecting normal nutritional support, patients may experience the onset of exocrine pancreatic insufficiency (EPI) before diagnosis, during nonsurgical treatment, and/or following surgery. Since testing is cumbersome, EPI is often recognized clinically and treated empirically [30].

In the end, malnutrition can lead to skeletal muscle wasting and fat degradation, longer hospital stays, and an increased risk of complications; it reduces response to the treatment and patient well-being while increasing the risk of morbidity and mortality in operated and non-operated patients [31–33].

1.3.4 Diabetes

Diabetes of new onset in patients with a pancreatic nodule should alert the physician to the possibility of a diagnosis of cancer, since almost 80% of pancreatic cancer patients have glucose intolerance or frank diabetes. The majority of cases of diabetes associated with pancreatic cancer are diagnosed either concomitantly with the cancer or during the 2 years before the cancer is found; 71% of the glucose intolerance found in pancreatic cancer patients is unknown before the cancer is diagnosed [34, 35]. Several studies have demonstrated that diabetes in pancreatic cancer patients is characterized by peripheral insulin resistance and that insulin sensitivity in patients who undergo tumor resection is markedly improved 3 months after surgery. Nonetheless, diabetes or impaired glucose tolerance often occurs in pancreatic NEN patients due to the tumor mass effect or because the hormones secreted by the tumor interfere with the glucose metabolism [36].

1.3.5 Nausea and Vomiting

Early satiety, nausea, and vomiting often occur in the case of a large mass, and they are usually related to compression on the second portion of the duodenum creating partial or complete obstruction [29], or to the delayed gastric emptying which often accompanies pancreatic nodules [37].

1.3.6 Signs of Malignant Transformation of Cystic Pancreatic Neoplasms

Assessing the following risk features is helpful in decision-making between the options of watchful waiting versus surgery. Patients with at least two of the following risk factors (such as lesion size greater than 3 cm which involves a threefold increase in malignancy risk, the presence of a mural nodule, and dilation of the main pancreatic duct) appear to be at risk for malignant progression, although the data supported by retrospective studies have demonstrated approximately a 15% chance of developing a pancreatic malignancy [38, 39]. Other factors may also be predictive of a higher risk of malignancy, such as a family history of pancreatic cancer (increases the risk of IPMN), mutations which predispose to pancreatic cancer (*BRCA2*), abnormal blood levels of carbohydrate antigen 19-9 (CA-19-9), unexplained acute pancreatitis (especially in patients over 50 years of age), recent onset diabetes mellitus, excess weight, and coarse calcification [40–46].

1.4 Genetic Mutations and Laboratory Markers

In the diagnostic workup of a pancreatic nodule, laboratory tests are useful in guiding the diagnosis and for a general evaluation of the patient. Laboratory tests can diagnose subclinical jaundice or signs of inflammation, guiding the subsequent

workup. In recent years, the genetic evaluation of patient status has been emphasized; for example, the most importance has been ascribed to the possibility of associated familial pancreatic cancer or a gene mutation capable of leading to the development of pancreatic cancer [47, 48]. Germline mutations of BRAC1/2 are present in 1-4.6% of pancreatic ductal carcinoma patients as compared to a prevalence of BRAC1/2 mutations in the general population of 1:400; it should be noted that a BRAC2 mutation is a common hereditary risk factor in outpatients with pancreatic tumors. Other mutations are related to the PALB2, CDKN2A, ATM, p53, MSH1, MSH2, and MSH6 genes. These mutations are rare but they have high penetrance; for example, the presence of CDKN2A increases the risk of developing a pancreatic ductal carcinoma 38-fold [49]. The distinction between neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) and neuroendocrine carcinomas (NECs) is also linked to their genetic background, as TP53 and RB1 inactivation in NECs sets them apart from NETs. A large number of genetic and epigenetic alterations have been reported, and recurrent changes have been traced back to a reduced number of core pathways, including DNA damage repair, cell cycle regulation, and the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/ mammalian target of rapamycin signaling [50]. Finally, the presence of familial pancreatic cancer in cystic lesions of the pancreas suggests performing a resection due to the increased risk of developing a malignant transformation [21].

From a practical point of view, a wide variety of tumor markers derived from serum, pancreatic tissue, saliva, and/or stool and of different natures (tumorassociated antigens, hormones, enzymes, and immunoglobulins) have been evaluated during the diagnostic workup of a pancreatic nodule. Tumor markers have no utility in screening but could be an important tool during the differential diagnosis, staging, and prognosis of pancreatic neoplastic masses. In pancreatic cancer, the most used and validated serum marker of a pancreatic mass is CA 19-9 which has a reported sensitivity and specificity of 80-90%; CA19-9 is a mucinous glycoprotein normally present in glandular secretions of a mucous type. It is synthesized by pancreatic and biliary ductal cells and by gastric, colon, endometrial, and salivary epithelia. It is not found at high levels in normal tissues but can be detected at elevated levels in patients with pancreatic, hepatobiliary, gastric, hepatocellular, colorectal, and breast cancer. With a cutoff value of 37 kU/L, CA19-9 has poor sensitivity and specificity for diagnosing pancreatic cancer [51]. In the same manner, CA 19-9 is also of no value in diagnosing the malignant transformation of pancreatic cystic neoplasms [52]. However, CA19-9 levels are correlated with tumor size and small tumors may be missed; moreover, 5-10% of the population lacks the glycosyl-transferase Lewis blood group antigen required for the expression of CA 19-9 [53-55]. According to the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) guidelines, CA 19-9 should not be used as a screening marker in asymptomatic individuals due to its low-positive predictive value [56], but they recommend its use in guiding the therapeutic strategy [57]. The clinical importance of CA 19-9 is not limited only to the diagnosis; establishing serum CA 19-9 levels can provide information regarding prognosis, patient stratification (survival groups), and resectability of the disease. On multivariate analysis, preoperative CA 19-9 levels and lymph node ratio emerged as independent predictors of survival in patients with resected pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) [58]. Other studies

have demonstrated that a lower value of preoperative CA 19-9 correlates with tumor resectability [59] and a better prognosis [60]. Moreover, it is useful for monitoring patients after surgery and during chemotherapy. In the case of a functioning pancreatic NEN, hormone secretion is important in determining symptoms and guiding the diagnosis. In nonfunctioning NENs, the symptoms could be absent or aspecific. Many serum markers have been proposed to guide to and sustain a diagnosis. The most important is chromogranin A (CGA) [61, 62] and, in the same way as CA 19-9, it should not be used as a screening tool for PDAC; the aforementioned markers should not be used with a screening intent but only in cases of clinical or imaging suspicion of an NEN.

1.5 Imaging: What the Clinician Should Know?

The imaging tests which best recognize pancreatic lesions include ultrasound, transabdominal (US), or endoscopic (EUS); CT, MRI, and positron emission tomography (PET), usually in combination with CT (i.e., PET-CT). As reported in Table 1.2, physicians should know what each single examination could add to defining the pancreatic mass as solid or cystic, and what they should expect from the various imaging modalities available (Fig. 1.1).

1.5.1 Transabdominal Ultrasound (US)

Ultrasound is a ubiquitous and radiation-free imaging test used worldwide, having ever-evolving applications and devices; it has the potential of displaying the pancreas, pancreatic duct, and associated lesions. The challenge with US in pancreatic disease is the structures that the US beam has to pass before it gets to the pancreas itself. Frequently, the stomach and any other bowel is filled with gas and obscures the pancreas as can excess abdominal wall adipose tissue. An experienced physician can avoid some of these pitfalls using water to distend the stomach or with varied positioning, but their use is limited. In addition, it is difficult to ensure that the entire gland was imaged on any given examination. Contrast-enhanced ultrasound has valuable diagnostic accuracy in differentiating exocrine from endocrine pancreatic tumors, a fundamental step in addressing appropriate histological evaluation, therapeutic approach, and follow-up [63]. In the case of the presence of pancreatic cystic neoplasms, three-dimensional contrast-enhanced EUS can be safely used to follow patients with IPMNs of less than 1 cm [64].

1.5.2 Computed Tomography (CT)

Computed tomography scanning is the workhorse for diagnosing pancreatic abnormalities; it provides excellent anatomic detail and does so consistently. Computed tomography scanning requires ionizing radiation, and typical pancreas protocol CT

		-	•				
	Age at						Confocal
Type of cyst	onset	Location	Imaging (CT/MRI)	Imaging (EUS)	Cytology	Cyst fluid analyses	endomicroscopy
IPMN	Middle-	Common in	MD: Diffuse or	MD: Dilation of the	Colloid-like mucin,	Thick, viscous	Epithelial villous
(main	aged and	the pancreatic	focal involvement	MPD, hyperechoic	mucin stains	mucus, CEA	structures; no
pancreatic	older	head, may be	of the MPD; BD:	nodules arising	positive, mucinous	concentration	vascular
duct and	individuals	incidental and	Cyst or cluster of	from the ductal	epithelial cells with	usually high,	networking
branch-		multifocal	cysts, may be	wall; BD: Small	varying degrees of	amylase	
duct)			multifocal, ductal	cluster of grape-like	atypia, sparsely	concentration may	
			communication	dilations of the BD,	cellular	be high, KRAS	
				mural nodules		mutation	
MCN	Middle-	Body and tail,	Large cysts with	Macrocystic lesion	Mucinous epithelial	Thick, viscous	Epithelial villous
	aged	incidental,	thick septae,	with few septae.	cells with varying	mucus, CEA	structures; no
	women	single lesion	peripheral	Sometimes focal,	degrees of atypia,	concentration	vascular
			calcification, wall	peripheral,	colloid-like mucin,	usually high,	networking
			thickening	calcification. No	mucin stains	KRAS mutation,	
				ductal dilation.	positive	GNAS mutation	
				Sometimes atypical			
				papillary projections			
				may be present			
SCN	Usually in	Entire	Microcystic	Multiple, small,	Usually acellular	Clear and thin,	Thickened cyst
	older	pancreas,	multiple small	anechoic cystic	and nondiagnostic,	may be	wall; unilocular
	women	many small	cysts, central	areas and	small cluster of	hemorrhagic, CEA	vascular
		cysts or oligo/	fibrous scar with	"honeycomb"	cells with bland	and amylase	networking;
		macrocystic	calcification,	appearance,	cuboidal	concentrations	fibrous bands
			sometimes	sometimes central	morphology,	very low	
			oligocystic	fibrosis or	glycogen stain		
				calcification	positive, mucin		
					negative		
IPMN intradu cystic neoplas	ctal papillary r m, <i>CT</i> compute	mucinous neoplasi	m, <i>MD</i> main duct, <i>MP</i> . <i>'RI</i> magnetic resonance	D main pancreatic duc imaging, EUS endosco	t, <i>BD</i> branch duct, <i>MC</i> ppic ultrasonography, <i>C</i>	N mucinous cystic ne EA carcinoembryonic	oplasm, SCN serous antigen
-	T		0	0 0			0



Fig. 1.1 Imaging workup for solid versus cystic pancreatic masses

scans are three-phase studies (precontrast, arterial phase, and portal venous phase imaging). In addition, iodinated intravenous contrast is required in nearly all pancreatic protocols and may be contraindicated in the setting of moderate to severe allergy or renal failure. The sensitivity and specificity of CT in diagnosing a solid pancreatic mass is high and is of paramount importance in evaluating vascular involvement; in fact, the sensitivity of CT in diagnosing vascular involvement is 98%, specificity 79%, and overall accuracy 80% having a positive predictive value of 87.5% and a negative predictive value of 96% [65].

1.5.3 Endoscopic Ultrasound and Tissue Acquisition

Endoscopic ultrasound has become the primary imaging technique for investigating patients with pancreatic lesions. Although minimally invasive, EUS does require deep sedation, and thus, patients must be appropriately evaluated with a preoperative medical assessment. It provides the option of fine-needle aspiration (FNA), and it is especially useful if the cyst morphology changes or the patient develops symptoms so that a repeat FNA can be performed. The level of carcinoembryonic antigen in the cyst fluid can be examined, and the cytological identification of lesions with a high risk of malignancy is possible. However, at present, there are limited data regarding the evaluation of molecular markers in the cystic fluid for evaluating cancer transformation. Confocal laser endomicroscopy (CLE) is a novel imaging technology which uses low-power laser to obtain in vivo histology of the gastrointestinal mucosa, and recently, a CLE miniprobe has been developed to use during EUS-FNA to visualize the cyst wall and epithelium directly through a 19-gauge FNA needle. The technical feasibility of this probe has been demonstrated, and

preliminary studies of pancreatic cystic lesions have revealed that the presence of epithelial villous structures is associated with IPMNs, having 59% sensitivity and 100% specificity [66]. Prospective studies for confirming the above are ongoing [67].

1.5.4 MRI with MR Cholangiopancreatography (MRCP)

The most comprehensive abdominal examination is MRI [68]; it offers a strong and complete pancreas examination, especially in younger patients. As opposed to CT, MRI obtains multiple complimentary sequences in addition to multiple phases of contrast enhancement. Diffusion-weighted imaging, a sequence which capitalizes on the decreased random motion of water molecules to show highly cellular tumors, is helpful in detecting otherwise occult tumors. Magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography is useful in establishing the relationship between cystic lesions and the biliary and pancreatic ducts. However, the disadvantages of MRI are: (1) it is probably more expensive, (2) it is not universally available, and (3) it cannot be carried out in patients who have any metal implants in the body.

1.6 Treatment and Follow-Up of Patients with Solid and Cystic Lesions of the Pancreas

Solid lesions of the pancreas should be resected if the patient is fit for surgery. However, it is necessary to obtain a pathological diagnosis in order to prescribe appropriate medical therapy [69].

Cyst malignancy should be established on clinical and imaging data since a serous cystadenoma is not subject to malignant transformation [70] while an IPMN of the main duct and a mucinous cystadenoma must be removed surgically, if this is not contraindicated due to severe comorbidities. An IPMN of the secondary ducts can become malignant and, therefore, needs adequate follow-up, preferably with MRI associated with MR pancreatography or in selected cases with EUS (Fig. 1.2) [21]. The patients who should undergo EUS are therefore those with indeterminate cystic lesions, IPMNs of the secondary ducts with signs of alarm (nonspecific abdominal pain or single or recurrent episodes of acute pancreatitis not attributable to other causes, cysts of diameter ≥ 3 cm, main pancreatic duct dilation 5–9 mm, uptake of contrast medium of mural nodules, sudden change in the caliber of the pancreatic duct with distal pancreatic atrophy) or signs of a high risk of malignancy (obstructive jaundice, mural nodules, main pancreatic duct dilation greater than 10 mm) [21, 38]. In patients undergoing EUS, the dilemma is to decide when a sample of the cyst content is needed. The answer is when there is an unclear imaging diagnosis at CT/MRI, in inoperable patients who require chemotherapy, asymptomatic branch duct-IPMNs of 3 cm in size or with signs of a high risk of malignancy. However, MRI associated with MR pancreatography should be scheduled for monitoring pancreatic cystic lesions in branch-duct IPMNs as follows: a diameter less than 10 mm every 12 months, a diameter between 10 and 20 mm



Fig. 1.2 Management of branch-duct intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms (IPMNs). *CT* computed tomographic scan, *MRI* magnetic resonance imaging, *EUS* endoscopic ultrasonography, *CA 19-9* Carbohydrate Antigen 19-9

every 6–12 months and a diameter greater than 20 mm every 3–6 months; if the cystic lesion is stable 2 years after the initial diagnosis, the timing of the follow-up can be modified as follows: a diameter less than 10 mm every 24 months, a diameter between 10 and 20 mm every 18 months and a diameter greater than 20 mm every 12 months [71]. The question is how long should the follow-up be; whereas American guidelines recommend stopping the follow-up after 5 years if the clinical picture has not changed [72], and increasing evidence has suggested that the follow-up should be extended for more than 5 years due to the possibility of detecting malignant transformation after this period [73, 74]. The last question is the quality of life of patients followed long-term clinically and radiologically; the answer is that patients with IPMNs have a quality of life similar to the general population from both a physical and a mental point of view [19] and, thus, the long-term follow-up does not seem to affect the well-being of these subjects.

1.7 Conclusions

Clinical signs in solid tumors are important in reaching a diagnosis whereas pancreatic cysts are mainly asymptomatic, and radiological and cytological examinations are important tools in order to reach a diagnosis. In this respect, a CT scan is the optimal modality for the initial evaluation of solid pancreatic masses, including local and distant staging, and surgical planning whereas MRI/MRCP is the preferred modality for cystic pancreatic lesion assessment and can be used without contrast to follow-up incidental lesions. Endoscopic ultrasound combined with MRCP in evaluating cystic lesions is able to document the presence of carcinoma transformation by means of an evaluation of fluid analysis and FNA of any mural nodules. Of course, in patients with cystic lesions, such as branch-duct IPMNs, who do not need immediate surgery and are fit for surgery, a medical and radiological follow-up is important to detect malignant transformation.

Conflict of Interest None to declare.

References

- 1. Digestive system tumours WHO classification of tumours. vol 1, 5th ed. Lyon; 2019.
- Bosman FT, Carneiro F, Hruban RH, Theise ND. WHO classification of tumours of endocrine organs, vol. 1. Lyon: IARC WHO Classification of Tumours; 2017.
- Pezzilli R. Asymptomatic lesions of the pancreas: an overview. J Gastroenterol Hepatol Res. 2014;3:1216–9.
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68:394–424.
- Laffan TA, Horton KM, Klein AP, Berlanstein B, Siegelman SS, Kawamoto S, Johnson PT, Fishman EK, Hruban RH. Prevalence of unsuspected pancreatic cysts on MDCT. Am J Roentgenol. 2008;191:802–7.
- de Jong K, Nio CY, Hermans JJ, Dijkgraaf MG, Gouma DJ, van Eijck CH, van Heel E, Klass G, Fockens P, Bruno MJ. High pre- valence of pancreatic cysts detected by screening magnetic resonance imaging examinations. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2010;8:806–11.
- 7. de Oliveira PB, Puchnick A, Szejnfeld J, Goldman SM. Prevalence of incidental pancreatic cysts on 3 tesla magnetic resonance. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0121317.
- Lee HW, Lee SK, Jun JH, Song TJ, Park DH, Lee SS, Seo DW, Kim MH. Timing and clinical features of spontaneous decrease in size of small pancreatic cystic lesions without high-risk stigmata. Gut Liver. 2020;14(2):248–56.
- Strang AM, Lockhart ME, Kenney PJ, Amling CL, Urban DA, El-Galley R, Burns JR, Colli JL, Hammontree LN, Kolettis PN. Computer-ized tomographic angiography for renal donor evaluation leads to a higher exclusion rate. J Urol. 2007;177:1826–9.
- Pitts A, Nissen NN, Waxman A, Yu R. Unsuspected fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG-PET)–positive pancreatic lesions. Pancreas. 2013;42:1191–3.
- Winter JM, Cameron JL, Lillemoe KD, Campbell KA, Chang D, Riall TS, Coleman J, Sauter PK, Canto M, Hruban RH, Schulick RD, Choti MA, Yeo CJ. Periampullary and pancreatic incidentaloma: a single institution's experience with an increasingly common diagnosis. Ann Surg. 2006;243:673–80.
- 12. Flanders TY, Foulkes WD. Pancreatic adenocarcinoma: epidemiology and genetics. J Med Genet. 1996;33:889–98.
- 13. Santo E, Bar-Yishay I. Pancreatic solid incidentalomas. Endosc Ultrasound. 2017;6:S99–103.
- 14. Vincent A, Herman J, Schulick R, Hruban RH, Goggins M. Pancreatic cancer. Lancet. 2011;378:607–20.
- 15. Sachs T, Pratt WB, Callery MP, Vollmer CM Jr. The incidental asymptomatic pancreatic lesion: nuisance or threat? J Gastrointest Surg. 2009;13:405–15.
- Young K, Iyer R, Morganstein D, Chau I, Cunningham D, Starling N. Pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: a review. Future Oncol. 2015;11:853–64.
- Porta M, Fabregat X, Malats N, Guarner L, Carrato A, de Miguel A, et al. Exocrine pancreatic cancer: symptoms at presentation and their relation to tumour site and stage. Clin Transl Oncol. 2005;7:189–97.

- Freelove R, Walling AD. Pancreatic cancer: diagnosis and management. Am Fam Physician. 2006;73:485–92.
- Pezzilli R, Cucchetti A, Calculli L. Comparison of clinical data and scores of quality of life, anxiety, and depression in patients with different types of intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms: a prospective study. Pancreas. 2017;46:1029–34.
- 20. Pezzilli R, Calculli L. Branch-type intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm of the pancreas: clinically and patient-reported outcomes. Pancreas. 2015;44:221–6.
- 21. Buscarini E, Pezzilli R, Cannizzaro R, De Angelis C, Gion M, Morana G, Zamboni G, Arcidiacono P, Balzano G, Barresi L, Basso D, Bocus P, Calculli L, Capurso G, Canzonieri V, Casadei R, Crippa S, D'Onofrio M, Frulloni L, Fusaroli P, Manfredi G, Pacchioni D, Pasquali C, Rocca R, Ventrucci M, Venturini S, Villanacci V, Zerbi A, Falconi M. Italian consensus guidelines for the diagnostic work-up and follow-up of cystic pancreatic neoplasms. Dig Liver Dis. 2014;46:479–93.
- 22. Keane MG, Horsfall L, Rait G, Pereira SP. A case-control study comparing the incidence of early symptoms in pancreatic and biliary tract cancer. BMJ Open. 2014;4:e005720.
- Raimondi S, Maisonneuve P, Lowenfels AB. Epidemiology of pancreatic cancer: an overview. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2009;6:699–708.
- Furukawa H, Okada S, Saisho H, Ariyama J, Karasawa E, Nakaizumi A, et al. Clinicopathologic features of small pancreatic adenocarcinoma: a collective study. Cancer. 1996;78:986–90.
- 25. D'Haese JG, Hartel M, Demir IE, Hinz U, Bergmann F, Büchler MW, Friess H, Ceyhan GO. Pain sensation in pancreatic diseases is not uniform: the different facets of pancreatic pain. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20:9154–61.
- Ceyhan GO, Bergmann F, Kadihasanoglu M, Altintas B, Demir IE, Hinz U, Müller MW, Giese T, Büchler MW, Giese NA, Friess H. Pancreatic neuropathy and neuropathic pain. A comprehensive pathomorphological study of 546 cases. Gastroenterology. 2009;136:177–86.
- Müller MW, Friess H, Köninger J, Martin D, Wente MN, Hinz U, Ceyhan GO, Blaha P, Kleeff J, Büchler MW. Factors influencing survival after bypass procedures in patients with advanced pancreatic adenocarcinomas. Am J Surg. 2008;195:221–8.
- Okusaka T, Okada S, Ueno H, Ikeda M, Shimada K, Yamamoto J, Kosuge T, Yamasaki S, Fukushima N, Sakamoto M. Abdominal pain in patients with resectable pancreatic cancer with reference to clinicopathologic findings. Pancreas. 2001;22:279–84.
- Holly EA, Chaliha I, Bracci PM, Gautam M. Signs and symptoms of pancreatic cancer: a population-based case-control study in the San Francisco Bay area. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2004;2:510–7.
- Pezzilli R. Applicability of a checklist for the diagnosis and treatment of severe exocrine pancreatic insufficiency: a survey on the management of pancreatic maldigestion in Italy. Panminerva Med. 2016;58:245–52.
- Fearon KC, Baracos VE. Cachexia in pancreatic cancer: new treatment options and measures of success. HPB (Oxford). 2010;12:323–4.
- Bachmann J, Heiligensetzer M, Krakowski-Roosen H, Büchler MW, Friess H, Martignoni ME. Cachexia worsens prognosis in patients with resectable pancreatic cancer. J Gastrointest Surg. 2008;12:1193–201.
- 33. Kyle UG, Pirlich M, Lochs H, Schuetz T, Pichard C. Increased length of hospital stay in underweight and overweight patients at hospital admission: a controlled population study. Clin Nutr. 2005;24(1):133–42.
- Gullo L, Pezzilli R, Morselli-Labate AM, Italian Pancreatic Cancer Study Group. Diabetes and the risk of pancreatic cancer. N Engl J Med. 1994;331:81–4.
- 35. Gullo L, Pezzilli R. Diabetes and pancreatic cancer. Pancreas. 2004;28:451.
- 36. Gallo M, Ruggeri RM, Muscogiuri G, Pizza G, Faggiano A, Colao A. Diabetes and pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours: which interplays, if any? Cancer Treat Rev. 2018;67:1–9.
- Barkin JS, Goldstein JA. Diagnostic and therapeutic approach to pancreatic cancer. Biomed Pharmacother. 2000;54:400–9.
- European Study Group on Cystic Tumours of the Pancreas. European evidence-based guidelines on pancreatic cystic neoplasms. Gut. 2018;67:789–804.

- Hackert T, Fritz S, Klauss M, Bergmann F, Hinz U, Strobel O, Schneider L, Büchler MW. Mainduct intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm: high cancer risk in duct diameter of 5 to 9 mm. Ann Surg. 2015;262:875–80.
- 40. Morales-Oyarvide V, Mino-Kenudson M, Ferrone CR, Gonzalez-Gonzalez LA, Warshaw AL, Lillemoe KD, Fernández-del Castillo C. Acute pancreatitis in intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms: a common predictor of malignant intestinal subtype. Surgery. 2015;158:1219–25.
- 41. Konings IC, Harinck F, Poley JW, Aalfs CM, van Rens A, Krak NC, Wagner A, Nio CY, Sijmons RH, van Dullemen HM, Vleggaar FP, Ausems MG, Fockens P, van Hooft JE, Bruno MJ. Prevalence and progression of pancreatic cystic precursor lesions differ between groups at high risk of developing pancreatic cancer. Pancreas. 2017;46:28–34.
- 42. Capurso G, Boccia S, Salvia R, Del Chiaro M, Frulloni L, Arcidiacono PG, Zerbi A, Manta R, Fabbri C, Ventrucci M, Tarantino I, Piciucchi M, Carnuccio A, Boggi U, Leoncini E, Costamagna G, Delle Fave G, Pezzilli R, Bassi C, Larghi A. Risk factors for intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm (IPMN) of the pancreas: a multicentre case-control study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2013;108:1003–9.
- 43. Ohtsuka T, Kono H, Nagayoshi Y, Mori Y, Tsutsumi K, Sadakari Y, Takahata S, Morimatsu K, Aishima S, Igarashi H, Ito T, Ishigami K, Nakamura M, Mizumoto K, Tanaka M. An increase in the number of predictive factors augments the likelihood of malignancy in branch duct intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm of the pancreas. Surgery. 2012;151:76–83.
- 44. Perez-Johnston R, Narin O, Mino-Kenudson M, Ingkakul T, Warshaw AL, Fernandez-Del Castillo C, Sahani VD. Frequency and significance of calcification in IPMN. Pancreatology. 2013;13:43–7.
- 45. Fritz S, Hackert T, Hinz U, Hartwig W, Büchler MW, Werner J. Role of serum carbohydrate antigen 19-9 and carcinoembryonic antigen in distinguishing between benign and invasive intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm of the pancreas. Br J Surg. 2011;98:104–10.
- 46. Chang YT, Tien YW, Jeng YM, Yang CY, Liang PC, Wong JM, Chang MC. Overweight increases the risk of malignancy in patients with pancreatic mucinous cystic neoplasms. Medicine (Baltimore). 2015;94:e797.
- Mughetti M, Calculli L, Chiesa AM, Ciccarese F, Rrusho O, Pezzilli R. Implications and issues related to familial pancreatic cancer: a cohort study of hospitalized patients. BMC Gastroenterol. 2016;16:6.
- 48. Paiella S, Capurso G, Cavestro GM, Butturini G, Pezzilli R, Salvia R, Signoretti M, Crippa S, Carrara S, Frigerio I, Bassi C, Falconi M, Iannicelli E, Giardino A, Mannucci A, Laghi A, Laghi L, Frulloni L, Zerbi A. Results of first-round of surveillance in individuals at high-risk of pancreatic cancer from the AISP (Italian Association for the Study of the Pancreas) Registry. Am J Gastroenterol. 2019;114:665–70.
- 49. Takeuchi S, Doi M, Ikari N, Yamamoto M, Furukawa T. Mutations in BRCA1, BRCA2, and PALB2, and a panel of 50 cancer-associated genes in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):8105.
- Mafficini A, Scarpa A. Genetics and epigenetics of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms. Endocr Rev. 2019;40:506–36.
- Pezzilli R, Casadei R, Calculli L, Santini D, Morselli-Labate AM, NeoPan Study Group. Serum determination of CA 19-9 in diagnosing pancreatic cancer: an obituary. Dig Liver Dis. 2010;42:73–4.
- Pezzilli R, Calculli L, Melzi d'Eril G, Barassi A. Serum tumor markers not useful in screening patients with pancreatic mucinous cystic lesions associated with malignant changes. Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int. 2016;15:553–7.
- Pleskow DK, Berger HJ, Gyves J, Allen E, McLean A, Podolsky DK. Evaluation of a serologic marker, CA19-9, in the diagnosis of pancreatic cancer. Ann Intern Med. 1989;110:704–9.
- Steinberg W. The clinical utility of the CA 19-9 tumor-associated antigen. Am J Gastroenterol. 1990;85:350–5.
- 55. Maithel SK, Maloney S, Winston C, Gönen M, D'Angelica MI, Dematteo RP, Jarnagin WR, Brennan MF, Allen PJ, Preoperative CA. 19-9 and the yield of staging laparoscopy

in patients with radiographically resectable pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15:3512–20.

- Locker GY, Hamilton S, Harris J, Jessup JM, Kemeny N, Macdonald JS, Somerfield MR, Hayes DF, Bast RC Jr. ASCO 2006 update of recommendations for the use of tumor markers in gastrointestinal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24:5313–27.
- 57. van den Bosch RP, van Eijck CH, Mulder PG, Jeekel J. Serum CA19-9 determination in the management of pancreatic cancer. Hepato-gastroenterol. 1996;43:710–3.
- 58. Smith RA, Bosonnet L, Ghaneh P, Raraty M, Sutton R, Campbell F, Neoptolemos JP. Preoperative CA19-9 levels and lymph node ratio are independent predictors of survival in patients with resected pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Dig Surg. 2008;25:226–32.
- Zhang S, Wang Y-M, Sun C-D, Lu Y, Wu L-Q. Clinical value of serum CA19-9 levels in evaluating resectability of pancreatic carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol. 2008;14:3750–3.
- 60. Waraya M, Yamashita K, Katagiri H, Ishii K, Takahashi Y, Furuta K, Watanabe M. Preoperative serum CA19-9 and dissected peripancreatic tissue margin as determiners of long-term survival in pancreatic cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2009;16:1231–40.
- Campana D, Nori F, Piscitelli L, Morselli-Labate AM, Pezzilli R, Corinaldesi R, Tomassetti P. Chromogranin A: is it a useful marker of neuroendocrine tumors? J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:1967–73.
- 62. Pezzilli R, Migliori M, Morselli-Labate AM, Campana D, Ventrucci M, Tomassetti P, Corinaldesi R. Diagnostic value of tumor M2-pyruvate kinase in neuroendocrine tumors. A comparative study with chromogranin A. Anticancer Res. 2003;23:2969–72.
- 63. Serra C, Felicani C, Mazzotta E, Piscitelli L, Cipollini ML, Tomassetti P, Pezzilli R, Casadei R, Morselli-Labate AM, Stanghellini V, Corinaldesi R, De Giorgio R. Contrast-enhanced ultrasound in the differential diagnosis of exocrine versus neuroendocrine pancreatic tumors. Pancreas. 2013;42:871–7.
- 64. Pezzilli R, Serra C, Calculli L, Ferroni F, Iammarino MT, Casadei R. Three-dimensional contrast-enhanced ultrasonography of intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms of the pancreas: a comparison with magnetic resonance imaging. Pancreas. 2013;42:1164–8.
- 65. Calculli L, Casadei R, Amore B, Albini Riccioli L, Minni F, Caputo M, Marrano D, Gavelli G. The usefulness of spiral Computed Tomography and colour-Doppler ultrasonography to predict portal-mesenteric trunk involvement in pancreatic cancer. Radiol Med. 2002;104:307–15.
- 66. Konda VJ, Meining A, Jamil LH, Giovannini M, Hwang JH, Wallace MB, Chang KJ, Siddiqui UD, Hart J, Lo SK, Saunders MD, Aslanian HR, Wroblewski K, Waxman I. A pilot study of in vivo identification of pancreatic cystic neoplasms with needle-based confocal laser endomicroscopy under endosonographic guidance. Endoscopy. 2013;45:1006–13.
- 67. Bertani H, Pezzilli R, Pigò F, Bruno M, De Angelis C, Manfredi G, Delconte G, Conigliaro R, Buscarini E. LEOPARD study: Italian multicenter prospective study of pancreatic cystic lesions with confocal endomicroscopy: feasibility and safety evaluation. Endoscopy. 2019;51:42–3.
- Barral M, Taouli B, Guiu B, Koh DM, Luciani A, Manfredi R, Vilgrain V, Hoeffel C, Kanematsu M, Soyer P. Diffusion-weighted MR imaging of the pancreas: current status and recommendations. Radiology. 2015;274:45–63.
- 69. Oláh A. Pancreatic head mass: what can be done? Diagnosis: surgery. JOP. 2001;1(3 Suppl):127–9.
- 70. Jais B, Rebours V, Malleo G, Salvia R, Fontana M, Maggino L, Bassi C, Manfredi R, Moran R, Lennon AM, Zaheer A, Wolfgang C, Hruban R, Marchegiani G, Fernández Del Castillo C, Brugge W, Ha Y, Kim MH, Oh D, Hirai I, Kimura W, Jang JY, Kim SW, Jung W, Kang H, Song SY, Kang CM, Lee WJ, Crippa S, Falconi M, Gomatos I, Neoptolemos J, Milanetto AC, Sperti C, Ricci C, Casadei R, Bissolati M, Balzano G, Frigerio I, Girelli R, Delhaye M, Bernier B, Wang H, Jang KT, Song DH, Huggett MT, Oppong KW, Pererva L, Kopchak KV, Del Chiaro M, Segersvard R, Lee LS, Conwell D, Osvaldt A, Campos V, Aguero Garcete G, Napoleon B, Matsumoto I, Shinzeki M, Bolado F, Fernandez JM, Keane MG, Pereira SP, Acuna IA, Vaquero EC, Angiolini MR, Zerbi A, Tang J, Leong RW, Faccinetto A, Morana G, Petrone MC, Arcidiacono PG, Moon JH, Choi HJ, Gill RS, Pavey D, Ouaïssi M, Sastre

B, Spandre M, De Angelis CG, Rios-Vives MA, Concepcion-Martin M, Ikeura T, Okazaki K, Frulloni L, Messina O, Lévy P. Serous cystic neoplasm of the pancreas: a multinational study of 2622 patients under the auspices of the International Association of Pancreatology and European Pancreatic Club (European Study Group on Cystic Tumors of the Pancreas). Gut. 2016;65:305–12.

- 71. Tanaka M, Fernández-Del Castillo C, Kamisawa T, Jang JY, Levy P, Ohtsuka T, Salvia R, Shimizu Y, Tada M, Wolfgang CL. Revisions of international consensus Fukuoka guidelines for the management of IPMN of the pancreas. Pancreatology. 2017;17:738–53.
- 72. Vege SS, Ziring B, Jain R, Moayyedi P. American Gastroenterological Association Institute guideline on the diagnosis and management of asymptomatic neoplastic pancreatic cysts. Gastroenterology. 2015;148:819–22.
- Crippa S, Pezzilli R, Bissolati M, Capurso G, Romano L, Brunori MP, Calculli L, Tamburrino D, Piccioli A, Ruffo G, Fave GD, Falconi M. Active surveillance beyond 5 years is required for presumed branch-duct intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms undergoing non-operative management. Am J Gastroenterol. 2017;112:1153–61.
- 74. Oyama H, Tada M, Takagi K, Tateishi K, Hamada T, Nakai Y, Hakuta R, Ijichi H, Ishigaki K, Kanai S, Kogure H, Mizuno S, Saito K, Saito T, Sato T, Suzuki T, Takahara N, Morishita Y, Arita J, Hasegawa K, Tanaka M, Fukayama M, Koike K. Long-term risk of malignancy in branch-duct intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms. Gastroenterology. 2020;158(1):226–237.e5.



Overview on Inflammatory Pancreatic Fluid Collection

Filippo Antonini and Giampiero Macarri

2.1 Introduction

Inflammatory pancreatic fluid collections (PFCs) are a varied group of collections of enzyme-rich pancreatic juice mainly collected adjacent to the pancreas and caused by a pancreatic ductal disruption [1]. They are often the result of acute pancreatitis (both interstitial than necrotizing), even if they may also be seen in chronic pancreatitis and pancreatic trauma (including abdominal surgery). A correct definition of PFCs is crucial to optimize management and treatment. Due to the large discrepancy in the way these fluid collections were previously described, in 1992 a classification on acute pancreatitis was proposed to provide consistency and uniformity of nomenclature (the Atlanta Classification) [2] and recently a revised classification was proposed [1]. According to the latter classification, PFCs are defined as acute, non-encapsulated (<4 weeks after an episode of acute pancreatitis) or chronic, encapsulated (>4 weeks after an episode of acute pancreatitis) [1]. Moreover, based on the presence of necrotic material inside the lesions, PFCs are further divided in: acute peripancreatic fluid collections (APFCs), acute necrotic collections (ANCs), pseudocysts, and walled-off necrosis (WOPNs) (Table 2.1) [1]. This chapter reviews natural history, classification, and indication of treatment of PFCs.

2.1.1 APFCs

APFCs are homogenous collections of fluid contiguous to the pancreas and are featured by the absence of a defined wall encapsulating them. They usually develop within the first 48 h of the interstitial edematous pancreatitis with no correlated

F. Antonini (🖂) · G. Macarri

Department of Gastroenterology, A. Murri Hospital, Polytechnic University of Marche, Fermo, Italy

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. Facciorusso, N. Muscatiello (eds.), *Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71937-1_2

Type of acute		
pancreatitis	<4 weeks	>4 weeks
Interstitial edematous	 Acute peripancreatic fluid collection Not encapsulated Adjacent to the pancreas (no intrapancreatic extension) Homogeneous fluid density (no nonliquid component) 	 Pancreatic pseudocyst Well-defined inflammatory wall (usually round or oval) Usually peripancreatic (rare intrapancreatic extension) Homogeneous fluid density (minimal or no necrosis)
Necrotizing	 Acute necrotic collection Not encapsulated Intrapancreatic and/or peripancreatic extension Heterogenous, non-liquified material (both fluid and necrosis) Variably loculated 	 Walled-off pancreatic necrosis Well-defined inflammatory wall Intrapancreatic and/or peripancreatic extension Heterogenous, non-liquified material (both fluid and necrosis) Variably loculated

 Table 2.1
 Classification system of pancreatic fluid collections in acute pancreatitis [1]

peripancreatic necrosis. In the first days of acute pancreatitis, a clear differentiation between APFCs and ANCs could be difficult because both can present as non-enhancing areas at CT scan. Most of them remain asymptomatic, sterile, and resolve spontaneously within 2–4 weeks in 50% of patients [3]. Acute collections usually do not require any interventional treatment. Rarely, they can persist and evolve into pseudocyst (<10% of cases) [4].

2.1.2 ANCs

ACNs develop from pancreatic glandular or peripancreatic fatty tissue necrosis in case of acute necrotizing pancreatitis. Within the first weeks of onset of the acute necrotizing pancreatitis, any apparent collection that replaces or occupies pancreatic parenchyma should be considered an ANC. In the 75–80% of cases, they are both pancreatic and peripancreatic [5]. They lack a definable wall, and necrotic content may be sterile or infected. In contrast to APFCs that resolve spontaneously and only a minority transform into pseudocyst, a considerable amount of ANCs transform into WONs [6, 7].

2.1.3 Pancreatic Pseudocysts

Pseudocysts are described as well-circumscribed encapsulated collections of fluid surrounded by nonepithelial wall of fibrous or granulation tissue that is commonly outside the pancreas that does not have any necrotic material [1]. Pancreatic pseudocysts usually occur more than 4 weeks after the onset of interstitial edematous pancreatitis. The presence of pseudocysts ranges from 5% to 16% in acute

pancreatitis, and 20% to 40% in chronic pancreatitis. Alcohol is the etiological agent in most (64%) of chronic pancreatitis patients, whereas gallstone disease was the cause for 26% of acute and for 11% of chronic pancreatitis patients. Differential diagnosis from pancreatic cystic neoplasms is mandatory to avoid unnecessary pancreatic surgery and ensure patients excluding a malignant disease [8]. On the other hand, it was found that as many as 37% of pancreatic cystic neoplasms were misdiagnosed as pseudocysts and it was even confirmed as malignant lesions after surgery. Although knowing previous history of pancreatitis could be useful in distinguishing pancreatic pseudocysts from cystic neoplasms, clinical, and radiological characteristics must be considered for differentiate these lesions. The choice of appropriate imaging modality depends on the reason for investigation, clinical scenario, and time of onset of symptoms. Contrast-enhanced computed tomography (CT) scan or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) are extremely sensitive and can help recognize these lesions in 88% to 94% of cases [9, 10]. Pancreatic pseudocysts appear usually as a round or oval collections, typically extrapancreatic, with a well-defined wall, with homogeneous fluid density, containing no non-liquefied components or internal septae. MRI allows better distinction between solid necrotic and predominantly fluid collections [11]. On MRI, the presence of internal dependent debris appears to be a highly specific finding for the diagnosis of pancreatic pseudocyst. Moreover, magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography (MRCP) can give relevant information about pancreatic parenchyma and pancreatic ductal integrity [12]. When morphologic features reported by radiological imaging techniques are insufficient to differentiate cystic lesions, endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) can provide further, additional and useful information [13]. Indeed, EUS provides high-resolution images over a short distance to the pancreas, accurately showing every cystic element as well as detailed images of the parenchyma [14]. EUS is also mandatory when an endoscopic treatment is required.

Most pancreatic pseudocysts are asymptomatic and endure spontaneous resolution. In the past, some studies suggested that large pseudocysts that persist for more than 6 weeks are likely to generate symptoms and should be treated [15]. However, new evidence suggests that pseudocysts can remain asymptomatic regardless of size or duration and that spontaneous resolution happens most of the time (varying from 7% to 60% of patients) [16]. For this reason, pseudocysts that occur with acute pancreatitis should be maintained under observation, and the treatment should be reserved only for those patients who develop symptoms [17, 18]. Symptomatic patients can present abdominal pain, precocious satiety, weight loss, and vomiting. Other symptoms may be the infection of the pseudocyst, gastric outlet obstruction, and biliary obstruction [19]. Erosion of the pseudocyst into attached vessels may also bring to a pseudoaneurysm formation and/or hemorrhage that could be lifethreatening. Finally, decisions should be made in a multidisciplinary setting based on the patient's condition, etiology, symptoms, and clinical history (Fig. 2.1).



Fig. 2.1 Contrastenhanced (CT) image 4 days after the onset of acute pancreatitis: acute necrotic collection (ANC) of the pancreatic body and tail, with normal parenchyma of the head (P)





2.1.4 WONs

WONs are defined as mature, encapsulated collections of pancreatic or peripancreatic necrosis that are surrounded by an encapsulating wall. They amount to less than 5% of PFCs. These lesions evolve from ANCs over time and usually develop more than 4 weeks after an episode of necrotizing acute pancreatitis. As ANCs, even WON can affect areas of pancreatic parenchyma only, peripancreatic tissues only or, most commonly, both [1]. For these reasons, sometimes WON can still be seen at sites distant from the pancreas (Fig. 2.2).

Differential diagnosis with pseudocysts is facilitated by the presence of necrosis (solid component) within the collection [12]. CT scan is not always able to detect the solid component inside the collection and thus WON may be sometimes misdiagnosed as a pseudocyst [11]. In these cases, transabdominal ultrasound, MRI,

or EUS may be useful to identify the presence of necrosis. Moreover, extension to paracolic space, irregular wall definition, and pancreatic deformity or discontinuity could be associated with WOPN. On the other hand, the presence of pancreatic ductal dilation was connected with pancreatic pseudocyst. WON and, less frequently, the other collections can be sterile or infected. The presence of extraluminal gas within the collection is pathognomonic of infected collection, and percutaneous or EUS-guided fine-needle aspiration (FNA) is not recommended in these patients [18]. However, since in patients with infected necrosis gas formations occur in only about half of the cases [20, 21], where infection is suspected and clinical/imaging signs are unclear, FNA should be performed to guide antimicrobial-targeted therapy [18]. In the absence of clear imaging characteristics, the presence of WON should be suspected in case of protracted clinical course or severe clinical deterioration despite optimal supportive care.

The distinction between WON and pancreatic pseudocyst is of crucial importance, because the management is completely different. In both cases only symptomatic patients should be treated, but pancreatic pseudocyst requires management of pain or size-related symptoms whereas WON requires necrosectomy with debridement of solid internal components [22]. Until a few years ago, surgical debridement was the gold standard for treatment of WONs [23, 24]. More recently, less-invasive approaches have been proposed as the optimal treatment, since some studies demonstrated that a minimally invasive step-up approach decreased mortality and complications when compared to open necrosectomy [25]. Percutaneous drainage under radiological guidance has been introduced with good results, but the inability to reach complete solid debris can led to surgical rescue in about 40% of patients with WON [26-28]. Compared with open surgery, percutaneous drainage could effectively reduce the average hospital length of stay and hospital cost and avoid surgically related complications [29]. In the last few years, direct transgastric endoscopic debridement has emerged as a very promising technique in patients with WONs [30, 31]. In the endoscopic approach, a fistula with stomach (cystogastrostomy) or duodenum (cystoduodenostomy) is created by using transluminal access. At the beginning, endoscopic drainage was performed in patients with pseudocysts by directly puncturing a visible "bulge" under traditional endoscopic vision [32, 33]. More recently, EUS has been used to perform the procedure under endosonographic vision (even in the absence of compression), with the advantage to decide the best site of puncture and thus avoid vessels and other viscera [34]. EUS-guided drainage of PFCs is associated with higher technical success (95% vs 35-66%) and lower adverse event rates (0-4% vs 13-15%) than conventional direct puncture technique [35, 36]. After the puncture of pancreatic collection, fluid aspiration can be performed to obtain culture which can be used to start antibiotic therapy. Several stents can be used to recover in maturation of fistulous tract [37]. If the cyst fluid is thick and contains solid debris, as in case of WON, the endoscopist should put metallic large-bore stents and then perform direct necrosectomy by driving a front viewing endoscope with subsequent removal of necrotic debris by using tools such as snares, baskets, and water jets. Hydrogen peroxide is used to liquefy the debris





which can then be eliminated through a series of procedures. Nasocystic tubes can be also used to wash the cystic cavity for multiple days depending on the patients need and the amount of debris present [38] (Fig. 2.3).

2.2 Conclusions

PFCs include a variety of inflammatory fluid collections named separately and classified according to the time course (\leq 4 weeks or >4 weeks from *onset* of acute pancreatitis) and to the presence or absence of necrosis within the cavity. Each collection can be sterile or infected. These lesions are associated with increased morbidity and mortality, especially in patients with necrotizing acute pancreatitis. Differential diagnosis is crucial to assess the best management even if a clear distinction between pancreatic cysts is sometimes difficult to make. Indeed, not all cysts discovered during an episode of acute pancreatitis are inflammatory. It must be remembered that cystic neoplasms can sometimes cause acute pancreatitis, or patients with acute pancreatitis may harbor incidental cystic neoplasms. Imaging features, clinical presentation, and follow-up are important to make this differentiation.

The management of PFCs has evolved with time. The vast majority of acute PFCs (ANCs and APFCs) and most pancreatic pseudocysts do not require any intervention as they normally undergo resolution with conservative management (nutritional support, fluid resuscitation, antibiotics when needed). Nevertheless, any kind of interventional treatment within first few weeks should be avoided as much as possible because it is associated with worse outcomes and must be reserved for patients with acute pancreatitis and infected necrosis with clinical deterioration. In absence of symptoms, size alone does not necessitate treatment. Whenever possible,

the general recommendation is to wait until at least 4 weeks after initial presentation to allow the collection to become "walled-off," and to address interventional treatment only for symptomatic patients. The options of drainage for PFCs include surgery, percutaneous radiological drainage, and endoscopic transmural drainage. While symptomatic pancreatic pseudocysts can be managed by endoscopic or radiological internal drainage alone, in case of WONs a formal necrosectomy with removal of necrosis within the cavity is needed. In the last years, new endoscopic techniques and devices have emerged to improve the efficacy and safety of drainage/ debridement of PFCs, thus reserving surgical approach only in a small number of patients. Nowadays, EUS-guided drainage is advised to be the best choice for the majority of patients. Anyway, a multidisciplinary and expert team including gastroenterologists, therapeutic biliopancreatic endoscopists, surgeons. interventional radiologists, and specialists in critical care medicine is needed to correctly manage patients with PFCs and to minimize morbidity and mortality related to these collections.

References

- Banks PA, Bollen TL, Dervenis C, et al. Classification of acute pancreatitis—2012: revision of the Atlanta classification and definitions by international consensus. Gut. 2013;62:102–11.
- Bradley EL III. A clinically based classification system for acute pancreatitis. Summary of the International Symposium on Acute Pancreatitis, Atlanta, GA, September 11 through 13, 1992. Arch Surg. 1993;128:586–90.
- 3. Lenhart DK, Balthazar EJ. MDCT of acute mild (nonnecrotizing) pancreatitis: abdominal complications and fate of fluid collections. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2008;190:643.
- 4. Cui ML, Kim KH, Kim HG, et al. Incidence, risk factors and clinical course of pancreatic fluid collections in acute pancreatitis. Dig Dis Sci. 2014;59:1055–62.
- Thoeni RF. The revised Atlanta classification of acute pancreatitis: its importance for the radiologist and its effect on treatment. Radiology. 2012;262:751–64.
- Sarathi Patra P, Das K, et al. Natural resolution or intervention for fluid collections in acute severe pancreatitis. Br J Surg. 2014;101:1721–8.
- Manrai M, Kochhar R, Gupta V, et al. Outcome of acute pancreatic and peripancreatic collections occurring in patients with acute pancreatitis. Ann Surg. 2018;267(2):357–63.
- Antonini F, Fuccio L, Fabbri C, Macarri G, Palazzo L. Management of serous cystic neoplasms of the pancreas. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2015;9(1):115–25.
- 9. Buscarini E, Pezzilli R, Cannizzaro R, et al. Italian consensus guidelines for the diagnostic work-up and follow-up of cystic pancreatic neoplasms. Dig Liver Dis. 2014;46(6):479–93.
- Aghdassi A, Mayerle J, Kraft M, Sielenkämper AW, Heidecke CD, Lerch MM. Diagnosis and treatment of pancreatic pseudocysts in chronic pancreatitis. Pancreas. 2008;36(2):105–12.
- Buerke B, Domagk D, Heindel W, Wessling J. Diagnostic and radiological management of cystic pancreatic lesions: important features for radiologists. Clin Radiol. 2012;67(8):727–37.
- Morgan DE, Baron TH, Smith JK, Robbin ML, Kenney PJ. Pancreatic fluid collections prior to intervention: evaluation with MR imaging compared with CT and US. Radiology. 1997;203:773–8.
- Dhaka N, Samanta J, Kochhar S, et al. Pancreatic fluid collections: what is the ideal imaging technique? World J Gastroenterol. 2015;21(48):13403–10.
- Barresi L, Tarantino I, Granata A, Curcio G, Traina M. Pancreatic cystic lesions: how endoscopic ultrasound morphology and endoscopic ultrasound fine needle aspiration help unlock the diagnostic puzzle. World J Gastrointest Endosc. 2012;4(6):247–59.

- 15. Warshaw AL, Rattner DW. Timing of surgical drainage for pancreatic pseudocyst. Clinical and chemical criteria. Ann Surg. 1985;202:720–4.
- Giovannini M. Endoscopic ultrasonography-guided pancreatic drainage. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am. 2012;22(2):221–30, viii.
- Pezzilli R, Zerbi A, Campra D, et al. Consensus guidelines on severe acute pancreatitis. Dig Liver Dis. 2015;47(7):532–43.
- Arvanitakis M, Dumonceau JM, Albert J, et al. Endoscopic management of acute necrotizing pancreatitis: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) evidence-based multidisciplinary guidelines. Endoscopy. 2018;50(5):524–46.
- 19. Working Group IAP/APA Acute Pancreatitis Guidelines. IAP/APA evidence-based guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology. 2013;13(4 Suppl 2):e1–15.
- van Baal MC, Bollen TL, Bakker OJ, et al. The role of routine fine-needle aspiration in the diagnosis of infected necrotizing pancreatitis. Surgery. 2014;155(3):442–8.
- van Grinsven J, van Brunschot S, van Baal MC, et al. Natural history of gas configurations and encapsulation in necrotic collections during necrotizing pancreatitis. J Gastrointest Surg. 2018;22(9):1557–64.
- Baron TH, DiMaio CJ, Wang AY, Morgan KA. American Gastroenterological Association Clinical Practice Update: management of pancreatic necrosis. Gastroenterology. 2020;158(1):67–75.e1.
- Kivilaakso E, Lempinen M, Mäkeläinen A, et al. Pancreatic resection versus peritoneal lavation for acute fulminant pancreatitis. A randomized prospective study. Ann Surg. 1984;199:426–31.
- Bradley EL, Allen K. A prospective longitudinal study of observation versus surgical intervention in the management of necrotizing pancreatitis. Am J Surg. 1991;161:19–25.
- 25. van Santvoort HC, Besselink MG, Bakker OJ, et al. A step-up approach or open necrosectomy for necrotizing pancreatitis. N Engl J Med. 2010;362:1491–502.
- Freeny PC, Hauptmann E, Althaus SJ, Traverso LW, Sinanan M. Percutaneous CT-guided catheter drainage of infected acute necrotizing pancreatitis: techniques and results. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1998;170(4):969–75.
- 27. Zorger N, Hamer OW, Feuerbach S, Borisch I. Percutaneous treatment of a patient with infected necrotizing pancreatitis. Nat Clin Pract Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2005;2(1):54–7.
- Szentkereszty Z, Kerekes L, Hallay J, Czako D, Sapy P. CT-guided percutaneous peripancreatic drainage: a possible therapy in acute necrotizing pancreatitis. Hepato-Gastroenterology. 2002;49(48):1696–8.
- Zhang ZH, Ding YX, Wu YD, Gao CC, Li F. A meta-analysis and systematic review of percutaneous catheter drainage in treating infected pancreatitis necrosis. Medicine (Baltimore). 2018;97(47):e12999. Erratum in: Medicine (Baltimore). 2019;98(6):e14457.
- 30. Seifert H, Wehrmann T, Schmitt T, et al. Retroperitoneal endoscopic debridement for infected peripancreatic necrosis. Lancet. 2000;356:653–5.
- Seifert H, Biermer M, Schmitt W, et al. Transluminal endoscopic necrosectomy after acute pancreatitis: a multicentre study with long-term follow-up (the GEPARD Study). Gut. 2009;58(9):1260–6.
- 32. Kozarek RA, Brayko CM, Harlan J, et al. Endoscopic drainage of pancreatic pseudocysts. Gastrointest Endosc. 1985;31:322–7.
- Baron TH, Thaggard WG, Morgan DE, et al. Endoscopic therapy for organized pancreatic necrosis. Gastroenterology. 1996;111:755–64.
- Kahaleh M, Shami VM, Conaway MR, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound drainage of pancreatic pseudocyst: a prospective comparison with conventional endoscopic drainage. Endoscopy. 2006;38:355–9.
- 35. Park DH, Lee SS, Moon S-H, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided versus conventional transmural drainage for pancreatic pseudocysts: a prospective randomized trial. Endoscopy. 2009;41:842–8.

- 36. Varadarajulu S, Christein JD, Tamhane A, et al. Prospective randomized trial comparing EUS and EGD for transmural drainage of pancreatic pseudocysts (with videos). Gatrointestinal Endosc. 2008;68:1102–11.
- Giovannini M. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided drainage of pancreatic fluid collections. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am. 2018;28(2):157–69.
- Shahid H. Endoscopic management of pancreatic fluid collections. Transl Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;4:15.



3

Contrast-Enhanced Endoscopic Ultrasound and Endoscopic Ultrasound Elastography

Anna Cominardi and Pietro Fusaroli

3.1 Introduction

A precise characterization and an accurate differential diagnosis of pancreatic lesions are of utmost importance in order to accomplish the better clinical and therapeutic strategy for the patient.

Since its first introduction in 1980, endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) has become an important diagnostic technique for the evaluation of both solid and cystic pancreatic masses and their relationship with adjacent anatomic structures and blood vessels in order to distinguish their benign or malignant nature.

Nevertheless, even considering EUS high diagnostic accuracy, the differential diagnosis of pancreatic lesions still remains a challenge.

This gap has been bridged by the development of ancillary techniques, such as contrast-enhanced harmonic EUS (CH-EUS) and EUS elastography (EUS-E). The aim of this chapter is to describe these two innovative techniques.

3.2 Contrast-Enhanced Harmonic Endoscopic Ultrasound (CH-EUS)

The employment of an intravenous contrast agent for the study of the pancreatic masses was first described in 1995 by Kato et al. [1]. They inserted a catheter in the superior mesenteric artery or coeliac artery to inject carbon dioxide, which allowed the visualization of vascularization by EUS. The limit of this technique was the necessary application of angiography during EUS examination.

A. Cominardi · P. Fusaroli (🖂)

Gastroenterology Unit, Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences, University of Bologna, Hospital of Imola, Bologna, Italy e-mail: pietro.fusaroli@unibo.it

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. Facciorusso, N. Muscatiello (eds.), *Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71937-1_3

This limitation was overcome by the development of new types of ultrasound contrast agents, namely "first-generation agents" such as Levovist, and the advent of color and power Doppler.

Although, color and power Doppler facilitate the visualization of blood vessels, these diagnostic techniques allow the detection only of larger vessels and they are subject to multiple tissue artifacts, such as blooming or tissue motion.

In 2005, second-generation contrast agents were used for the first time; they consist in microbubbles of inert gases covered by phospholipids, polymers, surfactant, or albumin. These are SonoVue (sulfur hexafluoride, Bracco Imaging, Italy), Sonazoid (perfluorobutane, GE Healthcare, USA), Definity (octafluoropropane, Lantheus Medical Imaging, USA).

The detection of these microbubbles in smaller vessels avoiding Doppler-related artifacts was achieved with the development of harmonic technology. Harmonic technology relies on the physic principle that tissue is almost incompressible, unlike microbubbles of the contrast agent, which can be compressed by the ultrasound beam. Particularly, the transducer generates ultrasound waves that alter the normal oscillations of the microbubbles into blood vessels. As a result, microbubbles compression and expansion is produced generating a large amount of harmonic signals. Contrast-enhanced harmonic EUS selectively depicts this harmonic component generated by microbubbles (whose harmonic content is higher than that of the surrounding tissue) and, thus, allows the visualization of smaller vessels with slow flow, not detectable by Doppler imaging [2].

3.2.1 CH-EUS: How to Do It?

The reconstituted vial of contrast agent is injected into a peripheric vein followed by 5–10 mL of saline. The effects are usually seen 10 s after infusion, with a maximum peak after 20–30 s [2]. Contrast agent lasts about 60–90 s depending on cardiac frequency, pulse length, distance between lesion and transducer, type of contrast, and imaging parameters.

The insonation energy from the transmitted ultrasound wave transducer is expressed by the mechanical index (MI), which should be set to 0.2–0.4 [3].

At CH-EUS normal pancreatic parenchyma shows a homogeneous enhancement, while the bile duct and the pancreatic duct remain non-enhanced. CH-EUS plays a crucial role in the differential diagnosis of pancreatic masses, especially for the differentiation between benign and malignant lesions.

3.2.2 CH-EUS Features of Solid Pancreatic Masses

3.2.2.1 Pancreatic Intraepithelial Neoplasia (PanIN)

PanIN represents the precursor of pancreatic adenocarcinoma, and while PanIN-1 and 2 are not detectable with endoscopic ultrasound, PanIN-3 is described as a hyper-enhanced lesion at CH-EUS [4].

3.2.2.2 Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma

CH-EUS showed a pooled sensitivity of 93–94% and specificity of 88–89% in the differential diagnosis of pancreatic adenocarcinoma [5, 6].

Pancreatic adenocarcinoma usually shows an inhomogeneous hypo-enhanced aspect with an irregular arterial architecture and disappearance of veins. This poor vascularization generates a rapid washout during CH-EUS [7]. However, iso- or hyper-enhanced pancreatic adenocarcinoma is rarely encountered (Fig. 3.1).

3.2.2.3 Neuroendocrine Tumor (NET)

Although NETs show a hypo-echoic aspect during EUS, they appear hyperenhanced on CH-EUS as a result of their rich arterial vascularization (Fig. 3.2).

3.2.2.4 Solid Pseudopapillary Tumor (SPN)

SPNs are characterized by inhomogeneous enhancement of the thickened peripheral capsule and solid components surrounding the cystic and necrotic avascular areas [8, 9].



Fig. 3.1 Pancreatic body adenocarcinoma. The lesion was firstly evaluated by EUS, which showed a hypo-echoic lesion in the body of pancreas (**a**). Subsequently, the lesion was investigated with contrast harmonic after injection of the contrast agent. In the arterial (**b**) and venous (**c**) phase, the lesion appeared hypo-enhanced. Lastly, EUS-E showed a homogenous blue pattern (**d**)


Fig. 3.1 (continued)



Fig. 3.2 CH-EUS of a neuroendocrine tumor that appeared hyper-enhanced

3.2.2.5 Metastases

Pancreatic metastases are usually characterized by rapid washout. The most common primary tumors are breast, renal, and colon neoplasm. Metastases usually show inhomogeneous hypo-enhanced pattern; however, lymphoma and renal cancer had been shown to have hyper-enhanced and homogenous pattern [10, 11].

3.2.2.6 Acute Pancreatitis

The employment of contrast-agent in the EUS examination of acute pancreatitis allows the early visualization of necrotic areas, which appear non-enhanced. This is useful especially for patients with renal failure because CT contrast agent is contra-indicated for them.

3.2.2.7 Chronic Pancreatitis

Focal chronic pancreatitis usually appears hypo-enhanced with regular microvascular architecture. The analysis of arterial and venous vascular pattern is essential for the differentiation between pancreatitis and adenocarcinoma. Focal pancreatitis is characterized by homogenous vascular pattern with both arterial and venous vessel depicted; on the other hand, pancreatic adenocarcinoma shows an irregular vessels system without venous component displayed [4].

3.2.2.8 Autoimmune Pancreatitis

CH-EUS helps for the differentiation of the typically hypo-enhanced adenocarcinoma from autoimmune pancreatitis, which is usually iso-enhanced in the arterial phase and hyper- or iso-enhanced in the late phase [12] (Fig. 3.3).



Fig. 3.3 CH-EUS of autoimmune pancreatitis. The lesion appeared iso-enhanced compared to the surrounding pancreatic parenchyma



Fig. 3.4 CH-EUS showed a hypo-enhanced lymph node near the pancreas, which was suggestive of a possible malignancy

3.2.2.9 Lymph Nodes

Malignant lymph nodes are usually characterized by destroyed vascular system without hilar vessels. Areas with patchy or missing contrast-enhancement could be often observed [13] (Fig. 3.4).

3.2.2.10 Lymphoma

Primary pancreatic lymphoma is a rare tumor and little is known about its CH-EUS aspect. It has been described to have a hypo-enhancing pattern [14], although pancreatic metastases of lymphoma have been described as hyper-enhancing [15].

3.2.2.11 Pancreatoblastoma

Little is known about this high-grade malignancy tumor. It was described to appear hypo-enhanced in the arterial phase and iso-enhanced in the venous phase [16].

3.2.2.12 Schwannoma

It usually presents a hyper-enhancement pattern, although it does not show a pathognomonic pattern.

3.2.2.13 Lipoma

At CH-EUS, lipomas usually appear hypo-enhancing [17].

3.2.2.14 Perivascular Epithelioid Cell Tumor (PEComa)

PEComa is a mesenchymal cell neoplasm and rarely it grows in pancreatic parenchyma. In a recent study, it showed a long-lasting hyper-perfusion with late "washout" during CH-EUS [18].

The enhancing features of the main pancreatic solid lesions are summarized in Table 3.1.

Pancreatic lesion	CH-EUS
Pancreatic	Generally inhomogeneous hypo-enhancement with rapid washout
adenocarcinoma	Irregular arterial architecture without venous vascularization
Neuroendocrine tumor	Hyper-enhanced
Necrotic acute pancreatitis	Non-enhancing of necrotic areas
Chronic pancreatitis	Hypo-enhanced with regular arterial and venous architecture
Autoimmune pancreatitis	Early iso-enhancing and late hyper- or iso-enhancing
Malignant lymph nodes	Patchy or missing enhancement

 Table 3.1
 Contrast-enhancing characteristics of solid pancreatic lesions

3.2.3 CH-EUS Features of Cystic Pancreatic Masses

3.2.3.1 Simple Pancreatic Cysts and Pseudocysts

CH-EUS evaluation of a cystic lesion is important in order to differentiate malignant from benign cysts; the presence of wall or nodule vascularization, and consequently enhancing, is suggestive for malignant cystic lesion [19].

Pseudocysts usually appear as hypo-enhanced during all phases because they usually contain avascular material; some vessels could be found within the cyst only on early stages [4].

3.2.3.2 Intraductal Papillary Neoplasms (IPMN)

CH-EUS has been demonstrated to play an important role in the differential diagnosis between malignant and benign IPMNs through the differentiation of perfused (nodules) and non-perfused areas (mucus clots) [4]. Malignant IPMNs could be suspected according to the enhancing pattern of mural nodules indeed, and invasive IPMNs are characterized by hyper-enhanced papillary and invasive nodules [20] (Fig. 3.5).

3.2.3.3 Mucinous Cystic Neoplasms (Cystadenoma and Cystadenocarcinoma)

They could appear at CH-EUS examination as cystic lesions with intralesional irregular septation and parietal nodule enhancement.

3.2.3.4 Serous Cystadenoma

It shows intralesional irregular septation enhancement and hyper-enhanced parietal nodule [9]. It should be underlined that CH-EUS cannot distinguish between serous and mucinous cystic lesions because their septa and parietal nodules have similar enhancement (Fig. 3.6).

3.2.4 CH-EUS-Guided Tissue Sampling

The definitive diagnosis of pancreatic lesions usually results from the pathologic examination of tissue samples from the lesion, which can be obtained by



Fig. 3.5 CH-EUS of a branch-duct intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm. In the arterial phase, (a) the septa and nodule showed hyper-enhancement. In the venous phase, (b) the nodule showed a slow washout. These features were suggestive for malignancy arising in the nodule itself

EUS-guided fine-needle aspiration (EUS-FNA) or EUS-guided fine-needle biopsy (EUS-FNB).

The employment of the contrast agent during EUS not only allows a better characterization of the pancreatic lesions but also may be useful as a guidance for a more precise tissue sampling.

The identification of the better target area to sample, in fact, reduces the possibility of false-negative results or uncertain diagnosis and, consequently, decreases repeated EUS-FNA procedures.



Fig. 3.6 A serous cystadenoma showing a classical honeycomb pattern (a). CH-EUS (b) showed diffuse hyper-enhancing of the septa and pseudo-solid components. At EUS-E, (c) the lesion appeared stiffer than the normal pancreatic parenchyma

EUS-FNA accuracy is generally lower in presence of avascular areas that are characteristic of ductal pancreatic adenocarcinoma. The employment of CH-EUS for EUS-FNA or FNB helps in avoiding these areas, which usually appear as non-enhancing. In detail, the diagnostic sensitivity for pancreatic adenocarcinoma was shown to be risen from 92% to 100% when EUS-FNA evaluation was combined with CH-EUS [21]; however, the sensitivity remained low for carcinomas with avascular areas on CH-EUS [22]. Thus, if EUS-FNA results inadequate for pathologic diagnosis of a pancreatic lesion characterized by an avascular area on CH-EUS, then alternative diagnostic methods should be considered (pancreatic juice cytology or biopsy sampling of liver metastases) [22].

3.3 Endoscopic Ultrasound Elastography (EUS-E)

Elastography represents another valuable methodic that could help in the differential diagnosis of pancreatic lesions. The term "elastography" and the related studies about different tissue elasticity and its measurement were introduced in late 1980s [23], but only in 2001 they were applied to B-mode imaging [24].

It lays on the principle that an inflammatory or neoplastic process generates a change in tissue structure and consequently, in its elasticity, making it softer or harder.

Two types of elastography techniques are currently available: strain and shear wave elastography; the former measures tissue stiffness through the evaluation of tissue distortion after applying pressure, while the latter, after applying acoustic radial force impulse [25]. Only strain elastography has been extensively studied for EUS applications so far.

EUS strain elastography represents a qualitative method for the measurement of tissue deformation (strain) within a region of interest (ROI), and it is visualized using a transparent color overlay on the B-mode image [26]. According to strain elastography color scale, harder tissues appear as blue areas while softer tissues look red; finally, green and yellow depict areas with intermediate elasticity.

3.3.1 EUS-E: How to Do It?

The lesion of interest should occupy 25–50% of the region of interest (ROI), and a sufficient quantity of normal reference tissue should be also included within the same ROI.

After the individuation of the best scanning position, the first ROI should be positioned in correspondence of the target lesion area and a second ROI should be placed above normal tissue. Thus, it is possible to quantify the mean strain of these areas and the strain ratio, which is the quantification of the difference between the two areas in terms of strain.

Vessels and fast-moving organs, such as pleura, bowel wall, and peritoneum, should not be included within ROI because their physiological movements create artifacts during EUS-E. Normal pancreatic parenchyma is usually isoechoic to normal liver parenchyma, and it shows an intermediate stiffness (it usually appears green at EUS-E); its stiffness increases with age, but it is not affected by body mass index, weight, and gender [23].

3.3.2 EUS-E Features of Solid Pancreatic Masses

3.3.2.1 Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma

Neoplastic transformation is characterized by many desmoplastic reactions and increase of extracellular matrix that make tissue harder than surrounding parenchyma. Therefore, pancreatic adenocarcinoma usually appears blue at EUS-E.

3.3.2.2 Neuroendocrine Tumor

Initially, pancreatic NET was shown to be stiffer than the normal pancreatic parenchyma, so it usually had a homogenous or inhomogeneous blue elastography pattern [27, 28]. However, subsequent studies showed that up to two-thirds of pancreatic NETs are usually green as they are softer than surrounding parenchyma [29]. In a recent study, EUS-E was showed to ruled out malignancies with a high level of certainty if the lesion appears soft (like NETs), while a stiff lesion can be either malignant or benign [29].

Recently, fractal analysis-based technology (the estimation of complexity in shape of a biologic tissue, its roughness, or its underlying nonlinear dynamic behaviors) was applied to elastographic images, and it showed that the surface fractal dimension of malignant pancreatic lesions was significantly different when compared with that of NET or benign lesions, and a statistical difference for all three channels red, green, and blue was also described [30]. Thus, a combination of EUS-E with fractal analysis and Red-Green-Blue (RGB) color-based computer-aided image analysis was shown to be an effective tool for differential diagnosis of pancreatic lesions [30] (Fig. 3.7).

3.3.2.3 Solid Pseudopapillary Tumor

Little is known about endoscopic ultrasound elastography of solid pseudopapillary neoplasms; in one study, one case of SPN showed a strain ratio similar to that of pancreatic cancer and pancreatic metastasis [31].



Fig. 3.7 EUS-E of a neuroendocrine tumor. The lesion appeared stiffer (blue-colored) compared to the surrounding pancreatic tissue

3.3.2.4 Metastases

Pancreatic metastases usually are stiffer than surrounding tissue. During EUS-E, they appear as circumscribed blue areas. A central green region can sometimes be found corresponding to a hypervascular areas that sometimes characterize small pancreatic metastases [32].

3.3.2.5 Acute Pancreatitis

EUS-E does not show pathognomonic aspect of acute pancreatitis because this inflammatory process induces many changes in pancreatic parenchyma with no clear-cut stiffness values [33]. Necrotic areas within acute pancreatitis are softer than normal pancreatic tissue.

3.3.2.6 Chronic Pancreatitis

Early stages of chronic pancreatitis could show a honeycombed stiffness pattern with stiff strand and calcifications [28]. This chronic process is characterized by fibrotic areas that increase both tissue stiffness and strain ratio during EUS-E. Moreover, correlation between strain ratio and fibrosis score and EUS scoring system (Rosemont criteria) was demonstrated [23]. Higher strain ratio was also observed in patients with chronic pancreatitis associated to pancreatic enzyme insufficiency [34].

3.3.2.7 Autoimmune Pancreatitis

The whole pancreatic parenchyma becomes stiffer and hypervascularized in case of autoimmune pancreatitis, appearing blue during EUS-E [35]. This elastographic pattern helps the differential diagnosis between autoimmune pancreatitis and pancreatic adenocarcinoma, because, although they both appear as blue-areas, the former involves large areas of the organ, while the latter is circumscribed [28] (Fig. 3.8).



Fig. 3.8 EUS-E of autoimmune pancreatitis showed a heterogeneous green-blue-colored pattern, unlike pancreatic adenocarcinoma that has a prevalent blue component



Fig. 3.9 EUS-E of a malignant lymph node, which showed a predominant blue pattern

3.3.2.8 Lymph Nodes

EUS-E helps in the differentiation between malignant and benign lymph nodes because. When they are infiltrated by neoplastic cells, lymph nodes usually become stiffer and gain a blue-colored pattern (Fig. 3.9).

3.3.3 EUS-E Features of Cystic Pancreatic Masses

Few studies about EUS-E of cystic pancreatic lesions are available.

In theory, elastography could be useful in the differentiation between malignant and benign nodules or septa within cysts. Malignant component of cystic lesions present stiffer (blue) tissue than normal pancreatic tissue (Fig. 3.10).

3.3.4 EUS-E-Guided Tissue Sampling

Although EUS-guided tissue sampling is the gold standard for the diagnosis of pancreatic lesions with high specificity (up to 100%), it has a variable sensitivity, ranging from 85% to over 93%.

In particular, EUS-FNA sensitivity is only 54% to 74% for solid pancreatic masses in the setting of chronic pancreatitis [36], thus leading to false-negative results.

The risk of negative or nondiagnostic samples can be reduced by the employment of EUS-E: this technology allows the individuation of the harder area of a lesion (more likely to be malignant) in order to precisely target tissue-sampling. It was shown that the sensitivity of the combination of EUS-E and tissue sampling rose to 93% with a diagnostic accuracy and specificity of 94% and 100%, respectively [37].

Furthermore, EUS-E may help in the differentiation between malignant and benign lesion on the basis of different tissue elasticity, proving to be useful



Fig. 3.10 EUS-E evaluation of a nodule within a pancreatic cyst. Fluids such as that contained in pancreatic cysts dampen the elastography strain rendering elastography often unreliable. In this case, a benign mucus plug appeared predominantly blue, which might have been misleading for the diagnosis of malignancy

especially in cases where a negative result of EUS-FNA is suspected or in patients unfit for EUS-FNA [36].

3.4 Conclusion

The introduction of CH-EUS and EUS-E to EUS routine has radically changed the diagnostic approach to pancreatic lesions. Differential diagnosis between benign and malignant lesions with high sensitivity but relatively low specificity is the main advantage of the techniques. Nevertheless, the final diagnosis remains histological through EUS-guided tissue acquisition.

References

- Kato T, Tsukamoto Y, Naitoh Y, Hirooka Y, Furukawa T, Hayakawa T. Ultrasonographic and endoscopic ultrasonographic angiography in pancreatic mass lesions. Acta Radiol. 1995;36(4–6):381–7.
- Kitano M, Sakamoto H, Kudo M. Contrast-enhanced endoscopic ultrasound. Dig Endosc. 2014;26:79–85.
- Kitano M, Sakamoto H, Matsui U, Ito Y, Maekawa K, von Schrenck T, Kudo M. A novel perfusion imaging technique of the pancreas: contrast-enhanced harmonic EUS(with video). Gastrointest Endosc. 2008;67(1):141–50.
- Dietrich CF, Sharma M, Hocke M. Contrast-enhanced endoscopic ultrasound. Endosc Ultrasound. 2012;1(3):130–6. https://doi.org/10.7178/eus.03.003.
- 5. Gong TT, Hu DM, Zhu Q. Contrast-enhanced EUS for differential diagnosis of pancreatic mass lesions: a meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2012;76(2):301–9.

- He XK, Ding Y, Sun LM. Contrast-enhanced endoscopic ultrasound for differential diagnosis of pancreatic cancer: an updated meta-analysis. Oncotarget. 2017;8(39):66392–401. https:// doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.18915.
- Fusaroli P, Spada A, Mancino MG, Caletti G. Contrast harmonic echo-endoscopic ultrasound improves accuracy in diagnosis of solid pancreatic masses. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2010;8(7):629-34.e1-2.
- D'Onofrio M, Gallotti A, Pozzi Mucelli R. Imaging techniques in pancreatic tumors. Expert Rev Med Devices. 2010;7(2):257–73.
- 9. Mei S, Wang M, Sun L. Contrast-enhanced EUS for differential diagnosis of pancreatic masses: a meta-analysis. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2019;2019:1670183.
- Fusaroli P, D'Ercole MC, De Giorgio R, Serrani M, Caletti G. Contrast harmonic endoscopic ultrasonography in the characterization of pancreatic metastases (with video). Pancreas. 2014;43(4):584–7.
- Fusaroli P, D'Ercole M, Ceroni L, Caletti G. Mo1528 role of contrast harmonic endoscopic ultrasonography (Ch-EUS) in the characterization of pancreatic metastases. Dig Liver Dis. 2013;45:S75. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1590-8658(13)60206-6.
- Dong Y, D'Onofrio M, Hocke M, Jenssen C, Potthoff A, Atkinson N, Ignee A, Dietrich CF. Autoimmune pancreatitis: imaging features. Endosc Ultrasound. 2018;7:196–203.
- Hocke M, Ignee A, Dietrich C. Role of contrast-enhanced endoscopic ultrasound in lymph nodes. Endosc Ultrasound. 2017;6(1):4–11.
- Hwang HJ, Robles-Jara C, Largacha M, Robles-Medranda C. Contrast-enhanced harmonic endoscopic ultrasound in the diagnosis of primary pancreatic B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Endosc Ultrasound. 2015;4(2):160–1. https://doi.org/10.4103/2303-9027.156762.
- Fusaroli P, D'Ercole MC, De Giorgio R, Serrani M, Caletti G. Contrast harmonic endoscopic ultrasonography in the characterization of pancreatic metastases (with video). Pancreas. 2014;43(4):584–7.
- Kanazawa R, Sai J, Fukumura Y, Miura H, Watanabe S, Shiina S, Kawasaki S, Kato S. A case of pancreatoblastoma in which EUS-FNA aided the diagnosis. Suizo. 2015;30:689–96.
- Fusaroli P, D'Ercole M, Ceroni L, Caletti G. Mo1480 contrast enhanced-endoscopic ultrasonography (Ch-EUS) in the differential diagnosis of gastrointestinal submucosal tumors (SMTS). Dig Liver Dis. 2013;45:S76.
- Ulrich JD, Specht K, Schlitter AM, Ceyhan GO, Quante M, Schmid RM, Schlag C. A rare case of perivascular epithelioid cell tumor (PEComa) of the pancreas diagnosed by endoscopic ultrasound. Endosc Int Open. 2020;8(1):E25–8. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-1038-3852.
- Hocke M, Cui XW, Domagk D, Ignee A, Dietrich CF. Pancreatic cystic lesions: the value of contrast-enhanced endoscopic ultrasound to influence the clinical pathway. Endosc Ultrasound. 2014;3(2):123–30. https://doi.org/10.4103/2303-9027.131040.
- Kitano M, Kamata K, Imai H, Miyata T, Yasukawa S, Yanagisawa A, Kudo M. Contrastenhanced harmonic endoscopic ultrasonography for pancreatobiliary diseases. Dig Endosc. 2015;27(Suppl 1):60–7.
- Kitano M, Kudo M, Yamao K, et al. Characterization of small solid tumors in the pancreas: the value of contrast-enhanced harmonic endoscopic ultrasonography. Am J Gastroenterol. 2012;107:303–10.
- Kamata K, Takenaka M, Omoto S, et al. Impact of avascular areas, as measured by contrastenhanced harmonic EUS, on the accuracy of FNA for pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Gastrointest Endosc. 2018;87:158–63.
- Ueno E, Tohno E, Soeda S, Asaoka Y, Itoh K, Bamber JC, Blaszçzyk M, Davey J, Mckinna JA. Dynamic tests in real-time breast echography. Ultrasound Med Biol. 1988;14(Suppl 1):53–7.
- 24. Shiina T, Nitta N, Ueno E, Bamber JC. Real time tissue elasticity imaging using the combined autocorrelation method. J Med Ultrason (2001). 2002;29:119–28.
- Chantarojanasiri T, Kongkam P. Endoscopic ultrasound elastography for solid pancreatic lesions. World J Gastrointest Endosc. 2017;9(10):506–13. https://doi.org/10.4253/wjge. v9.i10.506.

- Dietrich CF, Bibby E, Jenssen C, Saftoiu A, Iglesias-Garcia J, Havre RF. EUS elastography: how to do it? Endosc Ultrasound. 2018;7(1):20–8. https://doi.org/10.4103/eus.eus_49_17.
- 27. Giovannini M, Hookey LC, Bories E, Pesenti C, Monges G, Delpero JR. Endoscopic ultrasound elastography: the first step towards virtual biopsy? Preliminary results in 49 patients. Endoscopy. 2006;38(4):344–8. Erratum in: Endoscopy. 2007 Mar;39(3):257.
- Iglesias-Garcia J, Larino-Noia J, Abdulkader I, Forteza J, Dominguez-Munoz JE. EUS elastography for the characterization of solid pancreatic masses. Gastrointest Endosc. 2009;70(6):1101–8.
- Ignee A, Jenssen C, Arcidiacono PG, Hocke M, Möller K, Saftoiu A, Will U, Fusaroli P, Iglesias-Garcia J, Ponnudurai R, Petrone MC, Braden B, Burmester E, Dong Y, Atkinson NS, Dietrich CF. Endoscopic ultrasound elastography of small solid pancreatic lesions: a multicenter study. Endoscopy. 2018;50(11):1071–9.
- 30. Carrara S, Di Leo M, Grizzi F, Correale L, Rahal D, Anderloni A, Auriemma F, Fugazza A, Preatoni P, Maselli R, Hassan C, Finati E, Mangiavillano B. Repici, A. EUS elastography (strain ratio) and fractal-based quantitative analysis for the diagnosis of solid pancreatic lesions. Gastrointest Endosc. 2018;87(6):1464–73.
- Iglesias-Garcia J, Domínguez-Muñoz JE, Castiñeira-Alvariño M, Luaces-Regueira M, Lariño-Noia J. Quantitative elastography associated with endoscopic ultrasound for the diagnosis of chronic pancreatitis. Endoscopy. 2013;45(10):781–8.
- 32. Giovannini M, Téllez-Ávila F. Basic aspects and clinical usefulness of Endosocpic Sonoelastography. Endoscopia. 2012;24(1):17–22.
- Dietrich CF, Hocke M. Elastography of the pancreas, current view. Clin Endosc. 2019;52(6):533–40. https://doi.org/10.5946/ce.2018.156.
- 34. Dominguez-Muñoz JE, Iglesias-Garcia J, Castiñeira Alvariño M, Luaces Regueira M, Lariño-Noia J. EUS elastography to predict pancreatic exocrine insufficiency in patients with chronic pancreatitis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;81(1):136–42.
- Hocke M, Ignee A, Dietrich CF. Contrast-enhanced endoscopic ultrasound in the diagnosis of autoimmune pancreatitis. Endoscopy. 2011;43:163–5.
- 36. Jafri M, Sachdev AH, Khanna L, Gress FG. The role of real time endoscopic ultrasound guided elastography for targeting EUS-FNA of suspicious pancreatic masses: a review of the literature and a single center experience. JOP. 2016;17(5):516–24.
- Facciorusso A, Martina M, Buccino RV, Nacchiero MC, Muscatiello N. Diagnostic accuracy of fine-needle aspiration of solid pancreatic lesions guided by endoscopic ultrasound elastography. Ann Gastroenterol. 2018;31(4):513–8.



Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided Tissue Acquisition of Solid Pancreatic Lesions

4

Laurent Monino and Pierre H. Deprez

Abbreviations

CEH	Contrast-enhanced harmonic
ESGE	European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy
EUS	Endoscopy ultrasound
EUS-TA	Endoscopy ultrasound tissue acquisition
FNA	Fine-needle aspiration
FNB	Fine-needle biopsy
MOSE	Macroscopic on-site evaluation
ROSE	Rapid on-site cytopathologist evaluation

4.1 Introduction

Before the emergence of endoscopy ultrasound (EUS), the histological diagnosis of a solid pancreatic mass had to be made either by transcutaneous pancreatic puncture or by analysis of the surgical specimen. From the first EUS tissue acquisition (EUS-TA) with the reusable Vilmann fine-needle reported in 1992 [1], tissue acquisition from lesions within or adjacent to digestive tract guided with EUS has won its spurs in tumor diagnosis and patient management. First aiming at cytology sampling, needle tip evolution resulted in specimens with preserved histological architecture and improved diagnostic accuracy. In the literature, the diagnostic accuracy of EUS-TA for solid pancreatic masses varies between 78% and 95%, sensitivity 78% and 95%, and specificity 75% and 100% [2–8]. Moreover, with a

L. Monino · P. H. Deprez (🖂)

Department of Hepatogastroenterology, Université catholique de Louvain, Cliniques universitaires Saint-Luc, Brussels, Belgium e-mail: pdeprez@uclouvain.be

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. Facciorusso, N. Muscatiello (eds.), *Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71937-1_4

low complication rate of around 1% [7, 9, 10], EUS-TA has become the technique of choice to characterize a solid pancreatic masse before surgical or medical management. In this chapter, we will describe the various techniques to perform EUS-TA and tips or tricks to improve diagnostic accuracy in most locations and situations.

4.2 The "Standard" Technique for EUS-TA

The first step of the EUS-TA is to identify the pancreatic lesion and to ensure the stability of the EUS scope as close as possible to the lesion. This is usually done by avoiding air insufflation, filling the tip balloon with water to anchor the scope in the duodenum, and to bend the scope tip with the up and down wheel fixed. It may be of interest to evaluate lesion mobility and hardness by applying pressure through the tip of the scope by increasing the upward pressure as much as possible in order to wedge the lesion against the probe. Then size, echogenicity (liquid or necrotic component), and vascularization have to be determined in the B and doppler modes. Highly vascular lesions should be punctured with caution, any vascular abnormality (pseudoaneurysm) should never be targeted. Puncture of necrotic area (avascular and hypoechoic) should be avoided since histological yield will be low. Once the lesion is well characterized, the surrounding area has to be examined carefully to detect any structure that should be avoided by the needle tract (vessels, CBD, pancreatic duct, excessive healthy pancreatic parenchyma).

In the second step, the needle is inserted into the operating channel, after removal of the operating channel cap, and the needle handle is attached to the end of the working channel (Fig. 4.1). If resistance is encountered in the scope, the needle should not be pushed excessively to avoid scope damage; check for excessive bending of the scope, especially with large-bore and stiff needles, and scope positioned in the duodenum. Bending of the scope should then be softened and wheels released. If the position is lost, the needle should be fully retracted in the scope to avoid luminal wall damage when maneuvering the scope. When resistance occurs at the tip of the needle, the scope elevator should be released to facilitate exit of the needle from the working channel. The lower locking knob control the length of the sheet protruding out of the scope. Usually set at 1-2 cm to allow the sheath tip to be just visible for 1-2 mm in the EUS field. Air should be suctioned to avoid bubble artifacts and excessive exit of the sheath (Fig. 4.2a-c). The presence of the needle (especially for 19G needles) in the working channel may have changed the position of the scope so that repositioning of scope tip and wheels may be necessary. The path of the needle is estimated and corrected by using the scope bending and elevator movements (so that the needle penetration angle is around 60°). The distance from the target to the needle tip is estimated, then the upper locking knob is unlocked and relocked at the desired distance (Fig. 4.3a-e). In most needles, the stylet has to be pulled 10 mm from the needle tip to facilitate penetration. Puncture can either be done in a fast movement till the locking knob position (preferred technique for hard lesions) or in a slow advancement to traverse the digestive wall

Fig. 4.1 Linear EUS scope with FNB inserted into the working channel (¤: FNB; *: linear EUS scope, Black arrow: working channel)



first, repositioning the needle if needed, and then pancreas and the lesion as deeply as possible under EUS control. At this stage, lateral movements should be avoided not to lose the EUS view of the needle tip that should be kept under control during the entire movement. It is indeed easier to follow the needle tip all along the tract, than to find it back at the end of puncture. In this case, if the tip is lost, we would suggest to do small movements torquing the scope laterally or using the small lateral scope wheel. If this is unsuccessful, needle should be slowly pulled back until the tip is again under full view and then advanced in the lesion.

The third step is the tissue acquisition itself; the stylet is removed from the needle, and a 10–20 mL syringe is attached to the needle to apply negative pressure. Several (usually ten are advised) to-and-from movements are performed within the lesion in a rapid forward and slower backward movement. The needle tip must remain visible during the to-and-fro movements. During the entire puncture phase, continuous aspiration of digestive lumen air and fluid must be maintained to improve vision. After a few passes through the lesion, suction should be stopped, and the needle is removed from the operating channel after placing the upper locking knob at the zero position, to avoid working channel damage. The punctured material is collected from the needle by injection of air or saline, or by insertion of the stylet and placed on slides and in the appropriate containers or tubes for cytohistological analysis. The specimen is evaluated macroscopically to check for the presence of sufficient material and, if possible, for a red or yellow core. More passes are done the same way either by flushing the needle with saline or air or by reinserting the stylet.



Fig. 4.2 The lower locking knob (white arrow); the needle sheath (μ); the end of the working channel (black arrow), tip of the linear EUS scope (*). (a) The lower knob is adjusted and locked at 1 or 2 cm, in this case at 2 cm. (b) View of the tip of the linear EUS scope, with an FNB needle inserted in the working channel. The end of the needle sheath is adjusted thanks to the lower knob, in this position at 3 cm mark, which is too long for safety. (c) It is preferable to avoid a too long extension of the needle sheath to facilitate bending of the needle, the sheath is therefore adjusted at 1 cm and locked at this position with the locking knob

In the majority of cases, solid malignant lesions of the pancreatic head develop in the upper two-thirds of the head and are therefore easily accessible by transduodenal access. Solid pancreatic lesions located in the body or tail are easily accessible by transgastric access. Solid pancreatic lesion of the uncus most often requires transduodenal D2 positioning making the puncture more difficult to succeed, due to a lower maneuverability of the scope and a lesion out of the needle tract. Solid pancreatic lesions of the neck are difficult to puncture because in transgastric access, the path of penetration is often tangential to the digestive wall,



Fig. 4.3 The upper knob of the needle (two white arrows); the needle sheath (μ); the needle (+); the tip of the linear EUS scope (*). (a) The upper knob is unlocked and adjusted at the desired distance. (b) The upper knob is adjusted and locked at the 5 cm mark, meaning that the needle will extend to this length. (c) View of the tips of the linear EUS scope, needle sheath locked at the 1 cm mark, and needle tip locked at the 3 cm mark. (d) View of the tips of the linear EUS scope, needle sheath locked at the 1 cm mark, and needle tip locked at the 8 cm mark. (e) Same with elevator up. In this position, the elevator bends sheath and needle, but to accentuate needle bending, the sheath might be slightly retracted to apply the elevator force on the needle only

thus reducing the force of penetration and causing the digestive wall and lesion to be pushed back. An assistant or an endoscopic nurse may be required to help maintain a stable position of the EUS scope to increase the stability. Some echoendoscopists also use their knees to lock the EUS scope against the patient's bed, mimicking the flamingo posture. Most of the time, the puncture has to be done by a quick and dry gesture associated with blind phase feared by echoendoscopists. The "quick puncture" is carried out with a rapid and sharp movement, having previously fixed the blocker of the needle at the estimated distance to target the lesion center. If the lesion remains out of the needle tract, a smaller needle with higher bending ability should be used for better actuation. In some cases, a two-step puncture may be of help puncturing the wall first, then slightly advancing the scope



Fig. 4.4 Diagnosis of a solid pancreatic lesion in a patient with surgically altered anatomy. (a) Endoscopic view of the oesojejunal anastomosis, after total pancreatectomy. (b) FNB of solid pancreatic lesion of the body of the pancreas in a patient with surgically altered anatomy

to increase needle bending to a more perpendicular angle. For patients with surgically altered anatomy, it may still be possible to perform EUS-TA in the pancreas, but caution should be taken when advancing the scope in intestinal loops, more prone for perforation with the stiff EUS scopes [11] (Fig. 4.4a, b). In patients with Roux-en-Y gastric bypass, pancreas access may be obtained with a new minimally invasive and fully endoscopic approach using EUS-directed transgastric access (EDGE).

4.3 How to Improve the EUS-TA Performance in Solid Pancreatic Lesions?

4.3.1 The Fanning Technique

The fanning technique has been used by several expert endosonographers since the beginning of EUS-TA but was proved by Bang et al. [12] to improve the biopsy yield by limiting the number of passages. The fanning technique consists in modifying the needle penetration axis within the lesion by changing the up/down support of the EUS scope, by torquing the scope laterally, and by changing the elevator angulation. The needle path is changed between each up/down movement to cover a larger tumor area (Fig. 4.5a, b). In the study of Bang et al., the fanning techniques allowed a reduction in the number of passes and an improved diagnostic accuracy (96.4% with fanning technique vs. 76.9% without fanning). The proportion of patients in whom histological diagnosis was made after the first increased significantly compared with conventional technique passage (86% with fanning vs. 56% without fanning) [12]. The fanning technique therefore gained popularity and became the technique of choice for tissue acquisition of solid pancreatic lesion.

Fig. 4.5 EUS-TA of a solid lesion localized in the body of the pancreas: pancreatic metastasis of clear cell renal cell carcinoma (+: the needle: white arrows: corresponding of the to-and-fro movements of the needle combined with up/down movement of the elevator into the lesion). (a) Solid lesion of the body (size 17 mm): round, hypoechogenic, and homogenous. (b) Fine-needle biopsy with fanning technique; the path of the needle is changed at each movement with the use of the elevator, the up/ down scope wheel, and scope torquing



Recently, Park et al. reported, in a prospective randomized controlled study, the use of the "torque technique" in solid pancreatic lesion [13]. It consists in twisting the EUS scope in a clockwise or counter clockwise position during the puncture. They found a significant difference in terms of the rate of preservation of histological architecture (standard vs. torque: 87.1% vs. 98.4% p = 0.038) and the quality of the histological sample (standard vs. torque: 79% vs. 93.5%, p = 0.037) compared to standard technique. Furthermore, diagnostic accuracy was higher with the torque technique than with the standard technique (96.8% vs. 87.1%). We therefore advise to perform fanning with all torquing, up-and-down, and elevator angulation movements.

4.3.2 Suction or Not

The use of suction during needle puncture has always been a subject of controversy [14, 15]. The use of suction during tissue acquisition increases the cell field and contamination of the sample with blood [16–18]. It appears that the use of a syringe with a volume of more than 10 mL does not improve histological performance and would increase the presence of blood contamination of the specimen [17, 19]. Practice with or without suction seems different from one continent to another. ESGE guidelines support the use of the negative pressure suction technique using 10 mL syringes with 22G or 25G needles [7]. We suggest to adapt the suction to the

type of lesion; a highly vascularized tumor (NET or renal cancer metastasis) should be punctured without suction to avoid excessive blood contamination, and harder less vascular lesions may benefit from suction to improve accuracy and sensitivity of histological diagnosis.

A combination of techniques, here again, may be of help; first pass without suction, and further passes with or without depending of the bloodiness of the first pass. Suction can also be applied through a needle filled with saline (wet suction technique). The effect of suction for the purpose of aspirating cells and/or tissue during fine-needle biopsy may be significantly improved by filling the column of the needle with a less compressible fluid. This effect would be most pronounced in larger gauge needles which would have a larger internal volume. A column of saline in the needle may increase the velocity of the pressure transfer providing more tissue and less blood. This method is supposed to transfer the negative pressure more efficiently from the syringe to the needle tip and to decrease damage to the cells and tissue, in absence or air vacuum. Wet suction cell blocks resulted in a significantly better diagnostic yield of 85.5% vs. 74.4% (p < 0.0001) [18].

4.3.3 FNB vs. FNA

There are two main EUS needle types on the market: FNA with acquisition of samples for cytological analysis and FNB with acquisition of specimens with preservation of tissue architecture for histological examination. This is not completely true, since FNA needles may provide histological specimens, depending on their sizes (histological yield from 19G > 22G > 25G).

Most FNA needles share the same tip design, but this is different for FNB needles. The first needles had a lateral hole [20] near the needle tip to improve tissue acquisition; the most widely used is the reverse bevel needle (Echotip ProCore 19G-22G-25G, Cook Medical, Inc., Winston-Salem, NC, USA) with the sharp edge of the lateral slit facing backwards to collect tissue during retrograde needle movement [21, 22]. The design was later modified due to some difficulties encountered when pulling back the needle in hard tumors into an antegrade core trap (Echotip ProCore 20G, Cook Medical, Inc., Winston-Salem, NC, USA) with the cutting edge facing forward to cut tissue during antegrade needle movement [23]. More recently, new needles were developed without a lateral hole, focusing the changes to their tips to increase their penetration and the tissue collection [24, 25]. Among them, the fork-sharped tip (SharkCore 19G-22G-25G, Medtronic, Minneapolis, MN, USA) with a fork-sharped needle tip with six cutting edges and an opposite bevel [26-28] and the Franseen tip geometry (Acquire 22G-25G, Boston Scientific Co., Marlborough, MA, USA) as a crown-shaped needle tip with three symmetrical, fully formed, cutting heels designed to maximize tissue capture and minimize fragmentation [29-31].

Several studies have been carried out comparing FNA and FNB but have not shown a significant difference in terms of diagnostic accuracy. The diagnostic accuracy for FNA and FNB ranged from 84–92.5% to 90%, respectively [16, 32– 35]. Most of these studies showed that quality of the histological sample was higher with the use of FNB than with FNA regardless of needle diameter [21, 30, 32, 34, 36]. A recent meta-analysis reported that there was no significant difference in diagnostic accuracy between the use of FNA and FNB. However, the number of needle passes was less important to achieve the histological diagnosis with an FNB [37]. In contrast to another recent meta-analysis which reported evidence that FNB ProCore outperformed FNA in the sampling of solid pancreatic or non-pancreatic lesion [38]. The debate between FNA and FNB is however slowly ending with the concept of individualized therapy in pancreatic cancer for which histologic large specimens are more appropriate for performing predictive molecular marker tests or cell cultures with chemosensitivity testing [39].

There are only few studies comparing the performance of EUS-guided fineneedle biopsy using fork-tip or side-fenestrated needles in patients with solid pancreatic lesions. A recent randomized controlled study compared sampling with fork-tip or side-fenestrated 22-gauge or 25-gauge needles. Three passes were performed, each independently evaluated by a blinded pathologist and by endosonographers for macroscopic on-site evaluation (MOSE). Both 22-gauge and 25-gauge fork-tip needles retrieved significantly higher rates of histologic samples than side-fenestrated needles (P < 0.013). Safety and diagnostic accuracy were comparable in the two arms, whereas sample quality (tissue integrity and blood contamination) was significantly better in the fork-tip group (P < 0.0001). The authors concluded that both needles showed equivalent safety and diagnostic accuracy. However, fork-tip needles provided a higher rate of extremely goodquality histologic samples and required fewer needle passes to reach a diagnosis [40].

4.3.4 Needle Diameter

Different needle sizes are commercially available for tissue puncture, ranging from 25 to 19G. With a large diameter (19G or 20G), the amount of tissue and core punctured is more important allowing for an increased diagnostic accuracy. Achieving bigger tissue acquisitions seems now the main target, and this is reflected by the ESGE guidelines suggesting to use 19G FNA or fine-needle biopsy (FNB) needles or 22G FNB needles when the primary aim of sampling is to obtain core tissue (low-quality evidence, weak recommendation) [7]. These indications include well-differentiated adenocarcinomas, autoimmune pancreatitis, and sarcoidosis. Moreover, providing histological samples that yield an adequate amount of tumor cells and desmoplastic stroma suitable for molecular analysis. However, these largebore needles have never been popular among endosonographers, mainly due to their stiffness and known technical failures, especially when used transduodenally. A multicenter randomized prospective study compared standard 22G needles with 19G nitinol needles for transduodenal EUS-guided FNB. Despite improved flexibility, the 19G nitinol needle was still associated with a higher failure rate and

lower diagnostic accuracy, although the quality of the specimen obtained was not different between the needles. This signed the unplanned but proven obsolescence of large-bore EUS needles in the pancreas [41].

Smaller diameter needles on the opposite are more flexible, therefore increasing their maneuverability, reducing blood contamination of the sample, and allowing targeting of hard-to-reach areas [42]. The choice of needle diameter should therefore depend on the target lesion; for small lesions (<10 mm), and/or hypervascular, and/ or difficult to access (transduodenal or through a large vessel or when the puncture path traverses a large area of healthy pancreatic parenchyma), it would be preferable to choose a small diameter needle (25G). The disadvantage of thin needles is the small sample size, most of the time only allowing for cytological smears. Most of the comparisons between different needles diameters showed no significant differences. Concerning FNA needles, among other studies, Song et al. [43] reported that there was no significant difference in diagnostic accuracy between 19G and 22G needles (87% vs. 79%), but a better diagnostic accuracy in case of technical success for malignant lesions using 19G needles (95% vs. 79% p = 0.015). The number of passages for the 19G needle was statistically lower compared to the 22G needle. However, the technical success rate was higher for pancreatic head lesions with 22G needles than with 19G needles (100% vs. 81% p = 0.019).

Concerning FNB needles, the comparison between 25G and 22G did not reveal any significant difference in terms of sample quality or diagnostic accuracy [44]. However, Park et al. recommended the use of a 25G needle in difficult positioning situations due to technical difficulties. Two recent meta-analysis have shown that the use of 25G FNA probably has better diagnostic performance than 22G needles [45, 46]. Their results showed better sensitivity with 25G needles than with 22G needles (0.90 vs. 0.87, chi-deux 5.26, p = 0.02, 45). Several studies have compared large-diameter FNA needles with smaller-caliber FNB [47, 48]. These studies did not show significant differences in terms of diagnostic accuracy. In a recent meta-analysis, no significant difference was found in terms of diagnostic accuracy, sample size, and histological sampling rate in the case of solid pancreatic lesions [49]. Identical results were found in another meta-analysis for the diagnostic accuracy of malignant lesion [50]. Moreover, they did not show significant differences in terms of adverse events (RR:1.26; 95% IC 0.34–4.62) and technical failure (RR:5.07; 95% IC 0.68–37.64).

But again diagnostic accuracy is not the sole or even main issue; the amount of material is now the issue in expert cancer centers to provide sufficient material for ancillary techniques and individualized therapy, and this is better achieved with 22G FNB needle. REF.

4.3.5 ROSE or MOSE?

The presence of a cytopathologist in the endoscopy room during EUS-TA (ROSE) has been shown initially to improve diagnostic accuracy with cytological smears. The presence of a rapid on-site cytopathologist was more widespread in American

teams (98%) than in European (48%) or Asian teams (55%) [51]. A meta-analysis on the presence of ROSE reported an improvement of the diagnostic sensitivity of EUS-FNA for pancreatic solid masses from 88% to 95% compared with 80% in the absence of cytopathologist [52]. On the contrary, a meta-analysis of Kong et al. did not report an increase in diagnostic sensitivity with the use of ROSE [53]. Recently, with the introduction of FNB, another meta-analysis concluded on the absence of significant difference in diagnostic accuracy between FNA with ROSE and FNB alone [54]. Moreover, cost effectiveness studies showed a significant cost increase when using ROSE, explaining the lower popularity of ROSE in Europe where cytopathology is less reimbursed and histology preferred for diagnosis in pancreatic tumors [55, 56].

The use of macroscopic on-site evaluation (MOSE) to estimate the adequacy of a specimen for histological diagnosis during endoscopic ultrasound (EUS)-guided fine-needle tissue acquisition (FNTA) has also been advocated. A recent international, multicenter, prospective, randomized controlled study compared consecutive adult patients referred for EUS-FNTA for solid lesions larger than 2 cm who were randomized to a MOSE arm or to a conventional arm without ROSE. The diagnostic yield for the MOSE technique (92.6%) was similar to that for the conventional technique (89.3%; P = 0.37), with significantly fewer passes made (median: conventional 3, MOSE 2; P < 0.001). This implies that MOSE is an interesting evaluation when performing FNB with fewer passes and without the extra cost of ROSE [57].

4.3.6 Ancillary Techniques

Contrast-enhanced harmonic (CEH) has been proposed as an ancillary technique to guide the endoscopist to select a "profitable" area (avoiding fibrotic or necrotic areas) in solid pancreatic lesion and to increase diagnostic accuracy and sensitivity [58, 59]. The use of CEH in solid pancreatic masses may reduce the number of needle passes required to obtain a histological diagnosis Sugimoto et al. showed that CEH-EUS significantly reduced the number of needle passes required to obtain sufficient biopsy samples [60]. In a retrospective study, the diagnostic accuracy of EUS-FNA was improved with CEH (96.6% vs. 86.7%, respectively) but without statistical difference (p = 0.054) [51]. Another study of Seican et al. reported the same superiority of CEH-EUS/FNA (86.5% vs. 78.4% for EUS FNA) without statistical significance (p = 0.35) [58]. To date, no study has been able to demonstrate a significant superiority in diagnostic accuracy with the use of CEH. The same is true for elastography that determines the lesion hardness by means of a color code or semiquantitative measures, and thus the neoplastic or inflammatory nature of a lesion (Fig. 4.6). Some studies have tried to show an increased diagnostic accuracy by using elastography to guide the best location for fine-needle puncture [52, 53], without significant difference. Whether the two techniques combined, elastography and CEH-EUS, might significantly improve diagnostic accuracy during FNA and even more FNB still need further evaluation [54]. These techniques are for sure not



Fig. 4.6 Endoscopic ultrasound elastography of a pancreatic solid lesion of the body; adenocarcinoma of the pancreas (blue corresponding of hard part of the lesion)

first-line tools, but might be of help in FNA or FNB failures to better target the optimal site for puncture.

4.3.7 Reducing Adverse Events

The rate of adverse events reported during EUS-TA ranges from 1% to 8% [7, 9, 10], and in the pancreas for solid pancreatic masses around 1% [55, 56, 61]. The main adverse events are acute pancreatitis, bleeding, infectious complications (including biliary peritonitis), and needle tract seeding. Most adverse events appear in the first 7 days after the tissue acquisition [56, 61] and are more frequent in small size lesions (<20 mm) and neuroendocrine tumors [62]. Needle diameter does not seem to be associated to a higher risk for complication [55]. A meta-analysis compared the adverse events rate between FNB and FNA and strangely showed a lower risk with FNB than with FNA (0.59% vs. 0.98%) [61].

EUS FNA and EUS-FNB are considered by all scientific societies (ESGE, ASGE and APAGE/APSDE) as high-risk procedures for hemorrhage, especially in the pancreas, although the risk for bleeding during EUS-TA is reported less than 0.13% [10, 63–65]. Some reports have even not shown any increased significant risk for bleeding in patients taking aspirin, antiplatelets, or antithrombotic agents [63].

These societies recommend to continue aspirin and to stop clopidogrel/prasugrel or ticagrelor 5 days before performing EUS-guided tissue acquisition for patients with a low-risk condition of cardiovascular events. In case of patients with a highrisk condition of cardiovascular events (recent insertion of a coronary stent), it is generally recommended to discuss with the cardiologist for considering stopping antiplatelet treatment or postponing the EUS-TA. For direct oral anticoagulants (DOAC), they recommend to take the last dose >48 h before EUS-TA, and specifically for dabigatran associated with renal insufficiency, to take the last dose >72 h before EUS-TA. For vitamin K antagonist, they recommend to stop them 5 days before performing EUS-TA and to consider bridging with LMWH in patients with a high risk of thrombosis. For LMWH users, the last dose of LMWH should be given >24 h before procedure and restarted in the evening of the procedure.

Infectious complications after EUS-TA of solid pancreatic masses are very rare with post-puncture fever rate reported at 0.08% and infection rate at 0.02%, in the meta-analysis of Wang et al. [10]. The use of antibiotics before, during, or after the puncture as a routine procedure is not recommended for solid pancreatic lesions [7].

The risk of acute pancreatitis after puncture is low, around 1-2% [7, 9, 61]. Risk factors have been highlighted such as the small lesion size, neuroendocrine tumors, a recent history of acute pancreatitis, more than 5 mm of healthy parenchyma traversed by the needle, and puncture of the main pancreatic duct [62, 66]. The type of needle does not appear to increase the risk of acute pancreatitis, with rates of acute pancreatitis of 0.44% and 0.19%, during EUS-FNA and FNB, respectively [55]. Biliary peritonitis is a rare complication encountered only in lesions of the head of the pancreas when the needle path passes through the common bile duct [9].

The risk of needle tract seeding is extremely rare. There are some reported cases of seeding in the gastric wall or in the peritoneal cavity [67, 68]. According to the study by Ngamruengphong et al., preoperative EUS-FNA was however not associated with an increased rate of cancer recurrence in the stomach wall or peritoneum [69]. On the contrary to advanced unresectable cancers, the risk for seeding should be better assessed for resectable or borderline lesions, since it may worsen prognosis. In such cases, a needle type that increases histological efficiency (or diagnostic accuracy) with a single pass through the lesion should be preferred, and a transduodenal puncture tract chosen to avoid peritoneal seeding, if feasible.

4.4 Conclusion

With its low rate of adverse events and high diagnostic accuracy, EUS-TA has become a safe and irreplaceable technique in the management of solid pancreatic lesions. In this chapter, we detailed the techniques to perform a puncture in almost any situation, with the most appropriate needle and technique. Several tips and tricks were shown to ensure a high diagnostic accuracy. Most studies demonstrate indeed that a 90–95% diagnostic accuracy can be achieved with the new FNB needles, with only a few passes if MOSE is part of the puncture. This high efficiency combined with the sampling of larger histological specimens offers the opportunity to consider precision therapy based on molecular and genomic profiling of tumors, and even cell cultures with chemosensitivity testing.

References

- 1. Vilmann P, Jacobsen GK, Henriksen FW, et al. Endoscopic ultrasonography with guided fine needle aspiration biopsy in pancreatic disease. Gastrointest Endosc. 1992;38:172–3.
- Savides TJ, Donohue M, Hunt G, et al. EUS-guided FNA diagnostic yield of malignancy in solid pancreatic masses: a benchmark for quality performance measurement. Gastrointest Endosc. 2007;66(2):277–82.
- Yoshinaga S, Suzuki H, Oda I, et al. Role of endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration (EUS-FNA) for diagnosis of solid pancreatic masses. Dig Endosc. 2011;23:29–33.
- 4. Itoi T, Sofuni A, Itokawa F, et al. Current status of diagnostic endoscopic ultrasonography in the evaluation of pancreatic mass lesions. Dig Endosc. 2011;23(Suppl 1):17–21.
- Hewitt MJ, McPhail MJW, Possamai L, et al. EUS-guided FNA for diagnosis of solid pancreatic neoplasms: a meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2012;75:319–31.
- 6. Puli SR, Bechtold ML, Buxbaum JL, et al. How good is endoscopic ultrasound-guided fineneedle aspiration in diagnosing the correct etiology for a solid pancreatic mass?: a metaanalysis and systematic review. Pancreas. 2013;42(1):20–6.
- Polkowski M, Jenssen C, Kaye P, et al. Technical aspects of endoscopic ultrasound (EUS)guided sampling in gastroenterology: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Technical Guideline - March 2017. Endoscopy. 2017;49:989–1006.
- Dumonceau JM, Deprez PH, Jenssen C, et al. Indications, results, and clinical impact of endoscopic ultrasound (EUS)-guided sampling in gastroenterology: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Clinical Guideline - Updated January 2017. Endoscopy. 2017;49:695–714.
- 9. ASGE Standards of Practice Committee, Early DS, Acosta RD, et al. Adverse events associated with EUS and EUS with FNA. Gastrointest Endosc. 2013;77:839–43.
- Wang K-X, Ben Q-W, Jin Z-D, et al. Assessment of morbidity and mortality associated with EUS-guided FNA: a systematic review. Gastrointest Endosc. 2011;73:283–90.
- Monino L, Barthet M, Gonzalez JM. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided management of malignant afferent loop syndrome after gastric bypass: from diagnosis to therapy. Endoscopy. 2020;52(3):E84–5.
- Bang JY, Magee SH, Ramesh J, et al. Randomized trial comparing fanning with standard technique for endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration of solid pancreatic mass lesions. Endoscopy. 2013;45(6):445–50.
- Park SW, Lee SS, Song TJ, et al. The diagnostic performance of novel torque technique for endoscopic ultrasound-guided tissue acquisition in solid pancreatic lesions: a prospective randomized controlled trial. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;35:508–15.
- Lee JM, Lee HS, Hyun JJ, et al. Slow-pull using a fanning technique is more useful than the standard suction technique in EUS-guided fine needle aspiration in pancreatic masses. Gut Liver. 2018;12(3):360–6.
- Saxena P, El Zein M, Stevens T, et al. Stylet slow-pull versus standard suction for endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration of solid pancreatic lesions: a multicenter randomized trial. Endoscopy. 2018;50(5):497–504.
- Lee YN, Moon JH, Kim HK, et al. Core biopsy needle versus standard aspiration needle for endoscopic ultrasound-guided sampling of solid pancreatic masses: a randomized parallelgroup study. Endoscopy. 2014;46(12):1056–62.
- 17. Kudo T, Kawakami H, Hayashi T, et al. High and low negative pressure suction techniques in EUS-guided fine-needle tissue acquisition by using 25-gauge needles: a multicenter, prospective, randomized, controlled trial. Gastrointest Endosc. 2014;80(6):1030–7.e1.
- Attam R, Arain MA, Bloechl SJ, et al. Wet suction technique (WEST)': a novel way to enhance the quality of EUS-FNA aspirate. Results of a prospective, single-blind, randomized, controlled trial using a 22-gauge needle for EUS-FNA of solid lesions. Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;81(6):1401–7.

- Tarantino I, Di Mitri R, Fabbri C, et al. Is diagnostic accuracy of fine needle aspiration on solid pancreatic lesions aspiration-related? A multicentre randomised trial. Dig Liver Dis. 2014;46(6):523–6.
- Nayar MK, Paranandi B, Dawwas MF, et al. Comparison of the diagnostic performance of 2 core biopsy needles for EUS-guided tissue acquisition from solid pancreatic lesions. Gastrointest Endosc. 2017;85:1017–24.
- Strand DS, Jeffus SK, Sauer BG, et al. EUS-guided 22-gauge fine-needle aspiration versus core biopsy needle in the evaluation of solid pancreatic neoplasms. Diagn Cytopathol. 2014;42:751–8.
- Bang JY, Hawes R, Varadarajulu S. A meta-analysis comparing ProCore and standard fineneedle aspiration needles for endoscopic ultrasound-guided tissue acquisition. Endoscopy. 2016;48:339–49.
- 23. Fujie S, Ishiwatari H, Sasaki K, et al. Comparison of the diagnostic yield of the standard 22-gauge needle and the new 20-gauge forward-bevel core biopsy needle for endoscopic ultrasound-guided tissue acquisition from pancreatic lesions. Gut Liver. 2019;13:349–55.
- Facciorusso A, Del Prete V, Buccino VR, et al. Diagnostic yield of Franseen and Fork-Tip biopsy needles for endoscopic ultrasound-guided tissue acquisition: a meta-analysis. Endosc Int Open. 2019;07:E1221–30.
- 25. Mohan B, Shakhatreh M, Garg R, et al. Comparison of Franseen and fork-tip needles for EUS-guided fine-needle biopsy of solid mass lesions: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Endoscopic Ultrasound. 2019;8:382–91.
- Jovani M, Abidi WM, Lee LS. Novel fork-tip needles versus standard needles for EUS-guided tissue acquisition from solid masses of the upper GI tract: a matched cohort study. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2017;52:784–7.
- DiMaio C, Kolb J, Benias P, et al. Initial experience with a novel EUS-guided core biopsy needle (SharkCore): results of a large North American multicenter study. Endosc Int Open. 2016;04:E974–9.
- Adler DG, Witt B, Chadwick B, et al. Pathologic evaluation of a new endoscopic ultrasound needle designed to obtain core tissue samples: a pilot study. Endosc Ultrasound. 2016;5:178–83.
- 29. Bang JY, Hebert-Magee S, Hasan MK, et al. Endoscopic ultrasonography-guided biopsy using a Franseen needle design: initial assessment. Dig Endosc. 2017;29(3):338–46.
- Matsuno J, Ogura T, Kurisu Y, et al. Prospective comparison study of franseen needle and standard needle use for pancreatic lesions under EUS guidance. Endosc Ultrasound. 2019;8:412–7.
- Inoue T, Tsuzuki T, Takahara T, et al. Prospective evaluation of 25-gauge Franseen needles for endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle biopsy of solid pancreatic masses. Endosc Int Open. 2020;08:E566–70.
- Vanbiervliet G, Napoléon B, Saint Paul MC, et al. Core needle versus standard needle for endoscopic ultrasound-guided biopsy of solid pancreatic masses: a randomized crossover study. Endoscopy. 2017;46(12):1063–70.
- Aadam A, Wani S, Amick A, et al. A randomized controlled cross-over trial and cost analysis comparing endoscopic ultrasound fine needle aspiration and fine needle biopsy. Endosc Int Open. 2016;4(5):E497–505.
- 34. Kamata K, Kitano M, Yasukawa S, et al. Histologic diagnosis of pancreatic masses using 25-gauge endoscopic ultrasound needles with and without a core trap: a multicenter randomized trial. Endoscopy. 2016;48(7):632–8.
- 35. Tian L, Tang AL, Zhang L, et al. Evaluation of 22G fine-needle aspiration (FNA) versus fineneedle biopsy (FNB) for endoscopic ultrasound-guided sampling of pancreatic lesions: a prospective comparison study. Surg Endosc. 2018;32:3533–9.
- 36. Asokkumar R, Yung Ka C, Loh T, et al. Comparison of tissue and molecular yield between fine-needle biopsy (FNB) and fine-needle aspiration (FNA): a randomized study. Endosc Int Open. 2019;07:E955–63.
- 37. Wang J, Zhao S, Chen Y, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound guided fine needle aspiration versus endoscopic ultrasound guided fine needle biopsy in sampling pancreatic masses. Medicine (Baltimore). 2017;96(28):e7452.

- van Riet P, Erler N, Bruno M, et al. Comparison of fine needle aspiration and fine needle biopsy devices for endoscopic ultrasound-guided sampling of solid lesions: a systemic review and meta-analysis. Endoscopy. 2020; https://doi.org/10.1055/a-1206-5552.
- 39. Kandel P, Nassar A, Gomez V, et al. Comparison of endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle biopsy versus fine-needle aspiration for genomic profiling and DNA yield in pancreatic cancer: a randomized crossover trial. Endoscopy. 2020; https://doi.org/10.1055/a-1223-2171.
- 40. Crinò SF, Le Grazie M, Manfrin E, et al. Randomized trial comparing fork-tip and side-fenestrated needles for EUS-guided fine-needle biopsy of solid pancreatic lesions. Gastrointest Endosc. 2020;92:648–658.e2.
- Deprez PH. Unplanned but proven obsolescence for 19 G endoscopic ultrasound needles. Endoscopy. 2019;51:405–6.
- Yasuda I, Iwashita T. S. Tips for endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration of various pancreatic lesions. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci. 2014;2(5):E29–33.
- 43. Song TJ, Kim JH, Lee SS, et al. The prospective randomized, controlled trial of endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration using 22G and 19G aspiration needles for solid pancreatic or peripancreatic masses. Am J Gastroenterol. 2010;105(8):1739–45.
- 44. Park SW, Chung MJ, Park JY, et al. Comparison of EUS-guided tissue acquisition using 25-gauge and 22-gauge core biopsy needles through needle cross-over: a prospective, randomized study. Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;81(5):Ab545.
- 45. Tian G, Bao H, Li J, et al. Systematic review and meta-analysis of diagnostic accuracy of endoscopic ultrasound (EUS)-guided fine-needle aspiration (FNA) using 22-gauge and 25-gauge needles for pancreatic masses. Med Sci Monit. 2018;24:8333–41.
- 46. Xu MM, Jia HY, Yan LL, et al. Comparison of two different size needles in endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration for diagnosing solid pancreatic lesions. Med (Baltimore). 2017;96(5):e5802.
- 47. Mavrogenis G, Weynand B, Sibille A, et al. 25-gauge histology needle versus 22-gauge cytology needle in endoscopic ultrasonography-guided sampling of pancreatic lesions and lymphadenopathy. Endosc Int Open. 2014;03:E63–8.
- Berzosa M, Villa N, El-Serag HB, et al. Comparison of endoscopic ultrasound guided 22-gauge core needle with standard 25-gauge fine-needle aspiration for diagnosing solid pancreatic lesions. Endosc Ultrasound. 2015;4:28–33.
- Facciorusso A, Wani S, Triantafyllou K, et al. Comparative accuracy of needle sizes and designs for EUS tissue sampling of solid pancreatic masses: a network meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2019;90(6):896–903.e7.
- Oh HC, Kang H, Lee JY, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of 22/25-gauge core needle in endoscopic ultrasound-guided sampling: systematic review and meta-analysis. Korean J Intern Med. 2016;31:1073–83.
- Hou X, Jin Z, Xu C, et al. Contrast-enhanced harmonic endoscopic ultrasound-guided fineneedle aspiration in the diagnosis of solid pancreatic lesions: a retrospective study. PLoS One. 2015;10(3):e0121236.
- 52. Mayerle J, Beyer G, Simon P, et al. Prospective cohort study comparing transient EUS guided elastography to EUS-FNA for the diagnosis of solid pancreatic mass lesions. Pancreatology. 2016;16(1):110–4.
- 53. Sachdev A, Jaffri M, Khanna L, et al. The role of real-time endoscopic ultrasound guided elastography for targeting EUS-FNA of suspicious pancreatic masses: a review of the literature and a single center experience. JOP. 2016;17(5):516–24.
- 54. Iordache S, Costache MI, Popescu CF, et al. Clinical impact of EUS elastography followed by contrast-enhanced EUS in patients with focal pancreatic masses and negative EUS-guided FNA. Med Ultrason. 2016;18:18–24.
- 55. Li D, Wang J, Yang M, et al. Factors associated with diagnostic accuracy, technical success and adverse events of EUS-guided FNB: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;35(8):1264–76.

- 56. Yoshinaga S, Itoi T, Yamao K, et al. Safety and efficacy of endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration for pancreatic masses: a prospective multicenter study. Dig Endosc. 2020;32(1):114–26.
- Chong CCN, Lakhtakia S, Nguyen N, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided tissue acquisition with or without macroscopic on-site evaluation: randomized controlled trial. Endoscopy. 2020;52(10):856–63. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-1172-6027.
- Seicean A, Jinga M. Harmonic contrast-enhanced endoscopic ultrasound fine-needle aspiration: fact or fiction? Endosc Ultrasound. 2017;6(1):31–6.
- Yamashita Y, Kitano M. Endoscopic ultrasonography for pancreatic solid lesions. J Med Ultrason. 2020;47(3):377–87.
- 60. Sugimoto M, Takagi T, Hikichi T, et al. Conventional versus contrast-enhanced harmonic endoscopic ultrasonography-guided fine-needle aspiration for diagnosis of solid pancreatic lesions: a prospective randomized trial. Pancreatology. 2015;15:538–41.
- 61. Rodríguez-D'Jesús A, Fernández-Esparrach G, Marra-Lopez C, et al. Adverse events of EUS-guided FNA of pancreatic cystic and solid lesions by using the lexicon proposed in an ASGE workshop: a prospective and comparative study. Gastrointest Endosc. 2016;83:780–4.
- 62. Katanuma A, Maguchi H, Yane K, et al. Factors predictive of adverse events associated with endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration of pancreatic solid lesions. Dig Dis Sci. 2013;58:2093–9.
- 63. Inoue T, Okumura F, Sano H, et al. Bleeding risk of endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration in patients undergoing antithrombotic therapy. Dig Endosc. 2017;29:91–6.
- 64. Chan FKL, Goh KL, Reddy N, et al. Management of patients on antithrombotic agents undergoing emergency and elective endoscopy: joint Asian Pacific Association of Gastroenterology (APAGE) and Asian Pacific Society for Digestive Endoscopy (APSDE) practice guidelines. Gut. 2018;67:405–17.
- 65. Acosta RD, Abraham NS, Chandrasekhara V, et al. The management of antithrombotic agents for patients undergoing GI endoscopy. Gastrointest Endosc. 2016;83:3–16.
- Ribeiro A, Goel A. The risk factors for acute pancreatitis after endoscopic ultrasound guided biopsy. Korean J Gastroenterol. 2018;72:135–40.
- 67. Matsui T, Nishikawa K, Yukimoto H, et al. Needle tract seeding following endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration for pancreatic cancer: a report of two cases. World J Surg Oncol. 2019;17(1):134.
- 68. Sato N, Takano S, Yoshitomi H, et al. Needle tract seeding recurrence of pancreatic cancer in the gastric wall with paragastric lymph node metastasis after endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration followed by pancreatectomy: a case report and literature review. BMC Gastroenterol. 2020;20(1):13.
- 69. Ngamruengphong S, Xu C, Woodward TA, et al. Risk of gastric or peritoneal recurrence, and long-term outcomes, following pancreatic cancer resection with preoperative endosonographically guided fine needle aspiration. Endoscopy. 2013;45:619–26.



5

Evidence-Based Assessment of Diagnostic Performance of Currently Available Needles and Techniques for EUS-Guided Tissue Acquisition

Antonio Facciorusso and Nicola Muscatiello

Key Points

- Several technical and clinical features are known to influence the diagnostic performance of EUS-FNA, including location, size and tissue firmness of the lesion, experience of the endoscopist, and availability of rapid on-site evaluation (ROSE) of EUS-FNA samples performed by a cytopathologist.
- The development of EUS fine-needle biopsy (EUS-FNB) needles has generated a great deal of interest in the field of EUS-tissue acquisition (TA) primarily based on proposed advantages over EUS-FNA of improving diagnostic accuracy, improving procurement of samples with preserved tissue architecture, and allowing for immunohistochemistry obviating ROSE and obtaining results in fewer passes.
- In over past 2–3 years, there have been significant paradigm changes in tip of EUS-FNB needle designs, with newer FNB needles introduced in the endoscopic practice; although these novel needle designs are thought to improve tissue capture and several studies have been published testing these novel devices, there is still limited evidence on their diagnostic performance in terms of diagnostic yield and histology core procurement.
- Through-the-needle biopsy and needle-based confocal laser endomicroscopy represent invaluable newer tools for the diagnosis and characterization of pancreatic cysts.

A. Facciorusso (🖂) · N. Muscatiello

Endoscopy Unit, Department of Medical Sciences, University of Foggia, Foggia, Italy

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. Facciorusso, N. Muscatiello (eds.), *Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71937-1_5

5.1 Introduction

Endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) represents a valuable and accurate diagnostic technique for the morphological characterization of pancreatic lesions; furthermore, EUS allows sampling of pancreatic tissue for cytopathological diagnosis by means of fine-needle aspiration (FNA) [1, 2].

However, several technical and clinical features are known to influence the diagnostic performance of EUS-FNA, including location, size and tissue firmness of the lesion [3], experience of the endoscopist [4], and availability of rapid on-site evaluation (ROSE) of EUS-FNA samples performed by a cytopathologist [5]. On the other hand, whether specific procedural aspects such as use of a stylet, number of needle passes, or different needle sizes may have an impact on diagnostic accuracy and sample adequacy is still a matter of debate [6–9].

In spite of the good results observed with EUS fine-needle aspiration (EUS-FNA) and the recent developments in this field, such as use of rapid on-site evaluation (ROSE) [10], contrast-enhanced–guided FNA [11, 12], or tissue elastography [13], diagnostic sensitivity still remains an issue. Thus, the most important pitfall associated with this procedure is a false-negative diagnosis that has the potential to delay patient care and negatively impact patient outcomes.

The development of EUS fine-needle biopsy (EUS-FNB) needles has generated a great deal of interest in the field of EUS-tissue acquisition (TA) primarily based on proposed advantages over EUS-FNA of improving diagnostic accuracy, improving procurement of samples with preserved tissue architecture, and allowing for immunohistochemistry or special stains required for certain diagnoses, obviating ROSE and obtaining results in fewer passes and thus potentially improving the efficiency and costs associated with EUS-TA [14].

In over past 2–3 years, there have been significant paradigm changes in tip of EUS-FNB needle designs, with newer FNB needles introduced in the endoscopic practice; however, although these novel needle designs are thought to improve tissue capture and several studies have been published testing these novel devices, there is still limited evidence on their diagnostic performance in terms of diagnostic yield and histology core procurement.

The aim of this chapter is to provide an updated evidence-based state-of-art in the field of EUS-TA based on recent series and meta-analyses published on this topic.

5.2 EUS-FNA

5.2.1 Needle Size

EUS-FNA is a useful technique for diagnosis and staging of lesions in and around the proximity of gastrointestinal tract. For diagnosis of solid pancreatic lesions, sensitivity and specificity of EUS–FNA are 85–89% and 96–99% [15, 16], whereas for pancreatic cystic lesions are 54% and 93%, respectively [17].

Optimal tissue acquisition from lesions depends on various factors such as needle sizes and gauges, presence of cytotechnologists for rapid on-site evaluation (ROSE), expertise of endoscopist, and tissue handling techniques [1].

Among the needles more frequently used in EUS-FNA, 22G and 25G have gained increasing popularity due to their manageability and safety [9]. Theoretically, larger needles (for instance, 22G or even 19G) allow the collection of larger samples but may lead to an increased rate of complications. Moreover, they may cause some technical problems mostly due to higher stiffness of the device, likelihood of bloody contamination, or presence of cellular debris in the sample.

Due to these potential drawbacks of larger needles, 25G needle has been successfully introduced in the clinical practice.

A previous meta-analysis published in 2013 found a significant superior sensitivity of 25G over 22G (93% vs. 85%; p = 0.0003) while specificity was similar (100% and 97% with 22G and 25G, respectively, p = 0.97) [9].

A more recent meta-analysis of only randomized-controlled trials (RCTs) published by our group found that there is no significance difference in terms of sensitivity between the two FNA needles [18]. In fact, as reported in Fig. 5.1, pooled sensitivity of 22G needle was 89% (95% CI: 85–94%) while sensitivity of 25G



Fig. 5.1 Pooled sensitivity of (a) 22G and (b) 25G fine-needle aspiration for sampling solid pancreatic masses. Pooled sensitivity of 22G needles was 0.89 (95% CI: 0.85–0.94) while sensitivity of 25G needles was 0.93 (0.91–0.95)

Study	Included studies	Main outcomes		
Xu, 2017 [24]	7 RCTs and 4 prospective studies	Higher pooled sensitivity for malignancy for the 25G needle vs. 22G needle (92% vs. 88%, p = 0.046) Similar area under the summary ROC curve (0.96 for the 25G needle and 0.97 for the 25G needle)		
Facciorusso, 2017 [18]	7 RCTs	Pooled sensitivity: 25G needle, 93% vs. 22G needle, 89%; $p = 0.13$ The area under the ROC curve was 0.99 for the 25G needle and 0.98 for the 22G needle		
Madhoun, 2013 [9]	3 RCTs, 2 prospective and 3 retrospective studies	Higher sensitivity for the 25G needle vs. 22G needle (93% vs. 85%; $p < 0.001$) The difference in sensitivity was nonsignificant when only prospective studies were analyzed (94% vs. 87%)		
Affolter, 2013 [25]	5 RCTs, 3 prospective and 3 retrospective studies	Similar accuracy: $p = 0.97$ Pooled sensitivity: 25G needle, 91% vs. 22G needle, 78%		

 Table 5.1
 Main systematic reviews comparing 22G and 25G fine-needle aspiration for sampling solid pancreatic masses

RCTs randomized-controlled trials

needle was 93% (91–95%) (p = 0.13). Likewise, also sample adequacy resulted similar between the two needles (risk ratio: 1.03, 0.99–1.07; p = 0.12); therefore, the potential advantages of larger needles (ability to collect larger tissue samples) seem to be balanced by the easier use of 25G needle through the pancreatic tissue [18].

Both the EUS-FNA needles proved to be absolutely safe with no severe adverse events registered [9, 18].

19G needles are used primarily to obtain samples with preserved tissue architecture adequate for histologic evaluation [19]. These needles are stiffer and more difficult to operate as compared to thinner needles, especially when sampling is performed with the scope in an angulated position, for example, from the duodenum [20–22]. A 19G FNA needle made out of nitinol was shown to offer mechanical performance advantages in benchtop testing [21] but a recent French RCT found this device significantly inferior to standard 22G needle [23].

Based on these evidences, current European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) guidelines recommend for routine EUS-guided sampling of solid masses both 25G or 22G needles (high-quality evidence, strong recommendation) [19].

Table 5.1 reports the main systematic reviews [9, 18, 24, 25] published in the field.

5.2.2 Suction

Results of two RCTs indicate that using 10 mL of suction during sampling with 22G or 25G FNA needles improves accuracy and/or sensitivity for malignancy when

compared to the no suction technique [26, 27]. The evidence in favor of suction is strongest for 22G FNA needles in the setting of pancreatic masses and it is less clear for sampling with 25G FNA needles. Although the evidence on the effect of using suction is somehow limited, there are also no perceivable risks or disadvantages of this technique. Increased sample bloodiness shown in some studies does not appear to affect diagnostic performance and as a result does not constitute a significant problem. Therefore, the aforementioned ESGE guidelines decided to recommend using suction for all indications and all needle gauges and types in EUS-TA [19].

While slow removal of the stylet during sampling aiming to enhance sample adequacy by creating minimal negative pressure within the needle ("stylet slow-pull" technique) provided discording results [28, 29], eliminating the residual negative pressure by disconnecting the syringe stopcock from the needle port before withdrawing the needle from the target lesion was shown to increase diagnostic outcomes [30]. Therefore, although the mechanism behind this effect remains uncertain and the evidence is limited, this simple maneuver is recommended by current guidelines [19].

Seven RCTs so far compared slow-pull technique with standard suction for sampling solid pancreatic lesions [28–34], and main results of the published evidence are reported in Table 5.2. A recent meta-analysis concluded for a non-superiority of

Study	Country	Needle	Number of	POSE	Diagnostic
Saxena, 2017 [28]	USA	22G (Expect Slimline®; Boston Scientific), FNA	121	Yes	Slow-pull: 80% (68.1–88.2%) Suction: 70% (57.3–80.2%)
Bansal, 2017 [29]	India	22G (EchoTip Ultra HD [®] ; Cook), FNA	36	No	Not reported
Weston, 2017 [30]	USA	22G and 25G (ProCore [®] ; Cook Medical), FNB	60	No	Not reported
Lee, 2018 [31]	Korea	22G (Expect Slimline®; Boston Scientific), FNA	48	No	Slow-pull: 88% (75.4–94.6%) Suction: 71% (56.8–82%)
Cheng, 2019 [32]	Brazil	22G (Expect Slimline®; Boston Scientific; Sonotip®, Medi-Globe GmbH), FNA	50	No	Slow-pull: 82% (68.9–90.4%) Suction: 90% (78.1–95.8%)
Di Mitri, 2019 [33]	Italy	20G (ProCore®; Cook Medical), FNB	48	No	Slow-pull: 85% (71.6–92.7%) Suction: 85% (63.1–94.9%)
Lee, 2019 [34]	Korea	22G and 25G (ProCore [®] ; Cook Medical), FNB	50	No	Not reported

Table 5.2 Randomized-controlled trials comparing slow-pull to suction technique for sampling solid pancreatic masses

FNA fine-needle aspiration, FNB fine-needle biopsy

slow-pull over standard suction (odds ratio for adequacy = 0.98), although slow-pull resulted in reduced blood contamination (pooled rate 10.5% vs. 17.8%) [35].

5.2.3 Stylet

The main aim of using stylet is to prevent blockade lumen of needle as it passes though the gastrointestinal wall. Studies have reported similar diagnostic yield and specimen adequacy with and without stylet [36–39]. The potential above cited advantages of using the stylet have not been proven, and there is high-quality evidence that sampling using 22G FNA needles with or without the stylet provides samples of similar quality and adequacy. On the other hand, potential disadvantages, such as the risk of needlestick injury during stylet manipulation, increased procedure time, and decreased needle flexibility have not been evaluated and their significance remains uncertain. In this situation, current guidelines decided not to recommend for or against using the stylet for sampling with FNA needles, leaving this to the discretion of the endosonographer [19].

5.2.4 ROSE

The main objectives of ROSE are to provide real-time feedback during endoscopy regarding the content and adequacy of specimen, to minimize the number of passes, to decrease inadequate samples, and to increase efficiency of procedure. In spite of these theoretical advantages, available studies provide discording results with the fewer number of passes being the only unequivocal advantage of ROSE shown in all the published literature [10, 40].

ROSE is unavailable in about half of the EUS centers in Europe. Furthermore, ROSE is unavailable in most centers outside of the USA; therefore, ESGE guidelines did not find sufficient reasons to recommend that centers not using ROSE should change their practice [19].

5.2.5 Fanning Technique

The fanning technique involves positioning the needle at four different areas within the mass and performing four back-and-forth movements in each of them to procure tissue while the standard targeting technique involves positioning the needle at one location within the mass and performing 16 back-and-forth movements to procure tissue. In an RCT in patients with pancreatic masses, use of a fanning technique, compared to the standard targeting technique, decreased the number of needle passes required to establish the diagnosis and increased the proportion of patients in whom an on-site diagnosis was achieved on the first pass [41]. Based on this single RCT, ESGE suggests fanning the needle throughout the lesion when sampling solid masses (moderate-quality evidence, weak recommendation) [19].
5.3 EUS-FNB

5.3.1 General Concepts

In order to overcome at least partially the aforementioned limitations of FNA and given the pressing need of adequate histological samples for molecular analysis, biopsy needles have been developed and introduced in the clinical practice.

The first flexible biopsy needle (Quick-Core[®]) was introduced in early 2000s and adapted from the TruCut design but its performances were impaired by several technical issues such as challenges in deploying the spring-loaded tray when in torqued positions within the duodenum, as well as loss of specimen when the needle was withdrawn [42]. As a consequence, TruCut needle failed to determine a significant increase in diagnostic outcomes as compared to standard FNA needles, thus limiting its use worldwide.

Although ProCore[®] biopsy needle seems to address most of the limitations of previous biopsy devices, thanks to the addition of a reverse bevel just distal to the tip promoting collection of a core sample, no significant differences in adequate tissue acquisition, diagnostic accuracy, and rate of histological core specimen acquisition were seen with a significantly lower number of passes being the only advantage observed with FNB as compared to standard FNA [43–45].

The two most recently introduced EUS-FNB needles are end-type cutting needles of markedly different design. One is a Franseen needle (Acquire[®], Boston Scientific, Marlborough, MA), which is a three-plane symmetric needle. The other (SharkCore[®], Medtronic Inc., Sunnyvale, CA) is described as a fork-tip needle, though there are actually six cutting surfaces in an asymmetric design [42].

5.3.2 Comparative Effectiveness of Different FNB Needles

Published trials comparing FNB to standard FNA [46–58] are reported in Table 5.3.

A recent pairwise meta-analysis comparing 22G FNB vs. 22G FNA showed that the two needles resulted comparable in terms of either diagnostic accuracy (risk ratio [RR] 1.02, p = 0.46) or sample adequacy (RR 1.01, p = 0.61) [44]. Likewise, histologic core procurement rate (RR 1.01, p = 0.86) and pooled sensitivity were similar with both devices (93.1% with FNB and 90.4% with FNA) [44]. Of note, FNA led to competitive results in comparison to FNB even in absence of ROSE (as usual in non-American series) [44]. Most of the included trials used ProCore[®] needles, while Franseen biopsy needle (Acquire[®]) showed significant benefit concerning high-quality histologic yield (RR 1.18, p = 0.02) although this finding was based on a single American study [48], thus limiting the quality of evidence [44].

A recent network meta-analysis published by our group observed that there was no significant difference in diagnostic accuracy between different EUS-TA approaches for sampling pancreatic masses, based on low-quality evidence [59]. This striking result, which is in contrast to current evidence on other lesions such as subepithelial masses [60], was confirmed for all of the outcomes evaluated,

atic masses							
		Number of					
Study	Arms	patients	Country	Lesion size (cm)	ROSE	Needle	Main outcomes
Alatawi, 2015 [46]	22G FNB	50	France	3.2 ± 0.5	No	ProCore®	FNB: 98% accuracy
	22G FNA	50		3.3 ± 0.2		Echo Ultra®	100% adequacy
							FNA: 90% accuracy
							90% adequacy
Bang, 2012 [47]	22G FNB	28	USA	3.2 ± 0.9	Yes	ProCore®	FNB: 89.2% accuracy
	22G FNA	28		3.3 ± 0.7		Expect®	89.2% adequacy
							FNA: 100% accuracy
							100% adequacy
Bang, 2017 [48]	22G FNB	46	USA	2.9 ± 0.8	Yes	Acquire®	FNB: 93.5% accuracy
	22G FNA	46				Expect®	100% adequacy
							FNA: 80.4% accuracy
							95.6% adequacy
Cheng, 2017 [49] ^a	22G FNB	123	China	2.91	No	ProCore®	FNB: 89.4% adequacy
	22G FNA	126		2.95		EchoTip [®]	FNA: 84.9% adequacy
Ganc, 2014 [50] ^b	22G FNB	30	Brazil	NR	No	ProCore®	FNB: 93.3% accuracy
	22G FNA	30				EchoTip [®]	FNA: 90% accuracy
Hucl, 2013 [51] ^a	22G FNB	69	India	4.19 ± 1.7	No	ProCore®	FNB: 85.5% accuracy
	22G FNA	69				EchoTip [®]	92.7% adequacy
							FNA: 73.9% accuracy
							86.9% adequacy
Lee, 2017 [52] ^b	22G FNB	6	Korea	4.4 ± 3.2	No	ProCore®	FNB: 100% adequacy
	22G FNA	7		3.7 ± 2		EchoTip [®]	FNA: 100% adequacy
Noh, 2017 [53]	22G FNB	60	Korea	3.1 ± 0.8	No	ProCore®	Not reported
	22G FNA	60				EZShot 2 [®]	
Othman, 2017 [54] ^c	22G FNB	29	USA	NR	Yes	ProCore®	FNB: 72.4% adequacy
	22G FNA	60				EZShot 2 [®] /	FNA: 68.3% adequacy
						Expect®	

Table 5.3 Randomized-controlled trials comparing endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle biopsy and fine-needle aspiration for sampling solid pancre-

FNB: 89.5% adequacy FNA: 97.3% adequacy	FNB: 88.7% adequacy FNA: 93.7% adequacy	FNB: 73.6% accuracy 84.2% adequacy FNA: 68.4% accuracy 78.9% adequacy	FNB: 79.2% accuracy 100% adequacy FNA: 75.9% accuracy 100% adequacy
ProCore [®] EchoTip [®]	ProCore [®] EchoTip [®]	ProCore [®] EchoTip [®]	ProCore [®] EchoTip [®]
No	No	No	No
3.3 ± 1.2	3.3 ± 1	3.9 (1–7)	2.93 ± 1.5 2.79 ± 1.4
Germany	France	Belgium	Japan
38 38	80 80	19	106 108
22G FNB 22G FNA	22G FNB 22G FNA	25G FNB 22G FNA	25G FNB 25G FNA
Sterlacci, 2016 [55] ^a	Vanbiervliet, 2014 [56]	Mavrogenis, 2015 [57] ^a	Kamata, 2016 [58]

FNA fine-needle aspiration, FNB fine-needle biopsy, NR not reported, ROSE rapid on-site evaluation

"Trials including both pancreatic and extra-pancreatic masses. Only pancreatic lesions were reported in the table and included in the analysis ^bConference abstract

"Three-arm trial comparing two different FNA needles and FNB. Data from the two FNA arms were merged

including sample adequacy and histological core procurement. Therefore, needle design (whether FNA or FNA) and gauge (19G, 22G, or 25G) did not seem to impact significantly the diagnostic performance of the procedure [59].

The main findings of the above cited network meta-analysis [59] are reported in Table 5.4. The overall body of evidence was rated down for serious risk of bias, since the included RCTs were unblinded and at high risk of performance bias. Furthermore, for several comparisons, evidence was rated down due to imprecision [59].

These results suggest that EUS-FNA would suffice for most cases in routine clinical practice (patients with pancreatic adenocarcinoma) and add credence to the recently published European guidelines that equally recommend FNA and FNB for routine sampling of solid masses [19]. FNB is likely to play a pivotal role for conditions that require assessment of tissue architecture, and it would be the preferred modality in these situations (for example, in oncologic studies that require core biopsies for personalized medicine or benign conditions such as autoimmune pancreatitis) [61].

Needle	Diagnostic accuracy		Sample adequacy		
		Quality of		Quality of	
	Relative risk (95% CI)	evidence	Relative risk (95% CI)	evidence	
All needles vs.	19G FNA				
22G FNA	1.06 (0.80, 1.41)	Low	1.14 (0.87–1.51)	Low	
22G FNB	1.10 (0.80, 1.50)	Low	1.17 (0.89–1.53)	Low	
25G FNA	1.10 (0.81, 1.51)	Low	1.19 (0.83–1.55)	Low	
25G FNB	1.16 (0.58, 1.69)	Low	1.20 (0.89–1.61)		
vs. 22G FNA	^				
22G FNB	1.03 (0.89, 1.18)	Low	1.02 (0.94–1.16)	Low	
25G FNA	1.03 (0.91, 1.17)	Low	1.04 (0.93–1.21)	Low	
25G FNB	1.09 (0.85, 1.39)	Low	1.05 (0.92–1.19)	Low	
vs. 22G FNB	·		·		
25G FNA	1.00 (0.83, 1.20)	Low	1.02 (0.93–1.17)	Low	
25G FNB	1.05 (0.82, 1.36)	Low	1.03 (0.94–1.11)	Low	
vs. 25G FNA					
25G FNB	1.05 (0.82, 1.33)	Low	1.01 (0.96–1.11)	Low	

Table 5.4 GRADE assessment of quality of evidence informing the comparisons between different needles for endoscopic ultrasound-guided tissue sampling of solid pancreatic masses

Quality of the evidence was rated based on GRADE methodology. Trials of direct comparison were rated down for presence of any of the following factors—risk of bias in literature, inconsistency, indirectness, imprecision, and publication bias. Quality of indirect estimates was initially derived from the lowest quality of first-order loops for direct estimates contributing to the indirect estimates. Quality of the network meta-analysis was derived from quality of combination of direct and indirect estimates and transitivity of trials. When moderate-high quality evidence was available from direct/pairwise estimates, they were used preferentially; when pairwise estimates provided only low or very quality of evidence or if there were no pairwise comparisons, then estimates from network meta-analysis were used to rate quality of evidence. None of the comparisons resulted significant



Fig. 5.2 Pooled analysis assessing rates of sample adequacy of (**a**) Franseen and (**b**) fork-tip fineneedle biopsy in targeting pancreatic lesions. Sample adequacy in targeting pancreatic masses was 95.6% (94–97.3%; I2 = 48.9%) with significantly higher rates of adequate samples obtained with Franseen needle (97%, 94.8–99.3% vs. 92.6%, 88.8–96.4%; p = 0.006)

However, the above cited network meta-analysis was unable to assess the performance of newer FNB needles due to the paucity of available RCTs, hence the aforementioned findings should be considered applicable mainly to ProCore[®] needle [59].

A recent meta-analysis of 24 studies performed by the same group specifically assessed the performance of newer needle designs in the diagnosis of solid masses [62].

As reported in Fig. 5.2, the two newer needles (Franseen and fork-tip) showed striking results in terms of sample adequacy (95.6%), rate of histological optimal core procurement (92.5%), diagnostic accuracy (95%), and sensitivity (92.8%) in pancreatic masses with no difference between the two different designs [62].

As expected, the aforementioned results were not influenced by the use of ROSE, a tool not routinely adopted in non-American centers, thus confirming that FNB may obviate to the need of an on-site pathologist to obtain optimal diagnostic outcomes [63].

Therefore, although current evidence do not seem to support a clear advantage of FNB over FNA for the management of pancreatic masses, newer biopsy needles are expected to influence the diagnostic algorithm of these lesions pushing the wide-spread use of EUS-guided biopsy in pancreatology [64, 65].

Of note, the single head-to-head trial directly comparing the two newer FNB needles did not report significant differences between the two devices [66], and this should represent a further research field in the future.

5.4 Pancreatic Cystic Lesions

In most centers, sampling of pancreatic cystic lesions (PCLs) involves the use of 19G or 22G FNA needles and an attempt to empty the cyst as much as possible with a single needle pass, in order to maximize diagnostic yield and minimize the risk of infection [64]. This approach, based on expert opinion, has never been adequately evaluated, and its effectiveness remains unproven.

Despite the large experience based on CEA or amylase dosage or the evaluation of the presence of mucus in the cystic fluid, none of these methods were proved to be able to accurately discriminate the type of lesion and the risk of malignancy [67–69]. In particular, major drawbacks of standard FNA are the relatively low sensitivity, reported to be as high as 54% in differentiating mucinous from non-mucinous cysts [67], and the difficulty in collecting adequate samples for biochemical analysis of the cystic fluid [70].

Targeted cyst wall puncture after aspiration of cyst fluid was shown to provide a specimen adequate for cytologic or cytologic/histologic evaluation in 65–81% of cases and to offer an additional incremental diagnostic yield for mucinous cyst of 29–37% over cyst fluid analysis/cytology alone [71, 72]. However, the diagnostic sensitivity of reverse-bevel FNB was disappointing in PCLs without solid components [71].

Recently, a through-the-needle microforceps device (Moray Microforceps[®], US Endoscopy, Mentor, OH, USA) that can be passed through a standard 19-gauge EUS-FNA needle was developed for histologic sampling of PCLs. The main advantage of TTNB is to obtain adequate specimens retaining the stroma covered with the epithelial lining and, therefore, to preserve the histological architecture of the sampled tissue. These aspects allow ancillary techniques such as immunohistochemistry both on epithelium and on the stroma, thus improving the diagnostic and prognostic value of the technique [73]. Moreover, TTNB allows collecting adequate volumes of cystic fluid for both biochemical and molecular biology analysis and for cytology which can be associated with histology to improve diagnosis, as reported in several series [73].

There are currently 11 studies (excluding overlap series) assessing the diagnostic yield of TTNB in PCLs (alone or in comparison to standard FNA), showing a pooled sample adequacy rate of 85.3%, with diagnostic accuracy and sensitivity of 78.8% and 82.2%, respectively [74–84]. Available studies are reported in Table 5.5.

		Number of	Study period/	FNA cytology/ cyst fluid	Lesion size	Main
Study	Country	patients	design	analysis	(cm)	outcomes
Basar, 2018 [74]	USA	42	2015–2016/ retrospective	Yes	2.82 (1.2–6)	Adequacy: 90.5% Accuracy: 71.4%
Cheesman, 2019 [75] ^a	USA	41	NR/ retrospective	Yes	3.7 (1.6–5)	Adequacy: 90.2% Accuracy: 68.3%
Crinò, 2019 [76]	Italy	61	2016–2018/ prospective	Yes	4.07 ± 1.42	Adequacy: 100%
Kovacevic, 2018 [77]	Multicenter	28	NR/ retrospective	No	3 (2.2–4.75)	Adequacy: 67.9% Accuracy: 67.9%
Mittal, 2018 [78]	USA	27	2016–2017/ retrospective	Yes	3.78 ± 1.69	Adequacy: 88.9% Accuracy: 77.8%
Robles- Medranda, 2019 [79] ^a	Ecuador	36	2013–2018/ retrospective	Yes	NR	Accuracy: 83.3%
Samarasena, 2019 [80]	USA	15	NR/ retrospective	No	2.5 (0.48–3.9)	Adequacy: 86.7% Accuracy: 73.3%
Vestrup Rift, 2019 [81]	Denmark	27	2016–2017/ retrospective	No	3.5 (1.2–13)	Adequacy: 88.9% Accuracy: 88.9%
Zhang, 2018 [82]	USA	48	2016–2017/ retrospective	Yes	3.1 ± 1.1	Adequacy: 75%
Yang, 2019 [83]	USA	114	2016–2018/ prospective	Yes	3.51 ± 2.52	Adequacy: 83.3% Accuracy: 83.3%
Wilen, 2019 [84] ^a	USA	30	2016–2018/ retrospective	Yes	2.73	Adequacy: 70%

Table 5.5 Studies evaluating through-the-needle biopsy for sampling pancreatic cysts

FNA fine-needle aspiration

^aPublished as conference abstract

Therefore, TTNB seems to clearly outperform current available techniques for sampling pancreatic cysts; furthermore, the diagnostic performance of standard FNA is highly influenced by the presence of an expert pancreatic cytologist, who is not available in many centers. The TTNB technique may obviate to these problems by providing histological samples of the cyst wall including both the epithelium and the stroma, an aspect particularly important in mucinous neoplasms characterized by the presence of an ovarian-like stroma [73].

However, in spite of the undoubted advantages of TTNB in comparison to FNA, diagnostic accuracy and sensitivity are still considerably inferior to solid pancreatic masses. In fact, it is possible to sample only the opposite wall of the cyst with respect to the point of entrance of the needle, and due to the uneven distribution of dysplasia inside the PCLs, there is a considerable risk of underestimating the real grade of dysplasia inside the cyst [73]. Moreover, some pancreatic cysts might have the so-called "denuded epithelium" [85], thus making it difficult to obtain adequate specimens even with a high number of passes.

While infectious adverse events related to EUS-guided sampling of solid pancreatic lesions are very rare [86], recommending against routine antibiotic treatment, prophylaxis with fluoroquinolones, or beta-lactam antibiotics is routinely used in the majority of studies on sampling of pancreatic cystic lesions; although this approach is based on long-standing clinical practice and very limited evidence, current guidelines recommend in favor of antibiotic prophylaxis when sampling PCLs [19].

The optimal choice of drug and dosage regimen has not been adequately studied. Most studies used an initial intravenous dose followed by oral administration for 3–5 days; however, there is limited evidence from two non-comparative studies that a single intravenous dose may be sufficient [87, 88]. However, two retrospective studies showed similar results in terms of infection rate between use and nonuse of antibiotic prophylaxis [89, 90]; therefore, this practice is likely to be reappraised in the forthcoming guidelines.

Sampling of PCLs raises some additional safety concerns regarding the risk of acute pancreatitis, in particular when the lesion is in communication with the main pancreatic duct. However, as reported in a recent meta-analysis [91], sampling of pancreatic lesions is safe although certain subgroups of patients are at increased risk (for example, cirrhotic patients) [92]. The role of pharmacological agents able to decrease the periprocedural risks of EUS-TA is still unknown, although statins showed interesting results in this regard [93].

5.5 Confocal Laser Endomicroscopy

Confocal laser endomicroscopy (CLE) is one of the novel imaging technologies that allows microscopic visualization of the mucosal surface epithelium. Optical biopsy at real time may further improve the diagnostic yield by reducing the sampling error [94, 95], thus obviating to the need of ROSE.

CLE has been in use for years in other fields of gastrointestinal endoscopy, such as in the differential diagnosis of gastric subepithelial or mucosal lesions or to assess Barrett esophagus [96]; in the last years, a new procedure called needle-based confocal laser endomicroscopy (nCLE), which involves a mini-CLE probe that can be passed through a 19-gauge needle during EUS-FNA, has been developed and tested in the clinical practice. This procedure allows the real-time visualization

of tissues at a microscopic level thus showing the potential to further improve the diagnostic accuracy of EUS-FNA, in particular in cystic lesions [97].

The main limitation of this technology is heterogeneity in histology, interobserver variability, reproducibility, need of pathologists and endoscopists for better interpretation, image quality, and sampling error [96, 97]. Therefore, further training and research are needed for applicability in real-time practice.

5.6 Conclusions

Important advancements in EUS-guided tissue sampling techniques and development of new needle designs have improved the diagnostic yield of both solid and cystic pancreatic lesions. This innovation in EUS has also opened the door for early diagnosis and precision therapy in the management of cancer patients. EUS-FNB is an invaluable tool, and newer FNB designs will probably play a pivotal role in the management of pancreatic lesions in the next future.

References

- 1. Jani BS, Rzouq F, Saligram S, Lim D, Rastogi A, Bonino J, et al. Endoscopic ultrasoundguided fine-needle aspiration of pancreatic lesions: a systematic review of technical and procedural variables. N Am J Med Sci. 2016;8(1):1–11.
- Matsubayashi H, Matsui T, Yabuuchi Y, Imai K, Tanaka M, Kakushima N, et al. Endoscopic ultrasonography guided-fine needle aspiration for the diagnosis of solid pancreaticobiliary lesions: clinical aspects to improve the diagnosis. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22(2):628–40.
- Hijioka S, Hara K, Mizuno N, Imaoka H, Bhatia V, Mekky MA, et al. Diagnostic performance and factors influencing the accuracy of EUS-FNA of pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms. J Gastroenterol. 2016;51(9):923–30.
- Nelsen EM, Buehler D, Soni AV, Gopal DV. Endoscopic ultrasound in the evaluation of pancreatic neoplasms-solid and cystic: a review. World J Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;7(4):318–27.
- Iglesias-Garcia J, Lariño-Noia J, Abdulkader I, Domínguez-Muñoz JE. Rapid on-site evaluation of endoscopic-ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration diagnosis of pancreatic masses. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20(28):9451–7.
- Kim JH, Park SW, Kim MK, Lee J, Kae SH, Jang HJ, et al. Meta-analysis for cyto-pathological outcomes in endoscopic ultrasonography-guided fine-needle aspiration with and without the stylet. Dig Dis Sci. 2016;61(8):2175–84.
- Varadarajulu S, Bang JY, Holt BA, Hasan MK, Logue A, Hawes RH, et al. The 25-gauge EUS-FNA needle: good for on-site but poor for off-site evaluation? Results of a randomized trial. Gastrointest Endosc. 2014;80(6):1056–63.
- Wee E, Lakhtakia S, Gupta R, Sekaran A, Kalapala R, Monga A, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound guided fine-needle aspiration of lymph nodes and solid masses: factors influencing the cellularity and adequacy of the aspirate. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2012;46(6):487–93.
- Madhoun MF, Wani SB, Rastogi A, Early D, Gaddam S, Tierney WM, et al. The diagnostic accuracy of 22-gauge and 25-gauge needles in endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration of solid pancreatic lesions: a meta-analysis. Endoscopy. 2013;45(2):86–92.
- Wani S, Mullady D, Early DS, Rastogi A, Collins B, Wang JF, et al. The clinical impact of immediate on-site cytopathology evaluation during endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration of pancreatic masses: a prospective multicenter randomized controlled trial. Am J Gastroenterol. 2015;110(10):1429–39.

- Hou X, Jin Z, Xu C, Zhang M, Zhu J, Jiang F, et al. Contrast-enhanced harmonic endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration in the diagnosis of solid pancreatic lesions: a retrospective study. PLoS One. 2015;10(3):e0121236.
- Yoshida K, Iwashita T, Uemura S, Mita N, Iwata K, Mukai T, et al. Efficacy of contrastenhanced EUS for lymphadenopathy: a prospective multicenter pilot study. Gastrointest Endosc. 2019. pii: S0016-5107(19)30206-8.
- Facciorusso A, Martina M, Buccino RV, Nacchiero MC, Muscatiello N. Diagnostic accuracy of fine-needle aspiration of solid pancreatic lesions guided by endoscopic ultrasound elastography. Ann Gastroenterol. 2018;31(4):513–8.
- 14. Wani S, Muthusamy VR, McGrath CM, Sepulveda AR, Das A, Messersmith W, et al. AGA white paper: optimizing endoscopic ultrasound-guided tissue acquisition and future directions. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;16(3):318–27.
- 15. Hewitt MJ, McPhail MJ, Possamai L, Dhar A, Vlavianos P, Monahan KJ. EUS-guided FNA for diagnosis of solid pancreatic neoplasms: a meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2012;75:319–31.
- 16. Puli SR, Bechtold ML, Buxbaum JL, Eloubeidi MA. How good is endoscopic ultrasoundguided fine-needle aspiration in diagnosing the correct etiology for a solid pancreatic mass?: a meta-analysis and systematic review. Pancreas. 2013;42(1):20–6.
- Thornton GD, McPhail MJ, Nayagam S, Hewitt MJ, Vlavianos P, Monahan KJ. Endoscopic ultrasound guided fine needle aspiration for the diagnosis of pancreatic cystic neoplasms: a meta-analysis. Pancreatology. 2013;13:48–57.
- Facciorusso A, Stasi E, Di Maso M, Serviddio G, Ali Hussein MS, Muscatiello N. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration of pancreatic lesions with 22 versus 25 Gauge needles: a meta-analysis. United European Gastroenterol J. 2017;5(6):846–53.
- Polkowski M, Jenssen C, Kaye P, Carrara S, Deprez P, Gines A, et al. Technical aspects of endoscopic ultrasound (EUS)-guided sampling in gastroenterology: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Technical Guideline - March 2017. Endoscopy. 2017;49(10):989–1006.
- 20. Song TJ, Kim JH, Lee SS, Eum JB, Moon SH, Park DY, et al. The prospective randomized, controlled trial of endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration using 22G and 19G aspiration needles for solid pancreatic or peripancreatic masses. Am J Gastroenterol. 2010;105:1739–45.
- Itoi T, Itokawa F, Sofuni A, Kurihara T, Tsuchiya T, Ishii K, et al. Evaluation of 19-gauge endoscopic ultrasonography aspiration needles using various echoendoscopes. Endosc Int Open. 2013;1:24–30.
- 22. Varadarajulu S, Bang JY, Hebert-Magee S. Assessment of the technical performance of the flexible 19-gauge EUS-FNA needle. Gastrointest Endosc. 2012;76:336–43.
- 23. Laquière A, Lefort C, Maire F, Aubert A, Gincul R, Prat F, et al. 19 G nitinol needle versus 22 G needle for transduodenal endoscopic ultrasound-guided sampling of pancreatic solid masses: a randomized study. Endoscopy. 2019;51(5):436–43.
- 24. Xu MM, Jia HY, Yan LL, et al. Comparison of two different size needles in endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration for diagnosing solid pancreatic lesions: a metaanalysis of prospective controlled trials. Medicine (Baltimore). 2017;96:e5802.
- 25. Affolter KE, Schmidt RL, Matynia AP, et al. Needle size has only a limited effect on outcomes in EUS-guided fine needle aspiration: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Dig Dis Sci. 2013;58:1026–34.
- 26. Tarantino I, Di Mitri R, Fabbri C, Pagano N, Barresi L, Granata A, et al. Is diagnostic accuracy of fine needle aspiration on solid pancreatic lesions aspiration-related? A multicentre randomised trial. Dig Liver Dis. 2014;46:523–6.
- Lee JK, Choi JH, Lee KH, Kim KM, Shin JU, Lee JK, et al. A prospective, comparative trial to optimize sampling techniques in EUS-guided FNA of solid pancreatic masses. Gastrointest Endosc. 2013;77:745–51.

- Saxena P, El Zein M, Stevens T, Abdelgelil A, Besharati S, Messallam A, et al. Stylet slowpull versus standard suction for endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration of solid pancreatic lesions: a multicenter randomized trial. Endoscopy. 2018;50(5):497–504.
- Bansal RK, Choudhary NS, Puri R, Patle SK, Bhagat S, Nasa M, et al. Comparison of endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration by capillary action, suction, and no suction methods: a randomized blinded study. Endosc Int Open. 2017;5(10):E980–4.
- Weston BR, Ross WA, Bhutani MS, et al. Prospective randomized comparison of a 22G core needle using standard versus capillary suction for EUS-guided sampling of solid pancreatic masses. Endosc Int Open. 2017;5:E505–12.
- Lee JM, Lee HS, Hyun JJ, et al. Slow-pull using a fanning technique is more useful than the standard suction technique in EUS-guided fine needle aspiration in pancreatic masses. Gut Liver. 2018;12:360–6.
- 32. Cheng S, Brunaldi VO, Minata MK, Chacon DA, da Silveira EB, de Moura DT, et al. Suction versus slow-pull for endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration of pancreatic tumors: a prospective randomized trial. HPB (Oxford). 2019. pii: S1365-182X(19)30738-5.
- 33. Di Mitri R, Mocciaro F, Antonini F, Scimeca D, Conte E, Bonaccorso A, et al. Stylet slow-pull vs. standard suction technique for endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle biopsy in pancreatic solid lesions using 20 Gauge Procore[™] needle: A multicenter randomized trial. Dig Liver Dis. 2019. pii: S1590-8658(19)30786-8.
- 34. Lee KY, Cho HD, Hwangbo Y, et al. Efficacy of 3 fine-needle biopsy techniques for suspected pancreatic malignancies in the absence of an on-site cytopathologist. Gastrointest Endosc. 2019;89:825–31.
- Capurso G, Archibugi L, Petrone M, Arcidiacono PG. Slow-pull compared to suction technique for eus-guided sampling of solid pancreatic lesions: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Gastrointest Endosc. 2019;89(S6):AB582–3.
- 36. Aadam AA, Oh YS, Shidham VB, Khan A, Hunt B, Rao N, et al. Eliminating the residual negative pressure in the endoscopic ultrasound aspirating needle enhances cytology yield of pancreas masses. Dig Dis Sci. 2016;61:890–9.
- Wani S, Early D, Kunkel J, Leathersich A, Hovis CE, Hollander TG, et al. Diagnostic yield of malignancy during EUS-guided FNA of solid lesions with and without a stylet: a prospective, single blind, randomized, controlled trial. Gastrointest Endosc. 2012;76:328–35.
- Kim JH, Park SW, Kim MK, Lee J, Kae SH, Jang HJ, et al. Meta-analysis for cytopathological outcomes in endoscopic ultrasonography-guided fine-needle aspiration with and without the stylet. Dig Dis Sci. 2016;61:2175–84.
- 39. Abe Y, Kawakami H, Oba K, Hayashi T, Yasuda I, Mukai T, et al. Effect of a stylet on a histological specimen in EUS-guided fine-needle tissue acquisition by using 22-gauge needles: a multicenter, prospective, randomized, controlled trial. Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;82(837–44):e831.
- 40. Iglesias-Garcia J, Dominguez-Munoz JE, Abdulkader I, Larino-Noia J, Eugenyeva E, Lozano-Leon A, et al. Influence of on-site cytopathology evaluation on the diagnostic accuracy of endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration (EUS–FNA) of solid pancreatic masses. Am J Gastroenterol. 2011;106:1705–10.
- Bang JY, Magee SH, Ramesh J, Trevino JM, Varadarajulu S. Randomized trial comparing fanning with standard technique for endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration of solid pancreatic mass lesions. Endoscopy. 2013;45:445–50.
- Kandel P, Wallace MB. Recent advancement in EUS-guided fine needle sampling. J Gastroenterol. 2019;54(5):377–87.
- Bang JY, Hawes R, Varadarajulu S. A meta-analysis comparing ProCore and standard fineneedle aspiration needles for endoscopic ultrasound-guided tissue acquisition. Endoscopy. 2016;48(4):339–49.
- 44. Facciorusso A, Singh Bajwa H, Menon K, Buccino VR, Muscatiello N. Comparison between 22-gauge aspiration and 22-gauge biopsy needles for EUS-guided sampling of pancreatic lesions: a meta-analysis. Endosc Ultrasound. 2020;9(3):167–74.
- 45. Khan MA, Grimm IS, Ali B, Nollan R, Tombazzi C, Ismail MK, et al. A meta-analysis of endoscopic ultrasound-fine-needle aspiration compared to endoscopic ultrasound-fine-needle

biopsy: diagnostic yield and the value of onsite cytopathological assessment. Endosc Int Open. 2017;5(5):E363–75.

- 46. Alatawi A, Beuvon F, Grabar S, Leblanc S, Chaussade S, Terris B, et al. Comparison of 22G reverse-beveled versus standard needle for endoscopic ultrasound-guided sampling of solid pancreatic lesions. United European Gastroenterol J. 2015;3(4):343–52.
- 47. Bang JY, Hebert-Magee S, Trevino J, Ramesh J, Varadarajulu S. Randomized trial comparing the 22-gauge aspiration and 22-gauge biopsy needles for EUS-guided sampling of solid pancreatic mass lesions. Gastrointest Endosc. 2012;76(2):321–7.
- Bang JY, Hebert-Magee S, Navaneethan U, Hasan MK, Hawes R, Varadarajulu S. EUS-guided fine needle biopsy of pancreatic masses can yield true histology: results of a randomised trial. Gut. 2017. pii: gutjnl-2017-315154.
- 49. Cheng B, Zhang Y, Chen Q, Sun B, Deng Z, Shan H, et al. Analysis of fine-needle biopsy vs fine-needle aspiration in diagnosis of pancreatic and abdominal masses: a prospective, multicenter, randomized controlled trial. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;16(8):1314–21.
- 50. Ganc R, Colaiacovo R, Carbonari A, Altenfelder R, Pacheco AJ, Rocha H, et al. Endoscopic ultrasonography-fine-needle aspiration of solid pancreatic lesions: a prospective, randomized, single-blinded, comparative study using the 22 Gauge EchoTip[®] ProCoreTM HD (A) and the 22 Gauge EchoTip[®] Ultra HD (B) endoscopic ultrasound needles. Endosc Ultrasound. 2014;3(Suppl 1):S11.
- Hucl T, Wee E, Anuradha S, Gupta R, Ramchandani M, Rakesh K, et al. Feasibility and efficiency of a new 22G core needle: a prospective comparison study. Endoscopy. 2013;45(10):792–8.
- Lee BS, Cho CM, Jung MK, Jang JS, Bae HI. Comparison of histologic core portions acquired from a core biopsy needle and a conventional needle in solid mass lesions: a prospective randomized trial. Gut Liver. 2017;11(4):559–66.
- 53. Noh DH, Choi K, Gu S, Cho J, Jang KT, Woo YS, et al. Comparison of 22-gauge standard fine needle versus core biopsy needle for endoscopic ultrasound-guided sampling of suspected pancreatic cancer: a randomized crossover trial. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2018;53(1):94–9.
- Othman MO, Abdelfatah MM, Padilla O, Hussinat M, Elhanafi S, Eloliby M, et al. The cellularity yield of three different 22-gauge endoscopic ultrasound fine needle aspiration needles. Diagn Cytopathol. 2017;45(5):426–32.
- 55. Sterlacci W, Sioulas AD, Veits L, Gönüllü P, Schachschal G, Groth S, et al. 22-gauge core vs 22-gauge aspiration needle for endoscopic ultrasound-guided sampling of abdominal masses. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22(39):8820–30.
- 56. Vanbiervliet G, Napoléon B, Saint Paul MC, Sakarovitch C, Wangermez M, Bichard P, et al. Core needle versus standard needle for endoscopic ultrasound-guided biopsy of solid pancreatic masses: a randomized crossover study. Endoscopy. 2014;46(12):1063–70.
- 57. Mavrogenis G, Weynand B, Sibille A, Hassaini H, Deprez P, Gillain C, et al. 25-gauge histology needle versus 22-gauge cytology needle in endoscopic ultrasonography-guided sampling of pancreatic lesions and lymphadenopathy. Endosc Int Open. 2015;3(1):E63–8.
- 58. Kamata K, Kitano M, Yasukawa S, Kudo M, Chiba Y, Ogura T, et al. Histologic diagnosis of pancreatic masses using 25-gauge endoscopic ultrasound needles with and without a core trap: a multicenter randomized trial. Endoscopy. 2016;48(7):632–8.
- 59. Facciorusso A, Wani S, Triantafyllou K, Tziatzios G, Cannizzaro R, Muscatiello N, et al. Comparative accuracy of needle sizes and designs for EUS tissue sampling of solid pancreatic masses: a network meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2019;90(6):893–903.
- 60. Facciorusso A, Sunny SP, Del Prete V, Antonino M, Muscatiello N. Comparison between fineneedle biopsy and fine-needle aspiration for EUS-guided sampling of subepithelial lesions: a meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2020;91(1):14-22.e2.
- Madhani K, Farrell JJ. Management of autoimmune pancreatitis. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am. 2018;28(4):493–519.
- 62. Facciorusso A, Del Prete V, Buccino VR, Purohit P, Setia P, Muscatiello N. Diagnostic yield of franseen and fork-tip biopsy needles for endoscopic ultrasound-guided tissue acquisition: a meta-analysis. Endosc Int Open. 2019;7(10):E1221–30.

- van Riet PA, Cahen DL, Poley JW, Bruno MJ. Mapping international practice patterns in EUSguided tissue sampling: outcome of a global survey. Endosc Int Open. 2016;4:E360–70.
- Facciorusso A, Buccino RV, Muscatiello N. How to measure quality in endoscopic ultrasound. Ann Transl Med. 2018;6(13):266.
- 65. Bang JY, Varadarajulu S. Equal efficacy of FNA and fine-needle biopsy needles for EUSguided tissue acquisition: really? Gastrointest Endosc. 2019;90(6):904–5.
- 66. Bang JY, Hebert-Magee S, Navaneethan U, et al. Randomized trial comparing the Franseen and fork-tip needles for EUS-guided fine-needle biopsy sampling of solid pancreatic mass lesions. Gastrointest Endosc. 2018;87(6):1432–8.
- Thornton GD, McPhail MJ, Nayagam S, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound guided fine needle aspiration for the diagnosis of pancreatic cystic neoplasms: a meta-analysis. Pancreatology. 2013;13:48–57.
- 68. van der Waaij LA, van Dullemen HM, Porte RJ. Cyst fluid analysis in the differential diagnosis of pancreatic cystic lesions: a pooled analysis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2005;62:383–9.
- Brugge WR, Lewandrowski K, Lee-Lewandrowski E, et al. Diagnosis of pancreatic cystic neoplasms: a report of the cooperative pancreatic cyst study. Gastroenterology. 2004;126:1330–6.
- de Jong K, Poley JW, van Hooft JE, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration of pancreatic cystic lesions provides inadequate material for cytology and laboratory analysis: initial results from a prospective study. Endoscopy. 2011;43(7):585–90.
- Barresi L, Tarantino I, Traina M, Granata A, Curcio G, Azzopardi N, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration and biopsy using a 22-gauge needle with side fenestration in pancreatic cystic lesions. Dig Liver Dis. 2014;46:45–50.
- 72. Hong SK, Loren DE, Rogart JN, Siddiqui AA, Sendecki JA, Bibbo M, et al. Targeted cyst wall puncture and aspiration during EUS-FNA increases the diagnostic yield of premalignant and malignant pancreatic cysts. Gastrointest Endosc. 2012;75:775–82.
- Barresi L, Tacelli M, Ligresti D, et al. Tissue acquisition in pancreatic cystic lesions. Dig Liver Dis. 2019;51(2):286–92.
- Basar O, Yuksel O, Yang DJ, et al. Feasibility and safety of microforceps biopsy in the diagnosis of pancreatic cysts. Gastrointest Endosc. 2018;88(1):79–86.
- 75. Cheesman AR, Zhu H, Kumta NA, et al. EUS-guided microforceps biopsy and needlebased confocal laser endomicroscopy significantly improve the diagnostic yield and have major impact on clinical management of pancreatic cystic lesions. Gastrointest Endosc. 2019;89(S6):AB144.
- 76. Crinò SF, Bernardoni L, Brozzi L, Barresi L, Malleo G, Salvia R, et al. Association between macroscopically visible tissue samples and diagnostic accuracy of EUS-guided throughthe-needle microforceps biopsy sampling of pancreatic cystic lesions. Gastrointest Endosc. 2019;90(6):933–43.
- 77. Kovacevic B, Karstensen JG, Havre RF, et al. Initial experience with EUS-guided microbiopsy forceps in diagnosing pancreatic cystic lesions: a multicenter feasibility study (with video). Endosc Ultrasound. 2018;7(6):383–8.
- Mittal C, Obuch JC, Hammad H, et al. Technical feasibility, diagnostic yield, and safety of microforceps biopsies during EUS evaluation of pancreatic cystic lesions (with video). Gastrointest Endosc. 2018;87(5):1263–9.
- Robles-Medranda C, Olmos JI, et al. EUS-through-the-needle technologies in the diagnosis and malignancy detection of pancreatic cysts: a comparative study between different technologies. Gastrointest Endosc. 2019;89(S6):AB608–9.
- Samarasena J, Yu A, Lee D, et al. EUS-guided through-the-needle biopsy for pancreatic cystic lesions. VideoGIE. 2019;4(9):436–9.
- Vestrup Rift C, Melchior LC, Kovacevic B, et al. Next-generation sequencing of endoscopic ultrasound guided microbiopsies from pancreatic cystic neoplasms. Histopathology. 2019;75(5):767–71.
- Zhang ML, Arpin RN, Brugge WR, et al. Moray micro forceps biopsy improves the diagnosis of specific pancreatic cysts. Cancer Cytopathol. 2018;126(6):414–20.

- Yang D, Trindade AJ, Yachimski P, et al. Histologic analysis of endoscopic ultrasound-guided through the needle microforceps biopsies accurately identifies mucinous pancreas cysts. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;17(8):1587–96.
- Wilen J, Visrodia K, Lan G, et al. The feasibility and value of cyst wall biopsy using micro forceps in the diagnosis of pancreatic cysts. Gastrointest Endosc. 2019;89(S6):AB605.
- Gómez V, Majumder S, Smyrk TC, et al. Pancreatic cyst epithelial denudation: a natural phenomenon in the absence of treatment. Gastrointest Endosc. 2016;84:788–93.
- Wang KX, Ben QW, Jin ZD, Du YQ, Zou DW, Liao Z, et al. Assessment of morbidity and mortality associated with EUS-guided FNA: a systematic review. Gastrointest Endosc. 2011;73:283–90.
- Klein A, Qi R, Nagubandi S, Lee E, Kwan V. Single-dose intra-procedural ceftriaxone during endoscopic ultrasound fine-needle aspiration of pancreatic cysts is safe and effective: results from a single tertiary center. Ann Gastroenterol. 2017;30:237–41.
- Marinos E, Lee S, Jones B, Corte C, Kwok A, Leong RW. Outcomes of single-dose periprocedural antibiotic prophylaxis for endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration of pancreatic cystic lesions. United European Gastroenterol J. 2014;2:391–6.
- Guarner-Argente C, Shah P, Buchner A, Ahmad NA, Kochman ML, Ginsberg GG. Use of antimicrobials for EUS-guided FNA of pancreatic cysts: a retrospective, comparative analysis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2011;74:81–6.
- Facciorusso A, Buccino VR, Turco A, Antonino M, Muscatiello N. Antibiotics do not decrease the rate of infection after endoscopic ultrasound fine-needle aspiration of pancreatic cysts. Dig Dis Sci. 2019;64(8):2308–15.
- 91. Zhu H, Jiang F, Zhu J, Du Y, Jin Z, Li Z. Assessment of morbidity and mortality associated with endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration for pancreatic cystic lesions: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Dig Endosc. 2017;29(6):667–75.
- Facciorusso A, Buccino VR, Del Prete V, Antonino M, Muscatiello N. Cirrhosis is a predictor of adverse events in endoscopic ultrasound fine-needle aspiration: a propensity-score analysis. Dig Dis. 2020;38(1):69–76.
- 93. Facciorusso A, Buccino VR, Prete DV, Antonino M, Contaldo A, Muscatiello N. Statins decrease the risk of acute pancreatitis after endoscopic ultrasound fine-needle aspiration of pancreatic cysts. Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int. 2020;19(1):74–9.
- 94. Karstensen JG, Cartana T, Constantinescu C, DumitraĐcu S, Kovacevic B, Klausen P, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound guided needle-based confocal laser endomicroscopy in solid pancreatic masses—a prospective validation study. Endosc Int Open. 2018;6:E78–85.
- 95. Bhutani MS, Koduru P, Joshi V, Karstensen JG, Saftoiu A, Vilmann P, et al. EUS-guided needle-based confocal laser endomicroscopy: a novel technique with emerging applications. Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2015;11:235.
- 96. Guo J, Bhutani MS, Giovannini M, Li Z, Jin Z, Yang A, et al. Can endoscopic ultrasoundguided needle-based confocal laser endomicroscopy replace fine-needle aspiration for pancreatic and mediastinal diseases? Endosc Ultrasound. 2017;6(6):376–81.
- Anand K, Kahaleh M, Tyberg A. Use of needle-based confocal laser endomicroscopy in the diagnosis and management of pancreatic cyst lesions. Endosc Ultrasound. 2018;7(5):306–9.



Role of EUS Sampling in Pancreatic Cystic Lesions

Luca Barresi, Michele Amata, Matteo Tacelli, and Ilaria Tarantino

Key Points

- Pancreatic cystic lesions have a highly variable biological behavior, ranging from completely benign and non-evolutionary to invasive with metastatic potential.
- Currently no single examination allowing to obtain a precise diagnosis in all cases of pancreatic cystic lesions.
- Diagnosis is reached piecing together a puzzle of epidemiological, clinical, radiological, ultrasonographic, cytohistological, and cystic fluid analysis data.
- In this setting, cystic fluid analysis offers numerous possibilities to diagnose the type of lesion and evaluate its invasive potential.

6.1 Introduction

Over the last 20 years, there has been a dramatic increase in the use of crosssectional imaging such as computed tomography (CT), magnetic resonance imaging, (MRI) and endoscopic ultrasound (EUS). This has resulted in the frequent detection of pancreatic cysts, incidentally identified in between 2% and 13% of cases [1, 2].

The vast majority of these lesions have an indolent course and will cause no issues to patients. However, a small subgroup can become aggressive, invading the pancreatic cyst wall and having a metastatic potential [3].

A single and unique diagnostic tool that can be effectively used in all pancreatic cystic lesions (PCL) is currently unavailable. Diagnosis is reached piecing together

L. Barresi (🖂) · M. Amata · M. Tacelli · I. Tarantino

Endoscopy Service, Department of Diagnostic and Therapeutic Services, IRCCS-ISMETT (Mediterranean Institute for Transplantation and Highly Specialized Therapies), Palermo, Italy

e-mail: lbarresi@ismett.edu; itarantino@ismett.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. Facciorusso, N. Muscatiello (eds.), *Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71937-1_6

a puzzle of epidemiological, clinical, radiological, ultrasonographic, cytohistological, and cystic fluid analysis data.

The main information we require on PCL is basically twofold: what kind of cystic lesion are we dealing with? What is the probability that this lesion will require surgery?

The first point to emphasize with reference to diagnostic workup in patients with PCL is that the study of the pancreatic lesion can have an impact on patient management. It makes no sense to employ resources and expose the patient to investigations that will not modify his or her treatment. Therefore, patients considered too old, or with important comorbidities that would prevent surgery, should be excluded from this workup.

The number of different PCLs is considerable. However, the most common lesions encountered in routine clinical practice are: pseudocyst (PC), serous cystadenoma (SCA), mucinous cystic neoplasia (MCN), intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasia (IPMN), solid-pseudopapillary neoplasm (SPN), and neuroendocrine tumor (NET) with cystic degeneration.

In general, PCLs can be divided in two groups: those without evolutionary potential, PC and SCA, which therefore need minimal or no follow-up, and those with evolutionary potential. Among the latter, there is an indication for surgery for SPN, and usually for MCN, particularly if the lesion is larger than 4 cm in diameter and/ or with mural nodules. Surgery is also indicated for IPMN involving the main duct, or for mixed-IPMN with main pancreatic duct >10 mm, jaundice, or mural nodules, or for IPMN of the branch duct (IPMN-BD) with "high risk stigmata," according to the International Association of Pancreatology (IAP) guidelines revised in 2017 [4]. On the other hand, patients with IPMN with "worrisome features" (see IAP guidelines) require further investigation. These patients are candidates for endoscopic ultrasound fine-needle aspiration (EUS-FNA) to assess the presence of morphological or cytological elements suggestive of advanced neoplasia (high-grade atypia or invasive neoplasia) according to the IAP and American College of Gastroenterology guidelines that, however, underline the importance of a multidisciplinary pancreatic team [5].

Although not specifically mentioned by the published guidelines, or included in their diagnostic algorithms, a number of investigations are available that can be performed on cystic fluid to help clarify the type of lesion and its evolutionary potential.

In this chapter, we review the most important and commonly used tests on cystic fluid and, in particular, mucus search, cytology, amylase, CEA, glucose, and molecular markers (Table 6.1).

6.2 Cytology of Cystic Fluid

The search for mucus on intracystic fluid aspirate should always be performed. Though only about 50% of mucinous pancreatic cystic lesions have considerable amounts of mucus in the cystic fluid, its identification is highly specific of mucinous

		Serous	Mucinous		
		cystoadenoma	cystoadenoma	BD-IPMN	Psudocyst
CEA					
•	≥192 ng/ml	±	++	++	±
•	≥5 ng/ml	+	+++	+++	++
•	≤5 ng/ml	+++	±	±	+
Amylas	e				
•	>250 U/L	+	++	++/+++	+++
Glucose	e level				
•	<50 ml/dl	-	+++	+++	++/+
Mucin		-	+	+	-
Cytolog	y	Glycogen	Mucinous	Mucinous	Inflammatory
Molecu	lar Marker	VHL	KRAS RNF43	KRAS GNAS RNF43	-
TP53/PI CDKN2	IK3CA/PTEN 2A/SMAD4	-	+++ (advanced cancer)	+++ (advanced cancer)	-

 Table 6.1
 Analysis of cystic fluid in the four most common cystic lesions of the pancreas

+++: very frequent; ++: moderately frequent; +: infrequent; ±: possible but very infrequent BD-IPMN branch duct intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm, CEA carcinoembryonic antigen

lesion. It is recommended to proceed with the smear in the endoscopy room or send the material to the laboratory "fresh" avoiding fixatives that could compromise the identification of mucus. Though mucin may be visible at aspiration, thick sheets of colloidal-like mucin covering much of the slides should be sought. This mucin allows for a diagnosis of mucinous cyst, even if acellular [6]. In lieu of viscosity, a "string test" has been suggested. This is done placing the fluid between the thumb and index, and gently pulling the two fingers apart. A cyst fluid that "strings" to 3.5 mm is considered mucinous. This test has a positive predictive value of 94% for diagnosis of mucinous cyst, but the negative predictive value is only 60% [7].

Cytology of cystic fluid through EUS-FNA is a fairly simple procedure, with a relatively low risk of complications. A large multicenter study on FNA in PCL showed a percentage of adverse events of 6%: 66.6% were mild complications and 33.3% moderate complications, and all cases resolved with medical therapy only [8].

Despite several published case reports of "seeding" during EUS-FNA of pancreatic lesions, previous studies have not clearly shown EUS-FNA increases the risk of tumor dissemination through the needle tract in pancreatic cancer [9]. With particular reference to PCL, the PIPE study on preoperative EUS-FNA of IPMN found no relation with increased frequency of peritoneal seeding in patients who underwent surgery [10].

However, although it has been proposed by several guidelines, not all agree with its use and it is not included in the diagnostic algorithms of some guidelines such as, for example, the European guidelines revised in 2018 [11].

The problem arises from the observation that cytology of cystic fluid, despite its high specificity, has a low sensitivity and is inadequate in a number of cases, which

can reach 50% or more [12], due to the low amount of cells dispersed in the cystic fluid, as highlighted by two meta-analyses [13, 14] and underlined by several guidelines [4, 5, 11]. A test used as a "rescue" in the presence of doubtful cases (with worrisome features or relative indications for surgery) seems inappropriate if it has excessively low sensitivity and adequacy, providing useful outcomes in an unacceptably low percentage of cases.

The new target appears to be the cystic wall (or, alternatively, the internal septa) where the cystic lesion cells are located. New tools including ultrasound-throughthe-needle biopsy (EUS-TTNB) with microforceps (MoreyTM, US Endoscopy) through the 19-gauge needle and in vivo needle-based confocal laser endomicroscopy (*Cellvizio*[®]) have given encouraging results [15, 16], replacing or supporting cytology of the cystic fluid, and will certainly be considered when drafting new guidelines or reviewing existing ones. A more extensive discussion of EUS-TTNB is reported in the Chap. 4 of this book.

6.3 Amylase

Amylase levels in pancreatic cystic fluid are studied to understand if the cyst is communicating with the pancreatic duct or secondary ducts.

The most important use of amylases in cystic fluid is the exclusion of PC. Amylase values in PC are usually in the thousands, and almost never under 250 U/L [17–19]. Amylase values are elevated (usually thousands) in three-fourths of IPMN [18–20]. In serous cystoadenoma, the amylase value is usually less than 250 U/L, although there are a number of exceptions [17, 18, 21]. MCNs very rarely have macroscopic communication with the pancreatic duct; therefore, the expected level of amylase is low in pancreatic cystic fluid. However, several studies [17–19, 21] have shown amylase intracystic fluid levels in some MCNs can be elevated, with no particular differences between IPMN and MCN, most likely due to diminutive connections between the cyst and the ductal system.

6.4 CEA

Several tumor markers in PCL aspirate have been considered, such as carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA), CA 19-9, CA 72-4, and CA-125. CEA is considered the most accurate marker in differentiating mucinous from non-mucinous cysts, despite the continuous debate in literature on the best cutoff value. Cutoff ranges from 20 ng/mL to 800 ng/mL in various studies, with greater sensitivity for lower ones and greater specificity for higher ones. However, the most frequently utilized cutoff derives from a large prospective study by Brugge et al. [22] on 112 patients who underwent surgery. This study established that a level \geq 192 ng/mL has a diagnostic sensitivity of 75%, a specificity of 84%, and an accuracy of 79% in differential diagnosis of mucinous and non-mucinous cysts. In another pooled analysis from 12 studies, a value >800 ng/mL reached a specificity of 98%, but a sensitivity of only 48% [17].

Very low values of CEA can also be useful. CEA levels lower than 5 ng/mL have been found in a pooled analysis of published studies [17] to be highly diagnostic for SCA or PC (sensitivity 50%, specificity 95%). A retrospective analysis [18] of patients with histologically confirmed diagnosis of pancreatic cysts showed that intracystic fluid CEA less than 5 ng/mL for a diagnosis of non-mucinous lesions had a sensitivity of 44%, a specificity of 96%, and a diagnostic accuracy of 78%. In fact, very few mucinous cysts have values below 5 ng/mL [18, 20]. However, for PC there are more widespread values: rarely they exceed 192 ng/mL (5–14%), and only 25% have a value of less than 5 ng/mL [18, 23]. In a study on 21 PC, the median of intracystic fluid CEA was 41 ng/mL (mean 129 ng/mL), therefore with significantly higher levels compared with SCA [24].

More recent studies have reduced the usefulness of intracystic CEA to distinguish mucinous from non-mucinous lesions. A large multicenter study on 226 patients undergoing pancreatectomy estimated a cutoff value of 192 ng/mL yielded a sensitivity of 61%, and a specificity of 77% differentiating between mucinous and non-mucinous cystic lesions, and would misdiagnose 39% of mucinous cases [23]. In the same study, although values below 5 ng/ml seem quite specific for SCA, despite median CEA levels for serous cysts found to be 1.7 ng/mL, 31% of serous cysts would have been misclassified when using a cutoff of 5 ng/mL.

Moreover, it has been established that the accuracy of CEA in differentiating between benign and malignant pancreatic cysts is poor. This limitation was high-lighted by several studies [18, 22, 25] and by a meta-analysis by Ngamruengphong et al. [26].

Another limit of intracystic CEA measurement is that the high viscosity of some PCL prevents aspirating a sufficient amount of cystic fluid (approx. 0.5 ml) to perform CEA testing, with up to 50% of cases reported by de Jong et al. in their European multicenter study [12]. Furthermore, it is worth remembering how in some cases CEA levels can be elevated (\geq 192 ng/ml) in other PCL, such as PC, lymphoepithelial cysts (frequently), retention cysts, and, in rare instances, SCA.

Finally, a recent study highlighted the variability of intracystic CEA at repeated sampling [25]. In fact, CEA changed in about 20% at repeated EUS-FNA without any significant modification of features.

All these limits of CEA measurement in PCL fluid underline the need to interpret this test cautiously, and to never rely on it alone to make a decision about the patient, using it instead in conjunction with the other available information.

The other tumor markers (CA 72-4, CA 125, CA 19-9, and CA 15-3) studied in cystic fluid from PCL have no role in clinical practice [17, 22].

6.5 Glucose

The use of glucose levels has recently been suggested as a useful cyst fluid marker to distinguish between mucinous and non-mucinous cysts.

In 2013, Park et al. [27], who were looking for potential cyst fluid markers for pancreatic mucinous cysts, were the first to note that glucose levels were significantly lower in mucinous cysts compared to non-mucinous cysts (5 vs. 82 mg/dL, P = 0.002). Using a cutoff of 66 mg/dL, they found a sensitivity, specificity, and diagnostic accuracy of 94%, 64%, and 84%, respectively.

The same group, in 2015, in a subsequent study [28] on patients undergoing surgery, lowered the cutoff of intracystic glucose to <50 mg/dL, finding a sensitivity and specificity for the definition of mucinous cysts of 88% and 78%, respectively, using glucometer, 95% and 57% using laboratory glucose, and 81% and 74% using reagent strip glucose. In the same study, the CEA cutoff >192 ng/mL for mucinous cysts had a sensitivity and specificity of 77% and 83%, respectively.

In 2018, Carr et al. [29] proposed a prospective study comparing intracystic fluid glucose with a threshold \leq 50 mg/dL and CEA with a threshold >192 ng/mL, in samples from 153 patients with pathologically confirmed diagnoses. Sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy for mucinous cysts were, respectively, 92%, 87%, and 90% for glucose, and 58%, 96%, and 69% for CEA. Combining glucose and CEA (positive test defined as any one positive single test) to differentiate pancreatic mucinous cysts from non-mucinous, they found a sensitivity of 95%, a specificity of 85%, and a diagnostic accuracy of 93% (P = 0.03).

In 2019, a study by a Portuguese group [30] confirmed the previous results, obtaining a sensitivity and specificity for glucose <50 mg/dL for diagnosis of mucinous cyst of 89% and 86%, respectively, and with CEA >192 ng/mL, a sensitivity of 72% and a specificity of 96%.

The median glucose levels were 5 mg/dL in two studies evaluating mucinous cystic lesions [27, 28]. On the other hand, the median glucose levels ranged between 86 and 103 mg/dL in studies evaluating SCA [27, 29]. One important aspect to highlight is that PCs often present glucose levels below 50 mg/dL [28, 30]. In a study by Zikos et al., the median glucose level in PCs was 42 mg/dL using glucometer and 21 mg/dL using laboratory glucose. In these cases, CEA could help for differential diagnosis [28].

This seems to indicate intracystic glucose levels can effectively discriminate mucinous lesions from non-mucinous lesions, similarly or even more accurately than CEA, with which it can be associated and compared to obtain a more reliable diagnosis.

Though one study [29] reported that blood glucose levels on the day of the collection appears to not correlate with cyst fluid glucose levels, this will need to be confirmed by future studies.

However, the intracystic glucose level is very easy to identify, even on-site during EUS with a glucometer (although glucometers do not read low glucose levels, usually below 30 mg/dL, so these samples must be sent to the laboratory). This is an inexpensive process requiring a minimum amount of fluid ($<2 \mu L$) for the glucometer versus laboratorial glucose and CEA assays requiring 50 μL and 200 μL , respectively. This can be useful in PCL with small amounts of cystic fluid available for performing tests. However, in some mucinous cysts, the high viscosity can preclude glucose reading using a glucometer (in about 10% of cases) [30]. Furthermore, intracystic glucose, like CEA, also has no role in discriminating benign from malignant lesions.

6.6 Molecular Markers

The advent of next-generation sequencing has resulted in a faster and more effective sequencing method than the previously available ones. Over the past few years, several studies have sequenced DNA isolated from cystic epithelial lining and cyst fluid to reveal recurrent genetic alterations specific for pancreatic cyst type, and the likelihood of progression to pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) [31–38].

At present, we can obtain diverse and useful information not only to distinguish different types of PCL but also to assess the risk of advanced neoplasia (high-grade dysplasia and invasive adenocarcinoma).

The most frequent genetic alteration in IPMN is an oncogenic KRAS mutation, present in 80% of cases. This mutation is not associated with the grade of dysplasia. A somatic mutation in the GNAS oncogene is seen in 65% of IPMN [37, 38]. One of these two mutations is present in more than 96% of IPMN, and both are considered early genetic events in the progression to PDAC [32]. The third observed mutation is an inactivating mutation in the tumor suppressor gene RNF43, seen in 14–38% of IPMN, with frequent loss of heterozygosity [32, 35].

All other mutations in suppressor genes, such as TP53, PIK3CA, PTEN, CDKN2A, SMAD4, and TP53, occur late in the neoplastic progression of IPMN and are associated with advanced neoplasia [32, 37, 38].

Similarly to IPMN, KRAS mutations are the most common findings in MCN [32, 37, 38], but conversely from IPMN, in MCN their prevalence increases with the degree of dysplasia. Jimenez and colleagues [39] detected KRAS mutations in 26% of low-grade MCN, and in 89% of MCN with advanced neoplasia. RNF43 alterations are also present in MCN, with a prevalence of 8–35%. Like IPMN TP53, PIK3CA, PTEN, CDKN2A, and SMAD4 are detected in MCN with advanced neoplasia. By contrast with IPMN, GNAS mutations are always absent in MCN [32, 35].

The only genetic mutation in SCA is in tumor suppressor gene VHL, which has been found in 75–100% of SCA [32, 35, 36]. A subset of patients with von Hippel-Lindau disease, associated with germline mutations in VHL, develops multiple SCA throughout the pancreas.

In 2017, it was noted that vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-A is very elevated in SCA fluid. In fact, the genetic alteration that inactivates tumor suppressor VHL can result in upregulated VEGF-A expression. VEGF-A alone has a 100% sensitivity and an 83.7% specificity for distinguishing SCA from other PCL with a threshold set higher than 5000 pg/mL [40]. If confirmed by future studies, this biomarker could be used to support or exclude a diagnosis of SCA.

SPN was found to have a single mutation in the CTNNB1 gene [32, 35]. Mutations in TP53 and PIK3CA have also been described in SPN; however, these are rare findings [35].

No genetic alterations have been reported in pseudocysts, lymphoepithelial cysts, and squamoid cysts of the pancreas [36, 38].

In 2018, in a large study on DNA-based testing of pancreatic cyst fluid in 595 patients, 626 pancreatic cystic fluid specimens were obtained by EUS-FNA and assessed by targeted NGS. The study showed that:

- KRAS/GNAS mutations have a sensitivity of 89% and a specificity of 100% for mucinous lesions.
- GNAS mutations with mutant allele frequency (MAF) >55% or combinations of KRAS/GNAS mutations associated with alteration in PT53/PIK3CA/PTEN have an 89% sensitivity and 100% specificity for advanced neoplasia.
- Other worrisome features, such as ductal dilation and mural nodules, but also malignant cytopathology had lower sensitivity (42%, 32%, 32%) and specificity (74%, 94%, 98%) [38].

A paper was recently published on gene mutations in cystic fluid associated with clinical features, imaging characteristics, and cyst fluid biochemical markers and integrated using supervised machine learning techniques to develop a comprehensive test called CompCyst. The study also incorporated loss of heterozygosity and aneuploidy. The authors found that clinical management informed by the CompCyst test was more accurate than the management dictated by conventional clinical and imaging criteria alone. Furthermore, application of the CompCyst test would have spared from surgery more than half of patients who underwent unnecessary cyst resection [41].

Molecular markers seem particularly interesting in the workup of PCL as they indicate both the type of lesion and its malignant evolutionary potency. If future studies confirm the described results, they could completely change the approach to these lesions.

6.7 Other Biomarkers

Other promising biomarkers are under evaluation: different gene mutations, such as BRAF, hTERT, STK11, BRC1, DNA methylation in genes, micro-RNAs, but also different biomarkers such as neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in blood or cyst fluid cytokines and prostaglandins [42, 43]. While all have shown promising results, we are waiting for results of current studies to identify the most promising clinically relevant biomarkers and to target analyses for further development.

An alternative suggested approach is to analyze molecular markers in pancreatic fluid collected from the duodenum, which could avoid the potential adverse events of direct sampling of pancreatic fluid using FNA. In addition, pancreatic fluid can contain alterations present in multiple cysts throughout the pancreas, rather than a single cyst [44, 45].

Future studies will identify the ideal biomarkers for PCL. These markers will help predict malignant potential and should be easily obtained, widely applicable, and inexpensive. Also, as previously reported [42], these will likely be a conglomerate of the current known biomarkers.

6.8 Conclusion

Cystic lesions of the pancreas continue to represent a clinical challenge, leading to high costs for diagnosis and, above all, follow-up. Diagnosis is currently based on clinical data, radiological techniques, and studying the cystic fluid and cystic wall. While we are aware that cytological diagnosis of cystic fluid has considerable limitations in terms of sensitivity and adequacy, the study of the cystic walls seems to offer better opportunities, both with the microforceps and endomicroscopy. These, however, have not yet been included in the diagnostic algorithms of the published guidelines, since information on their effectiveness and safety are not definitive. In this sense, cystic fluid analysis is still widely used worldwide. New cystic fluid tests such as glucose and, above all, molecular biology have produced very interesting results, and it is likely that they will change the approach to these lesions in the very near future.

Several new biomarkers have showed promising results, and we are waiting for results of new studies to identify the most clinically relevant biomarkers and to target analyses for further development.

References

- Laffan TA, Horton KM, Klein AP, et al. Prevalence of unsuspected pancreatic cysts on MDCT. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2008;191:802–7.
- Lee KS, Sekhar A, Rofsky NM, et al. Prevalence of incidental pancreatic cysts in the adult population on MR imaging. Am J Gastroenterol. 2010;105:2079–84.
- Dudeja V, Allen PJ. Premalignant cystic neoplasms of the pancreas. Semin Oncol. 2015;42:70–85.
- Tanaka M, Fernández-Del Castillo C, Kamisawa T, et al. Revisions of international consensus Fukuoka guidelines for the management of IPMN of the pancreas. Pancreatology. 2017;17:738–53.
- 5. Elta GH, Enestvedt BK, Sauer BG, et al. ACG clinical guideline: diagnosis and management of pancreatic cysts. Am J Gastroenterol. 2018;113:464–79.
- Pitman MB, Lewandrowski K, Shen J, et al. Pancreatic cysts: preoperative diagnosis and clinical management. Cancer Cytopathol. 2010;118:1–13.
- Bick BL, Enders FT, Levy MJ, et al. The string sign for diagnosis of mucinous pancreatic cysts. Endoscopy. 2015;47:626–31.
- Tarantino I, Fabbri C, Di Mitri R, et al. Complications of endoscopic ultrasound fine needle aspiration on pancreatic cystic lesions: final results from a large prospective multicenter study. Dig Liver Dis. 2014;46:41–4.
- Minaga K, Takenaka M, Katanuma A, et al. Needle tract seeding: an overlooked rare complication of endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration. Oncology. 2017;93(Suppl 1):107–12.
- Yoon WJ, Daglilar ES, Fernández-del Castillo C, et al. Peritoneal seeding in intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm of the pancreas patients who underwent endoscopic ultrasoundguided fine-needle aspiration: the PIPE study. Endoscopy. 2014;46:382–7.
- Pancreas ESGoCTot. European evidence-based guidelines on pancreatic cystic neoplasms. Gut. 2018;67:789–804.

- de Jong K, Poley JW, van Hooft JE, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration of pancreatic cystic lesions provides inadequate material for cytology and laboratory analysis: initial results from a prospective study. Endoscopy. 2011;43:585–90.
- Thornton GD, McPhail MJ, Nayagam S, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound guided fine needle aspiration for the diagnosis of pancreatic cystic neoplasms: a meta-analysis. Pancreatology. 2013;13:48–57.
- Tanaka M, Heckler M, Liu B, et al. Cytologic analysis of pancreatic juice increases specificity of detection of malignant IPMN-A systematic review. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;17:2199–2211.e2121.
- Cheesman AR, Zhu H, Liao X, et al. Impact of EUS-guided microforceps biopsy and needlebased confocal laser endomicroscopy on the diagnostic yield and clinical management of pancreatic cystic lesions. Gastrointest Endosc. 2020;91(5):1095–104.
- Kohoutova D, Zar S, Repak R, et al. Pancreatic cysts: diagnostic role of EUS-guided microforceps biopsy and confocal laser endomicroscopy. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2019;3431048:2019.
- 17. van der Waaij LA, van Dullemen HM, Porte RJ. Cyst fluid analysis in the differential diagnosis of pancreatic cystic lesions: a pooled analysis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2005;62:383–9.
- Park WG, Mascarenhas R, Palaez-Luna M, et al. Diagnostic performance of cyst fluid carcinoembryonic antigen and amylase in histologically confirmed pancreatic cysts. Pancreas. 2011;40:42–5.
- Bhavani Moparty MBP, Brugge WR. Pancreatic cyst fluid amylase is not a marker to differentiate IPMN from MCN. Gastrointest Endosc. 2007;65(5):AB303. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. gie.2007.03.719.
- Maire F, Voitot H, Aubert A, et al. Intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms of the pancreas: performance of pancreatic fluid analysis for positive diagnosis and the prediction of malignancy. Am J Gastroenterol. 2008;103:2871–7.
- Oh HC, Kang H, Brugge WR. Cyst fluid amylase and CEA levels in the differential diagnosis of pancreatic cysts: a single-center experience with histologically proven cysts. Dig Dis Sci. 2014;59:3111–6.
- Brugge WR, Lewandrowski K, Lee-Lewandrowski E, et al. Diagnosis of pancreatic cystic neoplasms: a report of the cooperative pancreatic cyst study. Gastroenterology. 2004;126:1330–6.
- Gaddam S, Ge PS, Keach JW, et al. Suboptimal accuracy of carcinoembryonic antigen in differentiation of mucinous and nonmucinous pancreatic cysts: results of a large multicenter study. Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;82:1060–9.
- Gonzalez Obeso E, Murphy E, Brugge W, et al. Pseudocyst of the pancreas: the role of cytology and special stains for mucin. Cancer. 2009;117:101–7.
- 25. Nakai Y, Iwashita T, Shinoura S, et al. Role of serial EUS-guided FNA on pancreatic cystic neoplasms: a retrospective analysis of repeat carcinoembryonic antigen measurements. Gastrointest Endosc. 2016;84:780–4.
- Ngamruengphong S, Bartel MJ, Raimondo M. Cyst carcinoembryonic antigen in differentiating pancreatic cysts: a meta-analysis. Dig Liver Dis. 2013;45:920–6.
- Park WG, Wu M, Bowen R, et al. Metabolomic-derived novel cyst fluid biomarkers for pancreatic cysts: glucose and kynurenine. Gastrointest Endosc. 2013;78:295–302.e292.
- Zikos T, Pham K, Bowen R, et al. Cyst fluid glucose is rapidly feasible and accurate in diagnosing mucinous pancreatic cysts. Am J Gastroenterol. 2015;110:909–14.
- Carr RA, Yip-Schneider MT, Simpson RE, et al. Pancreatic cyst fluid glucose: rapid, inexpensive, and accurate diagnosis of mucinous pancreatic cysts. Surgery. 2018;163:600–5.
- Faias S, Pereira L, Roque R, et al. Excellent accuracy of glucose level in cystic fluid for diagnosis of pancreatic mucinous cysts. Dig Dis Sci. 2020;65(7):2071–8.
- Wu J, Jiao Y, Dal Molin M, et al. Whole-exome sequencing of neoplastic cysts of the pancreas reveals recurrent mutations in components of ubiquitin-dependent pathways. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108:21188–93.
- 32. Wu J, Matthaei H, Maitra A, et al. Recurrent GNAS mutations define an unexpected pathway for pancreatic cyst development. Sci Transl Med. 2011;3:92ra66.

- 33. Amato E, Molin MD, Mafficini A, et al. Targeted next-generation sequencing of cancer genes dissects the molecular profiles of intraductal papillary neoplasms of the pancreas. J Pathol. 2014;233:217–27.
- 34. Das A, Brugge W, Mishra G, et al. Managing incidental pancreatic cystic neoplasms with integrated molecular pathology is a cost-effective strategy. Endosc Int Open. 2015;3:E479–86.
- 35. Springer S, Wang Y, Dal Molin M, et al. A combination of molecular markers and clinical features improve the classification of pancreatic cysts. Gastroenterology. 2015;149:1501–10.
- 36. Singhi AD, Zeh HJ, Brand RE, et al. American Gastroenterological Association guidelines are inaccurate in detecting pancreatic cysts with advanced neoplasia: a clinicopathologic study of 225 patients with supporting molecular data. Gastrointest Endosc. 2016;83:1107–1117.e1102.
- Singhi AD, Nikiforova MN, McGrath K. DNA testing of pancreatic cyst fluid: is it ready for prime time? Lancet. Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;2:63–72.
- Singhi AD, McGrath K, Brand RE, et al. Preoperative next-generation sequencing of pancreatic cyst fluid is highly accurate in cyst classification and detection of advanced neoplasia. Gut. 2018;67:2131–41.
- Jimenez RE, Warshaw AL, Z'graggen K, et al. Sequential accumulation of K-ras mutations and p53 overexpression in the progression of pancreatic mucinous cystic neoplasms to malignancy. Ann Surg. 1999;230:501–9; discussion 509–511.
- Carr RA, Yip-Schneider MT, Dolejs S, et al. Pancreatic cyst fluid vascular endothelial growth factor a and carcinoembryonic antigen: a highly accurate test for the diagnosis of serous cystic neoplasm. J Am Coll Surg. 2017; https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2017.05.003.
- Springer S, Masica DL, Dal Molin M, et al. A multimodality test to guide the management of patients with a pancreatic cyst. Sci Transl Med. 2019;11:eaav4772.
- 42. Maker AV, Carrara S, Jamieson NB, et al. Cyst fluid biomarkers for intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms of the pancreas: a critical review from the international expert meeting on pancreatic branch-duct-intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms. J Am Coll Surg. 2015;220:243–53.
- 43. Moris D, Damaskos C, Spartalis E, et al. Updates and critical evaluation on novel biomarkers for the malignant progression of intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms of the pancreas. Anticancer Res. 2017;37:2185–94.
- 44. Kanda M, Knight S, Topazian M, et al. Mutant GNAS detected in duodenal collections of secretin-stimulated pancreatic juice indicates the presence or emergence of pancreatic cysts. Gut. 2013;62:1024–33.
- 45. Kanda M, Sadakari Y, Borges M, et al. Mutant TP53 in duodenal samples of pancreatic juice from patients with pancreatic cancer or high-grade dysplasia. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2013;11:719–730.e715.



7

Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided Drainage of Pancreatic Fluid Collections

Komal Thind, C. Roberto Simons-Linares, and Prabhleen Chahal

7.1 Background

Pancreatic fluid collections (PFCs) are inflammatory in nature and usually arise as a complication of acute pancreatitis (AP) or chronic pancreatitis and less commonly are iatrogenic or due to other causes including blunt trauma [1, 2]. Per the Revised Atlanta classification, these PFCs are divided based on the character of inflammation, wall maturity, and timing (>4 weeks). Consequently, majority of these PFCs like acute pancreatic fluid collection (APFC), which develop as a local complication of mild to moderate interstitial edematous pancreatitis (IEP), may resolve spontaneously [3]. In some cases, it can progress to form an organized encapsulated collection known as pseudocyst which may also regress with conservative management [4]. These pseudocysts, in few instances, can become symptomatic leading to infection, abdominal pain, gastric outlet obstruction, and obstructive jaundice. Clinically significant PFCs can also develop as a sequalae of severe AP with or without necrosis [5]. These can evolve into an organized collection of necrotic material called walled-off pancreatic necrosis (WOPN) Table 7.1.

Multiple strategies including open surgical drainage, percutaneous drainage (PD), and endoscopic drainage are used in the management of PFCs. Current clinical practices favor use of EUS-guided drainage (EUS-GD) of these collections mostly because of the minimally invasive technique, fewer adverse events, increased effectiveness, low morbidity and mortality, and high clinical success [6–8]. Shorter

K. Thind

Department of Hospital Medicine, Cleveland Clinic Akron General, Akron, OH, USA

C. R. Simons-Linares · P. Chahal (🖂)

Gastroenterology and Hepatology Department, Digestive Disease Institute, Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, OH, USA

e-mail: chahalp@ccf.org

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. Facciorusso, N. Muscatiello (eds.), *Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71937-1_7

	Time of			Endoscopic
Type of PFC	development	Encapsulated	Necrosis	drainage
Acute pancreatic fluid collection	<4 weeks	No	No	No
Acute necrotic collection	<4 weeks	No	Yes	No
Pseudocyst	>4 weeks	Yes	No	Yes. EUS-GD
Walled-off necrosis	>4 weeks	Yes	Yes	Yes. EUS-GN

Table 7.1 Summary of features of pancreatic fluid collections

EUS-GD endoscopic ultrasound-guided drainage, *EUS-GN* endoscopic ultrasound guided-necrosectomy

hospital stays, lower reintervention rate, and less need of follow up imaging favor EUS over PD [9, 10]. However, some complex patients with extensive collections extending into the paracolic gutters may require a combined approach.

7.2 Indications of Drainage

Endoscopic management of PFCs by any approach requires few prerequisites for a successful intervention. Drainage of PFCs endoscopically requires it to a have mature wall and is performed usually after 4 weeks of the development of PFC [11]. Although, there is recent evidence that earlier (<4 weeks) endoscopic drainage is feasible as long as the wall is well formed [12]. Encapsulation of these collections is essential in complete resolution of the PFCs apart from reducing the postprocedure adverse events [13]. These collections have to be in close proximity to the gastro duodenal wall preferably <1 cm for effective visualization and drainage, thereby decreasing the risk of perforation, stent migration, and bleeding. The site of the cyst in the pancreas does not correlate with treatment outcomes [14]. Majority of the APFC resolve spontaneously, and around 10-20% develop into pseudocyst or evolve into necrosis, which are clinically significant. On the other hand, acute necrotic collections (ANCs) have a higher rate of progression to a WOPN, around 50%. Time interval from APFC to resolution or development of a pseudocyst and ANC to a WOPN is crucial in deciding the management including conservative vs. drainage and has direct impact on mortality and clinical success of the intervention [15].

Current referendum is mostly on the drainage of clinically symptomatic collections. A PFC causing symptoms of significant abdominal pain, gastric outlet obstruction (GOO) (Fig. 7.1), biliary obstruction, infection is eligible for drainage regardless of the size (Fig. 7.2) [11]. Certain spontaneous complications with PFCs including hemorrhage and infections increase the risk of mortality [12]. Decision to drain these PFCs should be made after multidisciplinary dialogue and comprehensive consideration of the risks and benefits of the intervention.



Fig. 7.2 Large infected PFC (arrow) with internal gas (arrow head) on CT scan

Fig. 7.1 Large pseudocyst (arrow) compressing the stomach (arrow head) and causing gastric outlet obstruction (GOO)



7.3 Evaluation for Drainage

Patient selection and timing of the intervention are important determinants of clinical outcomes of the procedure. Delayed intervention on a well-encapsulated collection is associated with lower mortality [16]. Pre-procedural radiographic cross-sectional imaging studies provide sufficient information to plan the timing of intervention. Computed tomography (CT) scan and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) are the widespread imaging modalities utilized in these scenarios. These cross-sectional imaging studies provide vital information regarding maturity of the wall, location and size of the PFC, and amount of solid debris or necrosis (Fig. 7.3).

CT is one of the widely used imaging study in the evaluation and management of patients with AP. Multivariate analysis of a prospective study identified that the degree and presence of peripancreatic necrosis predicted the development of infected pancreatic necrosis; whereas trans parenchymal necrosis with upstream viable pancreas and no peripancreatic necrosis were associated with pseudocyst development [17]. Differentiation of a pseudocyst from a WOPN with help of contrast-enhanced CT (CECT) is helpful in planning the appropriate therapeutic intervention [18, 19].

Despite the above advantages, CT scan can significantly underestimate the amount of necrosis present in the PFC as compared to MRI and EUS [20]. Other adverse effects of CT scan including ionizing radiation exposure and iodized contrast administration leading to kidney injury can be avoided with the use of MRI. Conventional MRI can help in assessing solid debris with higher sensitivity and specificity than CECT [21]. Diffusion-weighted MRI was found to have higher sensitivity in finding presence of infection as compared to conventional MRI and CECT [22, 23]. Pancreatic duct disruption can be better visualized in the MRI [24]. Abdominal ultrasound (US) serves as noninvasive, cheap, and widely available modality to monitor PFC after an episode of AP. It is noted to have a comparable accuracy as MRI/EUS [25], although the results are very operator dependent. Other



Fig. 7.3 Walled-off pancreatic necrosis (WOPN) in the tail of the pancreas shown on CT scan (left) and on MRI (right)

limitations of US include lack of information pertaining to the collaterals around WOPN and carries low sensitivity in characterizing collections with high solid content and air. Therefore, it has largely fallen out of favor as an investigative imaging modality in patients with PFC.

One cannot stress the importance of detailed history, physical examination, and review of laboratory studies for appropriate patient selection. Not surprisingly, higher mortality was associated with invasive surgical drainage in complex patients with poor cardiac and performance status. This resulted in shift of pendulum towards minimally invasive techniques like EUS-GD. Pre-procedure optimization of platelet count >50,000 and INR <1.5 is an important prerequisite to avoid complications associated with bleeding. Medications like antiplatelets and anticoagulants should be withheld by careful assessment of thromboembolic risk and bleeding risk [26]. Routine antibiotic prophylaxis is not recommended for infection prevention in PFC according to AGA and ESGE guidelines [27, 28].

7.4 Equipment

These procedures are performed at centers with appropriate interventional and surgical support. Advanced endoscopist with an adequate expertise in the intervention [29] performs the procedure under general anesthesia or deep sedation [11, 30]. Routine monitoring of patient's vital signs, pulse oximetry, and capnography for patients undergoing deep sedation is recommended.

Carbon dioxide is a safe alternative used for insufflation instead of air to minimize the risk of gas embolism [31]. CO_2 is rapidly absorbed by the mucosal lining and tissue and exhaled by lungs thus decreasing the risk in an event of gas embolization in higher risk endoscopic interventions [32]. Various randomized controlled trials have demonstrated improved post-procedural pain and abdominal distention with CO_2 insufflation [32, 33].

7.4.1 Echoendoscope

Endoscopic ultrasound, like any other ultrasound, utilizes the same technique of processing reflected or refracted sound waves by the transducer to generate an image. Resolution of the image depends upon the number of piezoelectric crystals used in the transducer and frequency emitted. Higher frequencies provide higher resolution images of objects at a closer distance <2 cm and lower frequencies with better penetration provide images up to12 cm [34]. Two major echoendoscopes are radial and curved linear array (CLA) which are used for luminal imaging and therapeutic interventions, respectively [35].

Oblique viewing CLA echoendoscopes have remained the standard of practice for the use of therapeutic interventions for many years. Recent advancements in technology have delivered forward viewing CLA [36] with similar clinical success, ease, and safety [37, 38]. Forward viewing CLA is noted to have longer time to the initial puncture however, thereafter, a decreased time to placement of stent was noted [37]. Larger diameter of working channel of these echoendoscopes 3.7/3.8 mm allows passage of therapeutic tools like a larger diameter stent.

7.4.2 Stents

Various types of stents are used in maintaining the patency of the cystoenterostomy fistula tract. Size, shape, material, and technology of the stent significantly affect the drainage, stability, and clinical resolution of the PFC. Historically, plastic pig-tail stents have been widely used for drainage of PFCs (Fig. 7.4). These stents have proven technical and clinical success for the drainage of smaller, uncomplicated pseudocysts [39–41]. As per the AGA and ESGE, long-term indwelling plastic stents are preferred in PFCs associated with disconnected pancreatic duct in high surgical risk patients [41–43]. However, these stents were noted to have several disadvantages mostly due to its size and narrow lumen (7–10 F) for drainage. These are shown to be less effective in drainage of PFC with solid debris/necrosis [14] due to their prompt occlusion leading to infection and need for repeat endoscopic reintervention. Use of multiple stents in order to effectively drain a larger PFC is also time consuming. Migration and malemployment of these stents are other reasons which have made them fall out of favor [44]. These drawbacks led to the use of larger caliber metal stents for drainage of PFCs especially WOPN.

SEMS (self-expanding metal stents) (Fig. 7.5) are fully covered stents which have been widely used and have proven their efficacy, largely attributed to their larger diameter, in the drainage of pseudocyst, and WOPN [45–47]. A recent meta-analysis evaluated 905 patients from seven studies and showed that metal stents are superior to plastic stents with a clinical success of 94.1% compared to 82.6%,

Fig. 7.4 Endoscopic view of a plastic stent for the drainage of a pseudocyst



Fig. 7.5 Endoscopic view of pus flowing from SEMS placed for infected PFC drainage





Fig. 7.6 Endoscopic view of LAMS, which provides a larger entry channel to the PFC cavity (left) and allows for serial direct endoscopic necrosectomy (right)

respectively. This meta-analysis had 5 out of 7 studies that used dedicated lumen apposing metal stent (LAMS). Metal stents were also reported to have lower adverse events however no statistically significant difference was noted in the stent migration and bleeding rates in both groups [47]. Major advantage of the metal stents over plastic stent is in the drainage of WOPN as it provides a larger channel for egress of necrotic debris and for serial access for direct endoscopic necrosectomy (DEN) (Fig. 7.6). The number of endoscopic procedures needed for successful management of PFCs was significantly lower with LAMS as compared to SEMS and plastic stents [48]. Despite these advantages over plastic stents, SEMS are associated with delayed complications including risk of bleeding, superinfection, and migration of the stent [45, 49]. Transluminal stent with lumen apposing properties or LAMS (Fig. 7.7) was first utilized by Binmoeller and Shah [50]. An AXIOS (Xlumena Inc., Mountain View, CA, USA) is a dumbbell-shaped 15 mm and 20 mm diameter,



Fig. 7.7 Endoscopic view of the proximal end of LAMS (left) and endosonographic view of the distal end of LAMS (right) that was placed through the stomach for PFC drainage (i.e., EUS-guided cystgastrostomy)

Stents	Manufacturer	Size	Properties	Image
AXIOS	Xlumena Inc., Mountain View, CA, USA	Lumen diameter—6 mm, 8 mm, 10 mm, 15 mm, 20 mm. Flange diameter—14 mm, 17 mm, 21 mm, 24 mm, 29 mm, resp	Braided nitinol wire and fully covered Double-walled flanges perpendicular to stent for wall apposition	
Spaxus	Niti-S Spaxus stent (Taewoong Medical Co., Ltd., Ilsan, Korea)	Lumen diameter—8 mm, 10 mm, 16 mm. Length—20 mm. Flange diameter—25 mm	Nitinol wire and fully covered silicone membrane Flanges fold back for wall apposition after deployment	
NAGI	(Taewoong-Medical Co.)	Lumen diameter—10 mm, 12 mm, 14 mm, 16 mm Length—10 mm, 20 mm, 30 mm Flared flanges of 20 mm diameter	Suture attached to the end to prevent migration	
Aixstent	(Leufen Medical, Aachen, Germany)	Lumen diameter—10 mm, 15 mm, 25 mm Length—30 mm	Fully covered wide flanges atraumatic folded-wire flanges to prevent tissue damage from the ends of the stent Available only in Europe	

Table 7.2 Types of stents commonly used with EUS-guided drainage

10 mm and 15 mm length and is cautery (HOT AXIOS) and non-cautery (COLD AXIOS) enhanced stent. The HOT AXIOS is deployed in single-step thereby significantly reducing the duration of the procedure [51, 52]. Other commonly used LAMS outside the United States are Spaxus, NAGITM, and Aixstent [53] (Table 7.2).

7.4.3 Accessories

Cystotomes are the commonly used access devices for transluminal puncture when placing a stent other than cautery-enhanced LAMS. The cystotome cyst enterostomy knife (Cook Medical, Inc) comprises of a 5 F, 190-cm inner catheter with a removable 0.038-inch needle-knife electrode advanced to its tip, housed within a 10 F, 165-cm outer catheter that has a diathermic ring electrode at its distal end. Several commercially available 19G FNA needles are used for EUS-guided puncture followed by a 0.025-inch or a 0.035-inch guidewire passage [54]. Single-use longer (>450 cm) guidewires are used in most of EUS interventional procedures. Tract dilatation can be performed using balloon dilators, guidewire catheters [55], or cystotomes and needle-knife sphincterotomes [56].

7.5 Technique

7.5.1 Drainage of Pseudocyst

Endoscopic management of the pancreatic fluid collections has changed over the time. Historically, endoscopic drainage of PFCs via a transmural approach was used. This approach identified an area of maximal bulge in the gastric wall and gained access at the site under flouroscopy. This technique was predisposed to higher risk of perforation, bleeding, or tissue injury. Hence, EUS with its larger accessory channel for therapeutic intervention and ability to provide real-time transmural visualization of PFC during drainage is considered first-line endoscopic therapeutic modality for drainage of PFCs (Fig. 7.8a, b) [57].

In "Seldinger technique," an oblique/forward viewing linear array echoendoscope is advanced into the stomach or duodenum. PFC and surrounding structures including blood vessels are visualized under doppler. A puncture site in close approximation to PFC is identified and a 19G access needle is inserted. Stylet is drawn out and guidewire is advanced through the lumen of the needle under fluoroscopic guidance after contrast instillation and/or aspiration of cyst contents. Dilatation of the tract utilizing catheters, cystotomes, and balloon dilators is performed [58]. Various methods of drainage are utilized including insertion of plastic stents, nasogastric drainage of fluid, and placement of SEMS or LAMS. A stent is advanced over the guidewire to form a tract for drainage. This is followed by an optional step of balloon dilation of SEMS or LAMS lumen if same session DEN is planned. Success is measured usually as technical success (correct deployment of the stent into the cavity) and clinical success (resolution of symptoms and PFC) which marks resolution. Various studies have reported good clinical and technical success rates ranging 90% and beyond [55, 59–63].

Development of Hot AXIOS stent and electrocautery-enhanced delivery system (EC-LAMS) has facilitated and integrated the multistep process. This system allows the puncture and release of the stent in one step. This was first described clinically by Binmoeller and Lau et al. [64]. Delivery system combines an access catheter



Fig. 7.8 (a) Large pseudocyst on endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) views. (b) Endoscopic view of the stomach after placement of lumen apposing metal stent (LAMS) and clear fluid draining out the pancreatic pseudocyst

which is enabled with a cautery tip and LAMS. It utilizes trans gastric or trans duodenal approach for PFCs drainage. Once the site is identified under EUS and endoscopic guidance, electrocautery is unlocked and activated using the diathermy pedal. It is advanced steadily while avoiding any vital structures and blood vessels. Distal flange is passed initially across the cystic wall while creating an apposition between two lumen walls followed by proximal flange towards gastric/duodenal wall. This single-step system significantly reduces the time of the procedure, hence potentially limiting the complications related to procedure. Yoo et al. described 100% technical and clinical success in patients with PFCs and no procedure-related complications [65]. A larger retrospective study [66] proved EC-LAMS as safe and effective modality to use with only 5 out of 93 patients showing major adverse events. It is generally recommended to remove the LAMS within 4 weeks of placement; however, expertise of clinician guides the timing at this point.

7.5.2 Drainage of WOPN

Patients with necrotizing pancreatitis who have inadequate response to conservative management, including drainage or develop infected necrosis not responding to

antibiotics, require further intervention. Necrosectomy is indispensable in these patients due to higher chances of morbidity or mortality and risk of infection and severe sepsis in such patients. However, open necrosectomy (ON) is associated with perioperative risks, increased recovery, long-term complications of surgical procedure, and mortality as high as 10–27% [67]. As compared to ON, minimally invasive surgical approach including laparoscopic and video-assisted retroperitoneal debridement (VARD) or direct endoscopic necrosectomy (DEN) (step-up approach) is associated with lower risk of death [68]. DEN initially reported by Seifert et al. [69] gained widespread clinical interest after it showed promising clinical success by Seewald et al. [70]. It has shown reduced mortality and other major complications of fistula formation, dissemination and seeding of infection, reduced hospital stay and cost as noted in TENSION trial [71–73]. That said, DEN serves as a preferred approach for treatment due to higher initial clinical success, lower recurrence rate, and reduced incidence of multi-organ dysfunction [11, 74].

PANTER trial compared a total of 88 patients randomly assigned to minimally invasive step-up approach to surgical open necrosectomy. Major complications were noted to be more common in open surgical approach with a significant difference of new onset multi-organ failure in two groups. Other significant results included lower health care costs, ICU admissions with step-up approach [75]. Another controller assessor-blinded PENGUIN clinical trial randomized 22 patients and showed similar results with lower new-onset multi-organ failure, decreased pancreatic fistulas and proinflammatory response as well as composite end point as compared to open necrosectomy [74].

A recent multicenter randomized superiority trial noted similar findings of noninferiority to the surgical step-up approach and lower complications rate [7]. DEN is performed if the conservative management has failed and when higher level of necrotic solid debris is not accessible with standard drainage techniques. Initial steps or technique remains similar when an EUS is required to visualize a WOPN (Fig. 7.9a). Access into the cavity is gained and usually a larger bore stent such as a SEMS or most commonly nowadays an LAMS (Fig. 7.9b). Dilatation of the stent lumen is sometimes required to facilitate passage of endoscope (Fig. 7.9c). It is followed by irrigation and aspiration of the debris by suctioning or use of accessories like Dormia baskets, snares, and retrieval nets (Fig. 7.10a). A novel morcellator device recently used allowed complete resolution of the WOPN with 80% solid necrotic material resulting in successful debridement and liquefaction [76]. Gentle debridement is crucial to avoid complications including bleeding. Stents can be left in place for repeated access and continued drainage until WOPN cavity is cleared from necrotic material (Fig. 7.10b) [77].

Various multicenter trials have looked into the safety and long-term efficacy of DEN. GEPARD study [78] included patients from six tertiary centers who underwent DEN and reported 81% clinical success and mortality rate of 7.5%. Gardner et al. reported a retrospective review from six US tertiary centers and noted a clinical success of 91% and mortality of 5.8% over a median follow-up of 17 months [79, 80]. DEN remains safe and effective approach in treatment of WOPN, however


Fig. 7.9 (a) Walled-off pancreatic necrosis (WOPN) on endoscopic ultrasound view (arrow) and needle introduced inside the WOPN (arrow head) for the deployment of LAMS. (b) Endoscopic view of LAMS with pus draining out of the infected PFC. (c) Endoscopic view of balloon dilation of LAMS

requires expertise in the technique and is performed mostly in the tertiary centers with appropriate surgical support [81].

7.6 Complications

EUS-guided drainage of PFCs is deemed safe and reliable method of management. Fewer complications have been noted as compared to surgical and percutaneous procedures. Complications (Table 7.3) like perforation, bleeding (Fig. 7.11a), stent migration (Fig. 7.11b), and infection have been reported [66, 82]. Incidences of these complications have been reported to be <10% in most of the studies [83–85]. A recent meta-analysis showed LAMS to be superior and have higher efficacy and safety in the management of PFCs as compared to the plastic stents [86]. However, apart from the other listed complications, buried LAMS is a rare but serious adverse event [87, 88].

Hemorrhage is a common adverse event (AE) associated with the EUS-guided drainage of PFCs. Various factors can impact the occurrence of hemorrhage including type, size of PFC, stent type, operator experience, timing of procedure, and patient profile.

It can be intra-procedure caused by pseudoaneurysm, puncture of major or collateral blood vessels, traversing intracavitary blood vessel or post-procedure



Fig. 7.10 (a) Endoscopic view of pancreatic necrosis through LAMS (left) and direct endoscopic necrosectomy being performed (right). (b) Endoscopic view of WOPN cavity with significant debris (left) and significant improvement after DEN (right)

Table 7.3 Common	adverse events	s related with	EUS-guided	drainage
------------------	----------------	----------------	------------	----------

Adverse events	Patient related	Procedure related	Stent related
Factors	Coagulation disorders	Hemorrhage	Migration
	High-risk patient profile	Perforation	Occlusion
	Aspiration	Pancreatic duct disruption	Buried stent
	Infection	Pseudoaneurysm	
		Air embolism	

associated with stent migration, buried stent, or coagulation defects [85]. LAMS when compared to DPPS is reported to have higher rate of procedure-related bleeding and pseudoaneurysm bleed in recent studies [89, 90]. These reported cases were managed successfully by transfusion, IR embolization of pseudoaneurysm, or with balloon tamponade under endoscopic guidance. On the contrary, a metanalysis reported higher technical success and low AEs for both pseudocysts and WOPN with bleed rate at 2.4% [66]. These adverse events need to be directly weighed against other risks including perforations and infections. Infections can occur with inadequate drainage of PFC or translocation if the bacteria to blood stream. Higher AEs are noted in PFCs requiring debridement and drainage of WOPN [13].



Fig. 7.11 (a) LAMS (arrow) with evidence of recent bleeding and adherent clots at the insertion site (arrow head). (b) Endoscopic view of LAMS migrated to the esophagus

7.7 Summary and Conclusion

Management of the PFCs is continuing to evolve with the advancements in technology, techniques, and availability of evidence. EUS-guided drainage of PFC is a safe and reliable modality when performed by experienced endoscopists, in a carefully selected patient by multidisciplinary team. It is safe to say that EUSguided drainage is now considered sine qua non in the management of symptomatic PFCs. It is a safe and reliable approach with fewer complications as compared to surgical approach. However, innovation in the field of interventional EUS accessories is sorely needed to be able to continually enhance the success and safety of this modality.

References

- Banks PA, Bollen TL, Dervenis C, Gooszen HG, Johnson CD, Sarr MG, et al. Classification of acute pancreatitis—2012: revision of the Atlanta classification and definitions by international consensus. Gut. 2013;62(1):102–11.
- Foster BR, Jensen KK, Bakis G, Shaaban AM, Coakley FV. Revised Atlanta classification for acute pancreatitis: a pictorial essay. Radiographics. 2016;36(3):675–87.
- Cui ML, Kim KH, Kim HG, Han J, Kim H, Cho KB, et al. Incidence, risk factors and clinical course of pancreatic fluid collections in acute pancreatitis. Dig Dis Sci. 2014;59(5):1055–62.
- Kim KO, Kim TN. Acute pancreatic pseudocyst: incidence, risk factors, and clinical outcomes. Pancreas. 2012;41(4):577–81.
- Manrai M, Kochhar R, Gupta V, Yadav TD, Dhaka N, Kalra N, et al. Outcome of acute pancreatic and peripancreatic collections occurring in patients with acute pancreatitis. Ann Surg. 2018;267(2):357–63.
- Shekhar C, Maher B, Forde C, Mahon BS. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided pancreatic fluid collections' transmural drainage outcomes in 100 consecutive cases of pseudocysts and walled off necrosis: a single-centre experience from the United Kingdom. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2018;53(5):611–5.

- van Brunschot S, van Grinsven J, van Santvoort HC, Bakker OJ, Besselink MG, Boermeester MA, et al. Endoscopic or surgical step-up approach for infected necrotising pancreatitis: a multicentre randomised trial. Lancet. 2018;391(10115):51–8.
- Hao S-J, Xu W-J, Di Y, Yao L, He H, Yang F, et al. Novel and supplementary management of pancreatic fluid collections: endoscopic ultrasound-guided drainage. World J Gastrointest Endosc. 2017;9(9):486–93.
- Akshintala VS, Saxena P, Zaheer A, Rana U, Hutfless SM, Lennon AM, et al. A comparative evaluation of outcomes of endoscopic versus percutaneous drainage for symptomatic pancreatic pseudocysts. Gastrointest Endosc. 2014;79(6):921–8; quiz 83.e2, 83.e5.
- Keane MG, Sze SF, Cieplik N, Murray S, Johnson GJ, Webster GJ, et al. Endoscopic versus percutaneous drainage of symptomatic pancreatic fluid collections: a 14-year experience from a tertiary hepatobiliary centre. Surg Endosc. 2016;30(9):3730–40.
- Muthusamy VR, Chandrasekhara V, Acosta RD, Bruining DH, Chathadi KV, Eloubeidi MA, et al. The role of endoscopy in the diagnosis and treatment of inflammatory pancreatic fluid collections. Gastrointest Endosc. 2016;83(3):481–8.
- Trikudanathan G, Tawfik P, Amateau SK, Munigala S, Arain M, Attam R, et al. Early (<4 weeks) versus standard (>/= 4 weeks) endoscopically Centered step-up interventions for necrotizing pancreatitis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2018;113(10):1550–8.
- IAP/APA evidence-based guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology. 2013;13(4 Suppl 2):e1–e15.
- Varadarajulu S, Bang JY, Phadnis MA, Christein JD, Wilcox CM. Endoscopic transmural drainage of peripancreatic fluid collections: outcomes and predictors of treatment success in 211 consecutive patients. J Gastrointest Surg. 2011;15(11):2080–8.
- van Santvoort HC, Bakker OJ, Bollen TL, Besselink MG, Ahmed Ali U, Schrijver AM, et al. A conservative and minimally invasive approach to necrotizing pancreatitis improves outcome. Gastroenterology. 2011;141(4):1254–63.
- Mier J, León EL, Castillo A, Robledo F, Blanco R. Early versus late necrosectomy in severe necrotizing pancreatitis. Am J Surg. 1997;173(2):71–5.
- Ocampo C, Zandalazini H, Kohan G, Silva W, Szelagowsky C, Oria A. Computed tomographic prognostic factors for predicting local complications in patients with pancreatic necrosis. Pancreas. 2009;38(2):137–42.
- Dhaka N, Samanta J, Kochhar S, Kalra N, Appasani S, Manrai M, et al. Pancreatic fluid collections: what is the ideal imaging technique? World J Gastroenterol. 2015;21(48):13403–10.
- Takahashi N, Papachristou GI, Schmit GD, Chahal P, LeRoy AJ, Sarr MG, et al. CT findings of walled-off pancreatic necrosis (WOPN): differentiation from pseudocyst and prediction of outcome after endoscopic therapy. Eur Radiol. 2008;18(11):2522–9.
- Medarapalem JB, Appasani S, Gulati A, Manrai M, Siddappa PKK, Khandelwal N, et al. Mo1460 characterization of fluid collections using quantification of solid debris in acute pancreatitis - a comparative study of EUS vs. CT for prediction of intervention. Gastrointest Endosc. 2014;79(5):AB445.
- Macari M, Finn ME, Bennett GL, Cho KC, Newman E, Hajdu CH, et al. Differentiating pancreatic cystic neoplasms from pancreatic pseudocysts at MR imaging: value of perceived internal debris. Radiology. 2009;251(1):77–84.
- Borens B, Arvanitakis M, Absil J, El Bouchaibi S, Matos C, Eisendrath P, et al. Added value of diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging for the detection of pancreatic fluid collection infection. Eur Radiol. 2017;27(3):1064–73.
- 23. Islim F, Salik AE, Bayramoglu S, Guven K, Alis H, Turhan AN. Non-invasive detection of infection in acute pancreatic and acute necrotic collections with diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging: preliminary findings. Abdom Imaging. 2014;39(3):472–81.
- Drake LM, Anis M, Lawrence C. Accuracy of magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography in identifying pancreatic duct disruption. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2012;46(8):696–9.
- Rana SS, Chaudhary V, Sharma R, Sharma V, Chhabra P, Bhasin DK. Comparison of abdominal ultrasound, endoscopic ultrasound and magnetic resonance imaging in detection of necrotic debris in walled-off pancreatic necrosis. Gastroenterol Rep (Oxf). 2016;4(1):50–3.

- Acosta RD, Abraham NS, Chandrasekhara V, Chathadi KV, Early DS, Eloubeidi MA, et al. The management of antithrombotic agents for patients undergoing GI endoscopy. Gastrointest Endosc. 2016;83(1):3–16.
- Baron TH, DiMaio CJ, Wang AY, Morgan KA. American gastroenterological association clinical practice update: management of pancreatic necrosis. Gastroenterology. 2020;158(1):67–75.e1.
- Arvanitakis M, Dumonceau JM, Albert J, Badaoui A, Bali MA, Barthet M, et al. Endoscopic management of acute necrotizing pancreatitis: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) evidence-based multidisciplinary guidelines. Endoscopy. 2018;50(5):524–46.
- Wani S, Keswani RN, Petersen B, Edmundowicz SA, Walsh CM, Huang C, et al. Training in EUS and ERCP: standardizing methods to assess competence. Gastrointest Endosc. 2018;87(6):1371–82.
- 30. Early DS, Lightdale JR, Vargo JJ 2nd, Acosta RD, Chandrasekhara V, Chathadi KV, et al. Guidelines for sedation and anesthesia in GI endoscopy. Gastrointest Endosc. 2018;87(2):327–37.
- Pfaffenbach B, Wegener M, Bohmeke T. Hepatic portal venous gas after transgastric EUSguided fine-needle aspiration of an accessory spleen. Gastrointest Endosc. 1996;43(5):515–8.
- Lo SK, Fujii-Lau LL, Enestvedt BK, Hwang JH, Konda V, Manfredi MA, et al. The use of carbon dioxide in gastrointestinal endoscopy. Gastrointest Endosc. 2016;83(5):857–65.
- Bretthauer M, Seip B, Aasen S, Kordal M, Hoff G, Aabakken L. Carbon dioxide insufflation for more comfortable endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography: a randomized, controlled, double-blind trial. Endoscopy. 2007;39(1):58–64.
- Murad FM, Komanduri S, Abu Dayyeh BK, Chauhan SS, Enestvedt BK, Fujii-Lau LL, et al. Echoendoscopes. Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;82(2):189–202.
- 35. Deprez PH. Choice of endosonographic equipment and normal endosonographic anatomy. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2009;23(5):623–37.
- 36. Iwashita T, Nakai Y, Lee JG, Park DH, Muthusamy VR, Chang KJ. Newly-developed, forward-viewing echoendoscope: a comparative pilot study to the standard echoendoscope in the imaging of abdominal organs and feasibility of endoscopic ultrasound-guided interventions. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2012;27(2):362–7.
- 37. Voermans RP, Ponchon T, Schumacher B, Fumex F, Bergman JJ, Larghi A, et al. Forward-viewing versus oblique-viewing echoendoscopes in transluminal drainage of pancreatic fluid collections: a multicenter, randomized, controlled trial. Gastrointest Endosc. 2011;74(6):1285–93.
- Larghi A, Ibrahim M, Fuccio L, Lekkerkerker S, Eisendrath P, Frazzoni L, et al. Forwardviewing echoendoscope versus standard echoendoscope for endoscopic ultrasoundguided tissue acquisition of solid lesions: a randomized, multicenter study. Endoscopy. 2019;51(5):444–51.
- 39. Ahn JY, Seo DW, Eum J, Song TJ, Moon S-H, Park DH, et al. Single-step EUS-guided transmural drainage of pancreatic pseudocysts: analysis of technical feasibility, efficacy, and safety. Gut Liver. 2010;4(4):524–9.
- 40. Bang JY, Wilcox CM, Trevino JM, Ramesh J, Hasan M, Hawes RH, et al. Relationship between stent characteristics and treatment outcomes in endoscopic transmural drainage of uncomplicated pancreatic pseudocysts. Surg Endosc. 2014;28(10):2877–83.
- Rana SS, Bhasin DK, Rao C, Sharma R, Gupta R. Consequences of long term indwelling transmural stents in patients with walled off pancreatic necrosis and disconnected pancreatic duct syndrome. Pancreatology. 2013;13(5):486–90.
- 42. Colán Hernández J, Sendino O, Loras C, Pardo A, Gornals JB, Concepción M, et al. Antibiotic prophylaxis not required for endoscopic ultrasonography-guided fine-needle aspiration of pancreatic cystic lesions, based on a randomized trial. Gastroenterology. 2020;158(6):1642–9.e1.
- Jean-Marc Dumonceau CK, Aabakken L, Papanikolaou IS, Tringali A, Vanbiervliet G, Beyna T, Dinis-Ribeiro M, Hritz I, AlbertoMariani GP, Radaelli F, Lakhtakia S, Veitch AM, van Hooft JE. ERCP-related adverse events: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) guideline. Endoscopy. 2019;52(2):127–49.

- 44. Rana SS, Shah J, Kang M, Gupta R. Complications of endoscopic ultrasound-guided transmural drainage of pancreatic fluid collections and their management. Ann Gastroenterol. 2019;32(5):441–50.
- 45. Yamamoto N, Isayama H, Kawakami H, Sasahira N, Hamada T, Ito Y, et al. Preliminary report on a new, fully covered, metal stent designed for the treatment of pancreatic fluid collections. Gastrointest Endosc. 2013;77(5):809–14.
- 46. Panwar R, Singh PM. Efficacy and safety of metallic stents in comparison to plastic stents for endoscopic drainage of peripancreatic fluid collections: a meta-analysis and trial sequential analysis. Clin J Gastroenterol. 2017;10(5):403–14.
- Yoon SB, Lee IS, Choi MG. Metal versus plastic stents for drainage of pancreatic fluid collection: a meta-analysis. United European Gastroenterol J. 2018;6(5):729–38.
- 48. Siddiqui AA, Kowalski TE, Loren DE, Khalid A, Soomro A, Mazhar SM, et al. Fully covered self-expanding metal stents versus lumen-apposing fully covered self-expanding metal stent versus plastic stents for endoscopic drainage of pancreatic walled-off necrosis: clinical outcomes and success. Gastrointest Endosc. 2017;85(4):758–65.
- 49. Fabbri C, Luigiano C, Cennamo V, Polifemo AM, Barresi L, Jovine E, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided transmural drainage of infected pancreatic fluid collections with placement of covered self-expanding metal stents: a case series. Endoscopy. 2012;44(4):429–33.
- Binmoeller KF, Shah J. A novel lumen-apposing stent for transluminal drainage of nonadherent extraintestinal fluid collections. Endoscopy. 2011;43(4):337–42.
- 51. Itoi T, Binmoeller KF, Shah J, Sofuni A, Itokawa F, Kurihara T, et al. Clinical evaluation of a novel lumen-apposing metal stent for endosonography-guided pancreatic pseudocyst and gallbladder drainage (with videos). Gastrointest Endosc. 2012;75(4):870–6.
- Wrobel P, Kaplan J, Siddiqui A. A new lumen-apposing metal stent for endoscopic transluminal drainage of peripancreatic fluid collections. Endoscopic. Ultrasound. 2014;3(4):203–4.
- Weilert F, Binmoeller KF. Specially designed stents for translumenal drainage. Gastrointest Interv. 2015;4(1):40–5.
- 54. Committee AT, Hwang JH, Aslanian HR, Thosani N, Goodman A, Manfredi M, et al. Devices for use with EUS. VideoGIE. 2017;2(3):35–45.
- 55. Varadarajulu S, Tamhane A, Blakely J. Graded dilation technique for EUS-guided drainage of peripancreatic fluid collections: an assessment of outcomes and complications and technical proficiency (with video). Gastrointest Endosc. 2008;68(4):656–66.
- Maple JT, Pannala R, Abu Dayyeh BK, Aslanian HR, Enestvedt BK, Goodman A, et al. Interventional EUS (with videos). Gastrointest Endosc. 2017;85(3):465–81.
- Varadarajulu S, Christein JD, Tamhane A, Drelichman ER, Wilcox CM. Prospective randomized trial comparing EUS and EGD for transmural drainage of pancreatic pseudocysts (with videos). Gastrointest Endosc. 2008;68(6):1102–11.
- Widmer JL, Michel K. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided treatment beyond drainage: hemostasis, anastomosis, and others. Clin Endosc. 2014;47(5):432–9.
- 59. Kunzli HT, Timmer R, Schwartz MP, Witteman BJ, Weusten BL, van Oijen MG, et al. Endoscopic ultrasonography-guided drainage is an effective and relatively safe treatment for peripancreatic fluid collections in a cohort of 108 symptomatic patients. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2013;25(8):958–63.
- 60. Siddiqui AA, Dewitt JM, Strongin A, Singh H, Jordan S, Loren DE, et al. Outcomes of EUS-guided drainage of debris-containing pancreatic pseudocysts by using combined endoprosthesis and a nasocystic drain. Gastrointest Endosc. 2013;78(4):589–95.
- Seewald S, Ang TL, Richter H, Teng KY, Zhong Y, Groth S, et al. Long-term results after endoscopic drainage and necrosectomy of symptomatic pancreatic fluid collections. Dig Endosc. 2012;24(1):36–41.
- Antillon MR, Shah RJ, Stiegmann G, Chen YK. Single-step EUS-guided transmural drainage of simple and complicated pancreatic pseudocysts. Gastrointest Endosc. 2006;63(6):797–803.
- Sharma V, Rana SS, Bhasin DK. Endoscopic ultrasound guided interventional procedures. World J Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;7(6):628–42.

- 64. Teoh AY, Binmoeller KF, Lau JY. Single-step EUS-guided puncture and delivery of a lumenapposing stent for gallbladder drainage using a novel cautery-tipped stent delivery system. Gastrointest Endosc. 2014;80(6):1171.
- 65. Yoo J, Yan L, Hasan R, Somalya S, Nieto J, Siddiqui AA. Feasibility, safety, and outcomes of a single-step endoscopic ultrasonography-guided drainage of pancreatic fluid collections without fluoroscopy using a novel electrocautery-enhanced lumen-apposing, self-expanding metal stent. Endosc Ultrasound. 2017;6(2):131–5.
- Varadarajulu S, Christein JD, Wilcox CM. Frequency of complications during EUS-guided drainage of pancreatic fluid collections in 148 consecutive patients. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2011;26(10):1504–8.
- 67. Rau B, Bothe A, Beger HG. Surgical treatment of necrotizing pancreatitis by necrosectomy and closed lavage: changing patient characteristics and outcome in a 19-year, single-center series. Surgery. 2005;138(1):28–39.
- 68. van Brunschot S, Hollemans RA, Bakker OJ, Besselink MG, Baron TH, Beger HG, et al. Minimally invasive and endoscopic versus open necrosectomy for necrotising pancreatitis: a pooled analysis of individual data for 1980 patients. Gut. 2018;67(4):697–706.
- Seifert H, Wehrmann T, Schmitt T, Zeuzem S, Caspary WF. Retroperitoneal endoscopic debridement for infected peripancreatic necrosis. Lancet. 2000;356(9230):653–5.
- Seewald S, Groth S, Omar S, Imazu H, Seitz U, de Weerth A, et al. Aggressive endoscopic therapy for pancreatic necrosis and pancreatic abscess: a new safe and effective treatment algorithm (videos). Gastrointest Endosc. 2005;62(1):92–100.
- Horvath KD, Kao LS, Ali A, Wherry KL, Pellegrini CA, Sinanan MN. Laparoscopic assisted percutaneous drainage of infected pancreatic necrosis. Surg Endosc. 2001;15(7):677–82.
- Van Santvoort HC, Besselink MGH, Horvath KD, Sinanan MN, Bollen TL, Van Ramshorst B, et al. Videoscopic assisted retroperitoneal debridement in infected necrotizing pancreatitis. HPB. 2007;9(2):156–9.
- 73. van Brunschot S, van Grinsven J, Voermans RP, Bakker OJ, Besselink MG, Boermeester MA, et al. Transluminal endoscopic step-up approach versus minimally invasive surgical step-up approach in patients with infected necrotising pancreatitis (TENSION trial): design and rationale of a randomised controlled multicenter trial [ISRCTN09186711]. BMC Gastroenterol. 2013;13:161.
- Bakker OJ, van Santvoort HC, van Brunschot S, Geskus RB, Besselink MG, Bollen TL, et al. Endoscopic transgastric vs surgical necrosectomy for infected necrotizing pancreatitis: a randomized trial. JAMA. 2012;307(10):1053–61.
- van Santvoort HC, Besselink MG, Bakker OJ, Hofker HS, Boermeester MA, Dejong CH, et al. A step-up approach or open necrosectomy for necrotizing pancreatitis. N Engl J Med. 2010;362(16):1491–502.
- Bazarbashi AN, Ge PS, de Moura DTH, Thompson CC. A novel endoscopic morcellator device to facilitate direct necrosectomy of solid walled-off necrosis. Endoscopy. 2019;51(12):396–7.
- 77. Bang JY, Wilcox CM, Trevino J, Ramesh J, Peter S, Hasan M, et al. Factors impacting treatment outcomes in the endoscopic management of walled-off pancreatic necrosis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2013;28(11):1725–32.
- Seifert H, Biermer M, Schmitt W, Jürgensen C, Will U, Gerlach R, et al. Transluminal endoscopic necrosectomy after acute pancreatitis: a multicentre study with long-term follow-up (the GEPARD study). Gut. 2009;58(9):1260–6.
- Gardner TB, Coelho-Prabhu N, Gordon SR, Gelrud A, Maple JT, Papachristou GI, et al. Direct endoscopic necrosectomy for the treatment of walled-off pancreatic necrosis: results from a multicenter U.S. series. Gastrointest Endosc. 2011;73(4):718–26.
- Gardner TB, Chahal P, Papachristou GI, Vege SS, Petersen BT, Gostout CJ, et al. A comparison of direct endoscopic necrosectomy with transmural endoscopic drainage for the treatment of walled-off pancreatic necrosis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2009;69(6):1085–94.
- Papachristou GI, Takahashi N, Chahal P, Sarr MG, Baron TH. Peroral endoscopic drainage/ debridement of walled-off pancreatic necrosis. Ann Surg. 2007;245(6):943–51.

- 82. Vazquez-Sequeiros E, Baron TH, Perez-Miranda M, Sanchez-Yague A, Gornals J, Gonzalez-Huix F, et al. Evaluation of the short- and long-term effectiveness and safety of fully covered self-expandable metal stents for drainage of pancreatic fluid collections: results of a Spanish nationwide registry. Gastrointest Endosc. 2016;84(3):450–7.e2.
- Walter D, Will U, Sanchez-Yague A, Brenke D, Hampe J, Wollny H, et al. A novel lumenapposing metal stent for endoscopic ultrasound-guided drainage of pancreatic fluid collections: a prospective cohort study. Endoscopy. 2015;47(1):63–7.
- 84. Rinninella E, Kunda R, Dollhopf M, Sanchez-Yague A, Will U, Tarantino I, et al. EUS-guided drainage of pancreatic fluid collections using a novel lumen-apposing metal stent on an electrocautery-enhanced delivery system: a large retrospective study (with video). Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;82(6):1039–46.
- 85. Jiang TA, Xie LT. Algorithm for the multidisciplinary management of hemorrhage in EUSguided drainage for pancreatic fluid collections. World J Clin Cases. 2018;6(10):308–21.
- 86. Hammad T, Khan MA, Alastal Y, Lee W, Nawras A, Ismail MK, et al. Efficacy and safety of lumen-apposing metal stents in management of pancreatic fluid collections: are they better than plastic stents? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Dig Dis Sci. 2018;63(2):289–301.
- Fabbri C, Luigiano C, Marsico M, Cennamo V. A rare adverse event resulting from the use of a lumen-apposing metal stent for drainage of a pancreatic fluid collection: "the buried stent". Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;82(3):585–7.
- Bang JY, Hasan M, Navaneethan U, Hawes R, Varadarajulu S. Lumen-apposing metal stents (LAMS) for pancreatic fluid collection (PFC) drainage: may not be business as usual. Gut. 2017;66(12):2054–6.
- Lang GD, Fritz C, Bhat T, Das KK, Murad FM, Early DS, et al. EUS-guided drainage of peripancreatic fluid collections with lumen-apposing metal stents and plastic double-pigtail stents: comparison of efficacy and adverse event rates. Gastrointest Endosc. 2018;87(1):150–7.
- 90. Brimhall B, Han S, Tatman PD, Clark TJ, Wani S, Brauer B, et al. Increased incidence of pseudoaneurysm bleeding with lumen-apposing metal stents compared to double-pigtail plastic stents in patients with peripancreatic fluid collections. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;16(9):1521–8.

Check for updates

8

EUS-Guided Pancreatic Duct Drainage

Daryl Ramai, Andrew Ofosu, and Douglas G. Adler

Advances in the field of interventional endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) have provided greater access to the pancreas and surrounding structures. Similar to the drainage of pancreatic fluid collections such as pseudocysts and walled-off pancreatic necrosis (WON) from the stomach or duodenum through endoscopic cystenterostomy or cystgastrostomy, the principle can be applied to access and drain the pancreatic duct. EUS-guided pancreatic duct drainage (EUS-PDD) is an alternative or second-line procedure which is used to drain the pancreatic duct when endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP), the primary modality for pancreatic duct drainage, has been unsuccessful or cannot be performed due to anatomic limitations [1].

As a complement or alternative to ERCP, EUS-PDD provides endoscopic therapy to patients who would otherwise be subjected to surgical or interventional radiologic (percutaneous) procedures for duct decompression. Traditionally, surgical intervention to provide pancreatic drainage includes lateral pancreaticojejunostomy (Puestow procedure) in patients with a dilated main pancreatic duct (MPD) or pancreaticoduodenectomy (Whipple procedure) versus distal pancreatectomy [2, 3]. Although surgery is effective in this setting with success rates of 65–85%, adverse event (AE) rates of up to 30% and mortality rates up to 2% have been reported [4]. Patients who underwent prior pancreaticojejunostomy creation with subsequent anastomotic narrowing or failure can have this anastomosis revised, although often at the cost of further loss of pancreatic parenchyma.

EUS-PDD can be performed within the same session of a failed ERCP depending on the expertise of the endoscopists [5]. However, majority of cases are

D. Ramai · A. Ofosu · D. G. Adler (🖂)

Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, University of Utah School of Medicine, Huntsman Cancer Center, Salt Lake City, UT, USA

Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, USA e-mail: dramai@tbh.org

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. Facciorusso, N. Muscatiello (eds.), *Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71937-1_8

performed by bringing the patient back to the endoscopy suite in the future. After transgastric or transduodenal EUS-guided pancreatography, the endoscopists can attempt drainage by means of the rendezvous method, wherein drainage can be achieved in antegrade, retrograde, or combined fashion with or without stent placement [1, 5]. Following successful drainage, patients typically require follow-up procedures for stent revision and/or removal [6].

EUS-PDD has demonstrated acceptable technical and clinical outcomes in a relatively small number of reported patients overall. A meta-analysis of 22 studies (714 patients) reported that EUS-PDD achieved a technical success rate of 84.8%, a successful PD drainage rate of 77.5%, and a clinical success rate of 89.2% [7]. The pooled rate of acute pancreatitis following EUS-PDD was 6.6% (95% CI 4.5–9.4), bleeding was 4.1% (95% CI 2.7–6.2), perforation and/or pneumoperitoneum was 3.1% (95% CI 1.9–5), pancreatic leak and/or pancreatic fluid collection was 2.3% (95% CI 1.4–4), and infection was 2.8% (95% CI 1.7–4.6) [7]. Given the nature of the procedure, there may be publication bias to these reported outcomes.

EUS-PDD remains a challenging procedure: (1) a dilated PD is very small relative to other traditional interventional EUS targets, including a pancreatic fluid collection, gallbladder, and even dilated bile duct; (2) during EUS-PDD, the stomach does not always provide a stable platform for an endoscope; (3) no dedicated PD stents designed for EUS-PDD are currently available, and (4) the pancreatic parenchyma must be traversed to reach the duct, increasing the technical difficult and risks of the procedure. Despite these challenges, EUS-PDD remains a feasible option for pancreatic duct drainage even in patients with altered anatomy [8].

8.1 Indications

EUS-PDD is employed when the typical clinical manifestations of pancreatic duct obstruction are clinically apparent and identified on imaging, and failed ERCP. EUS-PDD is not typically performed in the setting of resectable pancreatic cancer. The main indications for EUS-guided pancreatic duct drainage are stenosis of pancreatic cojejunal or pancreaticogastric anastomosis after Whipple resection which induce recurrent acute pancreatitis. Additional indications include main pancreatic duct (MPD) stenosis due to chronic pancreatitis (CP), post-acute pancreatitis, or post-pancreatic trauma after failure of ERCP [9–13].

There are three main reasons for failure of pancreatic ERCP: difficulty in accessing the papilla (as in surgically altered anatomy or strictures), in cannulating the pancreatic duct, or in guidewire access to blocked duct segments (as in transected or disrupted ducts). On other occasions, the indication for EUS-PDD may arise during ERCP (e.g., failed guidewire passage across tortuous chronic pancreatitis strictures or impacted pancreatic duct stones). Indications for EUS-PDD include varying combinations of the following features.

8.1.1 Clinical Manifestations

- 1. Severe, persistent pancreatic-type abdominal pain consistent with pancreatic duct obstruction.
- 2. Acute relapsing pancreatitis felt to be secondary to pancreatic duct obstruction.
- 3. Refractory pancreatic fistula not amenable to standard ERCP.

8.1.2 Underlying Diagnoses

- 1. Chronic pancreatitis.
- 2. Pancreaticoenterostomy stricture.
- 3. Pancreas divisum.
- 4. Pancreatic trauma.
- 5. Pancreatic cancer.
- 6. Necrotizing pancreatitis.

8.1.3 Underlying Anatomy of the Pancreatic Duct

- 1. Strictures of the pancreas.
- 2. Stones within the pancreatic duct.
- 3. Disruption of the pancreatic duct.
- 4. A disconnected pancreatic duct.

8.2 Contraindications

8.2.1 Absolute

- 1. Uncontrolled and active perforation.
- 2. Unable to undergo sedation.
- 3. Unable to correct coagulopathy.

8.2.2 Relative

- 1. Non-dilated pancreatic duct (<3 mm).
- 2. Altered upper GI anatomy precluding EUS imaging of the pancreas (e.g., Roux-en-Y gastric bypass).
- 3. Inflammatory changes (e.g., pseudocyst) potentially interfering with optimal EUS access to the pancreatic duct.
- 4. Known resectable pancreatic malignancy.

8.3 Preparation

- 1. Patient evaluation and consent: Thorough clinical assessments, including crosssectional imaging and magnetic retrograde cholangiopancreatography, are essential to establish the indication and to define procedural approach. Depending on anticipated likelihood of ERCP failure and on institutional policy, informed consent is obtained for both ERCP and EUS-PDD.
- 2. Periprocedural medications: Antiplatelet/anticoagulation agents and antibiotic prophylaxis should be managed per American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy guidelines [14]. Though not established, administration of rectal nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory medications and intravenous hydration are reasonable to consider decreasing the risk of post-procedural pancreatitis.
- Sedation: The level of sedation required for EUS-PDD is comparable to that of complexity level ERCP. Monitored anesthesia care, general endotracheal intubation, and nurse or endoscopist administered propofol can be provided depending on the availability of each institution.

8.4 Equipment and Devices

8.4.1 Equipment

- 1. Therapeutic channel linear-array echoendoscope (forward or forward-oblique viewing).
- 2. A duodenoscope (or colonoscope/enteroscope in cases of surgically altered upper GI anatomy).
- 3. High-quality fluoroscopy.
- 4. Image and ultrasound processors.
- 5. Carbon dioxide insufflation.

8.4.2 Devices

- 1. EUS fine-needle aspiration needles, most commonly 19G (21 or 22G may be considered for smaller ducts).
- 2. Injectate: Contrast material and saline solution.
- 3. Guidewires: Typically straight or angled-tip 0.025-inch or 0.035-inch highperformance hydrophilic long (450 cm) guidewires (for 19G needles). Thinner (0.018-inch or 0.021-inch) guidewires are required for 22G needles. Thicker (0.35-inch) and/or stiffer guidewires may be required for additional support during dilation or for better luminal coiling during the endoscope exchange phase of rendezvous. Guidewires of different tip configurations or hydrophilic coatings may have to be tried throughout the same procedure.
- 4. Low-profile steering catheters are commonly used for percutaneous interventional angiography or low-profile (3.5 French) taper-tipped ERCP cannulas.

- Mechanical dilating catheters: Stepped axial dilators of 3–5-7 French diameter and balloon dilators of 4 to 6 mm diameter (less commonly, screw-type metal dilators; mechanical dilation is preferred over cautery dilation).
- 6. Cautery dilating catheters: Small caliber (6 French) cystotome is preferable to needle-knife, if locally available.
- 7. Plastic stents: Standard biliary (without side holes) or pancreatic (with side holes) 5 to 8.5 French, 7 to 20 cm long, straight or double pigtail stents are used (typically, straight 7 French).
- 8. Grasping devices (i.e., polypectomy snare, forceps).
- 9. Sphincterotomes: Either standard double or triple lumen (for antegrade guidewire steering) or dedicated (to facilitate parallel rendezvous cannulation).
- 10. Over-the-wire stone retrieval balloons: These allow occlusion antegrade pancreatography after fistula dilation and might be used to facilitate antegrade or retrograde pancreatic stone retrieval.

8.5 Techniques

There are currently two main approaches in achieving EUS-guided pancreatic drainage. These two approaches include EUS rendezvous pancreatic duct drainage and EUS anterograde/transluminal pancreatic duct drainage [15, 16]. The patient's specific and individual anatomy dictates the approach and guides technique and route of access selected.

8.5.1 Rendezvous Pancreatic Duct Drainage

An optimal access site is essential in achieving successful EUS rendezvous pancreatic duct drainage. Preferably, the optimal site is often the one that provides the shortest distance between the main pancreatic duct and a stable echoendoscope position without any interposed vasculature. Other factors to consider include the patient's anatomy. Nonetheless among patients undergoing EUS rendezvous PD, the optimal puncture site for easier guidewire manipulation is often at the neck of the pancreas compared to the body or tail of the pancreas.

After achieving a relative stable endoscope position, a puncture is made with a 19-gauge FNA needle. A 22-gauge FNA needle can be used to achieve access; however, this will require the use of a 0.018" guidewire. Contrast is gently injected after needle puncture to obtain a pancreatogram to confirm needle access.

Following pancreatography, a 0.035 hydrophilic wire or 0.025-inch guidewire is carefully advanced under fluoroscopy and manipulated across the papilla into the duodenum or anastomosis site into the jejunum. The echoendoscope is then with-drawn leaving the guidewire in place and coiled into the small bowel as the echoendoscope is removed over the wire (Fig. 8.1).

A duodenoscope (in patients with normal foregut anatomy) or a pediatric colonoscope or an enteroscope (in patients with surgically altered anatomy) is inserted



Fig. 8.1 Top images: Dilated pancreatic duct (star) and needle inserted for pancreatic duct drainage (arrow). Bottom images: Guidewire is carefully advanced antegrade across the papilla into the jejunum. Images courtesy Dr. Shai Friedland

towards the papilla or pancreaticoenterostomy anastomotic orifice. Cannulation is achieved by grasping the wire with a snare or biopsy forceps and gradually withdrawing the wire into the working channel for retrograde introduction of a sphincterotome or catheter over the wire. One must be mindful of not losing guidewire access during this exchange. Alternatively, a sphincterotome or cannula loaded with a second guidewire is inserted alongside the EUS-delivered guidewire to achieve cannulation (this practice is simpler to perform and is often used). Once cannulation is achieved, other therapeutic maneuvers including transpapillary or pancreaticoenterostomy anastomotic stenting can be achieved in the standard fashion.

8.5.2 Antegrade (Transluminal) Pancreatic Duct Drainage

Anterograde EUS-PDD is the preferred approach when the papilla or surgical anastomosis is endoscopically inaccessible [17]. Anterograde EUS-PDD is also indicated when anterograde transpapillary/transanastomotic guidewire passage cannot be achieved due to high-grade ductal/anastomotic obstruction or pancreatic ductal disruption [17]. The initial steps of EUS-guided transluminal approach involving pancreatic duct puncture and guidewire access into the main pancreatic duct are identical to the rendezvous approach. Once guidewire access is achieved, the major difference between the EUS rendezvous technique is the near universal need to dilate the transmural tract. The needle is exchanged over the guidewire for a dilator for fistula tract dilation. A passage or balloon dilator can be used.

Cautery of the needle tract followed by balloon dilation is used to create a fistulous tract to allow for stent placement. Using pure current electrocautery, the use of a 6.5 Fr Cystotome (Cook Medical) or a standard needle knife can also be used. Additional dilation can be performed with hydrostatic balloons up to 4 mm, particularly when stents are to be deployed. To avoid the risk of a pancreatic fluid leak, the tracts should be dilated to the smallest diameter to facilitate stent deployment.

8.6 Stent Placement

Stent placement can be subdivided into transluminal, transpapillary, or transanastomotic based on whether the stent traverses the site of ductal obstruction, the papilla, or the anastomosis. Crossing the papilla or anastomosis can be performed when feasible. Stents can be deployed in an antegrade (towards the head of the pancreas) or retrograde fashion (towards the tail of the pancreas).

When not feasible, transluminal stent placement is performed with one end of the stent in the pancreatic duct and the other end in the gastrointestinal lumen. In cases where the ampulla/anastomosis is crossed but not reachable endoscopically, transpapillary/anastomotic transluminal stent deployment is preferred.

There are several potential technical challenges to EUS-guided pancreatic duct access and drainage. There is risk of inadvertent parenchymal or vascular injection that may potentially cause tissue injury and/or reduce fluoroscopic visualization. Care should be taken to limit the volume and concentration of the contrast injected.

The guidewire often inadvertently passes into pancreatic duct side branches, which is prone to occur when there is a nearly perpendicular orientation of the echoendoscope to the desired duct. This problem may be overcome by altering the needle angle of entry and/or by selecting an alternate wire, for instance, a hydrophilic or angled wire. Guidewire passage across the papilla, anastomosis, or other site of obstruction may be difficult leading to wire buckling or inadvertent passage into undesired ducts or parenchyma. While gradual retraction and readvancement may suffice, at times the wire will not traverse the site of obstruction despite repeated efforts. Also consider insertion of a catheter or balloon into the duct near the site of obstruction. In this position, the catheter or balloon may serve to constrain and/or stiffen the guidewire and allow delivery of greater longitudinal force to facilitate wire passage through the site of obstruction.

Even with a guidewire in place, it may be difficult to pass a catheter or balloon across the gastric or duodenal wall, site of anastomosis, or another site of obstruction. Catheter dilations are associated with an axial dilation force, which may lead to separation of the tissue planes with advancement. Balloon dilators, on the other hand, lead to radial dilation force, which may increase the risk of perforation, leaks, and bleeding. Prolonged pressure with either catheter may allow the device to suddenly pass. Initial dilatation with the needle sheath can aid passage as well. One may also consider selection of alternate devices that may traverse otherwise non-accessible strictures. Finally, one must always be mindful of the risk of wire shaving that occurs when retracting the wire into the needle at an acute angle.

8.7 Post-Procedure

Following sedation, patients should be monitored for 2–3 h for any anesthesiarelated or immediate post-procedure adverse events. Depending on practice settings, EUS-PDD can be performed as an outpatient or inpatient procedure. Follow-up procedures are typically scheduled as outpatient procedures.

8.8 Adverse Events

- 1. Self-limiting abdominal pain.
- 2. Perforation.
- 3. Pancreatic duct leak with pseudocyst formation.
- 4. Abscess.
- 5. Acute pancreatitis.
- 6. Bleeding (acute or delayed).
- 7. Stent migration.
- 8. Stent obstruction.

8.9 Follow-Up

Duration of follow-up, interventions performed (stent removal, exchange, or upsizing), and their time intervals after index EUS-PDD are not standardized and are left to the individual provider given patient needs. Follow-up of rendezvous EUS-PDD mirrors the pattern of pancreatic ERCP, ranging from just one follow-up procedure for stent removal to several stent exchanges until resolution of the primary disease process is achieved. Transmural EUS-PDD can sometimes be converted to transpapillary (antegrade or retrograde) EUS-PDD at a follow-up procedure. Alternatively, a permanent fistula can be created by periodic exchange and/or upsizing of transmural stents at periodic month intervals over 12–24 months [18].

8.10 Conclusion

EUS-PDD is an alternative to ERCP which provides a less-invasive means for pancreatic duct drainage in patients who would otherwise be subjected to surgical or radiologic procedures. While EUS-PDD has demonstrable clinical and technical success for duct decompression, the complexities surround this technique allow only well-experienced endoscopists to perform the procedure. To date, only limited reports of EUS-PDD exist in the literature. EUS-PDD is mostly being performed at high-volume centers. However, as the field of EUS continues to grow, the application of EUS-PDD may become more available to patients who meet its criteria.

References

- Perez-Miranda M, de la Serna C, Diez-Redondo P, et al. Endosonography-guided cholangiopancreatography as a salvage drainage procedure for obstructed biliary and pancreatic ducts. World J Gastrointest Endosc. 2010;2:212–22.
- Baars JE, Chen F, Sandroussi C, et al. EUS-guided pancreatic duct drainage: approach to a challenging procedure. Endosc Ultrasound. 2018;7:284–5.
- Giovannini M. EUS-guided pancreatic duct drainage: ready for prime time? Gastrointest Endosc. 2013;78:865–7.
- Adams DB, Ford MC, Anderson MC. Outcome after lateral pancreaticojejunostomy for chronic pancreatitis. Ann Surg. 1994;219:481–9.
- Shah JN, Marson F, Weilert F, et al. Single-operator, single-session EUS-guided anterograde cholangiopancreatography in failed ERCP or inaccessible papilla. Gastrointest Endosc. 2012;75:56–64.
- Matsunami Y, Itoi T, Sofuni A, et al. Evaluation of a new stent for EUS-guided pancreatic duct drainage: long-term follow-up outcome. Endosc Int Open. 2018;6:E505–12.
- Chandan S, Mohan BP, Khan SR, et al. Efficacy and safety of endoscopic ultrasound-guided pancreatic duct drainage (EUS-PDD): a systematic review and meta-analysis of 714 patients. Endosc Int Open. 2020;8:E1664–72.
- Chen YI, Levy MJ, Moreels TG, et al. An international multicenter study comparing EUSguided pancreatic duct drainage with enteroscopy-assisted endoscopic retrograde pancreatography after Whipple surgery. Gastrointest Endosc. 2017;85:170–7.
- Wehrmann T, Riphaus A, Frenz MB, et al. Endoscopic pancreatic duct stenting for relief of pancreatic cancer pain. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2005;12:1395–400.
- Oh D, Park DH, Cho MK, et al. Feasibility and safety of a fully covered self-expandable metal stent with antimigration properties for EUSguided pancreatic duct drainage: early and midterm outcomes (with video). Gastrointest Endosc. 2016;83:366–73.
- Giovannini M. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided pancreatic duct drainage: ready for the prime time? Endosc Ultrasound. 2017;6:281–4.
- Chapman CG, Waxman I, Siddiqui UD. Endoscopic ultrasound (EUS)-guided pancreatic duct drainage: the basics of when and how to perform EUS-guided pancreatic duct interventions. Clin Endosc. 2016;49:161–7.
- 13. Kinney TP, Li R, Gupta K, et al. Therapeutic pancreatic endoscopy after Whipple resection requires rendezvous access. Endoscopy. 2009;41:898–901.
- ASGE Standards of Practice Committee. Adverse events associated with ERCP. Gastrointest Endosc. 2017;85:32–47.

- Fujii-Lau LL, Levy MJ. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided pancreatic duct drainage. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci. 2015;22:51–7.
- Itoi T, Kasuya K, Sofuni A, et al. Endoscopic ultrasonography-guided pancreatic duct access: techniques and literature review of pancreatography, transmural drainage and rendezvous techniques. Dig Endosc. 2013;25:241–52.
- 17. Krafft MR, Nasr JY. Anterograde endoscopic ultrasound-guided pancreatic duct drainage: a technical review. Dig Dis Sci. 2019;64:1770–81.
- Tessier G, Bories E, Arvanitakis M, et al. EUS-guided pancreatogastrostomy and pancreatobulbostomy for the treatment of pain in patients with pancreatic ductal dilatation inaccessible for transpapillary endoscopic therapy. Gastrointest Endosc. 2007;65:233–41.



Lumen-Apposing Metal Stents: Innovation in the Management of Pancreatic Fluid Collections

Juan E. Corral, Victor Ciofoaia, and Michael B. Wallace

9.1 Pancreatic Fluid Collections

Pancreatitis is broadly classified as edematous pancreatitis and necrotizing pancreatitis according to the Revised Atlanta classification (Table 9.1) [1]. Interstitial edematous pancreatitis can lead to acute peripancreatic fluid collections (APFC). Approximately one-third of APFC develop a mature outer wall and form a pancreatic pseudocyst over time (approximately 4 weeks). These lesions are filled with clear liquid with minimal or no debris. On the same spectrum, necrotizing pancreatitis follows a worse clinical course and evolves into acute necrotic collections (ANC). More than half of patients with ANC undergo a similar maturation process and develop walled-off necrosis (WON). Compared to pancreatic pseudocysts, WON is identified by solid necrotic debris on cross-sectional imaging [2].

These fluid collections are provoked by pancreatic enzyme digestion and are inflammatory in nature. If patients do not have clear history of acute pancreatitis, pancreatic cystic neoplasms should be considered among the differential diagnoses. The diagnostic workup and treatment of pancreatic cystic neoplasms is reviewed in Chap. 1 of this book. Inflammatory fluid collections are usually classified by cross-sectional abdominal imaging. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) has significant advantages over computed tomography (CT), improving debris identification (and thus the differentiation between pseudocysts and walled-off necrosis). MRI

J. E. Corral · M. B. Wallace (🖂)

Department of Gastroenterology, Mayo Clinic, Jacksonville, FL, USA e-mail: Corral.juan@mayo.edu; wallace.michael@mayo.edu

V. Ciofoaia

Department of Gastroenterology, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

9

Department of Gastroenterology, Mayo Clinic Healthcare System, La Crosse, WI, USA e-mail: Ciofoaia.victor@mayo.edu

A. Facciorusso, N. Muscatiello (eds.), *Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71937-1_9

Imaging	Less than 4 weeks	More than 4 weeks
Without debris	Acute peripancreatic fluid	Pancreatic
(complicates interstitial	collections (APFC)	pseudocysts
edematous pancreatitis)		
With debris	Acute necrotic collections (ANC)	Walled-off necrosis
(complicates necrotizing		(WON) ^a
pancreatitis)		

 Table 9.1
 Pancreatic fluid collections (Revised Atlanta Classification [1])

^aWalled-off necrosis is further divided into sterile or infected walled-off necrosis (sWON and iWON, respectively)

following administration of secretin improves visualization of the main pancreatic duct and its side branches unveiling pancreatic duct disruption [3-5].

9.1.1 History and Paradigm Change

Over the last 20 years, drainage of pancreatic fluid collections has become a cornerstone in the treatment of severe pancreatitis. Drainage of fluid collections can be achieved with percutaneous, endoscopic, or surgical approaches. A recent randomized clinical trial showed similar survival rates between patients treated with endoscopic drainage and surgery. Endoscopic treatment however was superior in most of the secondary outcomes: lower rates of pancreatic fistulae, shorter hospital length of stay, and reduced costs [6]. This study recommended endoscopic ultrasound (EUS)guided double-pigtail stent placement and a nasocystic catheter as a first step. In case of lack of significant improvement, endoscopic transluminal necrosectomy is the preferred treatment. Endoscopic drainage also has significant advantages over percutaneous drainage. In addition to allowing repeated interventions and improved quality of life (obviating the need to carry percutaneous tubes), it has fewer adverse events, in particular pancreatic-cutaneous fistulas [7]. Around the same time these trials were conducted, lumen-apposing stents (LAMS) were introduced into clinical practice. Early studies showed that LAMS were easier to deploy than plastic (double-pigtail) stents, shortening procedure time. Later on, they also prove to have higher technical and clinical success rates, particularly in patients with WON [8-10].

Early endoscopic techniques were only able to drain large pancreatic collections bulging transmurally or collections showing communication with the main pancreatic duct using a transpapillary approach. Transmural drainage was initially performed with regular endoscopy and needle aspiration followed by placement of plastic stents. Endoscopic ultrasound allowed treating smaller lesions, and those with less-intimate gastric contact, that did not bulge into the gastric or intestinal lumen. Interventional EUS accelerated with the development of self-expandable metal stents (SEMS), followed by the introduction of LAMS in 2011 and finally adding an electrocautery enhanced tip to facilitate deployment ("hot LAMS") [11]. Over the last 10 years, different companies have designed LAMS variants with different lengths and diameters (see Devices).

9.2 Indications

Endoscopic drainage should be considered in all patients with symptomatic pancreatic fluid collections once the collection wall has matured, traditionally 4 weeks after acute pancreatitis episode. Symptoms include abdominal pain, dyspepsia, gastric/intestinal obstruction, biliary obstruction, and failure to thrive (Table 9.2). Patients developing cyst infection with fever, leukocytosis, acidosis, or other markers of systemic inflammatory response also benefit from endoscopic treatment. Patients with persistent organ failure despite maximum supportive therapy should be considered for prompt endoscopic drainage according to International guidelines [4]. The American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ASGE) guidelines published more recently also recommend treating patients with rapidly enlarging pseudocysts and any patient before attempting surgical interventions [12]. Lesions that meet drainage criteria can be approached with the following algorithm (Fig. 9.1). This chapter will focus on LAMS-guided drainage, recommendations on percutaneous and surgical (either video-assisted retroperitoneal debridement [VARD] or transgastric debridement) techniques can be found elsewhere [4, 14].

Traditionally endoscopic drainage of pancreatic lesions is avoided in early lesions (i.e., APFC and ANC). Performing drainage too soon can cause poor apposition between the cyst and the gastric (or duodenal) walls. Necrotic material can leak into the retroperitoneum and cause peritonitis. Occasionally, earlier (<4 weeks) drainage with a step-up strategy is performed in patients with necrotizing pancreatitis, developing infection and organ failure. Earlier interventions showed a relatively lower mortality without increase in adverse events, and similar improvement in organ failure if the indication for intervention was strong [15].

Table 9.2 Common indications for pancreatic fluid collection endoscopic	drainage
---	----------

Based on ASGE [12] and IAP/APA management recommendations [4]



Fig. 9.1 Algorithm for the management of symptomatic pancreatic fluid collections (*ANC* acute necrotic collection, *APFC* acute peripancreatic fluid collection, *VARD* video-assisted retroperitoneal debridement, *WON* walled-off necrosis). Adapted from Elmuntzer BJ [13]

9.2.1 Technique

Endoscopic drainage of pancreatic fluid collections can be performed transpapillary with fluoroscopy and retrograde pancreatography or endosonographically. Different stents can be used (i.e., plastic stents, SEMS, and LAMS). The choice of technique largely depends on local expertise and anatomy. Collections abutting the stomach and duodenum are ideal for an EUS-guided approach. Simple pseudocysts with no or minimal necrotic material can be drained with 2–3 double-pigtail plastic stents, which is simple, low cost, and effective, and is covered elsewhere in this book. Patients with WON are best treated by LAMS to facilitate passive or active drainage of the necrotic material. Patients with large collections that extend into the pelvis or paracolic gutters or with multiple collections may require a combination of endoscopy-transmural and interventional radiology-percutaneous drainage. This section will focus on EUS-guided, LAMS technique. Preparation for the procedure involves reviewing patients' medications, laboratories, and imaging (Table 9.3).

Pancreatic pseudocyst drainage is usually achieved with a single intervention. If necrotic material is present within the fluid collection (WON), endoscopic necrosectomy may be needed. It is important to discuss with the patient the potential need for additional procedures from the index endoscopy.

The first step for drainage is adequate identification of puncture site. When fluid collections are large, a visible bulge is seen into the gastric or duodenal lumen. Some lesions, particularly those smaller or those located in the pancreatic tail, are only visualized with EUS [17]. Endoscopic ultrasound images identify a puncture site closest to collection and rule out intervening vascular structures (e.g., gastric varices) with Doppler (Figs. 9.2a and 9.3a).

Table 9.3 EUS transmural drainage checklist

Stop all anticoagulants and antiplatelet agents

Stop antacids if possible (i.e., proton pump inhibitors and H2 blockers) Give prophylactic broad-spectrum antibiotics intravenously during the procedure (e.g., fluoroquinolone [16]), followed by oral antibiotics for 5–7 days

Laboratories and nutrition

Check type and screen, prothrombin time/international normalized ratio, and platelet count Verify 8 h fasting

Imaging

Cross-sectional imaging: Evaluate all vascular structures within or in close proximity with the collection (MRI preferred over CT)

EUS imaging: Measure distance between the pancreatic collection and the intestinal lumen, ideally <1 cm. Doppler evaluation of vessels around fluid collection

Anesthesia

Provide general endotracheal anesthesia to reduce the risk of aspiration of cyst fluid that is drained into the upper GI tract.

Few cases may benefit from paralytic agents during critical steps of puncture and deployment



Fig. 9.2 LAMS drainage of pancreatic pseudocyst. (a) Endoscopic intervention. (b) Abdominal MRI before and after drainage

Hot-LAMS devices have a freehand thermal puncture system that facilitates penetration of the gastric or duodenal muscular layers. This is incorporated to the stent delivery system using the same sheath under EUS guidance [18–20]. Once the LAMS is deployed, liquid (clear in pseudocyst, turbid/purulent in WON) rapidly drains into gastric or duodenal lumen. Patients often experience rapid symptomatic



Fig. 9.3 LAMS drainage of sWON. (a) Endoscopic intervention. First LAMS is deployed, followed by two double-pigtail plastic stents placed 4 weeks later. (b) Abdominal MRI before and after drainage

relief after the procedure. In the past, nasocystic catheters were routinely placed to promote post-procedure lavage of necrotic material and debris. With the larger lumen and drainage provided by LAMS, this step is now considered optional. Puncture can also be performed with endoscopic knifes (e.g., precurved needle-knife sphincterotome or a cystotome (Cook Medical)). These techniques are reviewed in other review articles [21, 22].

We recommend against routine analysis of the fluid drained with cell count or cytology (only necrotic tissue and exudative material). Bacterial cultures should be sent only if there are concerns of infected pancreatic necrosis or if the lesion is more likely an abscess than walled-off necrosis. Patients only need to be admitted in the hospital if they develop worsening pain post-procedure, bleeding, or clinical deterioration. Endoscopists may hospitalize patients if they have limited healthcare access close to home in case symptoms ensue.

Patients should receive prophylactic intravenous antibiotics following ASGE guidelines and local susceptibility patterns [16]. This should be followed by five to 7 days of oral antibiotics (e.g., fluoroquinolone or extended spectrum penicillin). If pancreatic fluid was sent for culture, antibiotics should be adjusted accordingly. After the procedure, patients can drink clear liquids for the following 24 h and then advance to small, frequent low-fat meals (i.e., 30–50 g of fat per day). There are no specific activity restrictions, Table 9.4 [23].

Post procedure
Resume clear liquids same day for 24 h
Advance diet to frequent low-fat meals as tolerated
Avoid intense physical activity, but no definite activity restrictions
Do not attempt closure of cyst gastrostomy
Routine hospitalization is not necessary if patient is clinically stable and symptoms are mild
For pseudocysts and WON with small amount of debris, consider follow-up imaging in
4 weeks. If fluid collection has collapsed, remove stents
If worsening symptoms, consider repeating drainage
For WON with significant debris (>40% of collection volume), consider repeating endoscopy
with dilation and necrosectomy
Leave 1-4 double-pigtail plastic stents for 3-5-year period
Oral antibiotics for 5–7 days
Resume anticoagulation on a case-by-case basis

Table 9.4 Post-drainage care and follow-up

Usually, we recommend a follow-up CT scan, MRI, or EUS several weeks after drainage to assess complete resolution of the fluid cavity (Figs. 9.2b and 9.3b). If lesion was a pseudocyst, stents can be removed and patients monitored clinically. If there was necrotic material (>40% solid or turbid material), patients may need necrosectomy (see below) or leaving plastic stents in place despite radiographic resolution [24]. There is debate on how long plastic stents should remain in place, while some authors recommend indefinitely, we have seen plastic stents fistulize into the colon, hence advocate removing the stents after a 3–5-year period. Management of disrupted pancreatic duct and non-resolving fluid collections is complex and requires multidisciplinary approach with interventional radiology and surgery. General principles of disrupted pancreatic duct are reviewed elsewhere [25].

9.2.2 Available Devices

LAMS are fully covered, barbell-shaped, and self-expanding metal stents designed to secure the connection between the cyst and gastric (or duodenal) wall. At the time of writing, there are four LAMS options available: AXIOS and Hot AXIOS (Boston scientific Co., Marlborough, United States), NAGI and Spaxus (Taewoong Medical Co., Seoul, Korea), PSEUDOCYST stent (Micro-Tech, Ann Arbor, United States), and BCF stent (M.I.Tech Co., Seoul, Korea) (Fig. 9.4) [26]. The design and deployment systems are very similar. Different sizes are available with a luminal diameter of 6, 8, 10, 15, and 20 mm.

9.3 Repeated Interventions and Necrosectomy

Pancreatic pseudocysts usually improve after initial drainage. LAMS can be removed simply by pulling with a rat-toothed forceps using a regular front-view gastroscope. In WON, the amount of necrotic tissue helps decide if additional



Fig. 9.4 (a) AXIOS stent and (b) NAGI stent

debridement is necessary. Fluid collections with >40% debris have lower changes to resolve spontaneously and benefit from necrosectomy [13].

Necrosectomy is removing debris and other necrotic material with snares, nets, lithotripsy baskets, foreign body graspers, and/or forceps through the previously placed LAMS. Depending on size of LAMS placed, endoscopist should dilate the tract with a balloon up to 18–20 mm, to allow transluminal entry of a front-view gastroscope and placement of plastic stents (between 1 and 4) [13]. Washing the necrotic area with hydrogen peroxide facilitates faster and more complete debridement. Small case series show this approach is safe when using a 1:5 to 1:20 dilution of 3% hydrogen peroxide. The solution can be flushed directly during endoscopy or via a nasocystic drain [27, 28].

If extensive adherent necrotic material remains after intracavitary endoscopic debridement, repeat debridement is typically performed every other day in hospitalized patients. If patients are stable and symptoms are mild, the procedures can be completed as outpatients and come back to the endoscopy room once a week until resolution (one case series reported a median of five procedures per patient) [29].

There is disagreement on whether necrosectomy is recommended in the index endoscopy. Most experts advocate waiting for the second endoscopy, but proceed if there is extensive necrosis or infection is identified [23].

Occasionally, the fluid collections are loculated into multiple compartments, and some portions are not drained by the first LAMS. Additional transmural stents combined with transpapillary drainage has been proven to be safe and effective. This technique is called multigated drainage [13].

9.4 Adverse Events

Successful resolution of collections is observed in 88–91% patients treated with LAMS based on recently published case series [30, 31]. Endoscopic drainage of pancreatic collections has significantly less adverse events than surgery, and a minimally invasive step-up approach (percutaneous or endoscopic drainage followed by

Parameter	Reported frequency (%)	Reference
Technical success	84–98	[9, 34–36]
Clinical success	93	[9]
All adverse events	5-50	[9, 13, 37, 38]
Pancreatic pseudocyst	5-20	
WON	10-50	
Procedure adverse events	6–20	[30, 39]
Stent maldeployment	2	[8]
Acute bleeding	7	[35, 40, 41]
Perforation, pneumoperitoneum, and peritonitis	3-11	[31, 35, 39]
Delayed adverse events		
Recurrence	3–15	[34, 42]
Infection (with or without stent occlusion)	4–17	[8, 9, 35]
Delayed bleeding	0–25	[37, 39]
Stent migration (outward migration)	4–7	[9, 35, 38, 40]
Buried stent syndrome (inward migration)	0–17	[37, 38]
Biliary stricture	0-8	[37, 40]
Mortality	0-8	[34, 35] [40]

Table 9.5 Technical success, adverse events, and mortality after LAMS placement

Estimates in this table include combined endoscopic interventions (i.e., LAMS with plastic stents)

video-assisted retroperitoneal debridement) is now recommended over primary open necrosectomy [32]. Endoscopic drainage also prevents incisional hernias, exocrine and endocrine insufficiency over long-term follow-up (86 ± 11 months in one study) [33]. Despite limited comparisons between different patient populations (pseudocysts vs. WON), interventions (LAMS-only vs. combined approaches), and varying definitions, adverse events develop in approximately 11% of patients, and procedure-related mortality is probably around 1% [30]. Table 9.5 summarizes the most important adverse events. Surgery is required in only 3–4% of cases [9, 40]. Overall, technical success is higher in patients with pancreatic pseudocysts, and adverse events are more common with WON [8, 43].

9.4.1 Procedure Adverse Events

Bleeding risk with LAMS is slightly higher compared to double-pigtail plastic stents. In a retrospective series of 313 patients, the rate of bleeding in the LAMS group was 7% (six patients) compared with 2% (two patients) in the plastic stent group and no patients in the fully covered SEMS group [41].

Acute bleeding usually presents when there is inadvertent laceration of intervening blood vessels. This can be avoided with Doppler visualization of vascular structures prior to puncture. Low volume bleeding from veins or small vessels can be treated with infiltration with a solution of 1:10,000 epinephrine, followed by endoscopic coagulation or hemostatic clipping. Large volume bleeding, frequently from a splenic pseudoaneurysm or gastric varices, usually requires IR embolization. Endoscopic tamponade with a large caliber balloon should be attempted to permit fluid resuscitation and transport to the interventional radiology suite or operating room [13].

Stent malfunction or obstruction by solid necrotic material of food can lead to an infected or loculated fluid collection. This usually presents with worsening pain, fever, and leukocytosis. Such symptoms should prompt another endoscopy for stent cleaning and debridement. Infection is closely associated with the degree of pancreatic necrosis. Initially reported at high incidence (up to 50%) now is estimated to be much lower [44]. Post-procedure prophylactic antibiotics are administered routinely (Table 9.3).

Perforation is reported in 5% of cases, it usually develops when the fluid collection wall is poorly defined or there is more than 1 cm between the collection and intestinal lumen. In published case series, the majority of cases were managed successfully without surgery. Free peritoneal gas is frequently seen after drainage and not always represents ongoing abdominal contamination (CO₂ tracking). Stable patients with a reassuring abdominal examination can be treated with antibiotics and observation.

9.4.2 Delayed Adverse Events

Delayed bleeding is usually caused by LAMS slowly eroding into retroperitoneal vessels. LAMS are more likely to cause pseudoaneurysm bleeding than doublepigtail plastic stents [45]. Leaving LAMS in place for more than 4 weeks appears to be a significant predictor of bleeding, perhaps due to collapse of the cyst cavity and associated direct contact of the LAMS with vascular structures. As such, it is generally preferred to remove LAMS after 3–4 weeks and replace with plastic stents. If the fluid collection has not fully drained, coaxial placement of plastic stents through the LAMS is also reasonable with close surveillance [46].

Fluid collections can recur after drainage. Risk factors for fluid accumulation or protracted course are acute lesions, extensive necrotic tissue, thick walls (>1 cm), and lesions located in the tail of the pancreas [47, 48]. Reaccumulation of fluid is more frequent after combined drainage (i.e., transluminal and transpapillary). The transpapillary stent diverts pancreatic fluid drainage and prevents the maturation of the cyst-enterostomy fistula. Studies have not identified operator-related factors that predict stent occlusion [43].

Recurrence is also proportional to the extension of pancreatic duct disruption. It is seen in up to 50% of patients with disconnected pancreatic tail syndrome. Such patients have viable but disconnected segments of pancreas upstream [25]. Recurrence is also common with pancreatic duct strictures, residual biliary stones, or tumors. Placing additional pigtail stents through a LAMS can prevent recurrence.

Migration of the stent into the pancreatic pseudocyst is a relatively rare adverse event. A migrated stent can lead to secondary infection, abscess, perforation, or fistula formation. Stents can also erode into hollow organs causing fistulas (more frequently into the colon). The migrated stent needs to be retrieved with surgery, endoscopy, or percutaneous intervention. The remaining delayed adverse events are secondary to damage caused by severe necrotizing pancreatitis rather than the procedure performed. Patients frequently develop pancreatic exocrine insufficiency and diabetes. Finally, 80% patients develop anatomic changes in the pancreatic ducts that resemble chronic pancreatitis. The clinical relevance of these changes is unknown [49]. A multicenter study suggests that the use of electrocautery (hot LAMS) may increase the risk of delayed adverse events [43].

9.4.3 Efficacy and Economic Considerations

Endoscopic drainage of symptomatic pancreatic collections (step-up approach) leads to shorter hospital stay compared to patients treated with surgery up-front. Compared to percutaneous treatment, endoscopy reduces the number of interventions, and number of follow-up abdominal imaging studies, and eliminates the risk of pancreatic-cutaneous fistula [6, 50].

Comparing the two main strategies, LAMS have higher success rates than plastic stents but the average cost per patient is significantly higher (U.S.\$20,029 and U.S.\$15,941 per patient treated with LAMS and plastic stents, respectively). The incremental cost-effectiveness justifies routine use of LAMS to treat WON, but plastic stents may be preferred for simple pancreatic pseudocysts [51, 52].

Finally, some endoscopists use the multigated LAMS technique. Considering the incremental cost of each stent, surgical treatment may become cost-effective in these patients [13].

9.5 The Future

Multiple questions in the management and follow-up care of patients with complicated pancreatitis remain unanswered. It is unclear if up-front necrosectomy is better and safer than step-up necrosectomy. The role of adjunctive irrigation and drainage strategies is based on expert opinion only and should be rigorously investigated. Prototypes of LAMS with an anti-reflux valve to facilitate one-way drainage of the collections, and multigated drainage have yet to be evaluated in a comparative prospective fashion [53]. Finally, the long-term benefits and adverse events of LAMS beyond 5 years need to be assessed.

References

^{1.} Banks PA, Bollen TL, Dervenis C, et al. Classification of acute pancreatitis--2012: revision of the Atlanta classification and definitions by international consensus. Gut. 2013;62:102–11.

Manrai M, Kochhar R, Gupta V, et al. Outcome of acute pancreatic and peripancreatic collections occurring in patients with acute pancreatitis. Ann Surg. 2018;267:357–63.

Kamal A, Singh VK, Akshintala VS, et al. CT and MRI assessment of symptomatic organized pancreatic fluid collections and pancreatic duct disruption: an interreader variability study using the revised Atlanta classification 2012. Abdom Imaging. 2015;40:1608–16.

- Working Group IAPAPAAPG. IAP/APA evidence-based guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology. 2013;13:e1–15.
- Madzak A, Olesen SS, Wathle GK, et al. Secretin-stimulated magnetic resonance imaging assessment of the benign pancreatic disorders: systematic review and proposal for a standardized protocol. Pancreas. 2016;45:1092–103.
- van Brunschot S, van Grinsven J, van Santvoort HC, et al. Endoscopic or surgical stepup approach for infected necrotising pancreatitis: a multicentre randomised trial. Lancet. 2018;391:51–8.
- 7. Shahid H. Endoscopic management of pancreatic fluid collections. Transl Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;4:15.
- Siddiqui AA, Adler DG, Nieto J, et al. EUS-guided drainage of peripancreatic fluid collections and necrosis by using a novel lumen-apposing stent: a large retrospective, multicenter U.S. experience (with videos). Gastrointest Endosc. 2016;83:699–707.
- 9. Hammad T, Khan MA, Alastal Y, et al. Efficacy and safety of lumen-apposing metal stents in management of pancreatic fluid collections: are they better than plastic stents? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Dig Dis Sci. 2018;63:289–301.
- Bang JY, Navaneethan U, Hasan MK, et al. Non-superiority of lumen-apposing metal stents over plastic stents for drainage of walled-off necrosis in a randomised trial. Gut. 2019;68:1200–9.
- Binmoeller KF, Shah J. A novel lumen-apposing stent for transluminal drainage of nonadherent extraintestinal fluid collections. Endoscopy. 2011;43:337–42.
- ASGE Standards of Practice Committee, Muthusamy VR, Chandrasekhara V, et al. The role of endoscopy in the diagnosis and treatment of inflammatory pancreatic fluid collections. Gastrointest Endosc. 2016;83:481–8.
- Elmunzer BJ. Endoscopic drainage of pancreatic fluid collections. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;16:1851–63. e3.
- Mowery NT, Bruns BR, MacNew HG, et al. Surgical management of pancreatic necrosis: a practice management guideline from the Eastern Association for the Surgery of Trauma. J Trauma Acute Care Surg. 2017;83:316–27.
- Trikudanathan G, Tawfik P, Amateau SK, et al. Early (<4 weeks) versus standard (>/= 4 weeks) endoscopically centered step-up interventions for necrotizing pancreatitis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2018;113:1550–8.
- 16. Khashab MA, Chithadi KV, Acosta RD, et al. Antibiotic prophylaxis for GI endoscopy. Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;81:81–9.
- Varadarajulu S, Wilcox CM, Tamhane A, et al. Role of EUS in drainage of peripancreatic fluid collections not amenable for endoscopic transmural drainage. Gastrointest Endosc. 2007;66:1107–19.
- Itoi T, Binmoeller KF, Shah J, et al. Clinical evaluation of a novel lumen-apposing metal stent for endosonography-guided pancreatic pseudocyst and gallbladder drainage (with videos). Gastrointest Endosc. 2012;75:870–6.
- 19. Gornals JB, De la Serna-Higuera C, Sanchez-Yague A, et al. Endosonography-guided drainage of pancreatic fluid collections with a novel lumen-apposing stent. Surg Endosc. 2013;27:1428–34.
- Anderloni A, Leo MD, Carrara S, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided transmural drainage by cautery-tipped lumen-apposing metal stent: exploring the possible indications. Ann Gastroenterol. 2018;31:735–41.
- Binmoeller KF, Nett A. The evolution of endoscopic cystgastrostomy. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am. 2018;28:143–56.
- 22. Shamah S, Okolo PI 3rd. Systematic review of endoscopic cyst gastrostomy. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am. 2018;28:477–92.
- 23. Howell DA. Endoscopic management of walled-off pancreatic fluid collections: Techniques: UpToDate; 2020.
- Arvanitakis M, Delhaye M, Bali MA, et al. Pancreatic-fluid collections: a randomized controlled trial regarding stent removal after endoscopic transmural drainage. Gastrointest Endosc. 2007;65:609–19.

- Lawrence C, Howell DA, Stefan AM, et al. Disconnected pancreatic tail syndrome: potential for endoscopic therapy and results of long-term follow-up. Gastrointest Endosc. 2008;67:673–9.
- 26. Teoh AYB, Bapaye A, Lakhtakia S, et al. Prospective multicenter international study on the outcomes of a newly developed self-approximating lumen-apposing metallic stent for drainage of pancreatic fluid collections and endoscopic necrosectomy. Dig Endosc. 2020;32(3):391–8.
- Siddiqui AA, Easler J, Strongin A, et al. Hydrogen peroxide-assisted endoscopic necrosectomy for walled-off pancreatic necrosis: a dual center pilot experience. Dig Dis Sci. 2014;59:687–90.
- Abdelhafez M, Elnegouly M, Hasab Allah MS, et al. Transluminal retroperitoneal endoscopic necrosectomy with the use of hydrogen peroxide and without external irrigation: a novel approach for the treatment of walled-off pancreatic necrosis. Surg Endosc. 2013;27:3911–20.
- 29. Yasuda I, Nakashima M, Iwai T, et al. Japanese multicenter experience of endoscopic necrosectomy for infected walled-off pancreatic necrosis: the JENIPaN study. Endoscopy. 2013;45:627–34.
- Hookey LC, Debroux S, Delhaye M, et al. Endoscopic drainage of pancreatic-fluid collections in 116 patients: a comparison of etiologies, drainage techniques, and outcomes. Gastrointest Endosc. 2006;63:635–43.
- Gardner TB, Coelho-Prabhu N, Gordon SR, et al. Direct endoscopic necrosectomy for the treatment of walled-off pancreatic necrosis: results from a multicenter U.S. series. Gastrointest Endosc. 2011;73:718–26.
- van Santvoort HC, Besselink MG, Bakker OJ, et al. A step-up approach or open necrosectomy for necrotizing pancreatitis. N Engl J Med. 2010;362:1491–502.
- Hollemans RA, Bakker OJ, Boermeester MA, et al. Superiority of step-up approach vs open necrosectomy in long-term follow-up of patients with necrotizing pancreatitis. Gastroenterology. 2019;156:1016–26.
- 34. Antillon MR, Shah RJ, Stiegmann G, et al. Single-step EUS-guided transmural drainage of simple and complicated pancreatic pseudocysts. Gastrointest Endosc. 2006;63:797–803.
- Kahaleh M, Shami VM, Conaway MR, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound drainage of pancreatic pseudocyst: a prospective comparison with conventional endoscopic drainage. Endoscopy. 2006;38:355–9.
- Varadarajulu S, Lopes TL, Wilcox CM, et al. EUS versus surgical cyst-gastrostomy for management of pancreatic pseudocysts. Gastrointest Endosc. 2008;68:649–55.
- 37. Bang JY, Hasan M, Navaneethan U, et al. Lumen-apposing metal stents (LAMS) for pancreatic fluid collection (PFC) drainage: may not be business as usual. Gut. 2017;66:2054–6.
- Ryan BM, Venkatachalapathy SV, Huggett MT, et al. Safety of lumen-apposing metal stents (LAMS) for pancreatic fluid collection drainage. Gut. 2017;66:1530–1.
- Zhu H, Lin H, Jin Z, et al. Re-evaluation of the role of lumen-apposing metal stents (LAMS) for pancreatic fluid collection drainage. Gut. 2017;66:2192.
- 40. Stecher SS, Simon P, Friesecke S, et al. Delayed severe bleeding complications after treatment of pancreatic fluid collections with lumen-apposing metal stents. Gut. 2017;66:1871–2.
- 41. Siddiqui AA, Kowalski TE, Loren DE, et al. Fully covered self-expanding metal stents versus lumen-apposing fully covered self-expanding metal stent versus plastic stents for endoscopic drainage of pancreatic walled-off necrosis: clinical outcomes and success. Gastrointest Endosc. 2017;85:758–65.
- Deviere J, Bueso H, Baize M, et al. Complete disruption of the main pancreatic duct: endoscopic management. Gastrointest Endosc. 1995;42:445–51.
- 43. Yang D, Perbtani YB, Mramba LK, et al. Safety and rate of delayed adverse events with lumenapposing metal stents (LAMS) for pancreatic fluid collections: a multicenter study. Endosc Int Open. 2018;6:E1267–E75.
- 44. Baron TH, Thaggard WG, Morgan DE, et al. Endoscopic therapy for organized pancreatic necrosis. Gastroenterology. 1996;111:755–64.
- 45. Brimhall B, Han S, Tatman PD, et al. Increased incidence of pseudoaneurysm bleeding with lumen-apposing metal stents compared to double-pigtail plastic stents in patients with peripancreatic fluid collections. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;16:1521–8.

- 46. Bang JY, Hawes RH, Varadarajulu S. Lumen-apposing metal stent placement for drainage of pancreatic fluid collections: predictors of adverse events. Gut. 2020;69(8):1379–81.
- Beckingham IJ, Krige JE, Bornman PC, et al. Long term outcome of endoscopic drainage of pancreatic pseudocysts. Am J Gastroenterol. 1999;94:71–4.
- Baron TH, Harewood GC, Morgan DE, et al. Outcome differences after endoscopic drainage of pancreatic necrosis, acute pancreatic pseudocysts, and chronic pancreatic pseudocysts. Gastrointest Endosc. 2002;56:7–17.
- Smith MT, Sherman S, Ikenberry SO, et al. Alterations in pancreatic ductal morphology following polyethylene pancreatic stent therapy. Gastrointest Endosc. 1996;44:268–75.
- Akshintala VS, Saxena P, Zaheer A, et al. A comparative evaluation of outcomes of endoscopic versus percutaneous drainage for symptomatic pancreatic pseudocysts. Gastrointest Endosc. 2014;79:921–8; quiz 83 e2, 83 e5.
- 51. Chen YI, Barkun AN, Adam V, et al. Cost-effectiveness analysis comparing lumen-apposing metal stents with plastic stents in the management of pancreatic walled-off necrosis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2018;88:267–76.e1.
- 52. Chen YI, Khashab MA, Adam V, et al. Plastic stents are more cost-effective than lumenapposing metal stents in management of pancreatic pseudocysts. Endosc Int Open. 2018;6:E780–E8.
- 53. Cho IR, Chung MJ, Jo JH, et al. A novel lumen-apposing metal stent with an anti-reflux valve for endoscopic ultrasound-guided drainage of pseudocysts and walled-off necrosis: a pilot study. PLoS One. 2019;14:e0221812.



Endoscopic Pancreatic Necrosectomy

Carlo Fabbri, Cecilia Binda, and Chiara Coluccio

Acute pancreatitis is one of the most common gastrointestinal diseases; most of the cases are mild and self-limited. However, pancreatic fluid collections (PFC) are a frequent complication, and based on the updated Atlanta classification criteria, they are differentiated based on duration (less or greater than 4 weeks from onset of acute pancreatitis) and presence or absence of necrosis. Interstitial edematous pancreatitis can lead to acute PFC (<4 weeks) or pancreatic pseudocysts (>4 weeks). Necrotizing pancreatitis can lead to acute necrotic collections (<4 weeks) and walled-off peripancreatic necrosis (WOPN) (>4 weeks) [1]. Up to 10–20% of cases of acute pancreatitis can be associated with necrosis of the pancreas, peripancreatic tissue, or both. In this cluster of patients, the rate of mortality can reach 20%–30% if the infection occurs in the necrotic collection [2].

ESGE guidelines for the management of acute necrotizing pancreatitis recommend invasive interventions in case of: infected PFC, proven or clinically suspected, due to the highest risk of death in this subset; sterile pancreatic necrosis if symptomatic due to organ compression (persistent unwellness, abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting, nutritional failure, gastric outlet syndrome, intestinal or biliary obstruction, recurrent acute pancreatitis, fistulas, or persistent systemic inflammatory response syndrome); and abdominal compartment syndrome. Size alone, without symptoms, does not represent a criterion for drainage. The endoscopic ultrasonography (EUS)guided approach, compared with surgical and percutaneous ones, is reported to be a valid option, taking into account the available expertise [3].

AGA guidelines, recently updated, agree on indications for drainage specifying that both percutaneous or transmural endoscopic drainage are appropriate first-line approaches although the endoscopic one may be preferred as it avoids the risk of creation of a pancreatocutaneous fistula [4].

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

10

C. Fabbri $(\boxtimes) \cdot C$. Binda $\cdot C$. Coluccio

Gastroenterology and Digestive Endoscopy Unit, Forlì-Cesena Hospitals, AUSL Romagna, Ravenna, Italy

e-mail: carlo.fabbri@auslromagna.it

A. Facciorusso, N. Muscatiello (eds.), Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71937-1_10

Endoscopic transmural drainage for pancreatic necrotic collections was first described in 1996, and over the years it has revolutionized, due to an exponential increase of EUS-guided interventional procedures and a growing variety of the available devices [5, 6].

Necrosis can involve any part of the pancreas, and it could be endoscopically reachable from both the stomach or duodenum, based on the location of the largest portion and the distance between the gastric or duodenal wall and the target cavity. Usually, collections near the pancreatic head are drained transduodenally, while those around the body or tail are drained transgastrically. Although the transgastric approach is most frequently used, both the approaches allow a direct endoscopic access to the collection, representing a gateway for direct endoscopic necrosectomy in order to remove the necrotic tissue that cannot be drained by the only presence of the stent [4].

EUS-guided drainage can be performed using plastic stents (PS), self-expandable metal stents (SEMS), or a dedicated device called lumen-apposing metal stents (LAMS). This stent is a fully covered, barbell-shaped, metal stent specifically designed for EUS-guided use (Fig. 10.1), which consists of two-side flanges with anti-migratory properties and a wide and short saddle that facilitates the creation of a stable fistula between the stomach or duodenal wall and the target cavity (variable according to the indication).

Although recent studies did not show different outcomes between EUS-guided drainage using PS or LAMS [7, 8]. LAMS seem to be preferred in the setting of WON in which they seem to provide satisfactory results and seem to be preferable [9–11].

Wider LAMS, indeed, allow the introduction of the endoscope through the stent to carry out interventional procedures in structures adjacent to the gastrointestinal tract, such as direct endoscopic necrosectomy (DEN) [12–14] and seems to be associated to lower number of DEN sessions [15].

Once a fistulous tract is created, the need for debridement is influenced by the amount of solid material within the WON. Debridement of necrotic tissue is a challenging procedure which represents a combination of different techniques [16]: suction of debris through the working channel, irrigation using antibiotics and/or hydrogen peroxide through the working channel or an endoscopically placed nasocystic tubes or percutaneously placed drains, and/or a direct endoscopic necrosectomy (DEN). DEN is performed directly introducing an endoscope into the cavity of the cyst and actively removing pieces of necrosis. DEN is usually performed with a therapeutic gastroscope, even if there is no evidence comparing different types of scopes (like double-channel, pediatric or standard) in this field [4]. Technically, a scope with a larger working channel makes easier the aspiration of fluids or small solid fragments and the entry of tools necessary for necrosectomy [17, 18].

The position of the site to puncture to gain the access to the collection is also taken into consideration for DEN; if it is too proximal (i.e., fundus or cardia) or distal (i.e., from the antrum), it may compromise the direct introduction of the scope into the cavity, making harder handling its manipulation.



Moreover, to date, no specifically dedicated devices were designed for DEN, but several endoscopic accessories have been used, such as grasping/rat-tooth/pelican forceps, polypectomy snares, retrieval nets, Dormia baskets, and stone extraction balloons (Fig. 10.2) [19–21].

The most commonly used are polypectomy snares and Dormia baskets, although no comparative trials are reported regarding the outcomes between the devices.

Recently, a novel automated mechanical endoscopic resection system called EndoRotor (Interscope, Inc., Whitinsville, Massachusetts, USA) has been described for DEN (Fig. 10.3). It is a catheter, driven by an electronically controlled console, which can be advanced through the working channel of the endoscope (of at least

Fig. 10.2 Direct endoscopic necrosectomy using polypectomy snare



Fig. 10.3 EndoRotor (Interscope, Inc., Whitinsville, Massachusetts, USA)



3.2 mm in diameter) and has the function to suck, cut, and remove small solid fragments collected in the tissue collection trap. It is characterized by two rotating speeds (at either 1000 or 1700 revolutions per minute) and an increasing power of suction (from 40 L/min to 60 L/min), controlled by the endoscopist using two separate foot pedals. The cutter opening window of the device should be in direct contact to the necrotic tissue.

The catheter is flexible and able to tolerate endoscope torquing movements up to greater than 160°. Some reports have been described of successful DEN using EndoRotor system, even in patients who had previously been treated with conventional tools not reaching the resolution of the collection [22, 23].

In a case series published by van der Wiel et al. [24], a median number of two procedures was required to achieve complete removal of necrosis; using conventional tools, the mean number of interventions till recovery is reported to be about four per patient [25, 26].

Current literature indicates that this instrument is an encouraging option to achieve complete clearance of the pancreatic necrosis with lower number of DEN sessions; plus, the risk of bleeding using this new tool seems to be low, because necrosectomy is performed under constant endoscopic visualization, favoring successful treatment despite the presence of vessels inside the collection [22].
Regardless the type of devices used, it is still debating whether DEN should be done up-front, namely just following stent placement, or delayed to another session, and whether to perform it scheduled or "on-demand."

DEN, indeed, has been considered as part of the step-up approach of EUS-guided drainage of pancreatic fluid. Standing to this approach, DEN, which is considered a high-risk procedure, should be taken into consideration after failure of transmural drainage and irrigation through a nasocystic tube [27, 28].

However, a precocious session of DEN, during the initial endoscopic access into the necrotic cavity in a single-step intervention, has also been described demonstrating reduced rates of complications and mortality rate [18, 19, 29].

Although no strong indications are provided, Fig. 10.4 represents the flowchart proposed by the latest American practice guidelines (Fig. 10.4) [4].

Major complications related to DEN are represented by intracavitary bleeding (the most common and fearsome), air embolism, and perforation, with an overall complication rate that could rank 36% [4, 30]. Although these complications are often self-limited and can be treated conservatively, in some cases they may require endoscopic re-intervention, mainly mechanical hemostasis, or radiological or surgical interventions, becoming potentially life-threating [30–32].

Another important issue is about timing for DEN, which has been changing in the last years. Although 4 weeks have been used as threshold for the development of a mature wall of the collections and therefore as perfect timing beyond which transmural drainage and DEN should be performed, data are emerging on precocious treatments. When there a strong indication is present, like infection and organ failure, an early (<4 weeks) endoscopic drainage is effective and does not carry an increased risk of complications, although a slightly increased need for surgery is reported [33].



Fig. 10.4 Flowchart adapted from AGA guidelines. WON walled-off necrosis, EUS endoscopic ultrasound, LAMS lumen-apposing metal stent, DEN direct endoscopic necrosectomy

A topic which is emerging for the management of pancreatic necrosis is proton pump inhibitor (PPI) use in these setting of patients. In 2016, Thompson et al. [29] demonstrated that, among 60 patients undergone to necrosectomy, discontinuing PPI therapy may lead to autodigestion of the necrotic tissue by physiologic gastric acid production and further address potential infectious complications. A more recent multicenter retrospective study on 272 patients undergone to EUS-guided drainage for WON showed a statistically significant number of DEN needed for the resolution of the necrosis for those patients in which PPI were discontinued (3.2 number of DEN vs. 4.6) [34]. The most recent published American guidelines on management of pancreatic necrosis [4] mention this topic assessing that, despite experienced endoscopists have recommended avoidance of proton pump inhibitor after transmural drainage, data are lacking to strongly recommend this practice.

Not least, "hard-to-treat" conditions are represented by those necrotic collections which are far from the gastrointestinal walls and, therefore, not amenable to transluminal drainage, and by necrosis extended to the pelvic paracolic gutter. In all these cases, a percutaneous drainage alone or as dual approach is recommended [3, 4]. However, percutaneous catheter, even when larger ones are used, could be insufficient for the drainage of the solid component and do not allow to perform direct necrosectomy, with reduced possibility of resolution of the necrosis. On the other hand, surgical necrosectomy, even with a minimally invasive approach, is burdened by high mortality and complication rates, so that should be reserved only for patients with persistent organ disfunction and failure to thrive [4, 35, 36].

For all these reasons, even considering that complex necrotic collections are potentially life-threatening and lacking of standard treatment, a percutaneous endoscopic necrosectomy (PEN) through esophageal SEMS has been proposed, showing promising results [37]. This technique has been previously reserved to those patients in which an endoscopic drainage was contraindicated or technically impossible, although in further case series has been used also for patients with a previous endoscopic transmural drainage [37–44].

Technically, a 0.035-inch guidewire is advanced through a previously placed transcutaneous catheter and coiled within the target cavity under fluoroscopic guidance; the catheter is then removed leaving the wire in place; the tract usually undergone to pneumatic dilation over the wire under fluoroscopic guidance. Then, a fully covered SEMS is inserted into the fistulous tract and again a dilation with balloon is performed under fluoroscopy in order to achieve an adequate diameter for the introduction of an endoscope (Fig. 10.5). Usually, a gastroscope is preferred and introduced into the collection through the esophageal stent in order to perform necrosectomy. The metal stent is sutured to the skin and subsequent percutaneous debridement sessions can be done until complete resolution. In addition, a catheter can be placed through the SEMS between each session of PEN for continuous lavages or local instillation of antibiotic. After the removal of SEMS, the fistulous tract can be kept healing by secondary intention [42].

In a recently published case series [42], the technical success and clinical success rate were 100% and 89%, respectively, without need for additional endoscopic



Fig. 10.5 (a) Fluoroscopic view of the necrotic collection by the catheter previously placed. (b) Placement of the fully covered esophageal SEMS under fluoroscopic guidance. (c, d) After placement of SEMS, the CRE balloon was used to dilate esophageal stent, allowing the passage of a gastroscope

interventions. This suggests that PEN, in some special conditions, is an effective alternative method to bear in mind.

However, only case report and case series with few number of patients are reported so that these technique is not, to date, included in the international guidelines.

References

- Banks PA, Bollen TL, Dervenis C, Gooszen HG, Johnson CD, Sarr MG, et al. Classification of acute pancreatitis—2012: revision of the Atlanta classification and definitions by international consensus. Gut. 2013;62(1):102–11. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2012-302779.
- Trikudanathan G, Wolbrink DRJ, van Santvoort HC, et al. Current concepts in severe acute and necrotizing pancreatitis: an evidence-based approach. Gastroenterology. 2019;156:1994–2007.e3.
- Arvanitakis M, Dumonceau JM, Albert J, Badaoui A, Bali MA, Barthet M, et al. Endoscopic management of acute necrotizing pancreatitis: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) evidence-based multidisciplinary guidelines. Endoscopy. 2018;50(5):524–46. https:// doi.org/10.1055/a-0588-5365.
- Baron TH, DiMaio CJ, Wang AY, Morgan KA. American gastroenterological association clinical practice update: management of pancreatic necrosis. Gastroenterology. 2020;158(1):67–75. e1. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2019.07.064.
- Baron TH, Thaggard WG, Morgan DE, et al. Endoscopic therapy for organized pancreatic necrosis. Gastroenterology. 1996;111:755–64.

- Baron TH, Kozarek RA. Endotherapy for organized pancreatic necrosis: perspectives after 20 years. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2012;10:1202–7.
- Bang JY, Navaneethan U, Hasan MK, Sutton B, Hawes R, Varadarajulu S. Non-superiority of lumen-apposing metal stents over plastic stents for drainage of walled-off necrosis in a randomised trial. Gut. 2019;68(7):1200–9. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2017-315335.
- Lang GD, Fritz C, Bhat T, Das KK, Murad FM, Early DS, Edmundowicz SA, Kushnir VM, Mullady DK. EUS-guided drainage of peripancreatic fluid collections with lumen-apposing metal stents and plastic double-pigtail stents: comparison of efficacy and adverse event rates. Gastrointest Endosc. 2018;87(1):150–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gie.2017.06.029.
- 9. Chen YI, Yang J, Friedland S, Holmes I, Law R, Hosmer A, Stevens T, Franco MC, Jang S, Pawa R, Mathur N, Sejpal DV, Inamdar S, Trindade AJ, Nieto J, Berzin TM, Sawhney M, DeSimone ML, DiMaio C, Kumta NA, Gupta S, Yachimski P, Anderloni A, Baron TH, James TW, Jamil LH, Ona MA, Lo SK, Gaddam S, Dollhopf M, Bukhari MA, Moran R, Gutierrez OB, Sanaei O, Fayad L, Ngamruengphong S, Kumbhari V, Singh V, Repici A, Khashab MA. Lumen apposing metal stents are superior to plastic stents in pancreatic walled-off necrosis: a large international multicenter study. Endosc Int Open. 2019;7(3):E347–54. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-0828-7630.
- Giovannini M. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided drainage of pancreatic fluid collections. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am. 2018;28(2):157–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. giec.2017.11.004.
- Guo J, Saftoiu A, Vilmann P, Fusaroli P, Giovannini M, Mishra G, et al. A multi-institutional consensus on how to perform endoscopic ultrasound-guided peri-pancreatic fluid collection drainage and endoscopic necrosectomy. Endosc Ultrasound. 2017;6:285–91.
- 12. Rinninella E, Kunda R, Dollhopf M, Sanchez-Yague A, Will U, Tarantino I, Gornals Soler J, Ullrich S, Meining A, Esteban JM, Enz T, Vanbiervliet G, Vleggaar F, Attili F, Larghi A. EUS-guided drainage of pancreatic fluid collections using a novel lumen-apposing metal stent on an electrocautery-enhanced delivery system: a large retrospective study (with video). Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;82(6):1039–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gie.2015.04.006.
- Irani S, Baron TH, Grimm IS, Khashab MA. EUS-guided gallbladder drainage with a lumenapposing metal stent (with video). Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;82(6):1110–5. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.gie.2015.05.045.
- 14. Siddiqui AA, Adler DG, Nieto J, Shah JN, Binmoeller KF, Kane S, Yan L, Laique SN, Kowalski T, Loren DE, Taylor LJ, Munigala S, Bhat YM. EUS-guided drainage of peripancreatic fluid collections and necrosis by using a novel lumen-apposing stent: a large retrospective, multi-center U.S. experience (with videos). Gastrointest Endosc. 2016;83(4):699–707. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gie.2015.10.020.
- 15. Parsa N, Nieto JM, Powers P, Mitsuhashi S, Abdelqader A, Hadzinakos G, Anderloni AA, Fugazza A, James TW, Arlt A, Ellrichmann M, Aparicio JR, Trindade AJ, Stevens TK, Chahal P, Shah SL, Messallam AA, Lang G, Fejleh MP, Benias PC, Sejpal DV, Jones J, Mir FF, Aghaie Meybodi M, Ichkhanian Y, Vosoughi K, Novikov AA, Irani SS, Pawa R, Ahmed AM, Sedarat A, Hsueh W, Hampe J, Sharaiha RZ, Berzin TM, Willingham FF, Kushnir VM, Brewer Gutierrez OI, Ngamruengphong S, Huggett MT, Baron TH, Repici A, Adler DG, Nasr JT, Kowalski TE, Kumbhari V, Singh VK, Khashab MA. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided drainage of pancreatic walled-off necrosis using 20-mm versus 15-mm lumen-apposing metal stents: an international, multicenter, case-matched study. Endoscopy. 2020;52(3):211–9. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-1096-3299.
- Gardner TB, Chahal P, Papachristou GI, et al. A comparison of direct endoscopic necrosectomy with transmural endoscopic drainage for the treatment of walled-off pancreatic necrosis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2009;69:1085–94.
- 17. Yasuda I, Nakashima M, Iwai T, et al. Japanese multicenter experience of endoscopic necrosectomy for infected walled-off pancreatic necrosis: the JENIPaN study. Endoscopy. 2013;45:627–34.

- Kumar N, Conwell DL, Thompson CC. Direct endoscopic necrosectomy versus step-up approach for walled-off pancreatic necrosis: comparison of clinical outcome and health care utilization. Pancreas. 2014;43:1334–9.
- Gardner TB, Coelho-Prabhu N, Gordon SR, et al. Direct endoscopic necrosectomy for the treatment of walled-off pancreatic necrosis: results from a multicenter U.S. series. Gastrointest Endosc. 2011;73:718–26.
- 20. Aso A, Igarashi H, Matsui N, et al. Large area of walled-off pancreatic necrosis successfully treated by endoscopic necrosectomy using a grasping-type scissors forceps. Dig Endosc. 2014;26:474–7.
- Voermans RP, Veldkamp MC, Rauws EA, et al. Endoscopic transmural debridement of symptomatic organized pancreatic necrosis (with videos). Gastrointest Endosc. 2007;66:909–16.
- Rizzatti G, Rimbaş M, De Riso M, Impagnatiello M, Costamagna G, Larghi A. Endorotorbased endoscopic necrosectomy avoiding the superior mesenteric artery. Endoscopy. 2020; https://doi.org/10.1055/a-1151-4694.
- van der Wiel SE, Poley JW, Grubben MJAL, Bruno MJ, Koch AD. The EndoRotor, a novel tool for the endoscopic management of pancreatic necrosis. Endoscopy. 2018;50(9):E240–1. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-0628-6136.
- van der Wiel SE, May A, Poley JW, Grubben MJAL, Wetzka J, Bruno MJ, Koch AD. Preliminary report on the safety and utility of a novel automated mechanical endoscopic tissue resection tool for endoscopic necrosectomy: a case series. Endosc Int Open. 2020;8(3):E274–80. https:// doi.org/10.1055/a-1079-5015.
- Puli SR, Graumlich JF, Pamulaparthy SR, et al. Endoscopic transmural necrosectomy for walled-off pancreatic necrosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2014;28:50–3.
- Haghshenasskashani A, Laurence JM, Kwan V, et al. Endoscopic necrosectomy of pancreatic necrosis: a systematic review. Surg Endosc. 2011;25:3724–30.
- Rana SS, Sharma V, Sharma R, Gupta R, Bhasin DK. Endoscopic ultrasound guided transmural drainage of walled off pancreatic necrosis using a "step - up" approach: a single centre experience. Pancreatology. 2017;17(2):203–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pan.2017.02.007.
- 28. Lakhtakia S, Basha J, Talukdar R, Gupta R, Nabi Z, Ramchandani M, Kumar BVN, Pal P, Kalpala R, Reddy PM, Pradeep R, Singh JR, Rao GV, Reddy DN. Endoscopic "step-up approach" using a dedicated biflanged metal stent reduces the need for direct necrosectomy in walled-off necrosis (with videos). Gastrointest Endosc. 2017;85(6):1243–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gie.2016.10.037.
- Thompson CC, Kumar N, Slattery J, et al. A standardized method for endoscopic necrosectomy improves complication and mortality rates. Pancreatology. 2016;16:66–72.
- van Brunschot S, Fockens P, Bakker OJ, et al. Endoscopic transluminal necrosectomy in necrotizing pancreatitis: a systematic review. Surg Endosc. 2014;28:1425–38.
- 31. Fugazza A, Sethi A, Trindade AJ, Troncone E, Devlin J, Khashab MA, Vleggaar FP, Bogte A, Tarantino I, Deprez PH, Fabbri C, Aparicio JR, Fockens P, Voermans RP, Uwe W, Vanbiervliet G, Charachon A, Packey CD, Benias PC, El-Sherif Y, Paiji C, Ligresti D, Binda C, Martínez B, Correale L, Adler DG, Repici A, Anderloni A. International multicenter comprehensive analysis of adverse events associated with lumen-apposing metal stent placement for pancreatic fluid collection drainage. Gastrointest Endosc. 2019. pii: S0016-5107 (19) 32471-X. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gie.2019.11.021.
- 32. Rana SS, Shah J, Kang M, Gupta R. Complications of endoscopic ultrasound-guided transmural drainage of pancreatic fluid collections and their management. Ann Gastroenterol. 2019;32(5):441–50. https://doi.org/10.20524/aog.2019.0404.
- 33. Trikudanathan G, Tawfik P, Amateau SK, et al. Early (<4 weeks) versus standard (>4 weeks) endoscopically centered step-up interventions for necrotizing pancreatitis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2018;113:1550–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41395-018-0232-3.
- 34. Powers PC, Siddiqui A, Sharaiha RZ, Yang G, Dawod E, Novikov AA, et al. Discontinuation of proton pump inhibitor use reduces the number of endoscopic procedures required for resolution of walled-off pancreatic necrosis. Endosc Ultrasound. 2019;8:194–8.

- Van Santvoort HC, Besselink MG, Bakker OJ, et al. A step-up approach or open necrosectomy for necrotizing pancreatitis. N Engl J Med. 2010;362:1491–502.
- 36. Van Brunschot S, van Grinsven J, van Santvoort HC, et al. Endoscopic or surgical stepup approach for infected necrotising pancreatitis: a multicentre randomised trial. Lancet. 2018;391:51–8.
- 37. Navarrete C, Castillo C, Caracci M, et al. Wide percutaneous access to pancreatic necrosis with self-expandable stent: new application (with video). Gastrointest Endosc. 2011;73:609.
- Tringali A, Vadalà di Prampero SF, Bove V, et al. Endoscopic necrosectomy of walled-off pancreatic necrosis by large-bore percutaneus metal stent: a new opportunity? Endosc Int Open. 2018;06:E274–8.
- Kedia P, Parra V, Zerbo S, et al. Cleaning the paracolic gutter: transcutaneous endoscopic necrosectomy through a fully covered metal esophageal stent. Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;81:1252.
- Yamamoto N, Isayama H, Takahara N, et al. Percutaneous direct-endoscopic necrosectomy for walled-off pancreatic necrosis. Endoscopy. 2013;45(suppl 2 UCTN):E44–5.
- 41. Dhingra R, Srivastava S, Behra S, et al. Single or multiport percutaneous endoscopic necrosectomy performed with the patient under conscious sedation is a safe and effective treatment for infected pancreatic necrosis (with video). Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;81:351–9.
- Saumoy M, Kumta NA, Tyberg A, et al. Transcutaneous endoscopic necrosectomy for walledoff pancreatic necrosis in the paracolic gutter. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2018;52:458–63. https:// doi.org/10.1097/MCG.00000000000895.
- 43. Mathers B, Moyer M, Mathew A, et al. Percutaneous debridement and washout of walled-off abdominal abscess and necrosis using flexible endoscopy: a large single-center experience. Endosc Int Open. 2016;4:E102–6.
- 44. Thorsen A, Borch AM, Novovic S, et al. Endoscopic necrosectomy through percutaneous selfexpanding metal stents may be a promising additive in treatment of necrotizing pancreatitis. Dig Dis Sci. 2018;63:2456–65.



Role of Endoscopic Ultrasound in Pancreatic Cancer Screening

11

Renato Cannizzaro, Raffaella Magris, Stefania Maiero, Giovanni Guarnieri, Mara Fornasarig, and Vincenzo Canzonieri

11.1 Introduction

Pancreatic cancer (PC) is the fourth leading cause of cancer-related death in Western societies [1–3]. Ductal adenocarcinoma and its variant account for over 90% of all pancreatic malignancies. Some patients may be symptomatic with weight loss, jaundice, malabsorption, pain, dyspepsia, and nausea, but many patients are asymptomatic; no early warning signs of pancreatic cancer have been recognized [3]. As pancreatic cancer often develops with few symptoms, only 10–20% of patients are diagnosed at a stage amenable to resection, the only possible cure [4]. The overall 5-year survival of pancreatic cancer is below 5% combining all stages, but it is about 2% in patients with distant metastases [4].

R. Cannizzaro (🖂)

R. Magris · S. Maiero · G. Guarnieri · M. Fornasarig Oncological Gastroenterology, Centro di Riferimento Oncologico di Aviano (CRO) IRCCS, Aviano, Italy e-mail: raffaella.magris@cro.it; smaiero@cro.it; giovanni.guarnieri@cro.it; mfornasarig@cro.it

149

Oncological Gastroenterology, Centro di Riferimento Oncologico di Aviano (CRO) IRCCS, Aviano, Italy

S.O.C. Gastroenterologia Oncologica Sperimentale, Centro di Riferimento Oncologico, Istituto Nazionale Tumori, IRCCS, Aviano, Italy e-mail: rcannizzaro@cro.it

V. Canzonieri Pathology Unit, Centro di Riferimento Oncologico di Aviano (CRO) IRCCS, Aviano, Italy

Department of Medical, Surgical and Health Sciences, University of Trieste, Trieste, Italy e-mail: vcanzonieri@cro.it

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. Facciorusso, N. Muscatiello (eds.), *Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71937-1_11

One reason for the poor survival seen in patients with pancreatic cancer is the difficulty to diagnose it early [5]. Pancreatic neoplasia, if detected early, is potentially curable. Therefore, it is important to screen patients at risk. However, most clinical risk factors for pancreatic cancer are nonspecific, including age, smoking habit, diabetes mellitus, obesity, and chronic pancreatitis [4]. For this reason, and because the incidence of pancreatic cancer in the general population is low, population-based screening is not recommended. Nonetheless, some specific risk factors for pancreatic cancer have been identified. This chapter discusses the role of EUS in pancreatic cancer screening in patients with risk factors.

11.2 Risk Factors for Pancreatic Cancer

The main risk factors for pancreatic cancer are a family history of the disease, inherited cancer syndrome (mutation carriers), pancreatitis, new onset of type 2 diabetes in elderly persons, and precancerous lesions of the pancreas [1, 4, 6-9].

A hereditary component has been found in 1-10% of patients with pancreatic cancer [10]. Family history is the main feature used to stratify PC risk, and screening is recommended [2, 4] for individuals with:

- Three or more blood relatives with PC, with at least one affected first-degree relative (FDR)
- At least two affected FDRs
- Two blood relatives with PC, with at least one FDR

Germline mutations in the *BRCA2*, *PALB2*, *p16*, *STK 11*, *ATM*, and *PRSS1* genes and in hereditary colon cancer genes are associated with significantly increased risk of PC [2]. Characteristics of persons to be screened [2, 4] are:

- · Patients with Peutz-Jeghers syndrome, regardless of a family history of PC
- CDKN2A/p16 carriers (familial atypical multiple mole melanoma) with one affected FDR
- *BRCA2* mutation carriers with one affected FDR (or two affected non-FDR family members)
- PAlB2 mutation carriers with one affected FDR
- Mismatch repair gene mutation carriers (Lynch syndrome) with one affected FDR

Individuals with hereditary pancreatitis have a high life-time risk for pancreatic cancer [2]. Genes associated with susceptibility to pancreatitis are *PRSS1*, *CPA1*, and *CRTC* [1], but the risk is also associated with the duration of recurrent pancreatitis and chronic inflammation [2].

The risk of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma in people with long-standing type 2 diabetes is 1- to 1.5-fold higher than in the general population, and it is 5.4-fold higher in people who have had type 2 diabetes for less than 1 year [9]. The onset of

diabetes is considered an early warning sign of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma, and individuals with diabetes form the highest risk group for sporadic pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma [9].

Three noninvasive precursor lesions of PC have been described:

- Intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm (IPMN)
- Mucinous cystic neoplasm (MCN)
- Pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PanIN)

Most mucinous pancreatic cysts are IPMN, which accounts for less than 10% of all pancreatic cancers.

If they are associated with high-grade dysplasia, they are at more risk of invasive PC. The detection and early treatment of high-grade dysplasia IPMN is a success of screening/surveillance programs [4].

They can be categorized based on the location and extent involvement within the pancreas as main duct intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm (MD-IPMN) with an incidence that varies from 57 to 92%, branch-duct intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm (BD-IPMN) with an incidence from 6 to 46% and mixed types (MT-IPMN) [4, 6].

Recently, International Cancer of the Pancreas Screening Consortium has proposed successful screening as the detection and treatment of T1N0M0 margin-negative pancreatic cancer and high-grade dysplastic precursor lesions, including PanIN-3, IPMN with high-grade dysplasia, and MCN with high-grade dysplasia [2, 5].

11.3 Pancreatic Screening Tools

It is essential to know the risk of pancreatic neoplasia for each patient to stratify high-risk group, so a detailed medical history is necessary.

There are no clear guidelines concerning the proper age to start screening. Screening in many institutions is started at the mean age or the youngest age at onset of PC in the family. Other authors recommend screening at the age of 40–45 years or 10–15 years younger than the youngest relative with PC. The American College of Gastroenterology advocates that surveillance should be with EUS and/or MRI of the pancreas annually starting at age 50 years, or 10 years younger than the earliest age of PC in the family [4, 5, 11]. In patients with PJS, screening is recommended at age 30–35, and in *PRSS1* mutation carriers with hereditary pancreatitis, it should begin at age 40 [4, 11–13]. Many institutions prefer yearly screening if the latest EUS and/or CT is normal. Subsequent screening is done every 3–6 months or 2–12 months if an abnormal finding is observed. The interval screening adopted for non-suspicious cysts is 6–12 months, 3 months for a newly detected solid lesion if surgery is not imminent and 3 months for an indeterminate main pancreatic duct stricture [11].

11.4 Diagnostic Imaging Modalities for Pancreatic Cancer Screening

Considering the imaging studies, there is no consensus regarding the best method for pancreatic cancer screening. The principal imaging modalities to detect pancreatic tumors [4] are endoscopic ultrasound (EUS), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography (MRCP), multidetector computed tomography (MDCT), positron emission tomography (PET), probebased confocal laser endomicroscopy (pCLE), and endoscopic cholangiopancreatography (ERCP).

EUS and MRI are considered the best choice for screening high-risk individuals, avoiding radiation exposure.

EUS provides high-resolution images of the pancreas, accurately detects IPMNs, and visualizes characteristics of increased risk of malignancy (such as thick internal septations, mural nodularity, solid masses, main pancreatic duct (MPD) dilatation, filling defects in the MPD and vascular invasion) [2, 4, 6, 11, 12].

pCLE is an advanced endoscopic technique that can provide a dynamic real-time imaging of the mucosa at subcellular level allowing the identification of suspicious architectural changes [14]. Probe-based confocal laser endomicroscopy (pCLE) has recently appeared as a technological improvement to EUS with a particular role in cystic lesions evaluation [4].

11.5 Screening and EUS

The only endoscopic method clinically used for pancreatic cancer screening is EUS [15].

11.5.1 EUS in Patients with a Family History of Pancreatic Cancer

In individuals with a family history of pancreatic cancer, it is very important to identify preinvasive lesions with high-grade neoplastic changes [11]. Imaging in high-risk families can detect precancerous changes associated with increased risk for invasive pancreatic cancer [11]. Early detection of precancerous lesions permits the treatment of individuals with curative surgery [7]. With high agreement among consortium experts, EUS and MRI are considered the most accurate image tools to screen individuals with family history of pancreatic cancer [16].

Bartsch et al. in their study [8] showed that 53% of individuals with family history of pancreatic cancer revealed pancreatic lesions on imaging. These lesions were primarily cystic and found in persons above 45 years [8]. The study suggests to add EUS to MRI at baseline, every 3 years or when a suspicious lesion is found during follow-up [8]. The importance of EUS in screening of familiarly high-risk population is underlined also by Verna et al. [17] where EUS findings, in family history of pancreatic cancer individuals, highlight that 29% of these patients present parenchymal changes typical of chronic pancreatitis and 6% had a mass lesions confirmed later with FNA to be adenocarcinomas. Their series confirms that malignant and premalignant lesions can be discovered during EUS screening, and disease progression could be prevented with pancreatic surgery. Moreover, Canto et al. [18] reported that in high-risk individuals with family history of pancreatic cancer, EUS abnormalities suggestive of chronic pancreatitis were very common [18]. Finally, a recent report of the American Society of Clinical Oncology recommended high-risk pancreatic cancer individual screening and follow-up based on MRI and EUS [19].

11.5.2 EUS in Pancreatic Cancer Associated with Inherited Cancer Syndrome (Mutation Carriers)

Life-time cumulative risk of pancreatic cancer in individuals with PJS is from 11 to 36% with a mean age at pancreatic cancer diagnosis of 41 years [2, 12, 20]. As for familiar pancreatic cancer risk, early detection of precancerous lesions is very important for the prognosis. EUS is an important tool to find precancerous lesions or pancreatic abnormalities in these patients.

Canto et al. demonstrated that in individuals with a strong family history of pancreatic cancer or with PJS, EUS-based screening can be essential to find pancreatic neoplastic lesions or pancreatic neoplasms [21].

Moreover, DaVee et al. in their study reported that in individuals at risk for pancreatic cancer and with inherited cancer syndrome, EUS-based screening permitted a better detection of abnormal pancreatic findings like cysts, hyperechoic strands and foci, and mild pancreatic duct dilatation with respect to MRI [22].

11.5.3 EUS in IPMN

MRCP is the initial imaging technique to diagnose and evaluate IPMN but EUS improves the accuracy of the assessment of pancreatic parenchyma and allows the possibility to perform biopsy that can be useful to classify preoperatively IPMN according to its histopathological subtypes [4]. BD-IPMN and MD-IPMN are visible on cross-sectional scans and with EUS [10].

Invasive carcinoma incidence in MCN varies and preoperative diagnosis depends on a combination of parameters. EUS has a major role in the diagnosis of these lesions permitting a better evaluation of the wall as it may show separation or nodule within the cyst and can permit a biopsy of the wall and an aspiration of the cyst content [4]. PanINs are asymptomatic and considered precursor lesions in the stepwise progression from intraepithelial to invasive pancreatic neoplasia. They are microscopic lesions which might cause some tiny or abdominal finding in imaging [5] not detectable by cross-sectional imaging. Since multifocal PanINs can produce multifocal lobulocentric atrophy giving rise to the pancreas an appearance similar to that of chronic pancreatitis, it can be possibly detected by EUS [4]. High-risk individuals of PanIN can present EUS findings like heterogeneous parenchyma, hypoechoic nodule, hyperechoic main duct wall, and discrete masses [12].

There are some proposed high-risk stigmata or worrisome features to help for picking up true meaningful or suspected malignant pancreatic cystic lesions or IPMN to avoid unnecessary operation or overtreatment [5]. Patients with worrisome features, specifically cyst >3 cm, thickened/enhanced walls, main duct 5-9 mm, non-enhancing mural nodule, or abrupt change in caliber of pancreatic duct or distal pancreatic atrophy, were elicited to EUS-FNA. Patients without worrisome features were managed based on the size of the cyst:

- 1 cm, CT/MRI surveillance in 2–3 years
- 1–2 cm, placed into a yearly surveillance program
- >2 cm, managed with US-FNA
- >3 cm, surgery recommended if the patient is well fitted

If there are nodular lesions, duct dilatation, or jaundice of EUS, surgical resection is recommended [4].

Acknowledgments This work was supported by the Italian Ministry of Health (RF-2016-02361525) to Renato Cannizzaro and Paola Spessotto and the Ministero della Salute Ricerca Corrente.

References

- Goggins M, Overbeek KA, Brand R, Syngal S, Del Chiaro M, Bartsch DK, Bassi C, Carrato A, Farrell J, Fishman EK, Fockens P, Gress TM, van Hooft JE, Hruban RH, Kastrinos F, Klein A, Lennon AM, Lucas A, Park W, Rustgi A, Simeone D, Stoffel E, Vasen HFA, Cahen DL, Canto MI, Bruno M, International Cancer of the Pancreas Screening (CAPS) Consortium. Management of patients with increased risk for familial pancreatic cancer: updated recommendations from the International Cancer of the Pancreas Screening (CAPS) Consortium. Gut. 2020;69(1):7–17.
- Canto MI, Harinck F, Hruban RH, Offerhaus GJ, Poley JW, Kamel I, Nio Y, Schulick RS, Bassi C, Kluijt I, Levy MJ, Chak A, Fockens P, Goggins M, Bruno M, International Cancer of Pancreas Screening (CAPS) Consortium. International Cancer of the Pancreas Screening (CAPS) Consortium summit on the management of patients with increased risk for familial pancreatic cancer. Gut. 2013;62(3):339–47. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2012-303108. Epub 2012 Nov 7. Erratum in: Gut. 2014 Dec;63(12):1978. Hammell, Pascal [corrected to Hammel, Pascal]. Gut. 2014 Jan;63(1):178.
- Zhang L, Sanagapalli S, Stoita A. Challenges in diagnosis of pancreatic cancer. World J Gastroenterol. 2018;24(19):2047–60.
- Moutinho-Ribeiro P, Coelho R, Giovannini M, Macedo G. Pancreatic cancer screening: still a delusion? Pancreatology. 2017;17(5):754–65.
- Chang MC, Wong JM, Chang YT. Screening and early detection of pancreatic cancer in high risk population. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20(9):2358–64.
- Singhi AD, Koay EJ, Chari ST, Maitra A. Early detection of pancreatic cancer: opportunities and challenges. Gastroenterology. 2019;156(7):2024–2040.Kk.

- 7. Neuzillet C, Gaujoux S, Williet N, Bachet JB, Bauguion L, Colson Durand L, Conroy T, Dahan L, Gilabert M, Huguet F, Marthey L, Meilleroux J, de Mestier L, Napoléon B, Portales F, Sa Cunha A, Schwarz L, Taieb J, Chibaudel B, Bouché O, Hammel P, Thésaurus National de Cancérologie Digestive (TNCD), Société Nationale Française de Gastroentérologie (SNFGE), Fédération Francophone de Cancérologie Digestive (FFCD), Groupe Coopérateur multidisciplinaire en Oncologie (GERCOR), Fédération Nationale des Centres de Lutte Contre le Cancer (UNICANCER), Société Française de Chirurgie Digestive (SFCD), Société Française d'Endoscopie Digestive (SFED), Société Française de Radiothérapie Oncologique (SFRO), Association de Chirurgie Hépato-Bilio-Pancréatique et Transplantation (ACHBT), Association Française de Chirurgie (AFC). Pancreatic cancer: French clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up (SNFGE, FFCD, GERCOR, UNICANCER, SFCD, SFED, SFRO, ACHBT, AFC). Dig Liver Dis. 2018;50(12):1257–71.
- Bartsch DK, Slater EP, Carrato A, Ibrahim IS, Guillen-Ponce C, Vasen HF, Matthäi E, Earl J, Jendryschek FS, Figiel J, Steinkamp M, Ramaswamy A, Vázquez-Sequeiros E, Muñoz-Beltran M, Montans J, Mocci E, Bonsing BA, Wasser M, Klöppel G, Langer P, Fendrich V, Gress TM. Refinement of screening for familial pancreatic cancer. Gut. 2016;65(8):1314–21.
- Pereira SP, Oldfield L, Ney A, Hart PA, Keane MG, Pandol SJ, Li D, Greenhalf W, Jeon CY, Koay EJ, Almario CV, Halloran C, Lennon AM, Costello E. Early detection of pancreatic cancer. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;5(7):698–710.
- Joergensen MT, Gerdes AM, Sorensen J, Schaffalitzky de Muckadell O, Mortensen MB. Is screening for pancreatic cancer in high-risk groups cost-effective? - Experience from a Danish national screening program. Pancreatology. 2016;16(4):584–92.
- 11. Matsubayashi H, Takaori K, Morizane C, Maguchi H, Mizuma M, Takahashi H, Wada K, Hosoi H, Yachida S, Suzuki M, Usui R, Furukawa T, Furuse J, Sato T, Ueno M, Kiyozumi Y, Hijioka S, Mizuno N, Terashima T, Mizumoto M, Kodama Y, Torishima M, Kawaguchi T, Ashida R, Kitano M, Hanada K, Furukawa M, Kawabe K, Majima Y, Shimosegawa T. Familial pancreatic cancer: concept, management and issues. World J Gastroenterol. 2017;23(6):935–48.
- 12. Grover S, Jajoo K. Screening for pancreatic cancer in high-risk populations. Gastroenterol Clin North Am. 2016;45(1):117–27.
- Syngal S, Brand RE, Church JM, Giardiello FM, Hampel HL, Burt RW. ACG clinical guideline: genetic testing and management of hereditary gastrointestinal cancer syndromes. Am J Gastroenterol. 2015;3(110):223–62.
- 14. Spessotto P, Fornasarig M, Pivetta E, Maiero S, Magris R, Mongiat M, Canzonieri V, De Paoli P, De Paoli A, Buonadonna A, Serraino D, Panato C, Belluco C, Cannizzaro R. Probe-based confocal laser endomicroscopy for in vivo evaluation of the tumor vasculature in gastric and rectal carcinomas. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):9819.
- 15. Săftoiu A, Hassan C, Areia M, Bhutani MS, Bisschops R, Bories E, Cazacu IM, Dekker E, Deprez PH, Pereira SP, Senore C, Capocaccia R, Antonelli G, van Hooft J, Messmann H, Siersema PD, Dinis-Ribeiro M, Ponchon T. Role of gastrointestinal endoscopy in the screening of digestive tract cancers in Europe: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) position statement. Endoscopy. 2020;52(4):293–304.
- Matsubayashi H, Takaori K, Morizane C, Kiyozumi Y. Familial pancreatic cancer and surveillance of high-risk individuals. Gut Liver. 2019;13(5):498–505.
- Verna EC, Hwang C, Stevens PD, Rotterdam H, Stavropoulos SN, Sy CD, Prince MA, Chung WK, Fine RL, Chabot JA, Frucht H. Pancreatic cancer screening in a prospective cohort of high-risk patients: a comprehensive strategy of imaging and genetics. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(20):5028–37.
- Canto MI, Goggins M, Hruban RH, Petersen GM, Giardiello FM, Yeo C, Fishman EK, Brune K, Axilbund J, Griffin C, Ali S, Richman J, Jagannath S, Kantsevoy SV, Kalloo AN. Screening for early pancreatic neoplasia in high-risk individuals: a prospective controlled study. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2006;4(6):766–81.

- Stoffel EM, McKernin SE, Khorana AA. Evaluating susceptibility to pancreatic cancer: ASCO clinical practice provisional clinical opinion summary. J Oncol Pract. 2019;15:108–11.
- Ngamruengphong S, Canto MI. Screening for pancreatic cancer. Surg Clin North Am. 2016;96(6):1223–33.
- Canto MI, Goggins M, Yeo CJ, Griffin C, Axilbund JE, Brune K, Ali SZ, Jagannath S, Petersen GM, Fishman EK, Piantadosi S, Giardiello FM, Hruban RH. Screening for pancreatic neoplasia in high-risk individuals: an EUS-based approach. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2004;2(7):606–21.
- 22. DaVee T, Coronel E, Papafragkakis C, Thaiudom S, Lanke G, Chakinala RC, Nogueras González GM, Bhutani MS, Ross WA, Weston BR, Lee JH. Pancreatic cancer screening in high-risk individuals with germline genetic mutations. Gastrointest Endosc. 2018;87(6):1443–50.



12

Endoscopic Ultrasound in Pancreatic Cancer Staging

Nan Ge and Siyu Sun

Pancreatic cancer (PC), which has a 5-year survival rate of 6.0%, is the seventh leading cause of cancer-related deaths worldwide. However, only 10-15% of patients have an early diagnosis and a chance for potential curative resection [1]. Optimal therapy is established based on accurate cancer staging. Therefore, PC staging is mandatory and important in clinical practice.

Endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) is currently the most sensitive imaging test available for examining the pancreas and associated structures. Small (<2 cm) pancreatic malignancies can be detected with accuracy rates of more than 90% using EUS. EUS-guided fine needle aspiration (EUS-FNA) was established in the early 1990s and is now considered one of the standard procedures for diagnosing PC [2]. The applications of EUS and EUS-FNA are constantly widening, from only diagnosis to including staging as well [3–7].

EUS staging of PC is mostly based on the tumor–node–metastasis (TNM) system provided by the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC). According to the literature, the accuracies of T staging with EUS range from 62 to 94%, and those of N staging with EUS range from 50 to 86% [8, 9]. This range may be due to the use of different staging editions, the continued development of EUS techniques, or the examiners' biases. In 2001, based on the fifth edition of the AJCC staging, one study reported that the overall accuracy of EUS for T and N staging was 69% and 54%, respectively [10]. The overall proportion of tumors that were deemed resectable after evaluation using EUS and were actually found to be resectable during surgical exploration was 46%. The authors of that study concluded that in a tertiary referral patient population, EUS is not as accurate as previously reported in the T and N staging of PC. EUS is also not predictive of resectability in stage T3 or T4

N. Ge \cdot S. Sun (\boxtimes)

Endoscopy Center & Gastroenterology and Hepatology Department, Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang, Liaoning, China e-mail: Sunsy@sj-hospital.org

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. Facciorusso, N. Muscatiello (eds.), Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71937-1_12

Prim	ary tumor (T)	Regi	onal lymph nodes (N)	Distance	e metastases (M)
TX	Primary tumor cannot be evaluated	NX	Regional lymph node metastasis cannot be evaluated	M0	No distant metastases
T0	No primary tumor	N0	No regional lymph node metastasis	M1	Distant metastases
Tis	Carcinoma in situ	N1	1–3 positive regional lymph nodes metastasis		
T1	Maximum tumor diameter $\leq 2 \text{ cm}$ T1a: $\leq 0.5 \text{ cm}$ T1b: >0.5, <1.0 cm T1c: $\geq 1, \leq 2 \text{ cm}$	N2	≥4 regional lymph nodes metastasis		
T2	Maximum tumor diameter >2 cm, ≤4				
T3	Maximum tumor diameter >4 cm				
T4	Tumor involves the celiac axis, the superior mesenteric artery, or common hepatic artery				

 Table 12.1
 AJCC staging system for pancreatic adenocarcinoma (8th edition)

PC. In 2014, a meta-analysis reported that the sensitivity of EUS for T1–T2 stages is 76% but is significantly higher in patients with T3–T4 stages, reaching 90% [11].

The recently published eighth edition of AJCC staging for PC has undergone major changes in the T and M staging compared with the previous editions [12, 13]. Extra-pancreatic extension is no longer part of the T staging, and size-based definition has been introduced to define T1 to T3. N1 has been subdivided into N1 and N2, based on the number of positive lymph nodes. These updates are based on novel evidences and reflect a deeper understanding of PC (Table 12.1). The study has proved that the eighth edition provides more even distribution with more powerful discrimination compared to the seventh edition [14]. Till date, studies focusing on PC staging with EUS based on the eighth edition of AJCC staging are limited. Therefore, in our study, we aimed to assess the EUS staging ability by reviewing the individual EUS diagnostic capability for tumor size measurement, vascular invasion detection, and malignant lymph node detection. Furthermore, the contribution to the pathological diagnosis on using EUS-FNA in the tumor staging was discussed.

12.1 EUS for Tumor Size Measurement

EUS is superior in determining the locoregional staging of PC compared with other cross-section imaging modalities. Most PCs on EUS image appear as hypoechoic heterogenous lesions with irregular margins. According to the eighth edition of JACC staging, T1–T3 staging for PC is based on the accurate size measurement. In a study published in 2011, the authors compared the tumor size measured with computed tomography (CT) and EUS before surgery with the actual resected specimens obtained after surgery. It was seen that 84% of patients had a primary tumor 7 mm

larger on pathology than CT. In comparison, EUS was found to be more accurate, with pathologic tumor size being a median of only 5 mm larger compared with the size detected using EUS [15]. In 2014, a meta-analysis by Li et al. also reported that the accuracy of EUS in the nodal staging is lower, with a sensitivity of 62% and a specificity of 74% [11].

The accuracy of EUS measurement in determining PC size could also be hampered by some other factors, like chronic pancreatitis (CP). The incidence of PC in patients with CP is as high as 5%. It is a commonly encountered diagnostic challenge in patients with CP on long-term follow-up. EUS sensitivity is decreased in calcific CP with shadowing stones.

Elastography and contrast-enhanced (CE)-EUS may also contribute in outlining local or regional tumors. In most patients, pancreatic malignancy appears on EUS as a typically hypoechoic mass with indistinct margins, which is rarely missed. However, sometimes a pancreatic mass will appear isoechoic on EUS imaging, which could still be successfully identified by a sign of "cut-off" in the pancreatic duct and/or common bile duct [16]. In this situation, tissue elastography and contrast-enhanced ultrasound may be helpful in determining the outlines of the tumor and may hold promise in such rare cases [17]. The elasticity or microvascular pattern could be different between inflammatory and cancerous components. These ancillary techniques can be used to improve characterization of the lesion along with EUS. Bunganic et al. reported that the accuracy of EUS and CE-EUS for diagnosis PC is 78.6% and 84%, respectively; moreover, CE-EUS is a noninvasive method that allows more accurate identification of PC than EUS. Angiogenesis revealed using CE-EUS is an important factor that influences the prognostic of solid tumors. Therefore, Saftoiu et al. performed a study to determine the changes in tumor vascularity depicted with CE-EUS as a predictor of prognosis and treatment efficacy in patients with unresectable PC [18].

12.2 EUS Detection for Vascular Invasion

Peripancreatic vasculature involvement with tumor is identified as the T4 stage. Additionally, the assessment of PC resectability is based mainly on the extent of the tumor's involvement in the peripancreatic vasculature. CT and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) are the commonly used methods to evaluate vascular involvement; both were found to have similar sensitivities and specificities for diagnosis and vascular involvement in patients with PC [19]. During EUS examination, the relationships of the lesions to the coeliac trunk, portal vein confluence, and the superior mesenteric vein and artery are carefully assessed to determine operability. The accuracy of EUS in determining vascular invasion is similar to that of contrastenhanced computed tomography (CECT), as reported by Bodea et al. [20]. They reported that when diagnosing superior mesenteric artery invasion, the accuracy of CECT and EUS were 84.92% and 87.39%, respectively. In diagnosing portal vein and superior mesenteric vein involvement, CECT had an accuracy of 84.83% and EUS had an accuracy of 92.17%. The accuracy of the two combined examinations in diagnosing vascular invasion was higher, reaching up to 93%.

Since 1995, several criteria have been proposed for their ability to diagnose malignant venous invasion using EUS. Although obstruction of a mesenteric vein and the resulting venous collaterals is a specific sign of unresectability, it is a rather insensitive parameter [21]. As an alternative, signs of venous wall invasion, such as "irregular wall," have been proposed as being sensitive (67–100%) and specific (100%) for malignant invasion of the mesenteric veins. Furthermore, increased blood flow velocity or on flow signal in the narrowed vascular cavity caused by the tumor invasion could also be revealed in the Color Doppler image.

In conclusion, according to the recently published meta-analysis, the sensitivity of EUS for vascular involvement is 87% with a very good specificity of approximately 90%. EUS appears to be particularly sensitive for detecting invasion of the portal and splenic veins.

12.3 EUS for Lymph Node Detection

EUS is considered a complementary tool to CT for N staging in PC. The sensitivity and specificity of EUS are only 62% and 74%, respectively.

In the EUS image, most of the malignant LNs (89.7%) were hypoechoic and with the cutoff value of 1.93, the sensitivity and specificity of the longitudinal to transverse ratio were 73% and 100%, respectively. The malignant LNs tended to be round in shape [22].

CE-EUS and elastography show potential to improve the accuracy of EUS for the differential diagnosis of begin and malignant lymph nodes [23–25] and may help decrease unnecessary biopsies [24]. Okasha et al. reported that the stain ratio cutoff value of 4.61 showed a sensitivity and specificity of 89% and 83%, respectively [26].

12.4 EUS-FNA

EUS-FNA is important in providing a pathological diagnosis of malignancy as well as in accurately staging the disease preoperatively. This influences the decisionmaking process and thereby reducing the morbidity that accompanies inappropriate surgical interventions in patients with advanced cancer. Today, the diagnostic ability of EUS-FNA is still improving, and the detection of PC currently has a sensitivity of 90–95% and specificity of 95–100% [5, 27–29]. It should also be noticed that CP has a significant impact on the diagnostic yield of EUS-FNA for PC. A study by Koshy et al. reported that the diagnostic yield decreased to 59.52% (compared to 78.75% without CP) when CP was present, and only the presence of calcifications was found to have an independent association with diagnostic yield [30].

For the abnormal lymph nodes of unknown origin, EUS-FNA has a high diagnostic value. According to Li et al., the pooled sensitivity and specificity of EUS-FNA for the diagnosis of lymphadenopathy are 94% and 98%, respectively [31]. In patients with PC, para-aortic lymph node (PALN) metastasis is considered to be a distant metastasis. Kurita et al. [32]. conducted a prospective study to compare the diagnostic yield for PALN metastasis between EUS-FNA and PET/CT. They reported that preoperative EUS-FNA or PET/CT enabled a correct diagnosis in 20 (95.2%) and 12 (57.1%) patients, respectively; EUS-FNA had higher sensitivity and specificity for the diagnosis of PALN metastases (sensitivity 96.7%; specificity 100%) than PET/CT. Considering this result, they concluded that EUS-FNA should be part of the standard preoperative examination for patients with PC.

EUS-FNA can also occasionally contribute to accurate TNM staging in some other ways [33].

12.5 Peritoneal Tumor Dissemination or Malignant Ascites

Accurate diagnosis of peritoneal tumor dissemination or malignant ascites in PC may contribute to the selection of proper treatment options. EUS sometimes identifies ascites missed by other imaging methods. EUS-FNA may identify malignancy in a subset of patients and has the potential role for staging of cancer since the establishment of malignant ascites implies a more advanced stage of cancer [34–36].

12.6 Celiac Ganglia Metastasis Diagnosis

Metastasis to the celiac ganglia may upgrade the staging or impact the resectability. Malikowski et al. reported that celiac ganglia metastasis could be accurately distinguished from celiac lymph nodes using EUS [37] and safely identified with EUS-FNA [38]. However, the data still cannot prove that the survival of patients with celiac ganglia metastasis was different from the overall survival.

12.7 EUS-FNA in PC After Neoadjuvant Therapy

Ehrlich et al. reported the utility of EUS-FNA to determine surgical candidacy in patient with PC after neoadjuvant therapy [39]. In the series of patients with borderline resectable PC or locally advanced PC and persistent periarterial soft tissue cuffing after downstaging neoadjuvant treatment, EUS-FNA accurately determined surgical resectability and should be considered as part of the evaluation of such patients.

12.8 Limitations

The limited depth of penetration of the ultrasound waves of EUS prevents accurate assessment of structures that are located far from the ultrasound probe. EUS therefore has a limited role in the assessment of distant lymph nodes or metastatic disease. In cases where the anatomy is distorted or surgically altered, it may not be possible to obtain optimal imaging [40]. Thus, the assessment of tumor extension must be completed by performing CT or MRI [41, 42].

12.9 Conclusion

In conclusion, cross-sectional imaging techniques including CT, MRI, and PET-CT are commonly used for PC staging. However, EUS is a useful adjunct for accurate TN staging and evaluation of vascular invasion in PC in addition to allowing diagnostic tissue samples to be obtained. Furthermore, EUS is a reliable method for selection of patients with borderline resectable PC due to its high sensitivity and specificity for staging T3–T4 tumors.

References

- 1. Beger HG, Rau B, Gansauge F, et al. Treatment of pancreatic cancer: challenge of the facts. World J Surg. 2003;27:1075–84.
- Ge N, Zhang S, Jin Z, et al. Clinical use of endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration: guidelines and recommendations from Chinese Society of Digestive Endoscopy. Endosc Ultrasound. 2017;6:75–82.
- 3. Cazacu IM, Luzuriaga Chavez AA, Mendoza TR, et al. Quality of life impact of EUS in patients at risk for developing pancreatic cancer. Endosc Ultrasound. 2020;9:53–8.
- 4. Cazacu IM, Udristoiu A, Gruionu LG, et al. Artificial intelligence in pancreatic cancer: toward precision diagnosis. Endosc Ultrasound. 2019;8:357–9.
- Plougmann JI, Klausen P, Toxvaerd A, et al. DNA sequencing of cytopathologically inconclusive EUS-FNA from solid pancreatic lesions suspicious for malignancy confirms EUS diagnosis. Endosc Ultrasound. 2020;9:37–44.
- 6. Hu J, Ge N, Wang S, et al. The role of endoscopic ultrasound and endoscopic resection for gastric glomus: a case series and literature review. J Transl Int Med. 2019;7:149–54.
- Wang G, Liu X, Wang S, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided gastroenterostomy: a promising alternative to surgery. J Transl Int Med. 2019;7:93–9.
- Shami VM, Mahajan A, Loch MM, et al. Comparison between endoscopic ultrasound and magnetic resonance imaging for the staging of pancreatic cancer. Pancreas. 2011;40:567–70.
- Ahmad NA, Lewis JD, Siegelman ES, et al. Role of endoscopic ultrasound and magnetic resonance imaging in the preoperative staging of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Am J Gastroenterol. 2000;95:1926–31.
- Ahmad NA, Lewis JD, Ginsberg GG, et al. EUS in preoperative staging of pancreatic cancer. Gastrointest Endosc. 2000;52:463–8.
- Li JH, He R, Li YM, et al. Endoscopic ultrasonography for tumor node staging and vascular invasion in pancreatic cancer: a meta-analysis. Dig Surg. 2014;31:297–305.
- 12. Chun YS, Pawlik TM, Vauthey JN. 8th edition of the AJCC cancer staging manual: pancreas and hepatobiliary cancers. Ann Surg Oncol. 2018;25:845–7.
- Amin MB, Edge S, Greene F, et al. AJCC cancer staging manual. 8th ed. New Yorker: Springer-Verlag; 2016.
- 14. Kwon W, He J, Higuchi R, et al. Multinational validation of the American Joint Committee on Cancer 8th edition pancreatic cancer staging system in a pancreas head cancer cohort. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci. 2018;25:418–27.
- Arvold ND, Niemierko A, Mamon HJ, et al. Pancreatic cancer tumor size on CT scan versus pathologic specimen: implications for radiation treatment planning. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011;80:1383–90.
- Fairley KJ, Diehl DL, Johal AS. "Invisible" pancreatic masses identified by EUS by the "ductal cutoff sign". Endosc Ultrasound. 2019;8:125–8.
- Popescu A, Saftoiu A. Can elastography replace fine needle aspiration? Endosc Ultrasound. 2014;3:109–17.

- Saftoiu A, Bhutani MS, Itoi T, et al. Changes in tumor vascularity depicted by contrastenhanced EUS as a predictor of prognosis and treatment efficacy in patients with unresectable pancreatic cancer (PEACE): a study protocol. Endosc Ultrasound. 2019;8:235–40.
- Treadwell JR, Zafar HM, Mitchell MD, et al. Imaging tests for the diagnosis and staging of pancreatic adenocarcinoma: a meta-analysis. Pancreas. 2016;45:789–95.
- Bodea R, Seicean A, Vasile T, et al. Role of computer tomography and endoscopic ultrasonography in assessing portal and superior mesenteric vessels invasion in cephalo-pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Ann Ital Chir. 2017;88:336–41.
- Brugge WR. Pancreatic cancer staging. endoscopic ultrasonography criteria for vascular invasion. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am. 1995;5:741–53.
- Okasha HH, Mansour M, Attia KA, et al. Role of high resolution ultrasound/endosonography and elastography in predicting lymph node malignancy. Endosc Ultrasound. 2014;3:58–62.
- Saftoiu A, Vilmann P, Ciurea T, et al. Dynamic analysis of EUS used for the differentiation of benign and malignant lymph nodes. Gastrointest Endosc. 2007;66:291–300.
- Altonbary AY, Hakim H, El-Shamy AM. Endoscopic ultrasound elastography for evaluation of lymph nodes: a single center experience. Diagn Ther Endosc. 2018;2018:7186341.
- Larsen MH, Fristrup C, Hansen TP, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound, endoscopic sonoelastography, and strain ratio evaluation of lymph nodes with histology as gold standard. Endoscopy. 2012;44:759–66.
- Okasha H, Elkholy S, Sayed M, et al. Ultrasound, endoscopic ultrasound elastography, and the strain ratio in differentiating benign from malignant lymph nodes. Arab J Gastroenterol. 2018;19:7–15.
- Matsubayashi H, Matsui T, Yabuuchi Y, et al. Endoscopic ultrasonography guided-fine needle aspiration for the diagnosis of solid pancreaticobiliary lesions: clinical aspects to improve the diagnosis. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22:628–40.
- Biermann K, Lozano Escario MD, Hebert-Magee S, et al. How to prepare, handle, read, and improve EUS-FNA and fine-needle biopsy for solid pancreatic lesions: the pathologist's role. Endosc Ultrasound. 2017;6:S95–s98.
- Naveed M, Siddiqui AA, Kowalski TE, et al. A multicenter comparative trial of a novel EUSguided core biopsy needle (SharkCore()) with the 22-gauge needle in patients with solid pancreatic mass lesions. Endosc Ultrasound. 2018;7:34–40.
- Koshy AK, Harshavardhan RB, Siyad I, et al. Impact of calcifications on diagnostic yield of endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration for pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Indian J Gastroenterol. 2019;38:128–33.
- Li C, Shuai Y, Zhou X. Endoscopic ultrasound guided fine needle aspiration for the diagnosis of intra-abdominal lymphadenopathy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2020;55:114–22.
- 32. Kurita A, Kodama Y, Nakamoto Y, et al. Impact of EUS-FNA for preoperative paraaortic lymph node staging in patients with pancreatobiliary cancer. Gastrointest Endosc. 2016;84:467–475.e1.
- Saftoiu A, Vilmann P. Role of endoscopic ultrasound in the diagnosis and staging of pancreatic cancer. J Clin Ultrasound. 2009;37:1–17.
- DeWitt J, LeBlanc J, McHenry L, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration of ascites. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2007;5:609–15.
- Kaushik N, Khalid A, Brody D, et al. EUS-guided paracentesis for the diagnosis of malignant ascites. Gastrointest Endosc. 2006;64:908–13.
- Nguyen PT, Chang KJ. EUS in the detection of ascites and EUS-guided paracentesis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2001;54:336–9.
- Malikowski T, Lehrke HD, Henry MR, et al. Accuracy of endoscopic ultrasound imaging in distinguishing celiac ganglia from celiac lymph nodes. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;17:148–155.e3.
- Malikowski T, Lehrke HD, Henry MR, et al. Clinical impact of celiac ganglia metastasis upon pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Pancreatology. 2020;20:110–5.

- 39. Ehrlich D, Ather N, Rahal H, et al. The utility of EUS-FNA to determine surgical candidacy in patients with pancreatic cancer after neoadjuvant therapy. J Gastrointest Surg. 2020;24(12):2807–13.
- Zar S, Kohoutova D, Bures J. Pancreatic adenocarcinoma: epidemiology, role of EUS in diagnosis, role of ERCP. Endosc Palliat Acta Med (Hradec Kralove). 2019;62:131–6.
- Costache MI, Costache CA, Dumitrescu CI, et al. Which is the best imaging method in pancreatic adenocarcinoma diagnosis and staging—CT, MRI or EUS? Curr Health Sci J. 2017;43:132–6.
- 42. Lai JP, Yue Y, Zhang W, et al. Comparison of endoscopic ultrasound guided fine needle aspiration and PET/CT in preoperative diagnosis of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Pancreatology. 2017;17:617–22.



13

Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided Fiducial Marker Placement for Stereotactic Body Radiotherapy (SBRT) of Pancreatic Cancer

Jeevinesh Naidu, Vinh-An Phan, and Nam Q. Nguyen

13.1 Introduction

Pancreatic cancer presents with surgically unresectable (locally advanced or metastatic) disease in 80% of patients [1]. In this group of patients, the standard of care is chemotherapy either with FOLFIRINOX or gemcitabine with nab-paclitaxel which provides a median survival of 6–8 months [2]. There is conflicting evidence on the benefit of radiotherapy in the treatment of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC). Two initial randomised trials combined conventional external beam radiotherapy (EBRT) with 5-fluorouracil chemotherapy and demonstrated a survival advantage for resectable PDAC [3, 4]. However, the larger ESPAC-1 trial (2004) revealed a worse survival outcome in patients receiving combination therapy (10% vs. 20% 5-year survival rate, P = 0.05) [5]. It was hypothesised that the reason for this reduced survival was that EBRT caused toxicity to surrounding organs along with forcing the interruption of chemotherapy.

One approach to overcome this problem is to use marker-guided stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT), which has been recently applied in the field of radiation oncology. SBRT is a technique that requires image guidance to track motion of the tumour during inspiratory and expiratory respiratory cycles [6]. This is best achieved with the implantation of devices called fiducial markers. The potential advantage over conventional EBRT is the delivery of high doses of targeted radiation to the tumour with rapid dose falloff at the tumour periphery. Furthermore, since SRT can be delivered over a shorter duration, there is minimal interruption to chemotherapy.

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

J. Naidu · V.-A. Phan · N. Q. Nguyen (🖂)

Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Royal Adelaide Hospital, Adelaide, Australia

School of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, Australia e-mail: quocnam.nguyen@sa.gov.au

A. Facciorusso, N. Muscatiello (eds.), Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71937-1_13

In order to minimize toxicity, SBRT has been used in combination with chemotherapy and early experience confirmed a survival benefit (median 11.15 months) with a comparatively low rate of adverse effects (22.3%) [7]. Recently, the use of neoadjuvant SBRT with chemotherapy in 159 patients with BRPC and LAPC downstaged the disease and allowed resection in 51% of patients, of which 91% had R0 resection margins. More importantly, grade 3 or greater toxicity occurred in only 7% of cases [8]. These recent studies have revived the interest in the use of combined chemoradiotherapy for the treatment of pancreatic cancer, especially with SRT as the preferred modality.

In summary, radiotherapy is undergoing a resurgence as an effective treatment strategy in patients with LAPC and BRPC. There is evidence for its advantage in a neoadjuvant and palliative setting due to good local control and low incidence of side effects. With many centres increasingly adopting SBRT, referrals for fiducial implantation are becoming commonplace. The aim of this chapter is to outline the benefits, methods, and outcomes of EUS-guided fiducial placement to assist treatment planning for SBRT in surgically unresectable, non-metastatic pancreatic cancer.

13.2 Role of Fiducial Placement in SBRT for Pancreatic Lesions

The main problems with treatment planning in SBRT are that (a) soft tissue is poorly visible on traditional computed tomography, (b) pancreatic lesions move together with the respiratory cycle, and (c) variation in the location of the tumour depending on the degree of distension of the GI lumen [9, 10]. Taken together, this makes a "moving, poorly visible target" without any fix bony landmarks to determine an accurate tumour margin to allow precise delivery of focus radiation.

In order to outline the margin of the targeted lesion, fiducial placement has been widely adopted in many tertiary centres. Fiducials are radiopaque markers of variable materials and sizes, which can be implanted into solid tumours either via the percutaneous (CT or US guided) route or via EUS [11]. Gold is the most commonly used fiducial as it is inert and has superior visibility compared to hydrogel and lipiodol. Using three-dimensional or four-dimensional CT software, the tumour margin and its surrounding organs can be delineated and tracked in real time, which allows variable doses of radiation to be delivered to different parts of the cancer (Fig. 13.1).

Another use for fiducial placement is in the marking of neuroendocrine tumours smaller than 2 cm in size prior to surgical resection. This has been reported in a few cases whereby intraoperative localisation of small NETs is challenging, and fiducial markers (or tattooing which will not be described here) allow intraoperative localisation to enable R0 resection margins to be achieved [12].



Fig. 13.1 Contour mapping and dosage delivery to the targeted cancer on 3D CT scan during preparation for SBRT. Simulated three-dimensional image on various angles and intensities of radiation beams targeting the tumour (**a**). Axial (**b**) and coronal (**c**) images of CT treatment planning. The colour borders around the lesion demonstrate the reduction of intensity from the centre of the lesion to the periphery reducing the potential damage to surrounding organs

13.3 Methods of Fiducial Placement

Laparoscopic: This method is infrequently adopted when the lesion is discovered as "unresectable" at the time of surgery. Before the closure of the abdominal wound, the tumour margin is marked by attaching fiducials to the surgical suture site intraoperatively. This approach has been shown to be superior in achieving ideal fiducial geometry (IFG) where the distance between two fiducials is 2 cm with a minimum fiducial angle of 15° to one another. However, IFG has not been shown to be important in the delivery of SRT and this will be described further below [13].

Percutaneous: Prior to the EUS-guided approach, percutaneous-guided approach via either US or CT was the most frequently used technique. In addition to the pancreatic lesion, this approach is also ideal for SBRT treatment of cancer locates in right liver lobe. For lesions in the retroperitoneal position of the pancreatic head and uncinate process, percutaneous approach can be technically challenging or impossible due to the overlying gas, which obscured the visualisation of the lesions. The complication is high with a 3.3% risk of bleeding and a 0.005% risk of tumour seeding along the needle path [11].

EUS-guided: Given the ability of EUS to access the pancreatic lesions, this approach is now the most widely used method for deploying fiducials in the pancreas and biliary tract. Not only it allows visualisation of the lesion in high resolution, EUS also provides a shorter distance from the needle puncture site to the lesion. These properties allow EUS to precisely define the margin of the cancer for marking, which is most relevant for small lesions that are not seen by conventional

imaging. Another advantage of EUS is that the Doppler function avoids major vascular structures and minimises the risk of bleeding and related complications. As a result, the risk of bleeding (1.8%) and tumour seeding along the needle track (only three cases reported thus far) are lower than those by percutaneous route [14].

13.4 Types of Fiducials for SBRT

Traditional gold (TG) fiducials are shorter and larger (5 mm in length \times 1.2 mm in diameter) whereas flexible coiled (FC) fiducials are longer and smaller (10 mm in length \times 0.35 mm in diameter) (Fig. 13.2a, b) [15]. The main advantages of smaller FC fiducials are increased flexibility and ease to load a 22G needle allowing easier extrusion of the needle when using a transduodenal approach. However, FC



Fig. 13.2 Images of the available fiducials that are currently used in clinical practice, including coiled fiducials (a), bar fiducial (b), and a pre-loading bar-fiducial needle (c)

fiducials have a higher reported migration rate of up to 9% and reduced visibility compared to TG fiducials [16]. As such, the newer preloaded devices preferentially use smaller TG fiducials (5 mm \times 0.43 mm) which can be loaded into a 22-gauge needle (Fig. 13.2c) [17]. The properties, advantages, and disadvantages of different types of fiducials are summarised in Table 13.1

13.5 Methods of Loading the Fiducial Needle

Whether the fiducials are inserted via percutaneous or EUS approach, the loading method of fiducials for insertion is similar. Each fiducial marker can be either front or back loaded into the needle prior to insertion.

1. *Back Loading:* The back-loading technique is most commonly used as it avoids pushing the fiducial through the entire length of needle, which can be difficult at times due to resistance. This involves preparing a fine-needle aspiration (FNA) delivery device prior to insertion into the accessory channel. This is done by withdrawing the stylet by 3 cm, pushing out the needle and inserting the fiducials in a retrograde manner using a catheter. Following insertion of the fiducials, the needle is pierced into bone wax to plug it and prevent loss of the fiducial while it is being advanced down the accessory channel (Fig. 13.3). The FNA needle is then injected into the tumour, and the stylet is inserted deploying the fiducial.

A variation in the back-loading technique is the wet-fill technique in which the needle is immersed in saline, and a negative pressure is generated by withdrawing the stylet by 10 cm. The fiducials are then loaded retrograde into the needle without the use of bone wax seal and remain in place due to the surface tension of the saline. Deployment of the fiducial is achieved by full insertion of the stylet as above. The major drawback of this loading method is the risk of needle stick injury.

- 2. *Front Loading:* This technique involves inserting the FNA needle into the tumour using EUS guidance, removing the stylet completely then placing fiducial markers at the stylet opening. The stylet is then reinserted pushing the fiducial along until it is deployed in the tumour bed. Alternatively, instead of reinserting the stylet, small quantities of saline can be injected into the stylet port and used to flush the fiducial out into the tumour. The advantages and disadvantages between the two methods of fiducial loading are summarised in Table 13.2.
- 3. *Pre-loaded Fiducial Needles:* To eliminate the need for scope withdrawal and reloading a needle during the procedure, Cook[™] and Medtronic[™] currently manufacture preloaded fiducial delivery systems (Table 13.1). The Cook Echotip preloaded delivery system uses a 22G needle to deliver four gold bars (Fig. 13.2c) whereas the Medtronic Beacon system provides a 19-gauge or 22-gauge option preloaded with two gold bars to deliver fiducials of varying thickness [18].

	I AID TO HOST MAILE	a concernes, memory or a	oproj mont, ad vanda	500, mia albaa ar	and a set we can anne the market of the set	
	Dimensions		Method of	Cost per fiducial unit		
Fiducial type	(mm)	Manufacturer	deployment	(USD)	Advantages	Disadvantages
Cylindrical Gold Seeds	$3-5 \times 0.8-1.2$	CIVCO Radiotherapy TM	FL or BL using 19G needle	\$43.60	Most experience, good visibility, low migration	Difficulty in deployment using 19G via transduodenal approach
Gold Anchor	10×0.28	Innomedicus Gold Anchor TM	FL or BL using 22G needle	\$130	Low migration rate	Difficulty deploying using FL approach (31.3% failure rate),
Flexible coil	10×0.35	IZI Medical Visicoil TM	FL or BL using 22G needle	\$200	Transduodenal approach	Increased migration risk, less visibility
Gold Bar	5 × 0.43 5 × 0.43 5 × 0.75	Cook Echotip TM Ultra Medtronic Beacon TM	Preloaded 22G (4 fiducials) Preloaded 22G (2 fiducials)	\$\$2.50/ fiducial \$149/fiducial	No need to load needles thus reduced procedure time	Limitation to the number of fiducials per needle
		Medtronic Beacon TM	Preloaded 19G (2 fiducials)			

Table 13.1 Comparison of the properties. method of deployment, advantages, and disadvantages between different types of fiducials

FL front loading, BL back loading



Fig. 13.3 Equipment and technique used in back-loading Visicoil fiducials for insertion of fiducial by EUS. The procedure requires a 22G FNA needle, a 1 cm 0.35 mm gold Visicoil and sterile bone wax (\mathbf{a} , \mathbf{b}). With the needle tip exposed for 1 cm and the stylet retracted for 5 cm, the gold Visicoil is loaded into the tip of the 22G needle by inserted the apparatus into the needle track with the tip of the needle face up (\mathbf{b} , \mathbf{c}). Once the gold Visicoil is completely inside the needle, the apparatus should be gently removed without pulling the gold Visicoil out (\mathbf{d}). The tip of the needle is then sealed with steril bone wax (\mathbf{e}). The needle tip is then retracted into the sheath, ready for the use by the EUS endoscopist. Once the needle tip is placed in the correct position within the lesion, the gold Visicoil can be deployed by pushing the stylet toward the handle (\mathbf{f}). The expulsion of the fiducial into the lesion can be directly visualised under EUS

Technique	Advantages	Disadvantages
Front loading	 Does not need bone wax Do not need to remove the needle to reload Reduces the risk of needlestick injury 	1. More technically challenging
Back loading (either bone wax seal or wet saline)	1. Relatively easy to use	 Needle stick injury Need to remove the needle from the accessory channel to reload Needs bone wax which can lead to granuloma formation or cause failure of deployment due to plugging

Table 13.2 Comparison of advantages and disadvantages of different loading methods of fiducial for insertion

13.6 Optimal Location to Place Fiducials for SBRT

The optimal placement of fiducials in relation to a pancreatic mass remains uncertain. The superiority of laparoscopically placed fiducials in achieving ideal fiducial geometry was previously described; however, this was not shown to lead to improved tracking and delivery of SRT [13]. In general, it is best to outline the main borders (medial and lateral) of the lesion, and if possible, its superior and inferior borders by fiducial placement (Fig. 13.4). Thus, at least two fiducials should be placed per lesion. For lesions larger than 4 cm, more fiducials may be required to delineate the extent of the lesion (Fig. 13.5). Our preference is to deploy fiducials within the lesion as opposed to along the outer edge to avoid the risk of migration, pancreatitis, or injury to adjacent organs.

13.7 Technical Outcomes of Fiducial Insertion in Pancreatic Lesions

Depending on the type of fiducial and size of the delivery needle, the technical success of EUS-guided fiducial insertion varies between 88% and 100% (Table 13.3). An initial experience with fiducial insertion using a 19G needle was 100% successful in nine patients by using a saline flush through the stylet port [19]. However, a subsequent larger study in 57 patients reported difficulties despite using this approach with success rates only reaching 88% [20]. This success rate, however, would reflect the real-life results as targeting lesions in the head, and uncinate process of the pancreas can be technically challenging when using a stiff 19G needle. By using a 22G needle and narrower traditional gold (TG) or flexible coil (FC) fiducials, the success rates in fiducial deployment transduodenally reached 100% [21]. Sealing the needle tip with bone wax reduced the problem of air bubble extrusion during fiducial placement obscuring



Fig. 13.4 Fluoroscopic appearance outlining the inferior and superior border of a pancreatic cancer using the pre-loaded bar fiducial 22G needle (a, b). Comparison of visibility of different types of fiducial marker, Visicoil (c, d) versus bar (e, f) fiducials, based on fluoroscopic (a, b) and tomographic assessments

the EUS view [22]. Although flexible coil fiducials have increased flexibility, there have been concerns regarding migration (up to 9% migration rate) and reduced visibility compared to TG fiducials [16, 17]. With greater experience, there was no longer a need for fluoroscopy, and multiple procedures were able to be performed in a single setting (FNB and coeliac plexus neurolysis) [22].



Fig. 13.5 Ideal configuration of fiducial placement within the pancreatic lesion for SBRT. The goal is to place 2–4 fiducials within the lesion to outline the borders of lesion on planning CT scan, providing a good mapping of the lesion for SBRT. Stent, either plastic or metal type, in the biliary tree can also be used a reference. For lesion in the body and tail of the pancreas, fiducials should be placed toward the posterior border of lesion to avoid outward migration. Avoid placement of fiducial within the pancreatic duct and inside the blood vessel. For lesions larger than 4 cm, more fiducials may be required to delineate the extent of the lesion

The development of preloaded fiducial needles has eliminated prior issues associated with back loading (time consuming, needle stick injury). These needles are preloaded with TG fiducials as opposed to FC due to superior visibility in patients with pancreatic cancer [17]. Our recent study [23] showed that a preloaded 22G fiducial needle (Cook Medical, USA) was associated with a shorter deployment time (0.94 vs. 5.5 min; P= 0.0001), greater fiducial number deployed (3.9 vs. 2.14; P = 0.0001), and was cheaper (USD\$481 vs. USD\$683; P = 0.001), compared to the use of a back-loaded 19G or 22G Echotip Ultra. In this study, the technical success was 100% in both groups.

In pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours smaller than 2 cm in size where surgical resection is indicated, the laparoscopic approach reduces the tactile feedback obtained by the surgeon intraoperatively. As such, localisation of a small lesion can be extremely challenging and EUS-guided fiducial placement is an option to aid enucleation of the lesion. Law et al. described two patients with a 7.4 mm uncinate lesion and a 9 mm neck of pancreas lesion whereby two FC fiducials were back-loaded onto a 22-gauge needle and injected into each patient successfully. Subsequent enucleation was successful with R0 resection margins [24]. Another case was described by Ramesh et al. whereby a 19-gauge needle was back-loaded with a single TG fiducial and successfully deployed into an insulinoma. This was easily identified in subsequent laparoscopic resection, and the patient had an excellent clinical outcome [12].

Table 13.3 Sum	mary (of published studies that (evaluated 1	the outcome	es of different typ	pes of fiducials	marking using	EUS-guided app	roach
								Technical	
Article	Ν	Cancer	Needle	Fiducial	Technique	Fluoroscopy	Antibiotics	success	Complications
Pishvaian et al. [26] (2006)	13	Pancreas, colon, oesophagus	19G	TG	FL	Yes	No	85% (11/13)	Cholangitis $(n = 1)$
Varadarajulu et al. [19] (2010)	6	Pancreas	19G	TG	BL	Yes	No	100% (9/9)	None
Park et al. [20] (2010)	57	Pancreas	19G	TG	BL—stylet push and hydrostatic	No	No	88% (50/57)	Minor bleeding $(n = 1)$
Dimaio et al. [27] (2010)	30	Oesophagus (18), pancreas (9), gastric (1), ovarian (1), cholangio (1)	22G	FC	BL	No	Not routine	97% (29/30)	Fever with elevated LFT $(n = 1)$
Sanders et al. [25] (2010)	51	Pancreas	19G	GS	BL	No		90% (46/51)	2% pancreatitis, 7% migration
Ammar et al. [21] (2010)	13	Pancreas (7), node (3), adrenal (1), cholangio (1), liver (1)	22G	FC	FL	No	No	100% (13/13)	None
Khasab et al. [17] (2012)	39	Pancreas	19G (29) 22G (10)	TG (29) FC (10)	BL	Mostly not	Yes	100%	None
Majumder et al. [13] (2013)	39	Pancreas	19G	TG	BL	No	Yes	90% (4 failed due to fiducial migration)	13% (5 patients); (3 abdominal pain, 1 vomiting, 1 mild pancreatitis)
									(continued)

Table 13.3 (con	tinued								
	Ň	C				Ē		Technical	
Article	2	Cancer	Ineedle	FIGUCIAI	1 ecnnique	Fluoroscopy	Antibiotics	success	Complications
Choi et al. [22]	32	Pancreas (29), liver	19G	TG	BL	No	Yes	100%	3.1% (1 patient)
(+107)									pancreatitis
Davila Fajardo	23	Pancreas	22G	FC	BL	Not routine	Not routine	100%	9.5% migration, 4.3%
et al. [16]				GA					(1 patient) bleeding,
(2014)									4.3% cholangitis
Dhadham et al.	514	Oesophageal (207),	19G,	TG, FC	BL	No	Not	99.8%	1.4% migration (7
[14](2016)		gastric (33), pancreas	22G				mentioned	(513/514)	pts), 1.8% minor
		(188), rectal (103),							bleeding (9 pts)
		others (32)							
Phan et al. [23]	09	Oesophago-gastric	19G,	FC, TG	BL, preloaded	No	Yes	100%	Cholangitis $(n = 1)$
(2019)		(27), pancreas (28),	22G						
		hepatic (5)							

13.8 Complications of Fiducial Insertion

Pancreatitis and bleeding are rare occurring in 2% and 1% of patients, respectively. Reported cases are mild requiring conservative inpatient management, and most patients were able to be discharged after 24–48 h [22, 25]. Cholangitis occurs in up to 4% of patients in two early studies where there was no routine administration of prophylactic antibiotics [26, 27]. Subsequent studies which implemented routine prophylactic antibiotic use reported no rates of cholangitis. As such, it is recommended that antibiotics be administered prior to fiducial implantation [28]. Our choice of antibiotics is either ciprofloxacin (400 mg IV stat) or ceftriaxone (1 g IV stat).

The accepted fiducial migration rate is between 1% and 4%; however, two studies reported high rates of 7% and 9.5% and will be discussed in greater detail. The rate of 9.5% was reported in a study that utilised Gold Anchor and Flexible Coil fiducials. Interestingly, the GA was more difficult to deploy (31.3% failure rate) whereas the FC fiducial was successful in all attempts. However, the high rate of migration happened exclusively with the FC fiducial in this study [16]. The risk of fiducial migration can be minimized by increasing the number of fiducials deployed to 3–4, allowing sufficient tracking during SBRT [25].

13.9 Conclusion

As SBRT is increasingly utilised for treatment of locally advanced pancreatic cancer, there is a greater demand for accurate outlining of the cancer by fiducial marking. Of the available modalities, EUS-guided fiducial insertion is the least invasive technique that is associated with very high technical success and a low complication rate. The advances in preloaded fiducial needle technology have further improved the safety, efficacy, cost, duration, and outcomes of the procedure.

References

- Conlon KC, Klimstra DS, Brennan MF. Long-term survival after curative resection for pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: clinicopathologic analysis of 5-year survivors. Ann Surg. 1996;223:273–9.
- 2. Springfeld C, et al. Chemotherapy for pancreatic cancer. Presse Med. 2019;48:e159-74.
- Kalser MH, Ellenberg SS. Pancreatic cancer. Adjuvant combined radiation and chemotherapy following curative resection. Arch Surg. 1985;120:899–903.
- 4. Klinkenbijl JH, et al. Adjuvant radiotherapy and 5-fluorouracil after curative resection of cancer of the pancreas and periampullary region: phase III trial of the EORTC gastrointestinal tract cancer cooperative group. Ann Surg. 1999;230:776–82; discussion 782–4.
- Neoptolemos JP, et al. A randomized trial of chemoradiotherapy and chemotherapy after resection of pancreatic cancer. N Engl J Med. 2004;350:1200–10.
- Gauthier I, Carrier JF, Béliveau-Nadeau D, Fortin B, Taussky D. Dosimetric impact and theoretical clinical benefits of fiducial markers for dose escalated prostate cancer radiation treatment. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2009;74:1128–33.

- 7. Didolkar MS, et al. Image-guided stereotactic radiosurgery for locally advanced pancreatic adenocarcinoma results of first 85 patients. J Gastrointest Surg. 2010;14:1547–59.
- Mellon EA, et al. Long-term outcomes of induction chemotherapy and neoadjuvant stereotactic body radiotherapy for borderline resectable and locally advanced pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Acta Oncol (Madr). 2015;54:979–85.
- 9. Knybel L, et al. The analysis of respiration-induced pancreatic tumor motion based on reference measurement. Radiat Oncol. 2014;9:192.
- 10. Bussels B, et al. Respiration-induced movement of the upper abdominal organs: a pitfall for the three-dimensional conformal radiation treatment of pancreatic cancer. Radiother Oncol. 2003;68:69–74.
- Kothary N, et al. Safety and efficacy of percutaneous fiducial marker implantation for imageguided radiation therapy. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2009;20:235–9.
- 12. Ramesh J, Porterfield J, Varadarajulu S. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided gold fiducial marker placement for intraoperative identification of insulinoma. Endoscopy. 2012;44:E327–8.
- Majumder S, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided pancreatic fiducial placement: how important is ideal fiducial geometry? Pancreas. 2013;42:692–5.
- Dhadham GC, Hoffe S, Harris CL, Klapman JB. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided fiducial marker placement for image-guided radiation therapy without fluoroscopy: safety and technical feasibility. Endosc Int Open. 2016;4:E378–82.
- Chavalitdhamrong D, DiMaio C, Siersema P, Wagh M. Technical advances in endoscopic ultrasound-guided fiducial placement for the treatment of pancreatic cancer. Endosc Int Open. 2015;3:E373–7.
- Dávila Fajardo R, et al. EUS-guided fiducial markers placement with a 22-gauge needle for image-guided radiation therapy in pancreatic cancer. Gastrointest Endosc. 2014;79:851–5.
- 17. Khashab MA, et al. Comparative analysis of traditional and coiled fiducials implanted during EUS for pancreatic cancer patients receiving stereotactic body radiation therapy. Gastrointest Endosc. 2012;76:962–71.
- Hwang JH, et al. Devices for use with EUS. Display Options. 2017;2(3):35–45. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.vgie.2016.12.001.
- Varadarajulu S, Trevino JM, Shen S, Jacob R. The use of endoscopic ultrasound-guided gold markers in image-guided radiation therapy of pancreatic cancers: a case series. Endoscopy. 2010;42:423–5.
- Park WG, et al. EUS-guided gold fiducial insertion for image-guided radiation therapy of pancreatic cancer: 50 successful cases without fluoroscopy. Gastrointest Endosc. 2010;71:513–8.
- 21. Ammar T, et al. Fiducial placement for stereotactic radiation by using EUS: feasibility when using a marker compatible with a standard 22-gauge needle. Gastrointest Endosc. 2010;71:630–3.
- 22. Choi J-H, Seo D-W, Park DH, Lee SK, Kim M-H. Fiducial placement for stereotactic body radiation therapy under only endoscopic ultrasonography guidance in pancreatic and hepatic malignancy: practical feasibility and safety. Gut Liver. 2014;8:88–93.
- 23. Phan VA, Dalfsen R, Le H, Nguyen NQ. Performance of a new preloaded fiducial needle to guide radiation therapy of upper gastrointestinal cancers. Endoscopy. 2019;51:463–7.
- Law JK, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound (EUS)-guided fiducial placement allows localization of small neuroendocrine tumors during parenchymal-sparing pancreatic surgery. Surg Endosc. 2013;27:3921–6.
- Sanders MK, et al. EUS-guided fiducial placement for stereotactic body radiotherapy in locally advanced and recurrent pancreatic cancer. Gastrointest Endosc. 2010;71:1178–84.
- Pishvaian AC, Collins B, Gagnon G, Ahlawat S, Haddad NG. EUS-guided fiducial placement for CyberKnife radiotherapy of mediastinal and abdominal malignancies. Gastrointest Endosc. 2006;64:412–7.
- DiMaio CJ, et al. EUS-guided fiducial placement for image-guided radiation therapy in GI malignancies by using a 22-gauge needle (with videos). Gastrointest Endosc. 2010;71:1204–10.
- Coronel E, et al. EUS-guided fiducial placement for GI malignancies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2019;89:659–670.e18.


Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided Therapies for Solid Pancreatic Tumors

14

Francesco Maria Di Matteo and Serena Stigliano

14.1 Introduction

Endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) has become an important interventional tool in the oncologic field based on the principle of EUS-guided puncture and thanks to the development of new technologies.

Local ablative techniques are emerging as complementary treatments in the multimodal strategy in pancreatic cancer especially for unresectable non-metastatic disease [1, 2].

Endoscopic ultrasound represents the perfect tool to guide local treatment of pancreatic lesions because it has the advantages of real-time visualization of the procedure and close contact of the probe to the target organ [3] compared to the ablation by a percutaneous [4] or intraoperative route [5], moreover with reduced morbidity compared with surgery.

Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) remains one of the most aggressive tumors, along with a poor prognosis. Despite advancements in the multimodal approach, surgical resection still represents the only potentially curative treatment. However, more than 80% of patients are diagnosed at an unresectable stage.

Different chemo and/or radiotherapies have had poor results, with the 5-year survival rate at around 5-7% [6].

Pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (pNEN) are rare tumors but their incidence has significantly increased in the last decades because of the widespread use of imaging studies [7]. They are classified depending on the disease stage and histological grade and, from a clinical viewpoint, based on the presence or absence of symptoms due to the secretion of hormones.

F. M. Di Matteo (🖂) · S. Stigliano

Operative Endoscopy Department, Campus Bio-Medico University, Rome, Italy e-mail: f.dimatteo@unicampus.it; s.stigliano@unicampus.it

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. Facciorusso, N. Muscatiello (eds.), Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71937-1_14

The mainstay treatment of pNENs is surgery, which is associated with a significant benefit in terms of survival but is associated with important short- and longterm adverse events.

So, local therapy like EUS-guided ablation could be a valid alternative even in this setting.

Considering the mechanisms of action, EUS-guided ablation can be classified in two different approaches. The "direct mode" techniques have a locoregional effect on the lesion and include radiofrequency ablation (RFA), neodymium-doped yttrium aluminum garnet (Nd:YAG) laser ablation, cryotherm ablation, and ethanol injection. The other approach, the "indirect mode," consist in obtaining the antitumoral effect by a second mechanism, such as fine-needle injection of chemotherapeutic agents or immunotherapy factors (i.e., lymphocyte cultures) that stimulate the immune system against the lesion, or the placement of fiducial markers that guide stereotactic radiation [8].

14.2 EUS-Guided Direct-Mode Ablation

14.2.1 EUS-Guided Radiofrequency Ablation

RFA is a well-known procedure that produces coagulative necrosis induced by high temperature. It uses high-frequency alternating current as electromagnetic energy, which generates heat and results in coagulative necrosis.

The current available probe is the EUSRA RF electrode (STARmed, Koyang, South Korea) (Fig. 14.1).

It is a monopolar 18 and 19 G RFA electrode that is placed in the echoendoscope operative channel. It is 140 cm long with a sharp conical 1 cm tip for energy delivery. The needle is associated with an internal cooling system connected via a pump to an external cold saline solution source (0 °C) that prevents the charring of the tip and improves the ablation accuracy.

During the procedure, the needle electrode is passed under EUS guidance into the target lesion. The energy delivery is applied after confirming location of the tip of needle electrode within the margin of lesion on EUS. On activation, after variable seconds, echogenic bubbles gradually start appearing around the needle, indicating RFA at the site (Fig. 14.2).

On histology after RFA, three areas can be distinguished depending on proximity to the probe. The central area has coagulative necrosis due to direct contact with the probe. The transitional area has sublethal damage due to the thermal conduction of the central area; cell apoptosis or complete healing is possible. The healthy external area is unaffected by the ablation.

By now, three studies have evaluated the feasibility and safety of EUS-RFA in patients with locally advanced pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma.

In 2016, Song et al. [9] conducted a study on six patients with a histologically confirmed pancreatic cancer, at unresectable stage due to locally advanced or metastasis disease, and resistant to previous treatment modality. They showed that







EUS-RFA was performed successfully on all patients with no major adverse events (pancreatitis, bleeding, duodenal injury, or portal vein and/or splenic vein thrombosis). There was no procedure-related mortality.

Same results were observed in another study [10] conducted on ten patients with unresectable nonmetastatic cancer. In this study, the secondary end point was also to evaluate the presence of necrosis within the neoplastic tissue as effect of the

ablative procedure. At contrast-enhancement CT scan, radiological response was defined as the presence of a well-defined hypodense intra-tumor area compared to the surrounding neoplastic tissue.

Recently, Crinò et al. [11] showed their results of a study conducted on eight patients with PDAC, nonresectable and nonmetastatic after first-line chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy or resectable but not suitable for surgery due to the patient's comorbidities. Again, technical success was defined by achieving tumor ablation (i.e., the presence of a markedly hypodense area inside the tumor that was detectable at the day after CECT scan). The volume of the ablated area (and its percentage compared to the original tumor volume) was calculated. An ablated area in the tumor was obtained in all patients. About the adverse events, only three patients experienced mild abdominal pain after the procedure.

These results confirmed that EUS-RFA is feasible and safe, demonstrating its ability to produce substantial necrosis at the ablation site. However, the exact role of EUS-RFA in PDAC management must be further assessed.

About the EUS-guided RFA ablation for pNEN, few case reports and two case series have been published. Choi et al. [12] treated seven patients with a median tumor diameter of 20 mm, and a radiological complete response was achieved in five patients. Regarding adverse events one, patient developed abdominal pain and one developed mild pancreatitis. In a second series by Barthet et al. [13], 12 patients with 13 nonfunctional pNEN lesions <2 cm were treated with EUS-RFA. At 6 months, complete response was achieved in nine lesions (71%). Adverse events were observed in two patients, with one case of pancreatitis and one case of main pancreatic duct (MPD) stenosis.

Recently, Oleinikov et al. assessed the feasibility, efficacy, and safety of EUS RFA in patients with functional and nonfunctional pNET, showing a complete radiological response in 96% of lesions. Adverse events were observed in two patients, both mild acute pancreatitis [14].

14.2.2 EUS-Guided Laser Ablation

Laser ablation is a minimally invasive method that works by directing low-power laser light energy into the tissue. The use of thinner laser fibers enables insertion into standard EUS needles (i.e., 22 G) and their potential application in deep abdominal organs, such as the pancreas.

The available device is a 1064-nm wavelength neodymium-yttrium aluminum garnet (Nd:YAG) laser light (Echo-laser; Elesta s.r.l., Florence, Italy) that is used with the insertion of a 300-mm optical fiber (Elesta s.r.l.) in a standard EUS needle (Fig. 14.3).

Up to now, preliminary studies in an in vivo animal model have demonstrated the efficacy and safety of laser ablation with Nd:YAG laser [15].

Recently, this minimally invasive laser has been used for the treatment of a neuroendocrine pancreatic tumor in human. Laser ablation under EUS guidance was performed using Nd:YAG laser at 4.0 W for 300 s and no complications occurred



Fig. 14.3 (a) A 22-gauge Needle Flex from Boston Scientific preloaded before the procedure. (b) The fiber out from the tip of the needle (5 mm)



Fig. 14.4 (a) The hyperechoic spot visible at 5 mm from the tip of the needle inside the tumor (red arrow). (b) At the end of the procedure, EUS showed a hyperechoic area along the path of the probe surrounded by nonhomogeneous tissue with hyperechoic spots

during the procedure (Fig. 14.4). A well-defined coagulative necrotic area at the posttreatment CT scan was observed, and no metabolic activity was seen at a 6-year follow-up [16].

Furthermore, the same group assessed the feasibility of EUS-guided laser ablation for unresectable pancreatic cancer. The procedure was feasible in all cases, and no major adverse events were recorded. The lowest effective power settings were applied to avoid potential damage to the adjacent normal parenchyma. According to the results of this human application, the power setting 4 W/1000 J achieved the largest ablation volume without clinical adverse events. Median post-LA survival of the patients was 7.4 months (range, 29–662 days) [17].

14.2.3 EUS-Guided Cryotherm Ablation

Cryotherm ablation is a hybrid bipolar technique combining the thermal injury of RFA with the cooling effect of a cryogenic gas.

The currently available probe was developed by ERBE Elektromedizin GmbH (Tübingen, Germany) (Fig. 14.5). This probe uses an EUS-FNA needle with a sharp distal tip containing two interstitial electrodes that form the current closed system









(Fig. 14.6). The electrically active section is 26 mm long with a gauge of 1.8 mm. A Teflon sheet covers the device, and it can easily pass through the operative channel of a therapeutic EUS scope once the tumor has been detected. The probe is connected to the energy generator and the CO_2 source.

A bipolar system is believed to create ablations with less collateral thermal damage than monopolar systems. In addition, combining the effects of the two technologies, this device increases the effects of the two approaches and overcomes the disadvantage of less efficiency [8].

The feasibility and efficacy of EUS-guided cryotherm ablation was first demonstrated in animal model [18] and in ex vivo study [19] on neoplastic tissue of explanted pancreas from patients with resectable pancreatic adenocarcinoma.

The histological examination found a positive correlation between the size of the ablated area and the application time.

Arcidiacono et al. evaluated the feasibility and safety of cryotherm ablation in patients with locally advanced PDAC. The treatment was feasible in 72.8% because fibrosis and desmoplastic reaction of the lesion and gastroduodenal wall blocked the probe insertion. No severe complications were reported during or immediately after the procedure. The study showed a direct correlation between application time and the treated area [20].

In addition, besides the local tissue ablation, a systemic inflammatory response to cryoablation has been postulated as a reaction that can lead to an antitumor response, not only in the treated area but also in distant metastasis [21].

14.2.4 EUS-Guided Ethanol Ablation

Ethanol is a low viscosity chemical agent that determines coagulative necrosis with subsequent fibrosis, small vessel thrombosis, and granulomatous tissue formation.

It can be injected through a small gauge needle under EUS view.

Several studies have shown that EUS-guided ethanol injection is a safe and effective procedure in several pancreatic neoplasms, such as cystic lesions and neuroendocrine tumors [22–24].

In a recent study, Paik et al. evaluated the efficacy of EUS-guided ethanol ablation of solid pNEN. They showed that the procedure achieved a treatment success rate of 75% with one major adverse event (severe acute pancreatitis) [25].

About the efficacy of EUS-guided ethanol ablation in PDAC, Facciorusso et al. compared the efficacy and safety of EUS-guided ethanol ablation combined with EUS-guided celiac plexus neurolysis (EUS-CPN) with EUS-CPN alone for pain management, ablation rate of the tumor, and the overall survival. Ablation was confirmed in 84.6% of patients treated with the combined approach, and as a result of the direct tumor killing activity of ethanol, median overall survival was significantly longer after the combined therapy (8.3 vs. 6.5 months; P = 0.05) [26].

14.3 Local Ablation and Immunomodulation

The observation that spontaneous regression of untreated tumors can occur after the ablation of distant tumor masses may indicate an involvement of immune activation after the thermoablation [27].

Although the sequential mechanisms involved are not yet fully elucidated, several pieces of the puzzle have been identified; thermal treatment induces necrosis and can lead to local inflammation, release of danger signals like heat shock proteins (Hsp), which may even be detected systemically. This stimulates the recruitment and activation of immune effector cells, including dendritic cells, near and most probably inside the damaged tumoral tissue. These cells activate antitumor adaptive immunity, including CD4+, CD8+ T cells, and antibody production, which can contribute to local tumor elimination, control distant tumors including micrometastases, and establish long-lasting antitumor immunological memory [28, 29].

It is supposed that controlling the induction of physiological stress, the local ablation offers the possibility of letting the "natural" immune response develop by breaking self-tolerance. So, thermal ablation of cancer provides a therapeutic implementation of the *danger model*. However, the induced antitumor immunity is weak and probably not sufficient alone to eradicate established tumors, but it can synergize with some chemotherapies and immunomodulating strategies [30, 31].

14.4 EUS-Guided Indirect Mode Ablation

Many novel therapeutic agents and techniques delivered with EUS fine-needle injection (EUS FNI) have been used in clinical trials for the treatment of advanced pancreatic cancer [32].

One example is the use of an allogeneic mixed lymphocyte culture, termed cytoimplant. Chang et al. [33] completed a phase I trial in which the cytoimplant was generated from a culture of healthy donor and patient's peripheral blood mononuclear cells. There were no procedure-related complications. Tumor response was evaluated by computed tomography; two patients had a partial response (i.e., more than a 50% decrease in cross-sectional area), one had a minimal response, three had no change, and two had a progression of the disease.

Another type of injectable agents is the TNFerade (GenVec Inc., USA). It is a replication-deficient adenovirus vector that carries the human tumor necrosis factoralpha gene regulated by a radiation-inducible promoter (Egr-1). Hecht et al. [34] reported three cases of partial response, one case of complete response, and 12 cases of stable disease (median survival of 297 days). However, another large randomized multicenter phase III study [35] involving 304 patients reported no survival benefit of adding intratumoral TNFerade injection to 5-fluorouracil and radiotherapy compared with chemotherapy alone.

A new antitumor agent is the ONYX-015 (Onyx Pharmaceuticals, USA) [36]. It is an oncolytic attenuated adenovirus that preferentially replicates in malignant cells, leading to cell death. Hecht et al. [37] completed a phase I/II trial of EUS FNI-guided intratumoral delivery of ONYX-015 combined with gemcitabine in 21 patients with advanced pancreatic carcinoma. No convincing efficacy for ONYX-015 was found: 2 with partial regression; 2 with minor progression; 6 with stable disease; and 11 with progressive disease or treatment-related toxicity.

However, in view of the above suboptimal results, the attention has been turned in other fields of the cancer treatment such as the nanotechnology.

Nanotherapies may hold the key to reduce the damage of the adjacent healthy tissues and limit other side effects of cytotoxic agents by encapsulating drugs into a nontoxic nanoformulation that can pass through immunogenic and stromal barriers. Nanotherapies could really target the drug with high specificity to the tumor site, leading to improvement of the survival rate of patients with pancreatic cancer. This is a very interesting, still poorly exploited field and even more studies are focusing in this research filed [38, 39].

14.5 Conclusions

Endoscopic ultrasound-guided ablation represents a feasible, safe, and effective tool for the treatment of unresectable pancreatic solid tumors or for patient unfit for surgery.

Several different EUS-guided ablative techniques have been introduced and the current experience shows good results.

This technique must be considered in a multistep scenario, complementary to systemic chemotherapy or radiotherapy. Indeed, it seems to play an important role not only in producing a local destruction of the tumor but also in changing its molecular profile and its microenvironment, inducing different susceptibility to chemotherapy. Furthermore, the local ablation of the tumor can induce the activation of the immune system and contribute to local tumor elimination, control distant tumors including metastases, and determine long-lasting antitumor immunological memory.

However, up to now, the available studies are conducted on small number of patients. Prospective randomized controlled trials are awaited to accurately evaluate its efficacy in terms of survival and quality of life.

References

- Alvarez-Sánchez MV, Napoléon B. Review of endoscopic radiofrequency in biliopancreatic tumors with emphasis on clinical benefits, controversies and safety. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22(37):8257–70.
- Testoni SGG, Healey AJ, Dietrich CF, Arcidiacono PG. Systematic review of endoscopy ultrasound-guided thermal ablation treatment for pancreatic cancer. Endosc Ultrasound. 2020;9(2):83–100.
- Lakhtakia S, Seo DW. Endoscopic ultrasonography-guided tumor ablation. Dig Endosc. 2017;29(4):486–94.
- D'Onofrio M, Ciaravino V, De Robertis R, et al. Percutaneous ablation of pancreatic cancer. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22(44):9661–73.
- Girelli R, Frigerio I, Salvia R, Barbi E, Tinazzi Martini P, Bassi C. Feasibility and safety of radiofrequency ablation for locally advanced pancreatic cancer. Br J Surg. 2010;97(2):220–5.
- Sohal DPS. Adjuvant and neoadjuvant therapy for resectable pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Chin Clin Oncol. 2017;6(3):26.
- Yao JC, Hassan M, Phan A, Dagohoy C, Leary C, Mares JE, Abdalla EK, Fleming JB, Vauthey JN, Rashid A, Evans DB. One hundred years after "carcinoid": epidemiology of and prognostic factors for neuroendocrine tumors in 35,825 cases in the United States. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:3063–72.
- Dabizzi E, Arcidiacono PG. EUS-guided solid pancreatic tumor ablation. Endosc Ultrasound. 2017;6(Suppl 3):S90–4.
- Song TJ, Seo DW, Lakhtakia S, et al. Initial experience of EUS-guided radiofrequency ablation of unresectable pancreatic cancer. Gastrointest Endosc. 2016;83(2):440–3. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.gie.2015.08.048.
- 10. Scopelliti F, Pea A, Conigliaro R, et al. Technique, safety, and feasibility of EUS-guided radiofrequency ablation in unresectable pancreatic cancer. Surg Endosc. 2018;32(9):4022–8.
- 11. Crinò SF, D'Onofrio M, Bernardoni L, et al. EUS-guided radiofrequency ablation (EUS-RFA) of solid pancreatic neoplasm using an 18-gauge needle electrode: feasibility, safety, and technical success. J Gastrointestin Liver Dis. 2018;27(1):67–72.
- Choi JH, Seo DW, Song TJ, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided radiofrequency ablation for management of benign solid pancreatic tumors. Endoscopy. 2018;50:1099–104.
- Barthet M, Giovannini M, Lesavre N, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided radiofrequency ablation for pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors and pancreatic cystic neoplasms: a prospective multicenter study. Endoscopy. 2019;51(9):836–42.
- Oleinikov K, Dancour A, Epshtein J, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided radiofrequency ablation: a new therapeutic approach for pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2019;104(7):2637–47.

- Di Matteo F, Martino M, Rea R, et al. EUS-guided Nd:YAG laser ablation of normal pancreatic tissue: a pilot study in a pig model. Gastrointest Endosc. 2010;72:358–63.
- Di Matteo F, Picconi F, Martino M, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided Nd:YAG laser ablation of recurrent pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor: a promising revolution? Endoscopy. 2014;46(Suppl 1 UCTN):E380–1.
- Di Matteo FM, Saccomandi P, Martino M, et al. Feasibility of EUS-guided Nd:YAG laser ablation of unresectable pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Gastrointest Endosc. 2018;88(1):168–174.e1.
- Carrara S, Arcidiacono PG, Albarello L, Addis A, Enderle MD, Boemo C, Campagnol M, Ambrosi A, Doglioni C, Testoni PA. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided application of a new hybrid cryotherm probe in porcine pancreas: a preliminary study. Endoscopy. 2008;40:321–6.
- Petrone MC, Arcidiacono PG, Carrara S, Albarello L, Enderle MD, Neugebauer A, Boemo C, Doglioni C, Testoni PA. US-guided application of a new hybrid probe in human pancreatic adenocarcinoma: an ex vivo study. Gastrointest Endosc. 2010;71:1294–7.
- Arcidiacono PG, Carrara S, Reni M, et al. Feasibility and safety of EUS-guided cryothermal ablation in patients with locally advanced pancreatic cancer. Gastrointest Endosc. 2012;76:1142–51.
- Signoretti M, Valente R, Repici A, Delle Fave G, Capurso G, Carrara S. Endoscopy-guided ablation of pancreatic lesions: technical possibilities and clinical outlook. World J Gastrointest Endosc. 2017;9(2):41–54.
- DeWitt J, McGreevy K, Schmidt CM, Brugge WR. EUS-guided ethanol versus saline solution lavage for pancreatic cysts: a randomized, double-blind study. Gastrointest Endosc. 2009;70:710–23.
- Jurgensen C, Schuppan D, Neser F, Ernstberger J, Junghans U, Stölzel U. EUS-guided alcohol ablation of an insulinoma. Gastrointest Endosc. 2006;63:1059–62.
- Muscatiello N, Salcuni A, Macarini L, et al. Treatment of a pancreatic endocrine tumor by ethanol injection guided by endoscopic ultrasound. Endoscopy. 2008;40(Suppl 2):E258–9.
- Paik WH, Seo DW, Dhir V, et al. Safety and efficacy of EUS-guided ethanol ablation for treating small solid pancreatic neoplasm. Medicine. 2016;95(4):e2538.
- 26. Facciorusso A, Maso MD, Barone M, Muscatiello N. Echoendoscopic ethanol ablation of tumor combined to celiac plexus neurolysis improved pain control in a patient with pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Endosc Ultrasound. 2015;4(4):342–4.
- 27. Haen SP, Pereira PL, Salih HR, Rammensee HG, Gouttefangeas C. More than just tumor destruction: immunomodulation by thermal ablation of cancer. Clin Dev Immunol. 2011;2011:160250.
- den Brok MH, Sutmuller RP, Nierkens S, et al. Efficient loading of dendritic cells following cryo and radiofrequency ablation in combination with immune modulation induces antitumour immunity. Br J Cancer. 2006;95(7):896–905.
- 29. den Brok MH, Sutmuller RP, van der Voort R, et al. In situ tumor ablation creates an antigen source for the generation of antitumor immunity. Cancer Res. 2004;64(11):4024–9.
- Sabel MS, Nehs MA, Su G, Lowler KP, Ferrara JLM, Chang AE. Immunologic response to cryoablation of breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2005;90(1):97–104.
- Levy MY, Sidana A, Chowdhury WH, et al. Cyclophos-phamide unmasks an antimetastatic effect of local tumor cryoablation. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2009;330(2):596–601.
- Yan BM, Van Dam J. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided intratumoural therapy for pancreatic cancer. Can J Gastroenterol. 2008;22(4):405–10.
- 33. Chang KJ, Nguyen PT, Thompson JA, et al. Phase I clinical trial of allogeneic mixed lymphocyte culture (cytoimplant) delivered by endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle injection in patients with advanced pancreatic carcinoma. Cancer. 2000;88(6):1325–35.
- 34. Hecht JR, Farrell JJ, Senzer N, et al. EUS or percutaneously guided intratumoral TNFerade biologic with 5-fluorouracil and radiotherapy for first-line treatment of locally advanced pancreatic cancer: a phase I/II study. Gastrointest Endosc. 2012;75(2):332–8.
- 35. Herman JM, Wild AT, Wang H, et al. Randomized phase III multi-institutional study of TNFerade biologic with fluorouracil and radiotherapy for locally advanced pancreatic cancer: final results. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(7):886–94.

- Ries SJ. Elucidation of the molecular mechanism underlying tumor-selective replication of the oncolytic adenovirus mutant ONYX-015. Future Oncol. 2005;1:763–6.
- Hecht JR, Bedford R, Abbruzzese JL, et al. A phase I/II trial of intratumoral endoscopic ultrasound injection of ONYX-015 with intravenous gemcitabine in unresectable pancreatic carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2003;9:555–61.
- Brachi G, Bussolino F, Ciardelli G, Mattu C. Nanomedicine for imaging and therapy of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Front Bioeng Biotechnol. 2019;7:307.
- 39. Adiseshaiah PP, Crist RM, Hook SS, McNeil SE. Nanomedicine strategies to overcome the pathophysiological barriers of pancreatic cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2016;13:750–65.



15

Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided Pancreatic Cysts Ablation

Nico Pagano and Claudio Ricci

Key Points

- Pancreatic cystic lesions are still a difficult subject.
- Correct classification and diagnosis of cystic lesions are not always easy.
- Risk stratification of neoplastic cysts has an ample gray area.
- Current strategies are only follow-up or surgery, both carrying risks.
- Cyst ablation techniques have been tested in the last years and seem to have good results and acceptable risk profile.
- We know nothing about long-term results and the real impact on pancreatic cancer incidence reduction in these patients.

15.1 Introduction

Pancreatic cancer is increasing in incidence and is one of the most lethal malignancies in the world [1]. Up to one out of five cases of pancreatic cancers develop from mucinous cysts, which are increasingly diagnosed, mostly as incidental finding, during cross-sectional imaging [2, 3]. Since the cysts' incidence increases in the older population and the technological development improves the sensitivity of CT scan and MRI, we are experiencing an epidemic of pancreatic cystic lesions. This burden of cases is critical for the health systems since the follow-up is expensive, and the decision to operate a cyst is quite tricky, considering the high morbidity and mortality of pancreatic surgery. Not all cysts are to evolve in malignancy, but it is often challenging to provide an accurate estimation of the risk, discerning between the non-evolutive ones and the potentially malignant [4]. The mucinous cysts bear a potential of malignant transformation, and, among this sub-type, certain features suggest an increased risk. Gastroenterological associations produced various

N. Pagano (🖂) · C. Ricci

DIMEC, Policlinico Sant'Orsola, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. Facciorusso, N. Muscatiello (eds.), Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71937-1_15

guidelines to aid the clinician during daily work in discerning the patients that need intervention and state the timing of follow-up for the others [5]. A mucinous cyst has an overall risk of progression to malignancy that ranges between 1 and 25% [6]. With current imaging and fluid analysis techniques, the probability of transformation in every single cyst is a rough estimate. Even molecular analysis, a costly technology, has not been validated as a reliable parameter in predicting future malignancy [7]. These strategies are often inadequate because, despite all efforts, most cystic lesions lay in the gray area of intermediate risk.

At present, however, there are no options against potentially malignant pancreatic cysts, except surgery or a strict follow-up, both bearing risks. In fact, on the one hand, operating a pancreatic cyst exposes the patient to a high risk of mortality and morbidity; on the other hand, follow-up is imperfect in promptly detecting malignant transformation, is costly, and represents a psychological burden for the patient.

We are here in a similar setting as Barrett esophagus; before the advent of ablation techniques, the only available options for this condition were surveillance and surgery, both limited and risky.

In the last years, various reports of pancreatic cysts ablation with EUS guidance have been published, paving the way for a possible change in paradigm [8].

Experimenting with methods to reduce the risk of malignancy, like a local treatment of pancreatic cysts, may provide a new weapon in the battle against pancreatic cancer.

15.2 Technique

The procedure of pancreatic cyst ablation is technically an EUS-FNA, with all the same requirements as sedation, patient information, and devices [9]. There is an indication for antibiotic prophylaxis, according to guidelines on FNA in pancreatic cysts [10]. The lavage agent used and the chemotherapeutic infusion must be ready before starting the procedure, and a close cooperation with the oncologist is recommended for the preparation of chemotherapeutic agents and the subsequent disposal. A thorough evaluation of the lesion, including contrast-enhanced EUS, is mandatory. For what concerns the treatment of the cyst, the endoscopist inserts the needle using a standard FNA technique aspiring the full content of the cavity. The choice of the needle relies on the content of the cyst; a more viscous liquid requires the use of a 19-gauge needle to facilitate the evacuation, while in less viscous content, a 22-gauge needle may be adequate [11]. After the evacuation of the content, ethanol lavage involves alternative alcohol injection and aspiration in the cyst for up to 5 min [12]. The endoscopist injects the same amount of alcohol as the quantity of liquid aspirated from the cyst. In the alcohol-free approach, after the aspiration of the fluid content, the cystic cavity is filled with a chemotherapeutic agent or a cocktail of agents. As in the ethanol lavage, the amount of liquid infused must be the same as the one aspirated. The solution of paclitaxel is more viscous than ethanol, so that the infusion needs a higher pressure. An infusion device or a high-pressure gun is often necessary to inject the solution. As opposed to ethanol lavage,

paclitaxel is left in place to produce its effect for a longer time [13]. One typical trick is to leave a little amount of liquid surrounding the tip of the needle to create a safety cushion and avoid spillover outside the cystic wall [14].

In the case of multilocular cysts, ablation may be more problematic because a single puncture may not be enough to inject the solution in all the compartments, and multiple punctures may be required. The multiple puncture approach increases procedure length, costs, and risks [15]. Expectedly, unilocular cysts have better outcomes than multilocular cysts and cysts smaller than 35 mm have better responses than larger cysts [16].

Data seem to show better results with repeated procedures, and some authors proposed a scheduled control at 3 months with retreatment of lesions still larger than 15 mm at the second evaluation, although to set the best timing we need further data [17]. Various authors stated the parameters for evaluating the response to treatment. The current definition of complete response is a reduction of the cystic size of more than 95% from baseline. A partial response is a reduction between 75 and 95% of the size. A reduction of less than 75% is a nonresponse [18].

15.3 Chemotherapy and Ethanol

The concept of local application of chemotherapy or toxic substances to treat tumors is an old one [13]. This approach aims at minimizing the systemic toxicity of chemotherapy and increases the dose within the tumoral tissue. Ethanol was the first substance used in the local ablation therapy of various tumors, like hepatocarcinoma and other types of lesions [19]. Due to its toxic effect, the alcohol creates tissue damage, obtaining the reduction or the complete ablation of the neoplastic tissue. Unfortunately, local ethanol toxicity is, at the same time, its strength and its limitation. In the very delicate pancreatic parenchyma, the local effect of alcohol creates damage to the adjacent healthy tissue, often resulting in pancreatitis [20]. Besides, damage of the neoplastic epithelium of the cyst is often incomplete and non-uniform [21].

Paclitaxel is a chemotherapeutic agent that inhibits microtubule-dependent cell processes, causing cessation of cell division and apoptosis. Due to its high viscosity, the substance exerts a long-term effect inside the cystic cavity [22].

Gemcitabine has a role in the treatment of pancreatic cancer. The results of the studies on local ablation suggest that this drug has a synergistic effect with paclitaxel in treating pancreatic neoplastic cysts [11].

15.4 Radiofrequency Ablation

Radiofrequency ablation (RFA) is a new technology used to treat tumors in different sites. RFA uses electromagnetic energy and high-frequency alternating currents to produce coagulative necrosis when applied to tissues [23]. Lately some authors proposed the use of RFA to treat pancreatic cystic lesions.

15.5 Available Data

The first report of EUS-guided cyst ablation was by Gan et al. In this work, endoscopists, after aspiration of the cystic liquid, injected an 80% alcohol solution in pancreatic cysts, leaving it in place for up to 5 min [24]. The follow-up showed a 35% complete response rate with no adverse events. After this first experience, results were confirmed by a prospective randomized trial, which reported 5% of pancreatitis after the procedure [16]. The majority of the following studies were nonrandomized and provided similar results [25]. More recently, a prospective trial failed to produce the same results reporting a much lower rate of complete ablation and a 4% incidence of post-procedure pancreatitis [26].

As described in Table 15.1, more than 200 patients underwent EUS-guided pancreatic cyst ablation with ethanol. Half of the treated cysts were unilocular, and the other half had some septa. The majority of the cysts were mucinous (either IPMN or mucinous cystadenomas), but 20% were serous cystadenomas, and the remaining were undetermined or even pseudocysts. The range of cystic lesions size was 19–30 mm. One-third of the cysts had a complete response to treatment, and the complication rate was about 20%. Among the reported complications, abdominal pain was the more frequent one with a rate of up to 15%, and pancreatitis occurred in 2% of the patients. One intracystic bleeding was observed (0.5% of patients).

Although promising, because of the low-resolution rate and the relatively highcomplication rate, ethanol lavage has not entered clinical practice. The further technical evolution of the procedure was the intracystic injection of paclitaxel after ethanol, as reported by Oh and colleagues [27]. The experience with this technique showed better results than ethanol alone, leading to an ablation rate of up to 80%. This resolution rate is more acceptable for application in clinical practice, but the significant rate of adverse events, particularly acute pancreatitis, represents a severe limitation to the diffusion of the technique. Besides, other critical adverse events have been reported, like peritonitis and venous thrombosis. Because the main problem is the toxicity of ethanol, some authors had the idea to try an alcohol-free technique. The CHARM trial was the first to explore a chemoablation approach without alcohol [28]. The study compared two arms, both using chemotherapeutic lavage,

Authors	Design	nr pts	Remission rate (%)	Adverse events rate (%)
Gan et al. [24]	Prospective (pilot)	25	35	0
Dewitt et al. 2009 [36]	RCT	42	33	24
DiMaio et al. [17]	Retrospective	13	38	8
Caillol et al., 2012 [37]	Retrospective	13	85	0
Gomez et al., 2016 [21]	Prospective(pilot)	23	9	8
Park et al., 2016 [12]	Prospective	91	37	14

Table 15.1 Studies on EUS-guided pancreatic cystic lesions ablation with ethanol

preceded by ethanol lavage in one group and saline in the other. In the follow-up at 12 months, there was no difference in the rate of complete ablation between the two groups. In this trial, both groups had a complete response rate of over 60%. This result likely relies on the design of the study because the authors used an intracystic cocktail of two chemotherapic agents: gemcitabine and paclitaxel. The other main result is the significantly lower rate of adverse events in the alcohol-free arm. Future larger trials will test the technique in a larger number of patients.

Table 15.2 includes studies on chemoablation with paclitaxel-based regimens. More than 300 patients underwent the treatment. The mucinous cysts were again the majority being more than 50% but, again, about 10% of the cysts were serous cystadenoma. The size of the cysts ranged between 24 and 32 mm. More than 60% of cysts had complete resolution. Complications occurred in 15% of patients with 5% of pancreatitis. Splenic vein thrombosis, pancreatic duct stricture, portal vein thrombosis, a spillover of liquid in the pericystic space were rare complications (under 0.5%).

In synthesis, data show a higher rate of response with chemoablation regimens compared to ethanol alone with a lower rate of adverse events but, in both groups, not all the cystic lesions were mucinous, thus generating some concerns about the results.

Available data advice against the use of ethanol for cyst ablation: different agents with a better tolerability profile and a higher rate of ablation should be preferred. Regarding the long-term response, the most extended follow-up is reported by Choi with a sustained remission of over 98% at 6 years in patients who achieved complete cyst ablation [30].

Recently, a panel of experts produced a position statement on EUS-guided pancreatic cyst ablation, exploring the subject and considering various vital points [31].

Regarding the indication, this procedure may apply to patients that have uni or oligo-locular mucinous cysts who are excluded from surgery for various reasons. The cutoff for the treatment should be a size of more than 2 cm in a growing cyst or a diameter larger than 3 cm.

Experts recommend a thorough examination of the lesion with all the available methods, including CT scan, MRI, and contrast-enhanced EUS. Treatment should apply to the neoplastic cysts, excluding benign ones and pseudocysts. Cysts with a

Authors	Design	nr pts	Remission rate (%)	Adverse events rate (%)
Oh et al., 2008	Prospective	14	79	21
[40]				
Oh et al., 2009	Prospective	10	60	10
[41]				
Oh et al. [27]	Prospective	47	62	4
DeWitt et al. [29]	Prospective	22	50	23
Moyer et al. [28]	Prospective	39	67	28
Kim et al., 2017	Prospective	36	56	16
[39]				
Moyer et al. [28]	Prospective	39	67	28
Choi et al., 2017	Prospective	164	72	15
[38]				

Table 15.2 Studies on EUS-guided pancreatic cystic lesions ablation with ethanol or saline + chemotherapeutics (paclitaxel and gemcitabine)

size greater than 6 cm are poor candidates for the treatment, given the low probability of response in this group of lesions. Patients with a dilated pancreatic duct measuring more than 5 mm are not candidates for treatment as patients with clear signs of solid malignancy or a history of acute pancreatitis. Other contraindications are pregnancy, nonreversible coagulopathy, and severe pancreatic atrophy due to pancreatic duct stenosis. Experts advise the use of a 22- or a 19-gauge needle for the ablation procedure. The recommendation is to use antibiotic prophylaxis with the same rules and regimens used for EUS-FNA of cystic lesions. The use of ethanol does not seem to add any advantage in the case of chemoablation of cystic pancreatic lesions. The panel concluded that the results in terms of remission should rely on the measurement of cystic size with a complete response defined as a reduction of more than 95% of the cystic radius.

The procedure carries the same baseline risk of EUS-FNA of a pancreatic cyst, providing that a trained endoscopist performs it.

There are few studies about the application of RFA in the treatment of pancreatic cystic lesions. The first experience on EUS-guided RFA ablation was on six patients with a complete resolution in two patients and a partial response in three patients. Two patients reported abdominal pain [32].

A subsequent study on 30 patients was designed to evaluate safety as primary outcome. The study included mucinous lesions and cystic neuroendocrine tumors with 1 year of follow-up. The adverse events rate was 10%, including acute pancreatitis with jejunal perforation, occurring in the first two subjects enrolled. The protocol was modified after the first two patients and included prophylaxis for infection and perforation. No other adverse events occurred except a pancreatic duct stenosis which was treated by ERCP. Regarding efficacy, at 12 months, 86% of neuroendocrine lesions and 65% of cysts showed complete resolution [33].

15.6 Conclusions

Management of pancreatic cystic lesions is still matter of debate but, undoubtedly, the primary outcome when treating these lesions is to prevent the development of pancreatic cancer. Accurate diagnosis and risk stratification in pancreatic cystic lesions are challenging as there is still a lack of consensus about the real impact of neoplastic pancreatic cysts on the development of pancreatic carcinoma. As a result, it is difficult to decide which treatment to recommend on a patient's basis. Treating pancreatic cysts is, in theory, a noninvasive option to reduce the risk of pancreatic cysts ablation. According to available data, the technique seems feasible, but the complication rate is not negligible and the patient selection in most of the studies is question-able. Unsurprisingly, many doubts have risen about the rational of cyst's ablation [34].

If we analyze the current literature, we find that a significant rate of lesions included in the published studies were totally benign, not requiring any type of treatment, like serous cystadenomas. This unclear patient's selection could lead to an overestimation of the benefits of the procedure and expose the patients to unjustifiable risks. Another critical point is the definition of response, which, according to a recent expert agreement, is measured only by size reduction. Although some studies show a variation of genetic profile in the treated cysts, data are too scant to be considered evidence of total neoplastic epithelium ablation [29].

Moreover, local treatment, at best, eliminates the risk of developing pancreatic cancer in the epithelium of the ablated cyst. The rest of pancreatic parenchyma is still at risk, as we know that mucinous cysts like IPMN are often multifocal [35].

After all, we are in the very first phase of development in this field, and available studies can only show feasibility and initial promising results. We need more solid evidence that can be produced only by rigorous studies with strict protocols and precise designs. Last, but not least, we do not have valid information about costs.

With available data, we can only advise these procedures in selected patients and referral centers in the context of a strict study protocol and a previous multidisciplinary discussion of every single case. Patients should sign a specific consent, after receiving all the information about the risks and the possible benefits of the procedure. Information should point out the lack of evidence about the long-term efficacy of the procedure and the real impact on pancreatic cancer risk reduction.

In conclusion, there are still multiple points to be addressed, the most important ones regarding patient selection and costs in comparison to other strategies. The real goal remains the reduction of the incidence of pancreatic cancer in these patients; only follow-up will tell us the real impact of this treatment. It will be necessary to compare treated patients with matched groups using longer follow-up but, to obtain reliable data, future studies will have to select better the lesions to refer for treatment on a more specific protocol.

References

- Khalaf N, El-Serag HB, Abrams HR, Thrift AP. Burden of pancreatic cance: from epidemiology to practice. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;S1542-3565(20):30276–7.
- Lee KS, Sekhar A, Rofsky NM, Pedrosa I. Prevalence of incidental pancreatic cysts in the adult population on MR imaging. Am J Gastroenterol. 2010;105(9):2079–84.
- Ricci C, Migliori M, Imbrogno A, Mazzotta E, Felicani C, Serra C, Bergonzoni B, Calculli L, Casadei R. Prevalence of asymptomatic intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms in healthy and ill populations detected by ultrasonography: a single-center study of 6353 outpatients. Pancreas. 2019;48(1):113–20.
- Kromrey ML, Bülow R, Hübner J, Paperlein C, Lerch MM, Ittermann T, Völzke H, Mayerle J, Kühn JP. Prospective study on the incidence, prevalence and 5-year pancreatic-related mortality of pancreatic cysts in a population-based study. Gut. 2018;67(1):138–45.
- van Huijgevoort NCM, Del Chiaro M, Wolfgang CL, van Hooft JE, Besselink MG. Diagnosis and management of pancreatic cystic neoplasms: current evidence and guidelines. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;16(11):676–89.
- Caravati A, Andrianello S, Pollini T, Biancotto M, Balduzzi A, Malleo G, Salvia R, Marchegiani G. Branch duct intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms: recommendations for follow-up and surgery. Scand J Surg. 2020;2:1457496919900414.
- Sakhdari A, Moghaddam PA, Pejchal M, Cosar EF, Hutchinson L. Sequential molecular and cytologic analyses provides a complementary approach to the diagnosis of pancreatic cystic lesions: a decade of clinical practice. J Am Soc Cytopathol. 2020;9(1):38–44.

- Moyer MT, Maranki JL, DeWitt JM. EUS-guided pancreatic cyst ablation: a clinical and technical review. Curr Gastroenterol Rep. 2019;21(5):19.
- Guerrero García A, González-Huix F, Levy MJ, García de Paredes AG, Vázquez-Sequeiros E. Ablative therapy in pancreatic cystic lesions. Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;42(1):43–50.
- Polkowski M, Jenssen C, Kaye P, Carrara S, Deprez P, Gines A, Fernández-Esparrach G, Eisendrath P, Aithal GP, Arcidiacono P, Barthet M, Bastos P, Fornelli A, Napoleon B, Iglesias-Garcia J, Seicean A, Larghi A, Hassan C, van Hooft JE, Dumonceau JM. Technical aspects of endoscopic ultrasound (EUS)-guided sampling in gastroenterology: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) technical guideline - March 2017. Endoscopy. 2017;49(10):989–1006.
- Arshad HM, Bharmal S, Duman DG, Liangpunsakul S, Turner BG. Advanced endoscopic ultrasound management techniques for preneoplastic pancreatic cystic lesions. J Investig Med. 2017;65(1):7–14.
- Park JK, Song BJ, Ryu JK, Paik WH, Park JM, Kim J, Lee SH, Kim YT. Clinical outcomes of endoscopic ultrasonography-guided pancreatic cyst ablation. Pancreas. 2016;45(6):889–94.
- 13. Seo DW. EUS-guided antitumor therapy for pancreatic tumors. Gut Liver. 2010;4(Suppl 1):S76–81.
- Ridtitid W, Al-Haddad MA. Endoscopic ultrasound imaging for diagnosing and treating pancreatic cysts. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am. 2017;27(4):615–42.
- Ofosu A, Ramai D, Adler DG. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided ablation of pancreatic cystic neoplasms: ready for prime time? Ann Gastroenterol. 2019;32(1):39–45.
- Attila T, Adsay V, Faigel DO. The efficacy and safety of endoscopic ultrasound-guided ablation of pancreatic cysts with alcohol and paclitaxel: a systematic review. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;31(1):1–9.
- 17. DiMaio CJ, DeWitt JM, Brugge WR. Ablation of pancreatic cystic lesions: the use of multiple endoscopic ultrasound-guided ethanol lavage sessions. Pancreas. 2011;40(5):664–8.
- Signoretti M, Valente R, Repici A, Delle Fave G, Capurso G, Carrara S. Endoscopy-guided ablation of pancreatic lesions: technical possibilities and clinical outlook. World J Gastrointest Endosc. 2017;9(2):41–54.
- Zhang WY, Li ZS, Jin ZD. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided ethanol ablation therapy for tumors. World J Gastroenterol. 2013;19(22):3397–403.
- Swierz MJ, Storman D, Riemsma RP, Wolff R, Mitus JW, Pedziwiatr M, Kleijnen J, Bala MM. Percutaneous ethanol injection for liver metastases. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2020;2:CD008717.
- Gómez V, Takahashi N, Levy MJ, McGee KP, Jones A, Huang Y, Chari ST, Clain JE, Gleeson FC, Pearson RK, Petersen BT, Rajan E, Vege SS, Topazian MD. EUS-guided ethanol lavage does not reliably ablate pancreatic cystic neoplasms (with video). Gastrointest Endosc. 2016;83(5):914–20.
- 22. Lee SH. Endoscopic treatment for pancreatic cystic lesions. Korean J Gastroenterol. 2018;71(1):10-7.
- 23. Lakhtakia S, Seo D-W. Endoscopic ultrasonography-guided tumor ablation. Dig Endosc. 2017;29:486–94.
- 24. Gan SI, Thompson CC, Lauwers GY, Bounds BC, Brugge WR. Ethanol lavage of pancreatic cystic lesions: initial pilot study. Gastrointest Endosc. 2005;61(6):746–52.
- 25. Kirtane T, Bhutani MS. EUS for pancreatic cystic neoplasms: the roadmap to the future is much more than just a few shades of gray. Asian Pac J Trop Med. 2016;9(12):1218–21.
- Yoon WJ, Brugge WR. Endoscopic ultrasound and pancreatic cystic lesions-diagnostic and therapeutic applications. Endosc Ultrasound. 2012;1(2):75–9.
- 27. Oh HC, Seo DW, Song TJ, Moon SH, Park DH, Soo Lee S, Lee SK, Kim MH, Kim J. Endoscopic ultrasonography-guided ethanol lavage with paclitaxel injection treats patients with pancreatic cysts. Gastroenterology. 2011;140(1):172–9.
- Moyer MT, Sharzehi S, Mathew A, Levenick JM, Headlee BD, Blandford JT, Heisey HD, Birkholz JH, Ancrile BB, Maranki JL, Gusani NJ, McGarrity TJ, Dye CE. The safety and efficacy of an alcohol-free pancreatic cyst ablation protocol. Gastroenterology. 2017;153(5):1295–303.

- DeWitt JM, Al-Haddad M, Sherman S, LeBlanc J, Schmidt CM, Sandrasegaran K, Finkelstein SD. Alterations in cyst fluid genetics following endoscopic ultrasound-guided pancreatic cyst ablation with ethanol and paclitaxel. Endoscopy. 2014;46(6):457–64.
- 30. Choi JH, Lee SH, Choi YH, Kang J, Paik WH, Ahn DW, Ryu JK, Kim YT. Clinical outcomes of endoscopic ultrasound-guided ethanol ablation for pancreatic cystic lesions compared with the natural course: a propensity score matching analysis. Ther Adv Gastroenterol. 2018;11:1756284818759929.
- Chaudhary S, Sun S-Y. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided radiofrequency ablation in gastroenterology: new horizons in search. World J Gastroenterol. 2017;23:4892–6.
- Pai M, Habib N, Senturk H, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound guided radiofrequency ablation, for pancreatic cystic neoplasms and neuroendocrine tumors. World J Gastrointest Surg. 2015;7:52–9.
- 33. Teoh AY, Seo DW, Brugge W, Dewitt J, Kongkam P, Linghu E, Moyer MT, Ryu JK, Ho KY. Position statement on EUS-guided ablation of pancreatic cystic neoplasms from an international expert panel. Endosc Int Open. 2019;7(9):E1064–77.
- Cazacu IM, Singh BS, Saftoiu A, Bhutani MS. Recent developments in hepatopancreatobiliary EUS. Endosc Ultrasound. 2019;8(3):146–50.
- Yoon WJ, Brugge WR. Pancreatic cystic neoplasms: diagnosis and management. Gastroenterol Clin N Am. 2012;41(1):103–18.
- DeWitt J, McGreevy K, Schmidt CM, Brugge WR. EUS-guided ethanol versus saline solution lavage for pancreatic cysts: a randomized, double-blind study. Gastrointest Endosc. 2009;70(4):710–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gie.2009.03.1173. Epub 2009 Jul 4. PMID: 19577745.
- 37. Caillol F, Poincloux L, Bories E, Cruzille E, Pesenti C, Darcha C, Poizat F, Monges G, Raoul Jean-Luc, Bommelaer G, Giovannini M. Ethanol lavage of 14 mucinous cysts of the pancreas: a retrospective study in two tertiary centers. Endoscopic Ultrasound. 2012;1(1):48.
- Choi J-H, Seo D, Song T, Park D, Lee S, Lee S, Kim M-H. Long-term outcomes after endoscopic ultrasound-guided ablation of pancreatic cysts. Endoscopy. 2017;49(9):866–73.
- Kim KH, McGreevy K, Fortune KL, Cramer H, DeWitt J. Sonographic and cyst fluid cytologic changes after EUS-guided pancreatic cyst ablation. Gastrointestinal Endoscopy. 2017;85(6):1233–42.
- 40. Oh H-C, Seo DW, Lee TY, Kim JY, Lee SS, Lee SK, Kim M-H. New treatment for cystic tumors of the pancreas: EUS-guided ethanol lavage with paclitaxel injection. Gastrointestinal Endoscopy 2008;67(4):636–42.
- 41. Oh HC, Seo DW, Kim SC, Yu E, Kim K, Moon SH, Park DY, Lee SS, Lee SK, Kim MH. Septated cystic tumors of the pancreas: is it possible to treat them by endoscopic ultrasonographyguided intervention? Scand J Gastroenterol. 2009;44(2):242–7.

Check for updates

Celiac Plexus Blockade/Neurolysis

16

Larissa L. Fujii-Lau, Maurits J. Wiersema, and Michael J. Levy

16.1 Introduction

Patients with chronic pancreatitis or pancreatic cancer often have significant pain that is difficult to control with traditional medications such as nonsteroidal antiinflammatory agents (NSAIDs). Opioids are often used to help control the pain, but are commonly associated with side effects limiting their use. Therefore, celiac blockade/neurolysis has been used in these patients with the goal of improving pain control and quality of life while decreasing the risk of opioidinduced side effects.

The difference between celiac blockade and neurolysis lies in the injectate used—steroids are injected during blockade while typically a local anesthetic (bupivacaine or lidocaine) and a neurolytic agent (i.e., absolute alcohol or phenol) are injected during neurolysis. As injection of a neurolytic agent causes fibrosis which is thought to be permanent, celiac neurolysis (CN) is performed in patients with unresectable pancreatic cancer. In contrast, celiac blockade (CB) is performed in patients with non-life-threatening disorders such as chronic pancreatitis. This review will focus mostly on the use of CN in pancreatic cancer as the evidence exists for its use, while there is a lack of significant evidence on the use of CB in chronic pancreatitis.

L. L. Fujii-Lau

M. J. Wiersema Lutheran Medical Group, Fort Wayne, IN, USA

M. J. Levy (\boxtimes) Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA e-mail: levy.michael@mayo.edu

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

Divison of Gastroentology, Queens Medical Center, Honolulu, HI, USA

A. Facciorusso, N. Muscatiello (eds.), Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71937-1_16

16.2 Relevant Anatomy

Understanding the relevant anatomy is necessary when performing CN/CB. Although the terms celiac plexus and splanchnic nerves are often used interchangeably, they actually represent different anatomical structures [1–3]. The splanchnic nerves are located cephalic to the diaphragm in a retrocrural position and anterior to the T12 vertebrae. The celiac plexus is located caudal to the diaphragm in an antecrural position, surrounds the origin of the celiac artery trunk, and comprises a dense network of ganglia and interconnecting fibers. Celiac ganglia vary in number [1–5], size (0.5–4.5 cm in diameter), and location (T12-L2 vertebra) [1]. The celiac plexus receives pain sensation from the neurons innervating the pancreas and most of the abdominal viscera (except for the left colon and pelvic organs) and transmits it to the thalamus and cortex of the brain where it is interpreted as pain [4, 5].

16.3 Technique

EUS-CB/CN is often performed in the outpatient setting under moderate or deep sedation. Prior to performing the procedure, it is important to review the patient's relevant allergies, medication use, and laboratory findings. In general, contraindications to performing CB/CN include (1) uncorrectable coagulopathy with an INR >1.5, (2) thrombocytopenia with platelets <50,000/L, (3) inadequate sedation, (4) altered anatomy (i.e., gastric bypass, extensive mass, or lymphadenopathy) that prohibits visualization or access to the celiac area, or (5) unable to obtain adequate consent. Informed consent is important to review the goals and adverse events of the procedure.

Patients are initially hydrated to 500–1000 mL of normal saline to minimize the risk of orthostatic hypotension following celiac injection. Continuous monitoring of the patient's vital signs is required throughout the procedure and for at least 2 h after the procedure. Prior to discharge, orthostatic vital signs should be checked to assess for orthostasis that may require additional fluid administration.

16.3.1 EUS-Guided Celiac Plexus Injection

Celiac plexus injection is the first described and most widely performed technique. This involves diffuse injection into the celiac plexus. Using the curvilinear echoendoscope, the aorta is visualized in a longitudinal plane from the posterior lesser curvature of the gastric fundus. The aorta is then traced distally to identify the celiac trunk, which is the first major arterial branch below the diaphragm. Using Doppler, vascular structures can be identified. Typically, a 22-gauge needle is used for the injection. Although the types and volumes of injectate differ, we typically use a premixed solution containing 10 mL of 25% bupivacaine and 10 mL of absolute alcohol for neurolysis. The needle is primed with the injectate, advanced through the accessory channel, and affixed to the hub. The needle is then advanced under EUS guidance until the needle tip is placed approximately 5–10 mm away from the origin of the celiac trunk. Either the entire injectate volume can be inserted in the midline position (unilateral approach) or half of the injectate can be inserted onto each side of the celiac takeoff (bilateral approach).

16.3.2 EUS-Guided Celiac Ganglia Injection

A ganglion is a collection of nerve cell bodies and glial cells that are interconnected via a dense network of neural rami and septae of connective tissue. Ganglia are typically located adjacent to the celiac artery and anterior to the aorta. On EUS, they are predominately oval or almond-shaped, hypoechoic echogenicity (dark), have irregular margins, and range from 2 to 20 mm in size. Central hyperechoic strands or foci are commonly present within the ganglia, and hypoechoic threads (presumably neural fibers) can extend from the ganglia. We have previously shown that EUS can detect celiac ganglia in up to 81% of patients and accurately distinguish it from celiac lymph nodes [6–9].

The technique for ganglia injection has not been standardized. Our approach is to insert the primed needle into the center of ganglia <1 cm in size in the needle plane axis or into the deepest point in ganglia larger than 1 cm. The needle is slowly withdrawn as the injection is being performed. Each identified ganglia can be injected separately. As typically only a few mL of injectate is inserted into the ganglia, the remaining injectate can be dispersed into the plexus as described above.

One study on human cadavers found that high volume injection (4 mL) into the ganglion caused a larger spread of the neurolytic including into areas with unidentified ganglia compared to low volume injection (1 mL) [10]. Although the authors recommend high volume CGN, this requires confirmation in randomized control studies that it causes better pain relief, quality of life, or survival in patients.

16.3.3 EUS-Guided Broad Plexus Injection

First described by Sakamoto et al. in 2010, the injectate is inserted adjacent and anterior to the lateral aspect of the aorta at the origin of the superior mesenteric artery (second major branch off the aorta below the diaphragm) [11]. A 25-gauge needle was used as the needle needs to be advanced deeper using this technique. The remainder of the technique is similar to the plexus injection described above.

16.4 Efficacy of EUS-Guided Celiac Neurolysis

16.4.1 Overall Efficacy

Celiac plexus neurolysis (CPN) was first described in 30 patients with intraabdominal malignancies by Wiersema et al. in 1996 [12]. In this group of patients, 82–91% required less or the same amount of pain medications to control their pain and 79–88% of patients had persistent improvement in their pain scores. Since then, there have been many studies on EUS-CN with differing techniques and endpoints. The mean pain relief benefit of alcohol neurolysis is 103 days [13] and subsequent EUS-CN appears to have less of an overall effect [14].

There are two meta-analyses published on the efficacy of EUS-guided CN in patients with pancreatic cancer [15, 16]. Puli et al. included eight studies on CPN in pancreatic cancer patients and found pain relief in 80.12% (95% CI 74.47–85.22), while Kaufman et al. only included three studies and found pain relief in 72.54%. Similar rates of pain relief were reported in case series published after the meta-analyses [17–19].

One study observed that the 49% of patients who had a heart rate change of 15 beats per minute (bpm) for at least 30 s during alcohol injection had better adjusted scores for pain (60 vs. 73, p = 0.042), less nausea and/or vomiting (65 vs. 81, p = 0.04), less financial difficulties (41 vs. 57, p = 0.02), less weight loss (45 vs. 65, p = 0.007), and more satisfaction with body image (52 vs. 62, p = 0.035) compared to those that did not have the heart rate change [20]. However, there was no difference in post-procedural opioid use and survival between the two groups.

A more recent randomized control study looked at celiac plexus neurolysis vs opioid therapy alone in patients with pancreatic cancer and followed them for 4 weeks [21]. It did not find a difference in regard to quality of life, pain scores, or average opioid consumption between the two groups. Therefore, they suggested that CPN should not be performed routinely for all patients with cancer-related pain.

16.4.2 Plexus vs. Ganglia Injection

The feasibility and efficacy of CGN were initially reported by Levy et al. in 2008 with 16 of 17 pancreatic cancer patients experiencing partial pain relief after injection [22]. A randomized control trial was performed with 34 patients assigned to receive either CGN or CPN [23]. The complete response rate defined as pain ≤ 1 on a scale of 0–10 was significantly higher in the CGN group than the CPN group (50% vs. 18.2%, respectively, p = 0.010) as was the partial response rate defined as pain ≤ 3 (73.5% vs. 45.5%, respectively, p = 0.026). There was no statistically significant difference in adverse events or duration of pain relief between the two groups.

Despite the possible pain relief benefit of CGN, we have described shortened life expectancy in patients who underwent CGN [24, 25]. In one study that compared patients who underwent any form of CN (EUS, percutaneous, surgical) to matched controls, patients who underwent EUS-guided CPN had a longer survival duration

than those who underwent EUS-CGN (200 days vs. 154 days, respectively, p = 0.03) [24]. This was also shown in a randomized double-blind trial that compared 60 patients who underwent CPN to 50 patients who underwent CGN in the setting of unresectable pancreatic cancer [25]. Pain response rates, quality of life, and adverse events were similar between the two groups. However, the median survival time was significantly shorter for those that received CGN (5.59 months) compare to those that underwent CPN (10.46 months, HR for CGN 1.49, 95% CI 1.02–2.19).

A clinical practice guideline composed by a group of expert endosonographers advised that EUS-guided CGN is not necessary [26].

16.4.3 Plexus vs. Broad Plexus Neurolysis

In a retrospective analysis of 112 patients at the single institution that reported the broad plexus neurolysis (BPN) technique, it was found that EUS-BPN in combination with EUS-CGN was significantly associated with pain relief [27]. The theory is that there is a wider distribution of spread of the neurolytic agent using the BPN technique. This is limited by its use in only a single institution and further studies need to be performed on this technique.

16.4.4 Bilateral vs. Unilateral Injection

A recent meta-analysis compared bilateral and unilateral CPN for pancreatic cancer [28]. Six studies, including three randomized control trials, were included in the analysis for a total of 437 patients. There was no significant difference in short-term pain relief [SMD 0.31 (95% CI –0.20 to 0.81)] or treatment response [RR 0.99 (95% CI 0.77–1.41)] between the two groups. Only one included study assessed either quality of life [29] or survival [30], which was similar between the two groups. However, the bilateral approach was associated with a statistically significant reduction in postoperative analgesic use [RR 0.66 (95% CI 0.47–0.94)] compared to the unilateral approach [28]. In contrast, a prior meta-analysis found that bilateral injection had higher rates of pain relief (84.54%, 95% CI 72.15–93.77%) compared to unilateral injection (45.99%, 95% CI 37.33–54.78%) [15]. This earlier meta-analysis combined both celiac neurolysis and blockade, likely accounting for some of the difference in the findings. The clinical practice guideline on EUS-CPN suggested the use of bilateral injection, but did mention that central injection is an acceptable option [26].

16.4.5 Volume of Injectate

One pilot study compared the use of 20 and 10 mL during EUS-guided CPN [31]. There was no difference in pain relief, duration of pain relief, and adverse events between the two groups. The authors concluded that using 20 mL of alcohol is safe.

16.4.6 Early Neurolysis

One randomized control trial studied the use of early EUS-guided CPN [32]. After EUS fine-needle aspiration (FNA) confirmed the presence of unresectable pancreatic adenocarcinoma, the group randomized 48 patients into either receiving EUS-CPN in the same session or conventional pain management. Pain relief was found to be greater in the early CPN group at 1 month [difference in mean percent change in pain score = -28.9 (95% CI -67.0 to 2.8)] and 3 months [difference in mean percent change in pain score = -60.7 (95% CI -86.6 to -25.5)]. When taking into account patients who did not receive chemotherapy or radiation (which may also improve pain), there were greater differences between the two groups. There was no difference in morphine consumption at 1 month (there was a trend for lower consumption at 3 months in the CPN group), quality of life, or survival between the two groups. Therefore, it is suggested that early EUS-CPN can be performed in patients with painful unresectable pancreatic cancer during the time of diagnosis [26].

16.5 Efficacy of EUS-Guided Celiac Blockade

Celiac plexus blockade (CPB) involves the injection of a local anesthetic (i.e., bupivacaine, lidocaine) with or without steroids (i.e., triamcinolone) into the celiac plexus. This procedure is typically performed in patients with chronic pancreatitis. Of the two meta-analyses described above, only Kaufman et al. did not include studies that injected a neurolytic agent in the setting of chronic pancreatitis [16]. In the six included studies, EUS-CPB was only 51.46% effective in managing abdominal pain in patients with chronic pancreatitis. This relief is thought to be temporary and only lasts a few weeks to months. Therefore, it is not typically performed as a primary form of pain management in these patients. The American College of Gastroenterology recently suggested to consider CPB for treatment of chronic pancreatitis pain [33]. However, they did mention that numerous studies did not show significant benefit of CPB in chronic pancreatitis.

Similar to CPB, the use of EUS-guided CPN for chronic pancreatitis is not recommended [26]. With the lack of efficacy and significant adverse events reported in the literature following EUS-guided CPN in this patient population (see the next section), the use of a neurolytic agent should be avoided in chronic pancreatitis.

16.6 Adverse Events of Celiac Blockade/Neurolysis

In a systematic review of complications in interventional endosonography, adverse events occurred in 21% of 661 EUS-guided CPN [34]. Majority of the adverse events were minor and self-limited lasting up to 48 h including transient diarrhea and orthostatic hypotension thought to be related to blockage of the sympathetic efferent nerves. All of the minor complications responded to intravenous fluid administration. Transient pain lasting up to 48 h occurred in 2% of EUS-guided

CPB and 4% of EUS-guided CPN cases. These patients were treated with a transient increase in the pain medication dosage and rarely hospitalization for pain control.

Major complications only occurred in 0.6% of EUS-guided CPB and 0.2% of EUS-guided CPN. Infectious complications with retroperitoneal abscess formation occurring after EUS-guided CPB have been described [35–37]. These patients were treated with drainage and intravenous antibiotics. One patient was diagnosed with a *Cladosporium macrocarpum* and *Streptococcus constellatus* brain abscess 3 weeks after EUS-guided CPN for chronic pancreatitis [38]. The authors thought that the microorganisms reached the brain through blood vessels through direct spread from the upper gastrointestinal tract during injection. The patient also had lymphocytopenia, which was thought to promote hematogenous spread.

Ischemic complications may occur secondary to the neurolytic agent causing arterial vasospasm, the destructive effect of the agent itself, or arterial embolization of the injectate. Three case reports describe ischemic events when EUS-guided CPN was used in patients with chronic pancreatitis [39–41]. One patient had ischemia of the pancreas, spleen, and gastric antrum following EUS-guided CPN [39]. Due to the extensive gastric necrosis, the patient eventually required a subtotal gastrectomy and Roux-en-Y gastrojejunostomy. Another patient who received EUS-guided CPN died after developing liver, kidney, and splenic infarction secondary to complete thrombosis of the celiac take off [40]. The third patient underwent 13 prior EUS-guided CPN over a 4 year period [41]. The last one was complicated by extensive gastric necrosis with perforation and a 5 cm profusely bleeding necrotic area of the aorta just above the celiac trunk, from which the patient eventually exsanguinated. Although all these reports focus on patients with chronic pancreatitis, one may presume that ischemic complications may also occur if performed for pancreatic cancer.

Three cases on permanent lower extremity paralysis have been reported after EUS-guided CPN [42–44]. Neurologic complications are thought to develop secondary to ischemia or direct injury to the spinal cord or somatic nerves. Spinal cord ischemia can result from thrombosis or spasm of the artery of Adamkiewicz, which is located to the left of the spine between T8 and L4 and perfuses the lower two-thirds of the spinal cord [45, 46]. Another neurological complication occurred in a patient who developed acute respiratory failure secondary to bilateral diaphragm paralysis after EUS-guided CPN [47]. This was thought to be secondary to cranial spread of the neurolytic agent to the phrenic nerves that innervate the diaphragm from below.

16.7 Conclusion

EUS-guided CPN is helpful in temporarily reducing pain in patients with refractory pain secondary to unresectable pancreatic cancer or in those that develop side effects of opioid medications. Interestingly, CPN has not been shown to affect quality of life or survival in this patient population. Early CPN at the time of EUS FNA cytological diagnosis may be the optimal time to perform this procedure. However, more information is needed on the technique such as the volume, type, and location of the optimal injection. Although the evidence for the use of EUS-guided CPN exists in the setting of unresectable pancreatic cancer, it must be emphasized that both CPN and CPB is not recommended for the routine treatment of chronic pancreatitis particularly with the adverse event profile in this setting. Future considerations include the combination of EUS-guided CPN and tumor ablation during the same procedure or EUS celiac ganglion radiofrequency ablation, of which there are some pilot studies [48–50].

Disclosures None.

References

- Ward EM, Rorie DK, Nauss LA, Bahn RC. The celiac ganglia in man: normal anatomic variations. Anesth Analg. 1979;58(6):461–5.
- Brown DL, Moore DC. The use of neurolytic celiac plexus block for pancreatic cancer: anatomy and technique. J Pain Symptom Manag. 1988;3(4):206–9.
- Ischia S, Ischia A, Polati E, Finco G. Three posterior percutaneous celiac plexus block techniques. A prospective, randomized study in 61 patients with pancreatic cancer pain. Anesthesiology. 1992;76(4):534–40.
- Plancarte R, Velasquez R, Patt R. Neurolytic blocks of the sympathetic axis. In: Patt RB, editor. Cancer pain. Philadelphia: Lippincott; 1993.
- Gebhardt GF. Visceral pain mechanisms. In: Chapman CR, Foley KM, editors. Current emerging. Issues in cancer pain: research practice. New York: Raven Press; 1993.
- Levy M, Rajan E, Keeney G, Fletcher JG, Topazian M. Neural ganglia visualized by endoscopic ultrasound. Am J Gastroenterol. 2006;101(8):1787–91.
- Levy MJ, Topazian M, Keeney G, Clain JE, Gleeson F, Rajan E, et al. Preoperative diagnosis of extrapancreatic neural invasion in pancreatic cancer. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2006;4(12):1479–82.
- Malikowski T, Lehrke HD, Henry MR, Gleeson FC, Topazian MD, Harmsen WS, et al. Accuracy of endoscopic ultrasound imaging in distinguishing celiac ganglia from celiac lymph nodes. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;17(1):148–55.e3.
- Gleeson FC, Levy MJ, Papachristou GI, Pelaez-Luna M, Rajan E, Clain JE, et al. Frequency of visualization of presumed celiac ganglia by endoscopic ultrasound. Endoscopy. 2007;39(7):620–4.
- Kappelle WFW, Bleys R, van Wijck AJM, Siersema PD, Vleggaar FP. EUS-guided celiac ganglia neurolysis: a clinical and human cadaver study (with video). Gastrointest Endosc. 2017;86(4):655–63.
- Sakamoto H, Kitano M, Kamata K, Komaki T, Imai H, Chikugo T, et al. EUS-guided broad plexus neurolysis over the superior mesenteric artery using a 25-gauge needle. Am J Gastroenterol. 2010;105(12):2599–606.
- Wiersema MJ, Wiersema LM. Endosonography-guided celiac plexus neurolysis. Gastrointest Endosc. 1996;44(6):656–62.
- Baek SW, Erdek MA. Time-dependent change in pain threshold following neurolytic celiac plexus block. Pain Manage. 2019;9(6):543–50.
- Facciorusso A, Del Prete V, Antonino M, Buccino VR, Muscatiello N. Response to repeat echoendoscopic celiac plexus neurolysis in pancreatic cancer patients: a machine learning approach. Pancreatology. 2019;19(6):866–72.
- 15. Puli SR, Reddy JB, Bechtold ML, Antillon MR, Brugge WR. EUS-guided celiac plexus neurolysis for pain due to chronic pancreatitis or pancreatic cancer pain: a meta-analysis and systematic review. Dig Dis Sci. 2009;54(11):2330–7.

- Kaufman M, Singh G, Das S, Concha-Parra R, Erber J, Micames C, et al. Efficacy of endoscopic ultrasound-guided celiac plexus block and celiac plexus neurolysis for managing abdominal pain associated with chronic pancreatitis and pancreatic cancer. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2010;44(2):127–34.
- Seicean A, Cainap C, Gulei I, Tantau M, Seicean R. Pain palliation by endoscopic ultrasoundguided celiac plexus neurolysis in patients with unresectable pancreatic cancer. J Gastrointest Liver Dis. 2013;22(1):59–64.
- Si-Jie H, Wei-Jia X, Yang D, Lie Y, Feng Y, Yong-Jian J, et al. How to improve the efficacy of endoscopic ultrasound-guided celiac plexus neurolysis in pain management in patients with pancreatic cancer: analysis in a single center. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech. 2014;24(1):31–5.
- Wiechowska-Kozlowska A, Boer K, Wojcicki M, Milkiewicz P. The efficacy and safety of endoscopic ultrasound-guided celiac plexus neurolysis for treatment of pain in patients with pancreatic cancer. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2012;2012:503098.
- Bang JY, Hasan MK, Sutton B, Holt BA, Navaneethan U, Hawes R, et al. Intraprocedural increase in heart rate during EUS-guided celiac plexus neurolysis: clinically relevant or just a physiologic change? Gastrointest Endosc. 2016;84(5):773–9.e3.
- Kanno Y, Koshita S, Masu K, Ogawa T, Kusunose H, Murabayashi T, et al. Efficacy of EUSguided celiac plexus neurolysis compared with medication alone for unresectable pancreatic cancer in the oxycodone/fentanyl era: a prospective randomized control study. Gastrointest Endosc. 2020;92(1):120–30.
- 22. Levy MJ, Topazian MD, Wiersema MJ, Clain JE, Rajan E, Wang KK, et al. Initial evaluation of the efficacy and safety of endoscopic ultrasound-guided direct ganglia neurolysis and block. Am J Gastroenterol. 2008;103(1):98–103.
- Doi S, Yasuda I, Kawakami H, Hayashi T, Hisai H, Irisawa A, et al. Endoscopic ultrasoundguided celiac ganglia neurolysis vs. celiac plexus neurolysis: a randomized multicenter trial. Endoscopy. 2013;45(5):362–9.
- Fujii-Lau LL, Bamlet WR, Eldrige JS, Chari ST, Gleeson FC, Abu Dayyeh BK, et al. Impact of celiac neurolysis on survival in patients with pancreatic cancer. Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;82(1):46–56.e2.
- Levy MJ, Gleeson FC, Topazian MD, Fujii-Lau LL, Enders FT, Larson JJ, et al. Combined celiac ganglia and plexus neurolysis shortens survival, without benefit, vs plexus neurolysis alone. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;17(4):728–738.e9.
- Wyse JM, Battat R, Sun S, Saftoiu A, Siddiqui AA, Leong AT, et al. Practice guidelines for endoscopic ultrasound-guided celiac plexus neurolysis. Endoscopic ultrasound. 2017;6(6):369–75.
- 27. Minaga K, Kitano M, Sakamoto H, Miyata T, Imai H, Yamao K, et al. Predictors of pain response in patients undergoing endoscopic ultrasound-guided neurolysis for abdominal pain caused by pancreatic cancer. Ther Adv Gastroenterol. 2016;9(4):483–94.
- 28. Lu F, Dong J, Tang Y, Huang H, Liu H, Song L, et al. Bilateral vs. unilateral endoscopic ultrasound-guided celiac plexus neurolysis for abdominal pain management in patients with pancreatic malignancy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Support Care Cancer. 2018;26(2):353–9.
- 29. Bhatnagar S, Joshi S, Rana SP, Mishra S, Garg R, Ahmed SM. Bedside ultrasound-guided celiac plexus neurolysis in upper abdominal cancer patients: a randomized, prospective study for comparison of percutaneous bilateral paramedian vs. unilateral paramedian needle-insertion technique. Pain Pract. 2014;14(2):E63–8.
- LeBlanc JK, Al-Haddad M, McHenry L, Sherman S, Juan M, McGreevy K, et al. A prospective, randomized study of EUS-guided celiac plexus neurolysis for pancreatic cancer: one injection or two? Gastrointest Endosc. 2011;74(6):1300–7.
- Leblanc JK, Rawl S, Juan M, Johnson C, Kroenke K, McHenry L, et al. Endoscopic ultrasoundguided celiac plexus neurolysis in pancreatic cancer: a prospective pilot study of safety using 10 mL versus 20 mL alcohol. Diagn Ther Endosc. 2013;2013:327036.
- 32. Wyse JM, Carone M, Paquin SC, Usatii M, Sahai AV. Randomized, double-blind, controlled trial of early endoscopic ultrasound-guided celiac plexus neurolysis to prevent pain progress-

sion in patients with newly diagnosed, painful, inoperable pancreatic cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(26):3541–6.

- 33. Gardner TB, Adler DG, Forsmark CE, Sauer BG, Taylor JR, Whitcomb DC. ACG clinical guideline: chronic pancreatitis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2020;115(3):322–39.
- Alvarez-Sanchez MV, Jenssen C, Faiss S, Napoleon B. Interventional endoscopic ultrasonography: an overview of safety and complications. Surg Endosc. 2014;28(3):712–34.
- 35. Gress F, Schmitt C, Sherman S, Ciaccia D, Ikenberry S, Lehman G. Endoscopic ultrasoundguided celiac plexus block for managing abdominal pain associated with chronic pancreatitis: a prospective single center experience. Am J Gastroenterol. 2001;96(2):409–16.
- Muscatiello N, Panella C, Pietrini L, Tonti P, Ierardi E. Complication of endoscopic ultrasoundguided celiac plexus neurolysis. Endoscopy. 2006;38(8):858.
- 37. O'Toole TM, Schmulewitz N. Complication rates of EUS-guided celiac plexus blockade and neurolysis: results of a large case series. Endoscopy. 2009;41(7):593–7.
- Lalueza A, Lopez-Medrano F, del Palacio A, Alhambra A, Alvarez E, Ramos A, et al. Cladosporium macrocarpum brain abscess after endoscopic ultrasound-guided celiac plexus block. Endoscopy. 2011;43(Suppl 2 UCTN):E9–10.
- Ahmed HM, Friedman SE, Henriques HF, Berk BS. End-organ ischemia as an unforeseen complication of endoscopic-ultrasound-guided celiac plexus neurolysis. Endoscopy. 2009;41(Suppl 2):E218–9.
- 40. Gimeno-Garcia AZ, Elwassief A, Paquin SC, Sahai AV. Fatal complication after endoscopic ultrasound-guided celiac plexus neurolysis. Endoscopy. 2012;44(Suppl 2 UCTN):E267.
- 41. Loeve US, Mortensen MB. Lethal necrosis and perforation of the stomach and the aorta after multiple EUS-guided celiac plexus neurolysis procedures in a patient with chronic pancreatitis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2013;77(1):151–2.
- Fujii L, Clain JE, Morris JM, Levy MJ. Anterior spinal cord infarction with permanent paralysis following endoscopic ultrasound celiac plexus neurolysis. Endoscopy. 2012;44(Suppl 2 UCTN):E265–6.
- Minaga K, Kitano M, Imai H, Miyata T, Kudo M. Acute spinal cord infarction after EUSguided celiac plexus neurolysis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2016;83(5):1039–40; discussion 40.
- 44. Koker IH, Aralasmak A, Unver N, Asil T, Senturk H. Spinal cord ischemia after endoscopic ultrasound guided celiac plexus neurolysis: case report and review of the literature. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2017;52(10):1158–61.
- 45. van Dongen RT, Crul BJ. Paraplegia following coeliac plexus block. Anaesthesia. 1991;46(10):862–3.
- De Conno F, Caraceni A, Aldrighetti L, Magnani G, Ferla G, Comi G, et al. Paraplegia following coeliac plexus block. Pain. 1993;55(3):383–5.
- 47. Mulhall AM, Rashkin MC, Pina EM. Bilateral diaphragmatic paralysis: a rare complication related to endoscopic ultrasound-guided celiac plexus neurolysis. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2016;13(9):1660–2.
- 48. Facciorusso A, Maso MD, Barone M, Muscatiello N. Echoendoscopic ethanol ablation of tumor combined to celiac plexus neurolysis improved pain control in a patient with pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Endosc Ultrasound. 2015;4(4):342–4.
- 49. Facciorusso A, Di Maso M, Serviddio G, Larghi A, Costamagna G, Muscatiello N. Echoendoscopic ethanol ablation of tumor combined with celiac plexus neurolysis in patients with pancreatic adenocarcinoma. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;32(2):439–45.
- 50. Bang JY, Sutton B, Hawes RH, Varadarajulu S. EUS-guided celiac ganglion radiofrequency ablation versus celiac plexus neurolysis for palliation of pain in pancreatic cancer: a randomized controlled trial (with videos). Gastrointest Endosc. 2019;89(1):58–66.e3.



Interventional Endoscopic Ultrasound in Patients on Antithrombotic Therapy

17

Valentina Del Prete, Giovanni Luca Rizzo, Viviana Neve, and Paolo Tonti

17.1 Introduction

Interventional endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) includes endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration (EUS-FNA), EUS-guided fine-needle biopsy (EUS-FNB), celiac plexus blockade/neurolysis (CPB), pancreatic fluid collection drainage, EUS-PD (pancreatic duct) drainage, EUS-guided biliary drainage, and endoscopic ultrasound-guided gallbladder drainage (EUS-GBD). EUS-FNA is the most common EUS intervention, is a reliable method for the diagnosis of many lesions of the gastrointestinal tract and peri-intestinal organs such as the pancreas, and is classified as a high-risk procedure in the international guidelines for the management of antithrombotic therapy (ATT) in endoscopic procedures. Bleeding is one of the adverse events associated with interventional endoscopic ultrasound, particularly in patients on ATT, and discontinuation of these agents before the endoscopic procedures is associated with an increase in thromboembolic events. A retrospective study of 2197 cases of ischemic stroke reported that stroke occurred in 114 patients (5.2%) who had interrupted therapy with warfarin or antiplatelet agents in the previous 60 days [1].

17.2 Risk of Bleeding in Patients on Antithrombotic Therapy: A Review of the Literature

The incidence of bleeding after EUS-FNA has been analyzed in a meta-analysis that included 10,941 patients, and the rate of bleeding complications after EUS-FNA was 0.13% [2].

V. Del Prete $(\boxtimes) \cdot G$. L. Rizzo \cdot V. Neve \cdot P. Tonti

Gastroenterology Unit, Antonio Perrino Hospital, Brindisi, Italy

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. Facciorusso, N. Muscatiello (eds.), *Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71937-1_17

The bleeding occurrence rate in various studies has been reported to be 0-4%, [2-4] and severe bleeding is a rare event [5, 6].

Antithrombotic drugs increase bleeding risk during endoscopic procedures, and risk of thromboembolic events increases after discontinuation. There are few studies on the association between antithrombotic agents and EUS-FNA.

One prospective study comparing bleeding risk during EUS-FNA and/or Trucut biopsy (TCB) in 214 patients (241 lesions) taking aspirin, nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), and low-molecular-weight heparin (LMWH) found that bleeding occurred in none (0 of 26) of the patients taking aspirin/NSAIDS, 33.3% (2 of 6) and 3.7% (7 of 190) of the patients in the LMWH, and control groups, respectively [7].

A recent retrospective study included 742 patients who underwent EUS-FNA for solid lesions; 130 of those patients were receiving ATT (ASA, cilostazol, thieno-pyridine, warfarin). Patients were divided in four subgroups: nonadministration, discontinuation of agents, continuation of aspirin, and heparin replacement. Overall bleeding rate was 0.9% (7/742) and all the events were intraoperative, and there were no severe bleeding events in patients on ATT. In the subgroups analysis, the rates of bleeding were 1.0% (6/611), 0% (0/62), 1.6% (1/61), and 0% (0/8) in the nonadministration, discontinuation of agents, continuation of aspirin or cilostazol, and heparin replacement groups, respectively. The rate of bleeding was very low in patients on ATT, and no thromboembolic event were observed [8].

Both the aforementioned studies concluded that the incidence of EUS-FNArelated bleeding is low, and aspirin administration may be continued during the procedure.

Kawakubo et al. conducted a prospective study on 2629 patients who underwent EUS-FNA, of whom 85 were receiving ATT; They analyzed the rate of bleeding and of thromboembolic events within 2 weeks after EUS-FNA. Bleeding after EUS-FNA occurred in 2 of 85 patients in spite of discontinuation of warfarin and dual antiplatelet therapy (2.4%; 95% CI, 0.6–8.3%). No thromboembolic events occurred.

The authors concluded that the rate of bleeding after EUS-FNA in patients taking antithrombotic agents might be considerable. In this study, there were no bleeding events in any of the patients who took aspirin or cilostazol without discontinuation. Therefore, use of EUS-FNA may be feasible with continued aspirin or cilostazol [9].

A single-center retrospective study included 908 patients undergoing EUS-FNA for pancreatic and non-pancreatic (lymph node lesions, hepatobiliary tract lesions, and lesions of the non-gastrointestinal tract) lesions. One hundred fourteen patients were on antithrombotic drugs (ASA, clopidogrel, cilostazol, dipyridamole, ticlopidine, warfarin, another antiplatelet agent, or DOACs). They observed six cases of significant bleeding (0.7%), four in the antithrombotic group (0.4%) and two (0.2%) in the non-antithrombotic group (odds ratio, 9.59; 95% confidence interval, 2.12–43.1; P = 0.006). The four cases of bleeding (3.4%, 4/114) in the antithrombotic group occurred in the continuation (3.2%, 2/63), discontinuation(2.4%, 1/41), and heparin subgroups (10%, 1/10).

The authors concluded for a slight increase in risk of bleeding, above all postoperative, in patients on ATT. There were no cases of severe bleeding. They concluded that EUS-FNA is a safe procedure for patients on antithrombotic therapy [10].

To clarify the feasibility of the other aforementioned techniques in patients on antithrombotic therapy, further studies are needed especially randomized controlled prospective trials.

A recent study on 12 patients on ATT with acute cholecystitis who underwent an endoscopic ultrasound-guided gallbladder drainage (EUS-GBD) concluded that EUS-GBD might be a good option for these patients. Eleven (91.6%) of 12 patients underwent EUS-GBD with continuation of ATT, and 5 patients (41.7%) were receiving one or more antithrombotic drug. The rate of bleeding complications was 0%, and the technical success rate was 100% [11].

17.3 Management of Antithrombotic Agents

The management of antithrombotic drugs depends on the type of molecule, the procedure-related bleeding risk, and the thrombotic risk deriving from cardiovascular disease.

American Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ASGE), European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy/British Society of Gastroenterology (ESGE/BSG), and Asian Pacific Association of Gastroenterology/Asian Pacific Society for Digestive Endoscopy (APAGE/APSDE) guidelines provide recommendations on the management of antithrombotic therapy in the periendoscopic period.

Current guidelines classify EUS-FNA as a high-risk procedure. We can consider other procedures of interventional EUS as high risk [12–14].

The guidelines recommend continuing the aspirin/NSAIDs in the periendoscopic period.

With regard to thienopyridine (clopidogrel, prasugrel, ticagrelor) and dual antiplatelet agents (APA) therapy, ESGE/BSG and ASGE guidelines recommend considering cardiovascular risk. In case of low cardiovascular risk (CVR), stop thienopyridine 5 days before endoscopy; if high CVR, ASGE recommends discontinuing thienopyridine at least 5 days before the procedure or switch to ASA, while ESGE/BSG recommends liaising with a cardiologist about the risk/benefit of discontinuing APA and suggests discontinuation of drugs 5 days before the procedure only more than 12 months after insertion of drug-eluting coronary stent and more than 1 month after insertion of bare metal coronary stent.

APAGE/APSDE recommends discontinuing thienopyridine 5 days before endoscopy in case of high-risk procedure regardless of the CVR.

In case of dual APA therapy, all the international guidelines agree to withhold the thienopyridine and continue aspirin.

After the procedure, ASGE suggests to resume APA once hemostasis has been achieved, and a loading dose of drug should be considered among patients at risk for thrombosis.

Thienopyridine should be resumed up to 48 h depending on the perceived bleeding and thrombotic risks as suggested by ESGE/BSG guidelines; APAGE/APSDE recommends resumption once adequate hemostasis has been achieved.

For patients on warfarin undergoing high-risk endoscopic procedure as EUS-FNA, all international guidelines consider CVR: in case of low CVR, stop warfarin 5 days before endoscopy and check INR before the procedure ad ensure values <1.5 (ESGE/BSG) or <2 (APAGE/APSDE); in case of high CVR, discontinue warfarin 5 days before the procedure and administer bridge therapy with low-molecularweight heparin (LMWH). ESGE/BSG recommends withdrawing the last dose of LMWH more than 24 h before the procedure. All guidelines recommend restarting warfarin the same day/evening of the procedure with usual daily dose after hemostasis has been achieved. In case of high CVR, ESGE/BSG and APAGE/APSDE suggest continuing LMWH until therapeutic INR range has been achieved.

With regard to direct oral anticoagulants (DOACs), such as dabigatran, rivaroxaban, apixaban, and edoxaban, all guidelines recommend discontinuation before high-risk endoscopic procedures considering the drug-specific interval. ESGE/BSG and APAGE/APSDE recommend taking the last dose \geq 48 h before the procedure, for patients on dabigatran with creatinine clearance (CrCl) of 30–50 ml/min taking the last dose of drug 72 h before the procedure. ESGE/BSG guidelines suggest a delay of 24–48 h in restarting DOACs after a high-risk procedure depending on the bleeding risk associated with the procedure. APAGE/APSDE recommends early resumption of DOACs after adequate hemostasis has been achieved. ASGE guidelines suggest delayed resumption of DOACs until adequate hemostasis is ensured. If therapeutic dose cannot be restarted within 12–24 h after the endoscopic procedure, thromboprophylaxis (LMWH bridge) should be considered to decrease the risk of thromboembolism.

References

- Burger W, Chemnitius JM, Kneissl GD, et al. Low-dose aspirin for secondary cardiovascular prevention—cardiovascular risks after its perioperative withdrawal versus bleeding risks with its continuation—review and meta-analysis. J Intern Med. 2005;257:399–414.
- Wang KX, Ben QW, Jin ZD, et al. Assessment of morbidity and mortality associated with EUS-guided FNA: a systematic review. Gastrointest Endosc. 2011;73:283–90.
- Polkowski M, Larghi A, Weynand B, et al. Learning, techniques, and complications of endoscopic ultrasound (EUS)-guided sampling in gastroenterology: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) technical guideline. Endoscopy. 2012;44:190–206.
- ASGE Standards of Practice Committee, Early DS, Acosta RD, et al. Adverse events associated with EUS and EUS with FNA. Gastrointest Endosc. 2013;77:839–43.
- Hamada T, Yasunaga H, Nakai Y, et al. Severe bleeding and perforation are rare complications of endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration for pancreatic masses: an analysis of 3,090 patients from 212 hospitals. Gut Liver. 2014;8:215–8.
- Hamada T, Yasunaga H, Nakai Y, et al. Rarity of severe bleeding and perforation in endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration for submucosal tumors. Dig Dis Sci. 2013;58:2634–8.
- 7. Kien-Fong Vu C, Chang F, Doig L, Meenan J. A prospective control study of the safety and cellular yield of EUS-guided FNA or Trucut biopsy in patients taking aspirin, nonsteroidal

anti-inflammatory drugs, or prophylactic low molecular weight heparin. Gastrointest Endosc. 2006;63:808–13.

- Inoue T, Okumura F, Sano H, et al. Bleeding risk of endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration in patients undergoing antithrombotic therapy. Dig Endosc. 2017;29(1):91–6. https://doi.org/10.1111/den.12687.
- 9. Kawakubo K, Yane K, Eto K, et al. A prospective multicenter study evaluating bleeding risk after endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration in patients prescribed antithrombotic agents. Gut Liver. 2018;12(3):353–9.
- Polmanee P, Hara MN, et al. Outcomes of EUS-FNA in patients receiving antithrombotic therapy. Endosc Int Open. 2019;07:E15–25.
- Sagamia R, Hayasakab K, Ujiharab T, et al. Feasibility of endoscopic ultrasound-guided gallbladder drainage for acute cholecystitis patients receiving antithrombotic therapy. Ann Gastroenterol. 2020;33:391–7.
- 12. ASGE Standards of Practice Committee, Roberts Acosta RD, Abraham NS, Chandrasekhara V, Chathadi KV, Early DS, Eloubeidi MA, Evans JA, Faulx AL, Fisher DA, Fonkalsrud L, Hwang JH, Khashab MA, Lightdale JR, Muthusamy VR, Pasha SF, Saltzman JR, Shaukat A, Shergill AK, Wang A, Cash BD, DeWitt JM. The management of antithrombotic agents for patients undergoing GI endoscopy. Gastrointest Endosc. 2016;83:3–16.
- Veitch AM, Vanbiervliet G, Gershlick AH, Boustiere C, Baglin TP, Smith LA, Radaelli F, Knight E, Gralnek IM, Hassan C, Dumonceau JM. Endoscopy in patients on antiplatelet or anticoagulant therapy, including direct oral anticoagulants: British Society of Gastroenterology (BSG) and European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) guidelines. Gut. 2016;65:374–89.
- 14. Chan FKL, Goh KL, Reddy N, Fujimoto K, Ho KY, Hokimoto S, Jeong YH, Kitazono T, Lee HS, Mahachai V, Tsoi KKF, Wu MS, Yan BP, Sugano K. Management of patients on antithrombotic agents undergoing emergency and elective endoscopy: joint Asian Pacific Association of Gastroenterology (APAGE) and Asian Pacific Society for Digestive Endoscopy (APSDE) practice guidelines. Gut. 2018;67:405–17.

Check for updates

Sedation for Endoscopic Ultrasound

Toshihiro Nishizawa and Hidekazu Suzuki

18.1 Introduction

Endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) is uncomfortable and painful. Appropriate sedation is needed. Surveillance EUS such as follow-up for pancreatic cystic tumor is often repeated, so it is important to perform painless procedures for willingness to repeat the examination. The target sedation level in routine endoscopic examinations is moderate (conscious) sedation, where a patient retains the ability to purposefully respond to a verbal or tactile stimulus while cardiorespiratory function and airway protective reflex are maintained [1]. The following three points may increase the burden on the patient and provoke body movement; (1) when passing through the pharynx, (2) when passing through the pylorus, and (3) when shortening the duodenal second portion.

Gentle maneuver is needed, and additional sedation should be prepared.

Endoscopic ultrasound fine-needle aspiration (EUS-FNA) or therapeutic EUS using a puncture needle does not allow failure, and it requires stable level of sedation of long duration without body movement. Deeper sedation may lead to dangerous adverse events that require cardiopulmonary support, so it requires more careful administration of sedative agents. Before procedures, it is also critical to perform sufficient pre-evaluations for each patient. In this chapter, the sedation for EUS is reviewed.

T. Nishizawa

H. Suzuki (🖂)

18

Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, International University of Health and Welfare, Mita Hospital, Tokyo, Japan

Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Department of Internal Medicine, Tokai University School of Medicine, Isehara, Kanagawa, Japan e-mail: hsuzuki@tokai.ac.jp

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. Facciorusso, N. Muscatiello (eds.), *Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71937-1_18
18.2 Benzodiazepine

Benzodiazepines have sedative, hypnotic (sleep-inducing), anxiolytic anticonvulsant, and muscle relaxant properties. Benzodiazepines enhance the effect of the neurotransmitter γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) at the GABA-A receptor in the central nervous system. Midazolam, flunitrazepam, and diazepam are commonly used in the sedation for endoscopic procedures (Table 18.1). The disadvantages of diazepam are its strong venous irritation and the high frequency of phlebitis. Recently, midazolam and flunitrazepam are frequently used, because of a lower frequency of phlebitis and shorter half-lives [2].

Benzodiazepines may induce retrograde amnesia, and patients cannot often remember pain during the procedure. When patients show distress during the procedure, additional benzodiazepine may be administered in hope of this retrograde amnesia.

The dose of midazolam, flunitrazepam, and diazepam is shown in Table 18.2. Elderly patients should receive reduced doses of sedative agents, and a dose of half to two-thirds is enough. The reversal agent for benzodiazepine is flumazenil. Flumazenil can enhance patient recovery following endoscopic sedation. However, flumazenil has short elimination half-life (50 min), and there is a concern about the risk of re-sedation following its use.

18.3 Opioid Analgesics

Opioid analgesics mainly inhibit neurotransmission of pain by binding to specific opioid receptors that are present in the central nervous system and peripheral tissues. Opioid analgesics include narcotic analgesics and antagonistic analgesics. As

Agent	Classification	Characteristics	Half-life
Diazepam	Benzodiazepine	Long duration Phlebitis after injection	35 h
Midazolam	Benzodiazepine	Rapid onset Short duration	2–6 h
Flunitrazepam	Benzodiazepine	Rapid onset	20 h
Pethidine	Opioid agonist	1/5–1/10 as potent as morphine	4 h
Fentanyl	Opioid agonist	50–100 times more potent than morphine	3.6 h
Pentazocine	Opioid agonist-antagonist	1/2-1/4 as potent as morphine	2–3 h
Dexmedetomidine	α2 receptor agonist	Minimal respiratory depression Bradycardia/hypotension	2.5 h
Propofol	General anesthetic	Rapid induction, rapid recovery Pain upon injection	2–4 min

Table 18.1 Sedative agents and the characteristics

Agent	Dose	Reversal agent
Diazepam	5–10 mg	Flumazenil
Midazolam	0.02–0.07 mg/kg	Flumazenil
Flunitrazepam	0.02–0.03 mg/kg	Flumazenil
Pethidine	35–70 mg	Naloxone
Fentanyl	1–3 μg/kg	Naloxone
Pentazocine	15–30 mg	Naloxone
		Doxapram
Dexmedetomidine	6 μg/kg/h (10 min)	Atipamezole
	Followed by 0.2–0.7 µg/kg/h	(veterinary)
Propofol	0.5–1 mg/kg (induction)	-
	Followed by 2-6 mg/kg/h	

Table 18.2 Doses of sedative agents and reversal agents

narcotic analgesics, pethidine hydrochloride and fentanyl are most commonly used for endoscopic sedation. As antagonistic analgesics, pentazocine is also used. Opioid analgesics could reduce pharyngeal reflexes during scope insertion. On the other hand, opioid analgesics are associated with post-endoscopic nausea [3, 4]. Especially, the use of high-dose opiates in female patients might provoke nausea and vomiting after endoscopic procedures.

All opioids increase biliary tract pressure, but meperidine has a lesser effect [5].

18.4 α2 Adrenergic Receptor Agonist

Dexmedetomidine is a short-acting $\alpha 2$ adrenergic receptor agonist with anxiolytic, hypnotic, and analgesic effects. Clonidine is the first clinically used $\alpha 2$ adrenergic agonist. Clonidine was used as antihypertensive, and the unique side effect was hypnosis. Dexmedetomidine is ten times more selective towards $\alpha 2$ adrenergic receptor than clonidine. Locus coeruleus of the brain stem is the principal site for the sedative action and spinal cord is the principal site for the analgesic action, both acting through $\alpha 2$ adrenergic receptor [6]. Unlike GABA agonists such as mid-azolam, dexmedetomidine, which has a new mechanism of action, it is characterized by minimal respiratory depression. On the other hand, hypotension and bradycardia stand out (Table 18.1).

Dexmedetomidine is administered at an administration rate of 6 μ g/kg/h for 10 min followed by a maintenance administration in the range of 0.2–0.7 μ g/kg/h (Table 18.2). The combination of initial loading and maintenance administration is required, and the administration method is somewhat complicated. A 10-min timer is recommended so you do not forget to switch after 10 min. A recent meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials has showed that dexmedetomidine has a better sedative effect than midazolam in gastrointestinal endoscopy, especially in endoscopic treatment [7]. These benefits are achieved without an increase of cardiopulmonary complications. However, midazolam costs \$1.25 per ampule, whereas

dexmedetomidine costs \$44.4 per 50 ml syringe kit, which is considerably expensive. EUS-FNA or therapeutic EUS requires delicate endoscopic maneuver, relatively long treatment time, and more stable sedation state. Despite the high cost, dexmedetomidine is considered a useful option in EUS.

18.5 Propofol

Propofol (2,6-diisopropofol) is a sedative-hypnotic drug with an amnestic effect. Its hypnotic effect results from potentiating GABA through the GABA_A receptor in a manner similar to that of benzodiazepines. It is highly lipophilic, and thus can rapidly cross the blood–brain barrier, resulting in an early onset of action [8]. Propofol is a short-acting agent with rapid metabolism, which has a short recovery profile regardless of the depth or length of the sedation period [9]. Rapid recovery has a major impact on patient satisfaction, post-procedure education, and endoscopy unit flow [10]. However, propofol has a narrow therapeutic window that can result in rapid depression of consciousness and cardiovascular functions (Table 18.1).

An initial bolus of propofol (0.5-1 mg/kg) is administered intravenously, followed by a continuous propofol infusion (2-6 mg/kg/h), with additional bolus administered as needed) or repeated bolus (10-20 mg) according to patient condition [11] (Table 18.2).

According to recent meta-analyses, propofol showed more effective and faster recovery time on endoscopy compared to benzodiazepine sedatives without increasing respiratory circulatory complications [12–14]. Another meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials comparing propofol and dexmedetomidine showed that propofol significantly increased patient satisfaction with gastrointestinal endoscopy [11]. The meta-analysis implies that propofol is expected to become an essential sedative agent for endoscopic examination. However, the manufacturers of propofol restrict its use solely to personnel trained in general anesthesia and that the United States Food and Drug Administration denied a petition by gastroenterologists seeking the removal of this particular restriction [15]. Sedation by non-anesthetists needs adequate training and certification for the non-anesthesia providers.

18.6 Combination of Sedative Agents

Benzodiazepine is often coadministered with opioid analgesics. Midazolam has rapid effect, so it is used as rescue agent for dexmedetomidine-based sedation. Additional doses should be carefully considered based on the monitoring and direct observation of the patient's condition.

Dexmedetomidine has relatively weak hypnotic effect. Dexmedetomidine is often coadministered with benzodiazepine and/or opioid analgesics. When hypotension or bradycardia occurs, the dose of dexmedetomidine should be decreased at first. When hypoxia occurs, additional doses of benzodiazepine should be discontinued, and dexmedetomidine is mainly used. Propofol has minimal analgesic effect, so opioid analgesics are sometimes used as rescue agent for propofol-based sedation. However, recovery time from the combination of propofol and opioid analgesics might be longer than recovery from propofol only.

When hypertension occurs during endoscopic procedures, patients may feel pain. The checkpoints are abdominal distention due to perforation, and whether the body position causes straining any part of the body. Then, the administration of opioid analgesics is considered. When sever hypertension (>180 mmHg) is continuing after rescue by opioid analgesics, nicardipine is also considered.

18.7 Conclusion

In developed countries, it is expected that patients will demand more potent forms of sedation in the future. There is a saying from Japanese business philosophy called "triple win" [16]. "Triple win" means that business must promote the benefit of the seller, the buyer, and society as a whole. Endoscopic sedation should be also considered efficacy and safety for patients, burden and satisfaction for medical staffs, and financial and medicolegal factors for society. It is required to pursue "triple win" in endoscopic practice.

References

- Obara K, Haruma K, Irisawa A, Kaise M, Gotoda T, Sugiyama M, et al. Guidelines for sedation in gastroenterological endoscopy. Dig Endosc. 2015;27:435–49.
- Lin OS. Sedation for routine gastrointestinal endoscopic procedures: a review on efficacy, safety, efficiency, cost and satisfaction. Intest Res. 2017;15:456–66.
- Nishizawa T, Suzuki H, Arita M, Kataoka Y, Fukagawa K, Ohki D, et al. Pethidine dose and female sex as risk factors for nausea after esophagogastroduodenoscopy. J Clin Biochem Nutr. 2018;63:230–2.
- 4. Nishizawa T, Sakitani K, Suzuki H, Takeuchi M, Takahashi Y, Takeuchi K, et al. Adverse events associated with bidirectional endoscopy with midazolam and pethidine. J Clin Biochem Nutr. 2019;65:1–4.
- Horn E, Nesbit SA. Pharmacology and pharmacokinetics of sedatives and analgesics. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am. 2004;14:247–68.
- 6. Wu W, Chen Q, Zhang LC, Chen WH. Dexmedetomidine versus midazolam for sedation in upper gastrointestinal endoscopy. J Int Med Res. 2014;42:516–22.
- Nishizawa T, Suzuki H, Sagara S, Kanai T, Yahagi N. Dexmedetomidine versus midazolam for gastrointestinal endoscopy: a meta-analysis. Dig Endosc. 2015;27:8–15.
- Shafer A, Doze VA, Shafer SL, White PF. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of propofol infusions during general anesthesia. Anesthesiology. 1988;69:348–56.
- Qadeer MA, Vargo JJ, Khandwala F, Lopez R, Zuccaro G. Propofol versus traditional sedative agents for gastrointestinal endoscopy: a meta-analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2005;3:1049–56.
- Nishizawa T, Suzuki H. Propofol for gastrointestinal endoscopy. United European Gastroenterol J. 2018;6:801–5.

- Nishizawa T, Suzuki H, Hosoe N, Ogata H, Kanai T, Yahagi N. Dexmedetomidine vs propofol for gastrointestinal endoscopy: a meta-analysis. United European Gastroenterol J. 2017;5:1037–45.
- Bo LL, Bai Y, Bian JJ, Wen PS, Li JB, Deng XM. Propofol vs traditional sedative agents for endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography: a meta-analysis. World J Gastroenterol. 2011;17:3538–43.
- 13. Nishizawa T, Suzuki H, Matsuzaki J, Kanai T, Yahagi N. Propofol versus traditional sedative agents for endoscopic submucosal dissection. Dig Endosc. 2014;26:701–6.
- 14. Wang D, Chen C, Chen J, Xu Y, Wang L, Zhu Z, et al. The use of propofol as a sedative agent in gastrointestinal endoscopy: a meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2013;8:e53311.
- Triantafillidis JK, Merikas E, Nikolakis D, Papalois AE. Sedation in gastrointestinal endoscopy: current issues. World J Gastroenterol. 2013;19:463–81.
- Nakai Y, Kogure H, Matsubara S, Isayama H, Koike K. Sedation for "triple-win" endoscopic ultrasonography. Endosc Digest. 2017;29:1100–1.



19

Quality Measures in Endoscopic Ultrasound

Pantelis S. Karatzas, Ioannis S. Papanikolaou, and Konstantinos Triantafyllou

19.1 Introduction

Endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) is the only endoscopic procedure that offers the ability to access the so-called third space and diagnose lesions of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract and the mediastinum, which are out of the direct vision of the endoscope. It is therefore a well-established procedure that allows the endoscopist to accurately perform the preoperative staging and restaging of GI tumors, especially in the esophagus and rectum. Moreover, with the advent of EUS-FNA, EUS moved from a mere diagnostic procedure to an interventional one, allowing tissue sampling (e.g., from pancreatic lesions), which is not possible with any other diagnostic module, such as computed tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance (MR) [1].

Quality, on the other hand, has recently evolved to a basic parameter of GI endoscopy (GIE); its focus is to improve endoscopic practice, based on the available evidence, providing patients with the best clinical care [2], or as it has been stated by the Department of Health and Human Services Institute of Medicine (USA), quality represents "the degree to which health care services for individuals and populations increase the likelihood of desired health outcomes and are consistent with current professional knowledge" [3]. The need for quality initially arose in the early 2000s, as a result of reports of missed neoplastic lesions during GIE [3], but since then has evolved to a general demand affecting all implicated parties: patients, physicians and the healthcare system. Patients naturally focus on the quality of the offered

P. S. Karatzas

Academic Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Laiko General Hospital, University of Athens, Medical School, Athens, Greece

I. S. Papanikolaou (🖂) · K. Triantafyllou

Hepatogastroenterology Unit, Second Department of Internal Medicine-Propaedeutic, Research Institute and Diabetes Center, Medical School, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, "Attikon" University General Hospital, Athens, Greece

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. Facciorusso, N. Muscatiello (eds.), Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71937-1_19

service regardless of cost, physicians strive always for the best possible management, including avoidance of mistakes and complications, and the healthcare system asks for an internal quality system to ensure the quality of the offered services. In 2006, the American Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ASGE) published the first guidelines on quality measures in GIE, and in 2015, the first update was also released [4]. On the other hand, the European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) has also addressed quality in GIE including EUS. In a recent publication, the "ESGE Quality Improvement Initiative" has highlighted various measures necessary in order to improve quality, when performing EUS and ERCP [5].

In general, quality is a qualitative parameter and therefore cannot be objectively rated. We need surrogate indicators or tools in order to achieve an accurate assessment of any measures we take, in order to improve GIE and EUS specifically. Quality indicators (QIs) are tools that we use to quantify the measures we undertake to provide quality in a given service. Specifically, for GIE, QIs are parameters that we use to assess the effectiveness of quality measures we implement during the procedure or, as it has been stated, to compare "performance of an individual or a group with an ideal or benchmark" [6, 7]; Qis, regardless of the specific endoscopic procedure, can reflect structural aspects of an endoscopy unit (e.g., availability of an examination), procedural aspects (e.g., diagnostic accuracy of a given procedure), or outcomes (e.g., an adverse event after the procedure) [8]. On the other hand, they can easily be subdivided according to the three phases of the procedure: before endoscopy, during endoscopy, and after endoscopy. This division helps us follow the various aspects that quality measures we apply in EUS might affect. Equally important, seeing these measures and their respective QIs under the spectrum of the aforementioned division (i.e., pre-, during and post-endoscopy) can help facilitate their critical appraisal, which is one of the main scopes of this review.

19.2 Before Endoscopy

Every interaction that takes place between the physician and the patient before the endoscopic procedure belongs to the pre-procedure time. Quality measures in this phase include the following:

Indications for EUS:

Patients must be clearly informed about the indications for the procedure and the availability of other diagnostic modules. At least 80% of all EUS procedures that are performed in a given endoscopic unit, or by a specific individual, should be made for an indication that is included in a published standard list of appropriate indications; moreover, this indication should be documented [8]. On the other hand, it should be noted that this does not exclude the possibility to perform EUS for an indication that is not listed in the guidelines. However, in such a case, the rationale should be clearly explained to the patient and should also be stated in the final report [9, 10]. For example, an obvious reason for preforming (or otherwise, for not performing) EUS outside the strict limits of "proper" indications is

local availability, which can determine the decision of the treating physician depending on available resources. For example, in cases of pancreatic head masses, EUS could be performed instead of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) for assessment of vascular invasion according to local availability. Of course, and according to current guidelines, in such a case, if the lesion is deemed operable, there is no indication or need for EUS-FNA; in such a case, EUS should be used as a diagnostic/staging modality only [1, 2].

• Inform consent form:

Patients and physicians should always have a thorough discussion about the EUS procedure (this applies ideally for all endoscopic procedures, regardless of its nature, of its diagnostic or interventional intent as well as its possible complications). All stages of the procedure, including benefits and-equally important-potential risks and possible complications of EUS and especially EUS-FNA, such as bleeding (0-0.5%), infection (<1%), and pancreatitis (0-2%), should be outlined with detail, according to the patient's capability to comprehend the meaning of the provided information [11, 12]. Low, but not negligible, rates of tumor seeding [13-19] and perforation [20-22] should also be mentioned. The patient must understand all information related to the procedure, have ample time to solve any queries, and subsequently sign the inform consent form (ICF); enough time should also be scheduled in order to provide patients with the possibility to withdraw their consent in case they wish to do so. The ICF should be signed in at least in 98% of cases [8]. If specific EUS techniques are going to be undertaken, e.g., celiac plexus neurolysis or radiofrequency tumor ablation, an additional explanation of specific complications linked to the intervention should also take place [2]. Another QI, related to the procedure, is the level of expertise of the endoscopist. In these days, patients are entitled to the right to know the level of expertise of the performing endoscopist, including their personal rates of complications [8].

Management of medications:

A full medical history should always be completed, focusing on use of anticoagulants and antiplatelet medication. In such a case, the type and dosage of the specific drugs being used must be documented, and changes made timely, before the procedure. Management of anticoagulants is based on a stratification of the risk of bleeding due to the endoscopic procedure versus the risk of complications due to the underlying cardiovascular disease. Endoscopic procedures are subdivided into low and high-risk. EUS is considered a low-risk procedure, whereas EUS-FNA is considered high-risk. In cases of simple EUS, anticoagulants can be safely continued, whereas DOACs should be omitted only on the morning of the day of the procedure. In cases of warfarin use, INR ought to be checked before the procedure, and if it is within therapeutic range, then EUS can be performed. In cases of EUS-FNA, the severity of the underlying cardiovascular disease must be assessed and management of anticoagulation and antiplatelets modified accordingly. More specifically, clopidogrel and prasugrel must be discontinued for 5 days if the cardiovascular risk is low. If this risk is high, then forming a liaison with a cardiologist is mandatory. DOACs must be discontinued for 48 h (or 72 h in elderly patients with Creatinine Clearance of 30–50 ml/min). Warfarin can be discontinued until INR returns to <1.5 in case of low cardiovascular risk, or be substituted by low-molecular-weight heparin in case of high cardiovascular risk [23].

Use of antibiotics, following puncture of cystic lesions, as prophylaxis for infection, has been widely suggested and performed. Although this prophylactic administration is a practice widely exercised, it has also been debated, as the actual risk of infection has been noticed to be very low (less than 1%) [24]. The American Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy suggests use of prophylactic antibiotics merely in cases of EUS-FNA of mediastinal and pancreatic cystic lesions, defining though that more data from prospective, randomized studies are needed [25].

19.3 During Endoscopy

The time frame of the "endoscopic period" is usually defined as the time span beginning from the administration of sedation until the removal of the endoscope from the patient [2]. EUS is usually performed for specific indications and targeted clinical questions. Most common indications for EUS are tissue sampling and tumor staging (especially for pancreatobiliary indications), as well as characterization of subepithelial masses [26]. Thus, the most relevant QIs, which correlate to relevant quality measures, during this time interval should include rate of successful lesion sampling, accurate staging of malignancies, and designation of all requested structures [8].

Tissue sampling is evaluated only by rates of successful lesion sampling. According to the literature, diagnostic rates for malignancy of at least 71% in the case of pancreatic adenocarcinoma [27, 28] and 87% for nodal involvement due to esophageal cancer are acceptable [29–31]. Therefore, the endoscopist's personal score should be as close as possible to the aforementioned values. This can be facilitated by ROSE (rapid on-site evaluation) of the samples by an in-room cytopathologist to be sure that the acquired specimen has adequate material, or—in case of unavailability of ROSE—by performing a minimum of punctures of the lesions in question (e.g., 5–7 needle passes in case of pancreatic adenocarcinoma) [9].

Regarding tumor staging, depth of invasion and presence of pathological lymph nodes must be recognized. In the documentation, use of the TNM staging system is mandatory, as EUS is the best modality to access the "T" and "N" parameters of this system, while simultaneously lacking sensitivity for distant metastases (i.e., the "M" parameter) [32–34].

The first QI refers to the percentage that relevant structures (those representing the target of each specific examination) are documented. Relevant structures must be recognized at least in 98% of the cases. In case of subepithelial masses, the layer from which the mass originates should always be recognized and documented with the help of appropriate images. Moreover, these images should clearly display the size and specific morphological features of the lesions/structures that are in question [8]. A pivotal role in any endoscopic procedure, EUS included, is an effective

sedation. Quality measures regarding sedation include documentation of the following parameters: vital signs during sedation, doses and route of administration of all administered medications, use of reversal agents, and interruption or premature termination of the EUS due to sedation-related issues [8].

19.4 After Endoscopy

Post-endoscopy time includes many important measures, which also contribute to the quality of an EUS procedure:

- (a) recognition and proper management of possible adverse events,
- (b) discussion with the patient and offering instructions for the immediate postendoscopy time,
- (c) management of medication and especially anticoagulants after the endoscopy,
- (d) in-depth explanation of the findings, and
- (e) follow-up of the histology/cytology.

Adverse events of EUS are relatively rare, especially if no EUS-FNA or EUSguided biopsy is performed [12, 35]. However, in the rare case that they occur, the endoscopist should always be in a position to timely recognize any of them and equally important—to be able to manage them appropriately. It has been said that "the worst complication in GIE is non-recognition or denial of a complication." This applies especially in cases of pancreatobiliary GIE, including EUS. Usually, complications such as bleeding and pancreatitis are mild and thus do not need any special interventions for their treatment; on the other hand, in the rare case of perforation, decisions must be taken quickly, in order to achieve an effective treatment [36, 37].

As for every endoscopy, patients must be informed by the performing endoscopist about the findings of the procedure they underwent, as well about the impact these findings might have on their further management. Although, this measure seems obvious and should apply for every procedure, this is not always the case. The latter has been attributed to various reasons, including organization factors, especially in large referral centers with a large workload, where there is "no time to explain" the findings to the patient, but also sometimes even the healthcare system is organized in such a manner that it may be the culprit; For example, in many systems, patients are referred for GIE from general practitioners, who then are the ones with the duty to inform the patient, a task not always easy to be performed by a nonspecialist, especially when talking about complex and specialized procedures, as is the case for EUS. Moreover, timely information of the patient on the cytopathology or histological results has been deemed as a valued QI on behalf of patients and has been reported to be even more important than a good long-term relationship with the endoscopist [38]. Experience has shown that in many cases even this measure can also be rather problematic.

Providing the patient with some basic post-procedural information, including adequate advice to avoid driving and intense physical activity, is mandatory, as negligence to do so, may result in dangerous consequences for the patient. Medications can be restarted in case of EUS or EUS-FNA after the endoscopy. Only in cases of suspected bleeding, case-by-case management is advised [39, 40].

The endoscopist is in charge of receiving the pathology/cytology results and interpret them. As discussed above, EUS is usually performed in order to answer a specific clinical question. Given the relatively low-negative predictive value of EUS-FNA for differential diagnosis of pancreatic cancer from chronic pancreatitis with a pseudotumoral mass, which reached a mere 73.9% in a recent publication [41], the endoscopist is assigned to interpret the findings and to decide whether a repeated EUS or performing other diagnostic modalities is the proper management for the specific patient. As far as repeating the procedure is an option, one could attempt EUS-guided core biopsy which seems to be an attractive alternative (e.g., in the aforementioned study its negative predictive value reached 87%). It should be pointed out here that cooperation with the cytopathologist/pathologist, as well as other medical specialists implicated each and every specific case (especially radiologists, internists, or surgeons), may contribute to improvement of the clinical decision.

Finally, another QI that should be taken into account is the patient's satisfaction; this QI is also a vital one that occasionally is not regarded as an important factor by endoscopists, an attitude that should change, as the latter seems to incorporate more than just issues of sedation and post-procedural pain, but also reflects the impact of most of the quality measures undertaken throughout the whole procedure, as well as the general handling of the case by the responsible physician [42, 43].

In conclusion, in these paragraphs, a concise review of the definition and the need of quality in EUS was presented, followed by some of the most important quality measures that are used in everyday clinical practice. It is very important to keep in mind that these measures should not be regarded as a mere theoretical wish list but should be rather seen as points in a practical roadmap, meant to improve patients' outcomes and clinical care.

References

- 1. Papanikolaou IS, Fockens P, Hawes R, Rösch T. Update on endoscopic ultrasound: how much for imaging, needling, or therapy? Scand J Gastroenterol. 2008;43(12):1416–24.
- 2. Facciorusso A, Buccino RV, Muscatiello N. How to measure quality in endoscopic ultrasound. Ann Transl Med. 2018;6(13):266.
- Triantafyllou K, Michopoulos S, Hassan C. Quality in gastrointestinal endoscopy: the preface. Ann Transl Med. 2018;6(13):258.
- Rizk MK, Sawhney MS, Cohen J, Pike IM, Adler DG, Dominitz JA, et al. Quality indicators common to all GI endoscopic procedures. Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;81(1):3–16.
- Domagk D, Oppong KW, Aabakken L, Czakó L, Gyökeres T, Manes G, et al. Performance measures for ERCP and endoscopic ultrasound: a European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) quality improvement initiative. Endoscopy. 2018;50(11):1116–27.
- 6. Farquhar M. AHRQ quality indicators. In: Hughes RG, editor. Patient safety and quality: an evidence-based handbook for nurses [Internet]. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2008 [cited 2020 May 2]. (Advances in Patient Safety). Available from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK2664/.

- Adler DG, Lieb JG, Cohen J, Pike IM, Park WG, Rizk MK, et al. Quality indicators for ERCP. Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;81(1):54–66.
- Wani S, Wallace MB, Cohen J, Pike IM, Adler DG, Kochman ML, et al. Quality indicators for EUS. Am J Gastroenterol. 2015;110(1):102–13.
- Polkowski M, Jenssen C, Kaye P, Carrara S, Deprez P, Gines A, et al. Technical aspects of endoscopic ultrasound (EUS)-guided sampling in gastroenterology: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) technical guideline - March 2017. Endoscopy. 2017;49(10):989–1006.
- ASGE Standards of Practice Committee, Gan SI, Rajan E, Adler DG, Baron TH, Anderson MA, et al. Role of EUS. Gastrointest Endosc. 2007;66(3):425–34.
- Lakhtakia S. Complications of diagnostic and therapeutic endoscopic ultrasound. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2016;30(5):807–23.
- Eloubeidi MA, Tamhane A, Varadarajulu S, Wilcox CM. Frequency of major complications after EUS-guided FNA of solid pancreatic masses: a prospective evaluation. Gastrointest Endosc. 2006;63(4):622–9.
- 13. Sato N, Takano S, Yoshitomi H, Furukawa K, Takayashiki T, Kuboki S, et al. Needle tract seeding recurrence of pancreatic cancer in the gastric wall with paragastric lymph node metastasis after endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration followed by pancreatectomy: a case report and literature review. BMC Gastroenterol. 2020;20(1):13.
- 14. Chong A, Venugopal K, Segarajasingam D, Lisewski D. Tumor seeding after EUS-guided FNA of pancreatic tail neoplasia. Gastrointest Endosc. 2011;74(4):933–5.
- 15. Yane K, Kuwatani M, Yoshida M, Goto T, Matsumoto R, Ihara H, et al. Non-negligible rate of needle tract seeding after endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration for patients undergoing distal pancreatectomy for pancreatic cancer. Dig Endosc. 2020;32(5):801–11.
- Yokoyama K, Ushio J, Numao N, Tamada K, Fukushima N, Kawarai Lefor A, et al. Esophageal seeding after endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration of a mediastinal tumor. Endosc Int Open. 2017;5(9):E913–7.
- 17. Yamaguchi H, Morisaka H, Sano K, Nagata K, Ryozawa S, Okamoto K, et al. Seeding of a tumor in the gastric wall after endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration of solid pseudopapillary neoplasm of the pancreas. Intern Med Tokyo Jpn. 2020;59(6):779–82.
- Minaga K, Kitano M, Enoki E, Kashida H, Kudo M. Needle-tract seeding on the proximal gastric wall after EUS-guided fine-needle aspiration of a pancreatic mass. Am J Gastroenterol. 2016;111(11):1515.
- Kawabata H, Miyazawa Y, Sato H, Okada T, Hayashi A, Iwama T, et al. Genetic analysis of postoperative recurrence of pancreatic cancer potentially owing to needle tract seeding during EUS-FNB. Endosc Int Open. 2019;7(12):E1768–72.
- Das A, Sivak MV, Chak A. Cervical esophageal perforation during EUS: a national survey. Gastrointest Endosc. 2001;53(6):599–602.
- Eloubeidi MA, Tamhane A, Lopes TL, Morgan DE, Cerfolio RJ. Cervical esophageal perforations at the time of endoscopic ultrasound: a prospective evaluation of frequency, outcomes, and patient management. Am J Gastroenterol. 2009;104(1):53–6.
- 22. Grande G, Manno M, Alberghina N, Barbera C, Zulli C, Tontini GE, et al. Quick, safe and effective repair of EUS-related duodenal perforation using over-the-scope clip system (with video). Dig Liver Dis. 2016;48(9):1099–100.
- 23. Veitch AM, Vanbiervliet G, Gershlick AH, Boustiere C, Baglin TP, Smith L-A, et al. Endoscopy in patients on antiplatelet or anticoagulant therapy, including direct oral anticoagulants: British Society of Gastroenterology (BSG) and European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) guidelines. Endoscopy. 2016;48(4):c1.
- 24. Colán Hernández J, Sendino O, Loras C, Pardo A, Gornals JB, Concepción M, et al. Antibiotic prophylaxis not required for endoscopic ultrasonography-guided fine-needle aspiration of pancreatic cystic lesions, based on a randomized trial. Gastroenterology. 2020;158(6):1642–1649.e1.

- ASGE Standards of Practice Committee, Khashab MA, Chithadi KV, Acosta RD, Bruining DH, Chandrasekhara V, et al. Antibiotic prophylaxis for GI endoscopy. Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;81(1):81–9.
- Papanikolaou IS, Karatzas PS, Triantafyllou K, Adler A. Role of pancreatic endoscopic ultrasonography in 2010. World J Gastrointest Endosc. 2010;2(10):335–43.
- 27. Savides TJ, Donohue M, Hunt G, Al-Haddad M, Aslanian H, Ben-Menachem T, et al. EUSguided FNA diagnostic yield of malignancy in solid pancreatic masses: a benchmark for quality performance measurement. Gastrointest Endosc. 2007;66(2):277–82.
- Hewitt MJ, McPhail MJW, Possamai L, Dhar A, Vlavianos P, Monahan KJ. EUS-guided FNA for diagnosis of solid pancreatic neoplasms: a meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2012;75(2):319–31.
- Vazquez-Sequeiros E, Norton ID, Clain JE, Wang KK, Affi A, Allen M, et al. Impact of EUSguided fine-needle aspiration on lymph node staging in patients with esophageal carcinoma. Gastrointest Endosc. 2001;53(7):751–7.
- Parmar KS, Zwischenberger JB, Reeves AL, Waxman I. Clinical impact of endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration of celiac axis lymph nodes (M1a disease) in esophageal cancer. Ann Thorac Surg. 2002;73(3):916–20; discussion 920–921.
- 31. Eloubeidi MA, Wallace MB, Reed CE, Hadzijahic N, Lewin DN, Van Velse A, et al. The utility of EUS and EUS-guided fine needle aspiration in detecting celiac lymph node metastasis in patients with esophageal cancer: a single-center experience. Gastrointest Endosc. 2001;54(6):714–9.
- Gonçalves B, Soares JB, Bastos P. Endoscopic ultrasound in the diagnosis and staging of pancreatic Cancer. GE Port J Gastroenterol. 2015;22(4):161–71.
- 33. Sharma M, Pathak A, Shoukat A, Rameshbabu CS, Goyal S, Bansal R, et al. EUS of the neck: a comprehensive anatomical reference for the staging of head and neck cancer (with videos). Endosc Ultrasound. 2019;8(4):227–34.
- 34. Uberoi AS, Bhutani MS. Has the role of EUS in rectal cancer staging changed in the last decade? Endosc Ultrasound. 2018;7(6):366–70.
- 35. Adler DG, Jacobson BC, Davila RE, Hirota WK, Leighton JA, Qureshi WA, et al. ASGE guideline: complications of EUS. Gastrointest Endosc. 2005;61(1):8–12.
- Disibeyaz S, Öztaş E, Kuzu UB, Özdemir M. Closure of echoendoscope-related duodenal free wall perforation by placement of a covered metallic stent. Endosc Ultrasound. 2016;5(6):399–400.
- Liu Y, Wang D, Li Z. Endoscopic closure for EUS and ERCP related duodenal perforation by Endoclips. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2016;2016:1051597.
- Siddiqui UD, Rossi F, Padda MS, Rosenthal LS, Aslanian HR. Patient preferences after endoscopic ultrasound with fine needle aspiration (EUS-FNA) diagnosis of pancreas cancer: rapid communication valued over long-term relationships. Pancreas. 2011;40(5):680–1.
- Jiang T-A, Xie L-T. Algorithm for the multidisciplinary management of hemorrhage in EUSguided drainage for pancreatic fluid collections. World J Clin Cases. 2018;6(10):308–21.
- 40. Kawakubo K, Yane K, Eto K, Ishiwatari H, Ehira N, Haba S, et al. A prospective multicenter study evaluating bleeding risk after endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration in patients prescribed antithrombotic agents. Gut Liver. 2018;12(3):353–9.
- 41. Grassia R, Imperatore N, Capone P, Cereatti F, Forti E, Antonini F, et al. EUS-guided tissue acquisition in chronic pancreatitis: differential diagnosis between pancreatic cancer and pseudotumoral masses using EUS-FNA or core biopsy. Endosc Ultrasound. 2020;9(2):122–9.
- 42. Burtea D, Dimitriu A, MaloĐ A, Cherciu I, Săftoiu A. Assessment of the quality of outpatient endoscopic procedures by using a patient satisfaction questionnaire. Curr Health Sci J. 2019;45(1):52–8.
- Mortensen MB, Fristrup C, Holm FS, Pless T, Durup J, Ainsworth AP, et al. Prospective evaluation of patient tolerability, satisfaction with patient information, and complications in endoscopic ultrasonography. Endoscopy. 2005;37(2):146–53.



Conclusive Remarks and New Perspectives

20

Antonio Facciorusso and Nicola Muscatiello

20.1 General Concepts

A pancreatic lesion, either solid or cystic, may be related to a wide spectrum of benign and malignant diseases; in this setting, it is of paramount importance to distinguish between malignant and benign tumors and to identify those patients who need to be referred to surgery.

Recent advancements in the field of endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) allow to reach a definitive diagnosis without the need of further examinations thus decreasing the cases of unnecessary surgery [1].

EUS plays a pivotal role also in the management of inflammatory pancreatic fluid collections (PFCs) that are associated with increased morbidity and mortality, especially in patients with necrotizing acute pancreatitis. The vast majority of PFCs do not require any interventions as they normally undergo spontaneous resolution with conservative management; however, when needed, EUS-guided drainage is advised to be the best choice for the majority of these patients [2].

In spite of the aforementioned concepts, EUS may sometimes not be sufficient for a correct diagnosis of a variety of pancreatic lesions. Nowadays many new diagnostic techniques have been developed in order to obtain enhanced pancreatic imaging; among these, contrast-enhanced endoscopic ultrasound and endoscopic ultrasound-elastography are of particular interest [3–5]. Contrast-enhanced endoscopic ultrasound combines the advantage of the study of the pancreas with a contrast agent with high-resolution ultrasonography of the organ whereas EUS elastography investigates tissue elasticity changes caused by inflammatory and neoplastic lesions. These new techniques, alone or in combination, increase diagnostic

A. Facciorusso (⊠) · N. Muscatiello

Gastroenterology Unit, Department of Medical Sciences, University of Foggia, AOU Ospedali Riuniti, Foggia, Italy

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. Facciorusso, N. Muscatiello (eds.), *Endoscopic Ultrasound Management of Pancreatic Lesions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71937-1_20

accuracy, sensitivity, and specificity of EUS in the detection and differential diagnosis of pancreatic lesions; furthermore, they can prove useful in guiding endoscopic ultrasound tissue acquisition [3, 5].

20.2 EUS-Guided Tissue Sampling

Since its introduction decades ago, EUS tissue acquisition (EUS-TA) has become the technique of choice for the diagnosis of solid pancreatic lesions. In the last years, we are experiencing a paradigm shift from simple cytological diagnosis with fine-needle aspiration (FNA) to histological diagnosis with fine-needle biopsy (FNB).

The development of EUS-FNB needles has generated a great deal of interest in the field primarily based on proposed advantages over EUS-FNA of improving diagnostic accuracy, improving procurement of samples with preserved tissue architecture and allowing for immunohistochemistry or special stains required for certain diagnoses, obviating rapid on-site cytologic evaluation (ROSE) and obtaining results in fewer passes, and thus potentially improving the efficiency and costs associated with EUS-TA [6].

In over past 2–3 years, there has been worldwide spread in the use of newer EUS-FNB needle designs, with end-cutting needles introduced in the endoscopic practice [7]; however, although these novel needle designs are thought to improve tissue capture and several studies have been published testing these novel devices [8], there is still limited evidence on their diagnostic performance in terms of diagnostic yield and histology core procurement [9, 10].

Recently, a through-the-needle biopsy (TTNB) microforceps device (Moray Microforceps[®], US Endoscopy, Mentor, OH, USA) that can be passed through a standard 19-gauge EUS-FNA needle was developed for histologic sampling of pancreatic cystic lesions (PCLs). The main advantage of TTNB is to obtain adequate specimens retaining the stroma covered with the epithelial lining and, therefore, to preserve the histological architecture of the sampled tissue [11]. Several recent meta-analyses demonstrated the clear superiority of TTNB over standard FNA in PCLs [12, 13], although some safety concerns were recently raised in the clinical practice [14]. Furthermore, while antibiotic prophylaxis was found to be unnecessary in EUS-FNA of PCLs, it is still unclear whether this statement could be applied also to patients undergoing TTNB sampling [15, 16].

There is still limited evidence on the use of confocal laser endomicroscopy (CLE), one of the novel imaging technologies that allows microscopic visualization of the mucosal surface epithelium [17]. Although it seems that optical biopsy at real time may further improve the diagnostic yield by reducing the sampling error thus obviating to the need of ROSE [18], further studies are needed to prove its efficacy.

20.3 EUS-Guided Drainage of PFCs

Last decade has seen a paradigm shift in the management of PFCs, largely due to the rapid evolution of EUS from a diagnostic into a therapeutic modality. Rapidly evolving therapeutic indications and techniques were coupled by innovation in accessories like large caliber lumen apposing metal stents (LAMs); this has resulted in EUS-guided drainage of PFCs proving its effectiveness as a minimally invasive therapy with lower rate of complications as compared to other invasive approaches [19, 20].

Pancreatic pseudocysts usually improve after initial drainage, and LAMs can be removed simply by pulling with a rat-toothed forceps using a regular front-view gastroscope.

However, multiple questions in this field remain unanswered. It is unclear if upfront necrosectomy is better and safer than step-up necrosectomy; the role of adjunctive irrigation and drainage strategies is based on expert opinion only and should be rigorously investigated; prototypes of LAMs with an anti-reflux valve to facilitate one-way drainage of the collections and multigated drainage have yet to be evaluated in a comparative prospective fashion [21]. Finally, the long-term benefits and adverse events of LAMs beyond 5 years need to be assessed.

20.4 Therapeutic Role of EUS in Pancreatic Cancer Patients

The current standard of care for locally advanced pancreatic cancer is chemotherapy which provides patients with a median survival of 6–8 months. The addition of conventional external beam radiotherapy (EBRT) was previously associated with toxicity and is not routinely recommended; on the other hand, the development of stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) potentially allows more selective delivery of radiation to the tumor. However, in order to deliver SBRT precisely, the placement of fiducial markers helps to compensate for tumor motion during respiration by tracking and accurately determining tumor boundaries. Although fiducials can be implanted percutaneously and laparoscopically, the minimally invasive EUS-guided approach has become the method of choice [22].

EUS-guided ablation, brachytherapy, and antitumor agent injection have been described to date [23–25]. EUS-guided brachytherapy and RFA have been shown to be feasible and safe procedures, and potentially offer local disease control [23]. Other potential techniques of EUS-guided treatment of pancreatic cancer are still considered experimental, with many of them appearing to be safe and reasonably well tolerated. However, their effectiveness and exact role in oncological treatment have yet to be established. Clinical trials with many of the techniques/agents described are underway, and multicentric randomized trials with prospective design are eagerly awaited.

Patients with pancreatic cancer often experience pain refractory to traditional medications such as nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory agents or opioids. EUS-guided celiac plexus neurolysis (CPN)/blockade has been advocated in the treatment algorithm for these patients with satisfactory results.

Early CPN at the time of EUS-FNA cytological diagnosis may be the optimal time to perform this procedure [26]. Although the evidence for the use of EUS-guided CPN exists in the setting of unresectable pancreatic cancer, it must be emphasized that it is not recommended for the routine treatment of chronic pancreatitis particularly with the adverse event profile in this setting. Future considerations include the combination of EUS-guided CPN and tumor ablation during the same procedure [27] or EUS celiac ganglion radiofrequency ablation [28].

20.5 New Perspectives

In conclusions, like many other fields of medicine, EUS is an evolving topic. The endoscopist should be aware of the main changes in this field, particularly with regard to newer diagnostic devices and interventional techniques.

EUS-guided celiac ganglia neurolysis, celiac plexus block, or radiofrequency ablation might represent a better option as compared to standard EUS-CPN in patients with pancreatic cancer. EUS-guided radiofrequency ablation may be used also as direct therapy against pancreatic cancer, whereas EUS-guided tattooing or fiducial markers placement already represent a standard for those unresectable patients suitable to SBRT.

Newer FNB devices are increasingly used in the clinical practice, and several ongoing trials will help to define their exact role in the field, in particular in cases specifically requiring histological diagnosis such as autoimmune pancreatitis.

Finally, EUS-guided drainage of PFCs plays a pivotal role in the management of these conditions, and preliminary studies shed light on new applications of LAMs in pancreatology.

References

- 1. Facciorusso A. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided tissue sampling of pancreatic lesions. Minerva Gastroenterol Dietol. 2020;66(1):41–7.
- Imoto A, Ogura T, Higuchi K. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided pancreatic duct drainage: techniques and literature review of transmural stenting. Clin Endosc. 2020;53(5):525–34.
- Facciorusso A, Martina M, Buccino RV, Nacchiero MC, Muscatiello N. Diagnostic accuracy of fine-needle aspiration of solid pancreatic lesions guided by endoscopic ultrasound elastography. Ann Gastroenterol. 2018;31(4):513–8.
- 4. Saftoiu A, Napoleon B, Arcidiacono PG, Braden B, Burmeister S, Carrara S, Cui XW, Fusaroli P, Gottschalk U, Hocke M, Hollerbach S, Iglesias-Garcia J, Jenssen C, Kitano M, Larghi A, Oppong KW, Sahai AV, Sun S, Burmester E, Di Leo M, Petrone MC, Santos E, Teoh AYB, Hwang JH, Rimbas M, Sharma M, Puri R, Kahaleh M, Dietrich CF. Do we need contrast agents for EUS? Endosc Ultrasound. 2020;9(6):361–8.

- Facciorusso A, Cotsoglou C, Chierici A, Mare R, Crinò SF, Muscatiello N. Contrastenhanced harmonic endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration versus standard fine-needle aspiration in pancreatic masses: a propensity score analysis. Diagnostics (Basel). 2020;10(10):E792.
- Wani S, Muthusamy VR, McGrath CM, Sepulveda AR, Das A, Messersmith W, Kochman ML, Shah J. AGA white paper: optimizing endoscopic ultrasound-guided tissue acquisition and future directions. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;16(3):318–27.
- Facciorusso A, Del Prete V, Buccino VR, Purohit P, Setia P, Muscatiello N. Diagnostic yield of Franseen and fork-tip biopsy needles for endoscopic ultrasound-guided tissue acquisition: a meta-analysis. Endosc Int Open. 2019;7(10):E1221–30.
- Facciorusso A, Bajwa HS, Menon K, Buccino VR, Muscatiello N. Comparison between 22G aspiration and 22G biopsy needles for EUS-guided sampling of pancreatic lesions: a metaanalysis. Endosc Ultrasound. 2020;9(3):167–74.
- Renelus BD, Jamorabo DS, Boston I, Briggs WM, Poneros JM. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle biopsy needles provide higher diagnostic yield compared to endoscopic ultrasoundguided fine needle aspiration needles when sampling solid pancreatic lesions: a meta-analysis. Clin Endosc. 2020, in press.
- Facciorusso A, Wani S, Triantafyllou K, Tziatzios G, Cannizzaro R, Muscatiello N, Singh S. Comparative accuracy of needle sizes and designs for EUS tissue sampling of solid pancreatic masses: a network meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2019;90(6):893–903.
- Barresi L, Tacelli M, Ligresti D, Traina M, Tarantino I. Tissue acquisition in pancreatic cystic lesions. Dig Liver Dis. 2019;51(2):286–92.
- 12. Facciorusso A, Del Prete V, Antonino M, Buccino VR, Wani S. Diagnostic yield of EUSguided through-the-needle biopsy in pancreatic cysts: a meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2020;92(1):1–8.
- Tacelli M, Celsa C, Magro B, Barchiesi M, Barresi L, Capurso G, Arcidiacono PG, Cammà C, Crinò SF. Diagnostic performance of endoscopic ultrasound through-the-needle microforceps biopsy of pancreatic cystic lesions: systematic review with meta-analysis. Dig Endosc. 2020;32(7):1018–30.
- Kovacevic B, Klausen P, Rift CV, Toxværd A, Grossjohann H, Karstensen JG, Brink L, Hassan H, Kalaitzakis E, Storkholm J, Hansen CP, Hasselby JP, Vilmann P. Clinical impact of endoscopic ultrasound-guided through-the-needle microbiopsy in patients with pancreatic cysts. Endoscopy. 2021;53(1):44–52.
- 15. Colán-Hernández J, Sendino O, Loras C, Pardo A, Gornals JB, Concepción M, Sánchez-Montes C, Murzi M, Andujar X, Velasquez-Rodriguez J, Rodriguez de Miguel C, Fernández-Esparrach G, Ginés A, Guarner-Argente C. Antibiotic prophylaxis is not required for endoscopic ultrasonography-guided fine-needle aspiration of pancreatic cystic lesions, based on a randomized trial. Gastroenterology. 2020;158(6):1642–9.
- Facciorusso A, Mohan BP, Tacelli M, Crinò SF, Antonini F, Fantin A, Barresi L. Use of antibiotic prophylaxis is not needed for endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration of pancreatic cysts: a meta-analysis. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;25:1–7.
- Bhutani MS, Koduru P, Joshi V, Karstensen JG, Saftoiu A, Vilmann P, Giovannini M. EUSguided needle-based confocal laser endomicroscopy: a novel technique with emerging applications. Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y). 2015;11(4):235–40.
- Facciorusso A, Buccino VR, Sacco R. Needle-based confocal laser endomicroscopy in pancreatic cysts: a meta-analysis. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;32(9):1084–90.
- Law ST, De La SernaHiguera C, Simón PG, Pérez-MirandaCastillo M. Comparison of clinical efficacies and safeties of lumen-apposing metal stent and conventional-type metal stentassisted EUS-guided pancreatic wall-off necrosis drainage: a real-life experience in a tertiary hospital. Surg Endosc. 2018;32(5):2448–53.
- 20. Rodrigues-Pinto E, Baron TH. Evaluation of the AXIOS stent for the treatment of pancreatic fluid collections. Expert Rev Med Devices. 2016;13(9):793–805.

- 21. Cho IR, Chung MJ, Jo JH, Lee HS, Park JY, Bang S, Park SW, Song SY. A novel lumenapposing metal stent with an anti-reflux valve for endoscopic ultrasound-guided drainage of pseudocysts and walled-off necrosis: a pilot study. PLoS One. 2019;14(9):e0221812.
- 22. Coronel E, Cazacu IM, Sakuraba A, Luzuriaga Chavez AA, Uberoi A, Geng Y, Tomizawa Y, Saftoiu A, Shin EJ, Taniguchi CM, Koong AC, Herman JM, Bhutani MS. EUS-guided fiducial placement for GI malignancies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2019;89(4):659–70.
- 23. Cazacu IM, Singh BS, Saftoiu A, Bhutani MS. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided treatment of pancreatic Cancer. Curr Gastroenterol Rep. 2020;22(6):27.
- 24. Bhutani MS, Klapman JB, Tuli R, El-Haddad G, Hoffe S, FCL W, Chasen B, Fogelman DR, Lo SK, Nissen NN, Hendifar AE, Varadhachary G, Katz MHG, Erwin WD, Koay EJ, Tamm EP, Singh BS, Mehta R, Wolff RA, Soman A, Cazacu IM, Herman JM. An open-label, single-arm pilot study of EUS-guided brachytherapy with phosphorus-32 microparticles in combination with gemcitabine +/– nab-paclitaxel in unresectable locally advanced pancreatic cancer (OncoPaC-1): technical details and study protocol. Endosc Ultrasound. 2020;9(1):24–30.
- Hwang JS, Joo HD, Song TJ. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided local therapy for pancreatic neoplasms. Clin Endosc. 2020;53(5):535–40.
- Wyse JM, Carone M, Paquin SC, Usatii M, Sahai AV. Randomized, double-blind, controlled trial of early endoscopic ultrasound-guided celiac plexus neurolysis to prevent pain progression in patients with newly diagnosed, painful, inoperable pancreatic cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(26):3541–6.
- 27. Facciorusso A, Di Maso M, Serviddio G, Larghi A, Costamagna G, Muscatiello N. Echoendoscopic ethanol ablation of tumor combined with celiac plexus neurolysis in patients with pancreatic adenocarcinoma. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;32(2):439–45.
- Bang JY, Sutton B, Hawes RH, Varadarajulu S. EUS-guided celiac ganglion radiofrequency ablation versus celiac plexus neurolysis for palliation of pain in pancreatic cancer: a randomized controlled trial (with videos). Gastrointest Endosc. 2019;89(1):58–66.e3.